
CABINET

10.00 am
on

Wednesday
1 February 2017

MEETING PAPERS ATTACHED





1 February 2017

Cabinet

Wednesday 1 February 2017 

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Jo Moore

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 18)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2016. 
(Minutes attached). 

Jo Moore

3 Declarations of Interest 

Cabinet members are invited to declare any pecuniary or personal 
interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda

Jo Moore

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 9.00 am on 
Friday 27 January 2017. 

Leader of Council 



1 February 2017

Oral questions

To answer any oral questions from members of the public. An oral 
question may be asked by a member of the public about any item on the 
agenda for this meeting, provided notice of the question is given by the 
questioner to the Chief Executive’s representative, at least 30 minutes 
prior to the start of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions, it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written 
answer will be provided as soon as reasonably possible after the 
meeting. Questions received and proposed responses do not 
accompany this agenda but will be circulated prior to the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Financial Monitoring Report: 2016/17 (Pages 19 - 30)

To provide an update on the year end forecast for the 2016/17 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Finance and 
Change 

6 Recommendations to Council: Council Strategy and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 - 2019/20 (Pages 31 - 214)

To make recommendations to Council on the 2017/18 Revenue Budget; 
Medium Term Financial Strategy; (including capital programme 
proposals, Treasury Management Strategy, Risk Management Policy 
Statement & Strategy, and schools funding), and Council Strategy. 

Observations from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
will be presented at the meeting. 

Leader of Council 

Finance and 
Change 

7 Proposed Award of a South-West sub-regional framework 
agreement for the provision of leaving care/independent living 
settings (Pages 215 - 222)

To seek authorisation for the Council to participate in a collaborative 
tendering process led by South Gloucestershire Council for the creation 
and award of a sub-regional framework for the provision of leaving 
care/independent living settings. 

Children and 
Young People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning 

8 Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) – Llanthony Road 
Improvements (Pages 223 - 232)

To seek approval to underwrite the risk of the County Council not 
receiving all of the committed Growth Deal funding scheduled for 
2018/19, thereby allowing the land acquisition to be brought forward from 
2018/19 to 2017/18. 

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure 



1 February 2017

To proceed with the making of all orders required to proceed with the 
scheme. 

9 A40 Over Roundabout Improvement Scheme (Pages 233 - 308)

To seek approval to conduct a legally compliant, competitive, tender 
process for the purpose of awarding a contract to carry out construction 
works in accordance with the detailed design of the A40 Roundabout 
Improvement Scheme. 

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure 

10 Investing in Support for Homeless Vulnerable People - Interim 
Arrangements (Pages 309 - 324)

To seek endorsement of the council’s continued involvement with district 
councils in developing and reviewing services for homeless, vulnerable 
people. 

Long-term care

11 Proposal to develop an intensive intervention service for 
children and young people (Pages 325 - 334)

To seek approval to develop an intensive intervention service for the 
most vulnerable at risk young people. To jointly develop this service with 
the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group in order that more 
effective  use is made of total spend and resources. 

Children and 
Young People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning 

Exempt Decisions

12 Priors and Oakley Flood Alleviation Scheme (Pages 335 - 346)

To seek approval of a legal strategy to enable the implementation of the 
Priors and Oakley Flood Alleviation Scheme, Cheltenham.  

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt 
information. 

If cabinet members wish to discuss the exempt information contained in 
the appendices to the published report, consideration must first be given 
to whether the public should be excluded from the meeting by passing 
the following resolution: - 

In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public to be excluded from the meeting for this 
item of business because it is likely that, if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act, and 
the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

Highways and 
Flood



1 February 2017

13 Contract Award: Fastershire Broadband Strategy Stage 3 - 
Lots 3C, 3D, 3E and 4 (Pages 347 - 360)

To authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to award contracts for Stage 3 Lots 3c, 3d, 3e and 4 of the 
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2015 – 2018 for the deployment of 
superfast broadband in Gloucestershire, (and Herefordshire), and to 
award contracts for delivery of Lots 3a and 3b.  

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt 
information. 

If cabinet members wish to discuss the exempt information contained in 
the appendices to the published report, consideration must first be given 
to whether the public should be excluded from the meeting by passing 
the following resolution: - 

In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public to be excluded from the meeting for this 
item of business because it is likely that, if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act, and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information to the public.

Leader of Council 

14 Schedule of Proposed Disposals (Pages 361 - 366)

To approve the Schedule of Disposals proposed to meet the three year 
Meeting The Challenge 2 capital receipt target of £60 million covering 
the period 2015/16 to 2017/18. 

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt 
information. 

If cabinet members wish to discuss the exempt information contained in 
the appendices to the published report, consideration must first be given 
to whether the public should be excluded from the meeting by passing 
the following resolution: - 

In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public to be excluded from the meeting for this 
item of business because it is likely that, if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act, and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information to the public. 

Finance and 
Change 



1 February 2017

CABINET
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr Dorcas Binns, Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Paul McLain, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr Vernon Smith and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 

whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes 
or reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is 
likely to

 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or 
more, or

 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral 
divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please 
contact Democratic Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting. If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of meeting of the Cabinet

Held on Wednesday 14 December 2016

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

CABINET MINUTES

14 December 2016

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE Leader of Council
Cllr Ray Theodoulou Deputy Leader: Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Dorcas Binns Older People
Cllr Andrew Gravells Public Health and Communities
Cllr Paul McLain Children & Young People and Strategic Commissioning
Cllr Nigel Moor Fire, Planning and Infrastructure
Cllr Vernon Smith Highways & Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams Long-term Care

1. Apologies 

There were no apologies at the meeting. 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2016 were agreed and signed as 
an accurate record of that meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Public Questions

No public questions were submitted. 

Member Questions

A total of 38 (member) questions were submitted in advance of the meeting. 

Please refer to the following link to view the responses to the questions

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&
Ver=4 

Page 2

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

If you are unable to view the questions at the above link, please go to the link below 
and select ‘Cabinet Questions and Responses’. 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b12467/Cabinet%20Questions%2
0and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2014-Dec-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.

Question 2: Cllr Tracy Millard  

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

How many staff redundancies have resulted in grievances and tribunals?

Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou 

Cllr Theodoulou agreed to provide a full answer to the question after the meeting. 

Question 3: Cllr Tracy Millard  

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

At the last Children and Families Scrutiny Committee meeting, it was reported that 
the overspend in Children’s Services was due to redundancies. Can the Cabinet 
Member explain why the Transformation Reserve was not used to address this 
overspend?

Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou 

Cllr Theodoulou agreed to provide a full answer to the question after the meeting. 

Questions 6 to 9: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Cllr Williams thanked Cllr Theodoulou for his responses to questions 6 to 9, (and to 
question 37), and requested that she be given an opportunity to meet with cabinet 
members after the meeting to discuss specific budgetary issues in a little more 
detail. 

Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou 

It was agreed cabinet members would meet with Cllr Williams after the meeting to 
discuss specific budgetary issues.  

Question 11: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Page 3

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b12467/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2014-Dec-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b12467/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2014-Dec-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

By my calculations, you should have addressed the £80m backlog, (pot hole 
repairs), in 22 years.  Is this accurate and do you agree? 

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

Your question implies Utopia. Road maintenance is an ongoing activity. With over 
200,000 miles of roads, the need to maintain roads is on-going. I believe the current 
strategy is correct, enabling the council to deal with issues slowly, over time. We 
can only use the funds available to us. 

Question 14: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

With the cuts and policy changes that have been implemented, do you think 
savings will be made? What savings have been made? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

Yes. The savings will be implemented over the next 12 months. . 

Question 15: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

How many actual false alarms attendances are represented by this percentage? 
How many medium or high risk commercial properties are included? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

Cllr Moor stated he was comfortable with the risk assessment that had been carried 
out on the number of false alarm calls the fire service received and agreed to 
provide the requested figures after the meeting. 

Question 17: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Cllr Kirby requested more details on the proposed targeted £430k savings for 
customer services? He also asked – ‘How can a specific sum be set without 
knowing how to achieve it’? 
 
Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

We’re always happy to share more details as the programme changes. We are 
looking at different ways in which savings can be met. One example is the rollout of 
new digital equipment at the Bishop’s Cleeve Library. This investment will not only 
reduce costs but will also enhance customer experience. Targeted savings form 
part of an overall programme, the details of which I will share at a later date. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Question 20: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has suggested, (to the Police Crime Panel), 
that Gloucestershire County Council has ‘withdrawn all meaningful financial 
contributions’ to the Road Safety Partnership. Can this still be considered an 
equitable partnership? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

Very much so. The County Council provides a huge financial resource and is very 
much involved with the Road Safety Partnership. All our work is aimed at making a 
safer environment. I think this was a bad call from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

Question 21: Cllr Barry Kirby 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

To be more specific, where did the £300k savings target come from? 

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

The sum resulted from an error in the 2015/16 budget. Cllr Hawthorne agreed to 
provide a more detailed response to the question after the meeting.

Question 22: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

The council has been a Conservative run administration for the past 12 years. I 
wonder if people might be happier with a 4% tax increase if they thought their roads 
and pathways were going to be maintained. Can we trust the Conservatives to fix 
this issue when you have failed to do so in the past? 

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

Tax increases introduced during the Liberal Democrat/Labour Coalition, (including a 
£90 increase in one year), were catastrophic. The current administration inherited 
huge deficits in road maintenance, and it is only now we are able to slowly claw 
back from this position. During the past 12 years, there has been a definite 
improvement in working on the back-log of repairs for which we have a track record 
of delivering. The Coalition Government made tough decisions about local 
government funding, which we have dealt with. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Question 23: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Borrowing is at a record low. Given the cuts that have been made, do you think it is 
right to borrow so modestly to invest in Gloucestershire?   

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

If opportunities arise for ‘invest to save’, we will take advantage of such 
opportunities. Please remember, borrowing is not free. When making investment 
decisions, you have to pay back, and therefore need to decide ‘what are you not 
going to spend on?’. I am extremely proud the current administration has been able 
to reduce the mountain of debt inherited from the former coalition arrangement. It is 
thanks to Cllr Theodoulou and to others we are seeing a decrease in the council’s 
debt. 

Question 24: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

I agree when you suggest Gloucestershire residents, including the most vulnerable 
people in the county, care most about the services they receive. In terms of the 
budget, how can you justify a 30% reduction in the Public Mental Health Budget? Is 
this not a hit on our vulnerable people? 

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

We have a clear programme of savings and face extremely difficult challenges. The 
focus has been on Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. It will be interesting 
to see what alternatives are put forward when you set out the Liberal Democrat 
budget priorities. I am proud we have focused on the most vulnerable people and 
communities. 

Question 25: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

You say ‘residents care about the services they receive’, and yet you propose a 
30% reduction in the Public Mental Health Budget? This hit on the vulnerable 
people of Gloucestershire is a real problem. In your position as a member of the 
Local Government Association and as Leader of the Council for the past 6 years, 
why have you not lobbied to stop the cut backs in services? 

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

The council has to make tough decisions. When protecting the vulnerable people 
and communities of Gloucestershire, it is necessary to prioritise how the money is 
spent. I am extremely proud this administration did not take the easy option and 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

make savings in hidden areas of the budget. We continue to protect Adult Services 
and continue to invest in Children’s Services. It will be interesting to see what 
alternative proposals are put forward when you identify your budget priorities. 

Question 26: Cllr Jack Williams 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Does the Cabinet Member consider a 13% cut acceptable in the Children and 
Families revenue budget?  

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain 

I find the reality of the situation is often very different to the position you portray. 
While we may have to make accounting changes to the budget, we continue to 
invest in our Children and Young People. While the Education Direct Services 
Grant goes direct to schools, it is not a cut.  

Question 27: Cllr Jack Williams 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

What impact will the reduction in the Children and Families Budget have on Public 
Health? 

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain 

This money constitutes efficiencies and improvements used to tackle inequalities, 
e.g. Health Visiting and Children’s Super Centres. 

Question 28: Cllr Jack Williams 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

How successful do you think the Children’s Activity Fund has been?

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain 

We should have confidence in our member colleagues. At the end of every year, 
the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee review the funding given to district 
authorities. Tewkesbury Borough Council is hugely impressed with what is being 
delivered by the Children Activity Fund. I think it is a good thing to entrust local 
members with decisions about funding. I believe this is a good initiative. 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Question 29: Cllr Iain Dobie 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Do you think Sajid Javid (MP) should allow the Social Care precept to rise beyond 
2%? Have you plans to increase council tax here in Gloucestershire?

Response by: Cllr Dorcas Binns 

I believe the 2% precept is very efficient. At the moment, we are sticking with the 
2% Adult Social Care Levy. 

Question 31: Cllr Iain Dobie 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Rather than raid reserves, shouldn't you lobby against the year on year cuts 
imposed by the Government on the Public Health Budget?

Response by: Cllr Andrew Gravells 

As you may recall, this was discussed at the Shadows meeting on Friday (9 
December 2016). To avoid further confusion, I think it might be useful if I provide a 
briefing note to explain that it is not the County Council who provides treatment. I 
find it very disappointing when members infer that the council has not fulfilled its 
duties. It is clearly the NHS who deliver public health services. A briefing note will 
be circulated to clarify the position. 

Question 33: Cllr Iain Dobie 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Adults with mental health issues are "vulnerable people". Why attack the most 
vulnerable through these cuts?

Response by: Cllr Kathy Williams 

I am not sure if the word ‘attack’ is appropriate. It is the council’s responsibility to 
ensure the funds available to us are spent wisely. We have actually invested money 
in this budget.  

Question 34: Cllr Iain Dobie 

Item 6: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

As American colleagues used to say; "which ever way you slice it, it is still baloney". 
A cut is a cut; to the most vulnerable. Don't you agree?

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Response by: Cllr Andrew Gravells 

No cuts are planned for 2017. To elaborate, I can list the work we do. I feel it is 
important to understand what the council commissions and will circulate a briefing 
note to explain.

5. Consultation Scrutiny Task Group 

Cllr Barry Kirby introduced the final report and recommendations of the 
Consultation Scrutiny Task Group and informed members that, following a motion 
to full council in May 2016, the task group had been set up to review the Council’s 
consultation policies and practices. 

The aim of the task group had been to identify areas of best practice and to provide 
constructive challenges to the council’s existing processes. Key objectives included, 
considering what constituted a successful consultation and what could be done to 
increase response rates.     

Working alongside the Consultation Institute and the council’s Communications 
Team, Gloucestershire County Council was one of the first councils to scrutinise 
this area of work.  

Thanking the members of the task group: Cllrs Phil Awford, Joe Harris, Shaun 
Parsons and Lesley Williams, Cllr Kirby stated how the task group had welcomed 
the opportunity to better understand the council’s approach to consultation and the 
commitment and positive approach of officers. Cllr Kirby expressed his appreciation 
to those involved in the development of the consultation protocol. 

In receiving the report, the following recommendations were noted.  

a) That there is a budget made available to ensure that social media is an 
integral part of our approach to consultation.

b) That the newsletter showing the impact of consultation on decisions and 
policy which goes to the People’s Panel is to be shared with Members 
through Members Matter

c) That there is a commitment to make the Consultation Protocol a public 
document available on the web site.

d) That the protocol is explicit about how much the council values people’s 
opinions and wants to hear from them.

e) That the Consultation Protocol foreword is signed off Group Leaders and the 
Chief Executive to demonstrate the importance of the document to the 
council.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

f) That the protocol outlines the importance of regular engagement and an 
open dialogue with service users that can help inform options as part of the 
pre-consultation process.

g) That the protocol refers to Inform Gloucestershire (which includes MAIDEN, 
JSNA and other intelligence) as tools used to develop policy

h) That consultation plans risk assessed at a ‘level 2’ be shared with cabinet 
members and shadows.

Leader of Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, confirmed that provision had been made in 
the draft budget to ensure social media formed an integral part of the council’s 
approach to consultation. Commending the sensible cross-party approach that had 
been taken to consider the outcomes of the review, Cllr Hawthorne confirmed that a 
formal cabinet response would be produced in response to the task group’s 
recommendations. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Produce a formal response to the task group’s recommendations

6. Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2017/18 to 2019/20 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, presented, for 
consultation and scrutiny, the budget strategy, the detailed draft budget for 
2017/18, and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), for the period covering 
2017/18 to 2019/20. It was noted that final approval of the budget would be 
considered at the Cabinet meeting on 1 February 2017, and at the Full Council 
meeting on 15 February 2017. 

Cllr Theodoulou informed members that the proposed budget had been prepared in 
response to key budget pressures. These included; unavoidable contractual 
inflation, pay pension deficits and increases in demand led services, (reflecting 
budgetary pressures experienced in 2016/17 in Adults and Children’s Social Care). 

Cllr Theodoulou reported that the proposed revenue budget for 2017/18 totalled 
£397.13 million, denoting a net reduction of £11.34 million from 2016/17. The 
budget included investments totalling £24.0 million and £35.24 million savings, most 
of which related to the Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together we Can Programme. 

Referring to the ‘mass of detail’ included within the draft proposals, Cllr Theodoulou 
invited individual cabinet members to outline some of the key components reflected 
in the budget detail for their respective service areas, the details of which are 
included in the main body of the report. Cabinet members briefly summarised the 
budget proposals for their portfolios. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Leader of Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, highlighted the difficulties and challenges 
experienced when trying to develop a realistic and manageable budget. The Leader 
stated how important it was to focus on protecting the vulnerable and communities 
of Gloucestershire and to continue to invest in those service areas experiencing the 
most challenges, namely Adult and Children’s Services. 

Cllr Hawthorne refuted earlier comments about alleged cuts in mental health 
services and suggested members consider this aspect of the budget in more detail, 
particularly the emphasis on partnership working

Members noted that, following publication of the budget proposals, the council 
intended to launch an online consultation to run between December 2016 and 
January 2017. Stakeholders would be invited to express views on budget 
proposals, budget priorities, council tax and Adult Social Care Levy. 

Cllr Theodoulou confirmed that a Due Regard Statement for this item was being 
produced, but would be updated in January 2017 to reflect final budget proposals 
and feedback from the consultation. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Approve for consultation and scrutiny, the proposed detailed budget for 2017/18, 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, (including Dedicated Schools Grant, which 
will also be considered by the Schools Forum).

7. Updating of the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) Local Developer 
Guide 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, presented 
the updated Local Developer Guide for Gloucestershire. 

Cllr Moor urged members to familiarise themselves with the document to place 
them, (and the council), in the best possible position from which to aid negotiations 
with developers, make comments on emerging local plans and influence emerging 
Community Infrastructure Levies to ensure appropriate investment is made from 
future developments. 

Cllr Moor thanked officers for the work undertaken in updating the document, in 
particular, the work involved in delivering Broadband in rural areas.  

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

RESOLVED to: - 

Adopt the Local Developer Guide as Council Policy, (as set out in Appendix 3 of the 
published decision report). 

8. Proposed Concessionary Travel Scheme Reimbursement Contract 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, sought 
approval to enter into a contractual agreement with Stagecoach West for the 
reimbursement of concessionary travel on local buses.  

Responsible for administering the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme 
in Gloucestershire, Cllr Moor informed members that the council had invested over 
£6.6 million, (approximately two thirds of the council’s investment in public 
transport), on providing free travel on local buses in 2016, with over 118,000 older 
and disabled residents holding a bus pass.

Cllr Moor stated that the council was currently in the third year of a three year, 
£15.8 million ‘fixed price’ contract with Stagecoach West. He said that the 
arrangement provided important financial stability to both the council and to 
Stagecoach, enabling each organisation to plan and invest in their services. 

Outlining each of the recommendations below, Cllr Moor advised members to retain 
the current approach for the next three years. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire 
Planning and Infrastructure, to conclude detailed negotiations with 
Stagecoach West, and to 

2) Authorise the council’s Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire 
Planning and Infrastructure, to enter into a three year contract with 
Stagecoach West, under which the council shall reimburse the said operator 
for concessionary travel in Gloucestershire, with suitable provisions for 
adjustments should operating mileage, passenger numbers, or other factors, 
change beyond agreed thresholds.

9. Building Better Lives Review of Short Break Services for Adults 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Long-term care, introduced the report as 
an update on the results of a 3 month cabinet approved consultation undertaken in 
2016, regarding the provision and development of adult short break services for 
people with learning disabilities. 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Cllr Williams outlined the reasons for the recommendations, including highlighting 
the importance of providing short breaks to people with learning disabilities to 
enable them to experience different environments to where they resided, and to 
provide opportunities for them to become involved in interesting and stimulating 
activities within the local community. 

Referring to the benefits of providing active short breaks for children and young 
people, Cllr Paul McLain, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Strategic Commissioning, stressed the importance of continuing to provide short 
breaks to improve the quality of life for children and young people after they enter 
adulthood. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

1) To receive and accept the report feedback on the outcome of the 
Consultation on Short breaks; 

2) To authorise the Commissioning Director, Adult Services to:

a) Put in place a short breaks programme for adults with learning disabilities  
that meets the full spectrum of service user and carer needs 

b) To extend the  shared lives programme

c) To update operational guidance for staff in relation to Building Better 
Lives including delivery of the short breaks programme.

3) To respond to the consultation feedback by requesting that the 
Commissioning Director, Adult Services, develop a plan for consideration by 
Cabinet that makes recommendations on the future of residential provision 
having regard to the full spectrum of need within the short breaks plan.

10. Decision to approve the Strategy for the development of Gloucestershire 
Specialist Sexual Health Services from 1 April 2017 and the award of a 
contract for the provision of a Sexual Health Prevention Service 

Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, sought 
approval of the strategy for development of specialist health services in 
Gloucestershire, and authorisation for the Director of Public Health to tender for the 
award of a contract for delivery of the Sexual Health Prevention Service in 
Gloucestershire.

Following introduction of the Health and Social Care Act in 2012, commissioning 
responsibility for Sexual Health Services in Gloucestershire split across three 
organisations: Gloucestershire County Council, (integrated contraception and 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

sexual health testing and diagnosis, and psychosexual medicine); NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, (abortion); and NHS England, (HIV 
Treatment and Sexual Assault Referral Centre). 

Cllr Gravells informed members that responsibility for the commissioning of county-
wide sexual health services had become the responsibility of Gloucestershire 
County Council in 2013. In 2016, the council undertook a period of pre-engagement 
to give service users and the residents of Gloucestershire an opportunity to provide 
feedback on where and how they accessed sexual health services. It was noted 
that there had been no review of sexual health services undertaken since 2013. 
Outlining the principles of the proposed new service model, the Cabinet Member 
highlighted the importance of reviewing services, and in ensuring value for money. 

Cllr Gravells stated that, in considering the likely ‘equalities’ impact of the 
recommendations, there was no evidence of a disproportionate negative effect 
upon people with protected characteristics. The principles that had been consulted 
on aimed to reduce any inequalities already in existence for groups previously 
identified through the Sexual Health Needs Assessment as having a higher burden 
of need and poorer access.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Approve the strategy for the development of the proposed new model for the 
delivery of Sexual Health Services, as set out in Paragraphs 3.1 to 3.3 of the 
published decision report, with such services commencing on 1 April 2017; 
and

2) Authorise the Director of Public Health:

a) to conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award 
of a single supplier 7 year contract (with an initial term of 5 years and 
an option to extend for a further 2 years) for the delivery of a Sexual 
Health Prevention Service from 1st April 2018

b) upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to enter into a 
contract with the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council 
best value for money for delivery of the Sexual Health Prevention 
Service. In the event that the preferred provider is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council, then the Director 
of Public Health is authorised to enter into such contract with the next 
willing highest placed and suitably qualified provider.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

11. Decision to remodel the Public Health Nursing Service 

Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, sought 
to approve recommendations for the remodelling of the public health nursing 
service from April 2018. 

Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Gloucestershire County Council has a 
duty to improve the health of local people and reduce health inequalities. Faced 
with several opportunities from which to align and integrate health services across 
Gloucestershire had allowed the council to consider and develop options to remodel 
the public health services, the details of which are included in the main body of the 
report.  

Cllr Gravells advised members that the remodelled service would become 
operational from April 2018, with phased implementation over the following two 
years. The 15 month period from January 2017 to March 2018 to be used to 
develop the operational aspects of the model, consult with relevant audiences, and 
test and mobilise the remodelled service. Public consultation will be undertaken 
during 2017. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED that: - 

Cabinet authorise the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Health to:

1) Conduct a remodelling of the Public Health Nursing Services (Health Visiting 
and School Nursing) in line with the preferred model described within the 
published decision report, and in response to feedback from consultation and 
engagement with stakeholders, to achieve the aims, objectives and 
principles outlined in the report; 

2) Act locally on the recommendations from the national review of the 
mandated elements of the Healthy Child Programme being conducted by 
Public Health England and due to report in Autumn 2016 to inform the 
remodelled service; 

3) Undertake consultation and engagement with children and families and other 
stakeholders to inform the development of the preferred model following the 
national review of mandated elements; 

4) Implement the remodelled service from April 2018 onwards.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

12. Procurement of a new contract/contracts for the provision of training 
administration and sourcing, including the apprenticeship programme. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought approval to 
conduct an EU compliant tender process for the award of a 4 year contract in 3 lots, 
(an initial 2 year term contract, with the option to extend for a further 2 years), for 
the provision of training administration and sourcing, including the council’s 
obligations brought about by the Apprenticeship Levy.

From April 2017, introduction of the government’s Apprenticeship Levy will require 
the council to pay 0.5% from its staff pay bill into the Levy, and to employ 2.3% of 
the council workforce on a government approved apprenticeship training 
programme. 
 
Cllr Theodoulou informed members that, under the council’s existing contract, (due 
to expire in September 2017), the commissioning and training of internal and 
external employees had proven to be generally cost and resource effective. By 
bringing together the council’s training options and the obligations of the 
Apprenticeship Levy as a single tender would allow the council to map the 
management of the new apprenticeship programmes in line with overall training 
requirements. It will also assist in maximising savings and developing opportunities. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED that: - 

Cabinet  authorise the Director of Strategic Finance, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to:

1) Run an EU compliant competitive open tender process to procure a 
contract/s for an initial 2 year period with the option to extend for a further 2 
years  for both the provision of training administration and sourcing and the 
apprenticeship programme.  

2) Upon conclusion of the tender process, to enter into a contract(s) with the 
preferred provider(s) evaluated as offering the Council best value for money 
for the delivery of the service.  In the event that the preferred provider(s) is 
either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council then the 
Director of Strategic Finance is authorised to enter into such contract with 
the next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider.

13. Financial Monitoring Report 2016/17 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, gave an update on 
the year end forecast for the 2016/17 County Council’s Revenue and Capital 
Budgets. 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Cllr Theodoulou reported the forecast revenue year end position as showing an 
underspend of £0.64 million. Cllr Theodoulou explained that this had been achieved 
from using the unallocated Social Care Levy and corporate underspends to offset 
demand led overspends in Adult and Children’s Services. In doing so, would help 
preserve the Vulnerable Children and Vulnerable Adults Reserves, and assist in 
managing demand led pressures anticipated in 2017/18. 

The forecast capital year end position showed an underspend of £1.33 million. 

Despite significant pressures on council services, particularly in Adults and 
Children’s Services, Cllr Theodoulou stated that it was anticipated expenditure 
would be managed within existing resources. 

The re-profiled capital budget for 2016/17 was reported at £89.75m, with 
expenditure to date, (as at the end of October 2016), reported at £32.18m. Cllr 
Theodoulou explained that the current rate of spending was anticipated to increase 
significantly over forthcoming months. This was due to slippage in some of the 
forecasts and was expected at this time of the year. 

Cllr Theodoulou sought approval for three areas of change to the capital budget, 
the details of which are outlined in the main body of the report. In proposing the 
changes, Cllr Theodoulou commended the work and organisational skills of the 
volunteers at Gloucestershire Archives.  

Cllr Dorcas Binns, local member for Nailsworth, particularly welcomed the proposal 
to increase funding for the Horsley Hill Nailsworth Scheme. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to:  

1. Note the forecast;

a) Revenue year end position, as at the end of October for the 2016/17 
financial year, of a £0.64 million under-spend.

b) Capital year end position for 2016/17 of a £1.33 million under-spend 
against the re-profiled budget and the changes to the 2016/17 re-
profiled budgets detailed in section B of the published decision report. 

   
2. Approve the following changes to the capital programme:

a) Increase the approval for the Horsley Hill Nailsworth scheme by £0.05 
million to £0.56 million, funded from 2017/18 DfT grant allocation, to 
allow the appointment of contractors for the scheme.  This does not 
change the value of the overall approved capital programme.   

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

b) A new £1.18 million capital scheme for additional science 
accommodation at Chipping Campden School is added to the capital 
programme, funded from £1.18 million of s106 developer 
contributions.  This increases the overall approved capital programme 
by £1.18 million.

c) Increase the approval for the Archives Records project by £0.125 
million to £2.95 million, funded from a £0.125 million revenue 
contribution to capital from the Support Services revenue budget. 
This increases the overall approved capital programme by £0.125 
million.   

14. Quarterly Strategic Performance Report 2016/17: Quarter 2 

Leader of Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, referred members to the Strategic 
Performance Report 2016/17: Quarter 2. 

In noting the report, and having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet,  

RESOLVED to: - 

i. Endorse the performance report;
ii. Note the progress made in tracking council priority outcomes; and
iii. Support the actions being taken to address areas of concern

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11.50 am

Page 18



FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2016/17

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance & 
Change

Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision Yes   

Background 
Documents

MTFS to 17th February 2016 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Reports to Cabinet in July, September, November, and December 2016   

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The MTFS 2016/17 can be found using the following web link:
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0

Main Consultees Cabinet Members, OSMC, COMT and Budget Managers.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

Countywide

Officer Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director  (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management, (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2016/17 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.

Recommendations That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast;

a) Revenue year end position, as at the end of November for the 
2016/17 financial year, of a £0.893 million under-spend.

b) Capital year end position for 2016/17 of a £1.64 million under-
spend against the re-profiled budget and the changes to the 
2016/17 re-profiled budgets detailed in section B. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


   
2. Approves the transfer of £0.454 million from a revenue underspend  in 

the Technical & Corporate budget to the Economic Stimulus Reserve 
to fund costs associated with expanding the Council’s apprenticeship 
programme.

3. Confirms the revised payment timetable of £1.0 million to Highways 
England between 1st February 2017 and 1st January 2018 in relation to 
the A417 Missing Link project in line with the funding agreement 
between the Council and Highways England. 

4. Approves the following changes to the capital programme:

a) Increase the Adults capital programme by £1.834 million (£0.8 
million in 2016/17 and £1.034 million in 2017/18), funded by a 
Department of Health Capital Grant, to enable the purchase and 
adaptation of various properties for people with learning difficulties.

b) Increase the Highway capital budget by £0.44 million, funded from 
a revenue contribution of £0.35 million and an additional £0.09 
million of developer and other external contributions to help fund a 
variety of highway schemes.

c) Increase the capital programme for Safety Fencing by £0.25 
million, funded from a revenue contribution from the Highways 
revenue budget.

d) Increase the Waste capital budget by £0.10 million to fund capital 
improvements at Household Recycling Centres funded from a 
revenue contribution from the Waste revenue budget.

e) Increase the ICT capital budget by £0.450 million, funded by a 
revenue contribution from a one off underspend in the ICT revenue 
budget, to fund investment in ICT equipment for social workers 
which will facilitate mobile working.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure Cabinet are aware of the latest revenue and capital monitoring 
positions and the approved capital programme is updated to reflect the 
latest position of approved and new schemes.

Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report.

Page 20



Section A: Revenue Outturn 2016/17: Forecast Position

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position, based on actual 
expenditure at the end of November 2016 and forecasts made in December 2016, 
is a £0.893 million under-spend. 

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area, is provided in 
the table below and the narrative that follows.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of November 2016

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 153,377 153,377 0 0.0% 0 0 

Public Health 25,542 25,542 0 0.0% 0 0 

Children & Families 100,683 104,496 3,813 3.8% 3,502 -311 

Communities & 
Infrastructure

87,618 87,618 0 0.0% 64 64 

Business Support Services 25,503 25,503 0 0.0% 0 0 

Support Services 
Recharges

-25,503 -25,503 0 0.0% 0 0 

Total for Services 367,220 371,033 3,813 1.0% 3,566 -247 

Technical & Corporate 52,839 48,133 -4,706 -8.9% -4,203 503 

Total 420,059 419,166 -893 -0.2% -637 256 

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Service Area
2016/17 
Budget

Forecast 
Outurn 

Position

Change in 
variance 

Forecast 
Outurn 

Variance

Page 21



3. The main reasons for the forecast revenue outturn positions, together with the 
actions being taken to address these positions, are as follows:

Adults 

4. The current forecast of the year end revenue position is a balanced position. This 
position is based on the underlying overspend being offset by the unallocated 
element of the Social Care Levy.  The underlying position is a net overspend of 
£2.54 million based on the following;

 Learning Disabilities £1.52m overspend  
Older People/ Physical Disabilities £1.78m overspend
Mental Health £0.25m overspend  
Community Equipment  and Telecare £0.06m overspend  
Other Services £1.07m underspend

UNDERLYING POSITION £2.54m overspend

 Less Unallocated Social Care Levy £2.54m
(permanent)

NET POSITION £0.0m 

No calls on the Vulnerable Adults Reserve or the Care Act Reserve are included in 
the above position.  The reserves were brought forward from 2015/16, and are 
one-off funding.   It is currently proposed to leave these reserves in tact to assist 
with demand pressures in 2017/18. 

5. This situation may change as outturn forecasts are refined closer to year end. 
Should reserves be required to support the 2016/17 budget, a formal request 
would be made to Cabinet for their use. 

6. The £2.54 million Social Care Levy balance is after allocation of £1.60 million Levy 
to support the recurring commitments associated with the Care Act, and £0.59 
million investment in additional social care staffing and staff retention measures in 
Adult Social Care. The Adult Services Management Team have agreed not to 
identify further areas for specific investment, so the full £2.54m continues to offset 
the overall overspend.

7. Learning Disabilities are forecasting a £1.52 million overspend (3.1% of budget).  
This overspend includes forecast underachievement of LD Building Better Lives 
(BBL) savings (£1.92million) due to increased pressures, arising in part from 
complex cases requiring a range of interventions to meet both LD and mental 
health needs. This situation impacts on both cost of care and (along with other 
organisational changes and priorities) team capacity to deliver BBL targets. Other 
overspends include staffing costs (£0.23 million), which have occurred as a result 
of the reduction in temporary joint funding for key projects, offset by  reduced BBL 
Development Fund commitments.  

Page 22



8. In order to generate necessary savings to achieve a balanced budget position 
current spend is being reviewed, which includes identifying alternative saving 
options and enhanced vigilance is taking place at all spending Panels. Work 
continues with Impower to fully explore Demand Management strategies and to 
explore whether further actions might be taken in order to achieve necessary 
savings. 

9. Older People and Physical Disabilities are forecasting a £1.78 million overspend, 
(3.5% of budget).  This relates to pressures in both the Locality-managed External 
Care budgets, and additional budget managed by the Lead Commissioner 
(relating to void payments under the OSJ Care Home Placement contract).  The 
increase to the overspend is due to lower projected commissioning savings within 
the Single Programme.

10.The forecast overspend is inclusive of banked and projected Single Programme 
savings of £4.20 million, of which £2.82million relates to red and amber risk-rated 
targets. £2.89 million savings are banked to date.  Project Lead expectations 
regarding achievability of savings targets continue to be reviewed and challenged 
on an ongoing basis, with accountability to the Commissioning Director of Adult 
Social Care and her Management Team via the Single Programme Project Leads 
Group, and the Head of Adult Social Care and her Management Team.  

11.Mental Health is forecasting a £0.25 million overspend (3.6% of budget).  This 
mainly relates to an increase in 2gether (2G)'s external care forecast, which now 
stands at £1.24million.

12.This overspend is partially offset by underspends within the voluntary sector 
budget and the release of cost and inflation contingencies not required in year.

13.Discussions continue between a group of representatives from GCC, 2G and CCG 
to address both budgetary and contractual issues. This group has been tasked 
with formulating a cost reduction plan to enable the overspend to be resolved.

14.Telecare and Community Equipment are forecasting a £0.06 million overspend 
(2.7% of budget) due to an increase in telecare staffing and equipment purchases, 
following expansion of the service to support commissioning intentions. 

15.Community Equipment is reported as on line (as last month), though the budget is 
subject to risk around achievability of Financial Recovery Plan projects, and 
potential further impact of demand on equipment purchases.  Underlying 
overspend would be offset this year by BCF Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG), 
subject to confirmation of amount from District Council DFG allocations.  The 
budget needs to be sustainable in the longer term, as it continues to be demand 
led, and the future of potential DFG funding is not clearly established.

16.Other Services are forecast to underspend by £1.07 million.  This is a mainly due 
to a combination of uncommitted temporary and permanent funding received 
within the Adults budget, offset by pressures relating to Safeguarding (due, at 
least in part, to Care Act requirements) and a temporary virement from the 
Technical and Corporate budget.  

Page 23



Public Health

17.As in previous years, Public Health Grant conditions permit any underspend to be 
carried forward into the next financial year providing it is used for “qualifying 
purposes”, which can include new commitments.  This is actioned through the 
Public Health Reserve.  The budget forecast therefore nets to a breakeven 
position.

18.The in-year position is reported as a £1.23 million underspend relating to demand 
led services for Substance Misuse, Tobacco Control, Weight Management, Health 
checks and Sexual Health (GP/ pharmacy costs) programmes, an underspend on 
the Healthy Lifestyles contract, and unallocated budget.

19.Public Health Leads are working with providers to promote uptake of demand-led 
services delivered in general practice and community pharmacies for smoking 
cessation and sexual health.

Children & Families

20.The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at December 2016 for 
non-DSG funded services is an over-spend position of £3.81 million (3.79% of 
budget). Whilst a draw down from the Vulnerable Children reserve could reduce 
the over spend it is proposed that this overspend will be offset by corporate 
underspends, leaving the reserve intact to assist with demand in 2017/18 given 
current trends. 

21.The significant rise in children coming into care (December 2016 605 cases 
compared to April 2014 479) is causing significant pressures on children’s 
services and in particular against the external agency placement and fostering 
allowances budgets resulting in the over-spend.  Senior managers have been 
reviewing all admissions to care as part of a process of understanding and 
challenging practice. In addition robust scrutiny of high cost placements continues 
by senior managers to ensure appropriate provision is in place and placement drift 
is avoided but the underlying issue is the volume of placements required. The 
financial recovery plan continues to be reviewed and updated to mitigate the 
volume increases wherever possible.

22.Within Children in Care the external placement budget is forecasting a £4.04 
million over-spend (43.2% above budget). The forecast position has increased by 
£0.47 million compared with November due to a number of complex cases 
requiring specialist placements, supported living and support packages 
arrangements. In-house fostering services are forecasting an over-spend of £0.94 
million. The increase in children coming into care, particularly court ordered parent 
and baby placements and the complexity of some cases is causing substantial 
budget pressures against the allowance budgets. Special guardianship allowances 
are also forecast to be £0.21 million overspent due to the number of orders 
planned to be made. 

Page 24



23.Safeguarding staffing budgets received £2 million investment in 2016/17 and staff 
budgets are reported online. Social workers have been recruited to fill the 
additional posts but agency staff continuing to cover to provide experience where 
there are newly qualified workers or where caseloads remain high. Section 17 and 
discretionary payments for children in care are forecasting to be over-spent by 
£0.52 million (106.4% of the budget). Changes in practice are being introduced 
replacing the use of ad hoc arrangements with a more coherent commissioning 
framework. Over time this should reduce some of the financial pressures in this 
area. 

24.Under-spends to offset the cost pressures include adoption services where 
income of £0.2 million is forecast due to GCC assessed families adopting children 
from other authorities, Supporting People services are £0.48 million under-spent 
due to additional savings being achieved above target and the release of inflation 
and activity contingencies (£0.9 million) not required in-year. Home to school 
transport budgets have forecast a £0.25 million under-spend due to staff 
vacancies and lower commitments against transport contracts. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position 

25.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be under-spent by 
£4.03 million which includes uncommitted balances brought forward from 2015/16 
totalling £3.99 million. There is pressure on the hospital education budget and 
alternative provision services (£0.4 million) due to increased demand but this is 
offset by a number of under-spends across the service including early years 
nursery education for 3 and 4 year olds (£0.15 million) and over recovery of 
contributions against secondary excluded pupils (£0.14 million).

Community and Infrastructure

26.The current forecast position for Communities & Infrastructure is a breakeven 
position.

27.Highways Commissioning are reporting a £0.04 million underspend this month as 
although spending to date is on track against profiles, analysis of the end of year 
adjustments has highlighted some previous year spend not accounted for. This 
forecast position includes an additional revenue contribution to capital of £0.35 
million relating to highways local contributions to the capital programme, and 
relates to a recommendation to change the capital programme included in the 
Capital section of this report.  The position continues to be closely monitored given 
delivery fluctuations in previous years. There is an over recovery of income within 
the Traffic Management which will be incorporated into the Highways available 
budget for 16/17 revenue spend and at this late stage in year it may not be 
possible to get all available additional budget profiled for in year completion.

28.On 8th June 2016 Cabinet resolved that it  "approves the payment by 
Gloucestershire County Council to Highways England (HE) of £1m revenue 
funding no later than 1st September 2016" in relation to the A417 Missing Link 

Page 25



project. Since that resolution was passed further work has been undertaken to 
clarify details of the funding agreement with Highways England which has resulted 
in a proposal to make the planned payment in instalments between 1 February 
2017 and 1 January 2018.  Therefore the payment was not made prior to 1 
September 2016 in accordance with the Cabinet resolution and Cabinet are now 
requested to approve this £1 million payment to HE is made in instalments in line 
with the revised agreement with HE. This payment will be fully funded from the 
A417 Reserve.

29.Health Watch currently forecast a £0.10 million under-spend (17% of budget). As 
per last year this is due to income from third parties and the actual grant received 
exceeding the indicative allocation when contracts were tendered. This indicates a 
favourable variance long term. 

30.Waste is currently reporting a £0.14 million underspend. New contractual 
arrangements regarding recyclate income accounts for an additional £130k of 
income. There is an overspend on waste contracts due to additional tonnage at 
the Household Recycling Centres (HRCs), this is offset by less residual waste 
than forecast delivered by waste collection authorities and also delayed 
implementation of waste projects. It is proposed to transfer £100k of the additional 
income to the waste capital budget to fund the capital improvements at HRCs. 

31.The Integrated Transport budget is reporting a break even position overall. The 
savings delivered through concessionary fares changes on Park and Ride in April 
are reducing the pressure on the overall transport budget, which is compensating 
for the changes to the subsidised bus network taking longer than expected to 
deliver. This is allowing more time for market and community engagement in 
identifying solutions.

32.There is a forecast overspend of £0.2 million in the Fire and Rescue Service due 
to expanding operational activity by the Retained staff carrying out prevention 
work.

33.Libraries are currently reporting a balanced position.

34.There are a number of smaller variances not reported due to their small value.

Business Support Services

35.The forecast outturn position for Business Support Services is a balanced position.  
This assumes that a £450k underspend, which predominately relates to an 
underspend in ICT as a result of a technical financial change (transitioning to 
accruals based accounting for software licences that have historically been 
recorded on a cash basis) is used to fund an investment in social worker mobile 
working ICT

36.There has been a recent national challenge that “Social Workers are spending too 
much time on administration and not enough in front of families”. This is something 
we are keen to address for our social workers here in Gloucestershire to improve 

Page 26



their access to systems remotely when mobile. Investment in ICT equipment will 
enable staff to work in a mobile way, thus reducing the time spent travelling back 
to the office to record information and this should also decrease travel costs and 
mileage re-imbursement.  Also, a reduction in time spent in front of computers 
would enable social workers to re-invest the time saved to undertake direct work 
with children to better understand the issues which in turn will improve the quality 
of service delivery. 

37.Therefore it is proposed to make a revenue contribution of £450k from the ICT 
capital budget to fund the required investment in ICT equipment for social workers.  

Technical and Corporate budgets   

38.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £4.71 
million underspend (8.9% of budget).  The main reasons are;

 positive interest rate credits on balances of £2.1 million, reflecting better 
diversification of investments and longer term deposits;  

 a positive variation on the budget for the increase in the Council’s 
employer’s national insurance costs of £1.1 million, following the 
introduction of the Government’s single-tier state pension for all 
employees on 1st April 2016;  

 additional New Home Bonus income of £0.16 million;  
 the 2016/17 budget included an MtC2 savings contingency, funded from 

additional one off District Council surpluses.  This was approved by 
council to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes 
in demand led areas in 2016/17. Given the difficulties in achieving 
savings across some services as outlined in this report £1.0 million has 
been released to support the overall budget.

 Smaller under spends on a number of corporate & contingency budget 
areas totalling £0.3 million.

39.A budget of £0.454 million was approved by Council as part of the 2016/17 budget 
to pay the Apprenticeship Levy tax however the implementation was delayed until 
April 2017. It is therefore proposed to transfer this funding to the Economic 
Stimulus Reserve to pump prime the salary costs of additional apprentices in the 
first couple of years of the scheme, as salary costs are not eligible costs for 
funding under the levy scheme. This funding is sufficient to pay the annual salary 
costs of approximately 30 apprentices or match fund the annual salary costs of 60 
apprentices. It would ensure the scheme gets off to a positive start by encouraging 
all managers to consider how apprentices could be used to cover skill gaps and 
raise the profile of apprentices across the Council. This is essential given our 
estimates for GCC are to increase numbers to 72 apprentices from 10 currently.  
Given the long term benefits of this scheme in developing our future workforces 
and giving the young people of Gloucestershire quality training and job 
opportunities it is considered that this initial investment will deliver long term 
benefits to the Council in terms of improved service delivery and to the community 
as a whole. The Levy Fund (held by central government), made up of employer 

Page 27



contributions and the 10% Government top up contribution, will expire after 24 
months unless it is spent on apprenticeship training.     

Section B:  Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2016/17

40.The re-profiled capital budget for 2016/17 is £91.02 million.  Actual spend against 
the capital programme as at 31st December 2016 is £49.74 million.  The nature of 
capital investment means that spend tends to be lower during the first phase of a 
scheme with the majority of spend occurring once the construction phase begins. 
This means that for new schemes the majority of spend will occur towards the end 
of the financial year.

Re-profiled Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2016/17

41.The re-profiled capital budget for 2016/17 is £91.02 million; this is £1.27 million 
higher than the capital budget and new approvals last reported to Cabinet in 
December 2016.  The increase reflects additional s106 contributions. 

42.The forecast outturn position for 2016/17 is £89.38 million, giving an in year 
underspend position of £1.64 million for the year.     

43.Details of the re-profiled budgets, forecast year end position, analysed by service 
area, and key factors considered in producing this forecast position are provided in 
the table below and the narrative that follows.  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2016/17

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2016/17

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2016/17

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2016/17

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works 
Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 6,227 3,069 49 5,935 -292

Children & Families 23,160 15,113 65 22,752 -408

Communities & Infrastructure:

Infrastructure 51,841 28,463 55 51,483 -358

Business Support 7,262 2,756 38 7,213 -49

Libraries 284 136 48 252 -32

Archives 1,001 99 10 501 -500

Safety 1,248 106 9 1,248 0

Total 91,023 49,742 55 89,384 -1,639

Page 28



Adults

44.The Adults capital programme is forecast to spend £5.94 million in 2016/17, this is 
a reduction of £0.29 million from that previously reported, due to delays in the 
implementation of the GIS move. This will now be completed in 2017/18.

Children & Families

45.The Children & Families capital programme is forecast to spend £22.75 million in 
2016/17 against the revised budget of £23.16 million, giving a forecast 
underspend of £0.41 million.  The budget and forecast have both increased by 
£1.05 million following the addition of a new scheme at Chipping Campden 
School, as approved by Cabinet in December 2016. The forecast underspend has 
reduced by £0.31 million, compared to the last report, due to faster than 
anticipated progress on schemes at Stratton and Kemble Primary Schools and 
Alderman Knight Special School.

Communities & Infrastructure

46. Infrastructure schemes are forecast to spend £51.48 million in 2016/17, against 
the revised budget of £51.84 million, giving a forecast under-spend of £0.36 
million.    Since last reported the main changes relate to the Rural Broadband 
scheme, now forecasting a £1.50 million underspend, and a forecast overspend of 
£1.38 million against Highways Structural Maintenance schemes (although it is 
anticipated that this forecast overspend can be eliminated  by utilising the 
additional revenue contributions recommended below. The remaining net 
underspend of £0.24 million relates to small variances, both under and over 
spends, in other areas of the Highways programme, and is mainly related to 
changes in the forecast spending profile of schemes. 

Business Support 

47.Business Support schemes are forecast to spend £7.21 million in 2016/17, against 
the revised budget of £7.26 million, giving a net underspend of £0.05 million.  
AMPS schemes are forecast to overspend by £0.13 million in 2016/17, although 
approved funding is available in future years so there is no forecast net overspend 
on the schemes, and an underspend of £0.18 million in ICT, mostly due to 
slippage in the SAP compliance work that is now due to commence in 2017/18.

Libraries

48.Libraries Schemes are forecast to spend £0.25 million in 2016/17, a reduction of 
£0.03 million, compared to the last report, due to delayed starts on 4 schemes. 
These will now be completed in 2017/18.

Page 29



Archives

49.The Archives scheme is forecast to spend £0.5 million in 2016/17, against the 
revised budget of £1.0 million, this slippage will result in an in-year under-spend of 
£0.5 million.  The start of building work has been delayed due to revised 
foundation designs and close examination of revised project costs.

Safety

50.Safety Schemes are forecast to spend £1.25 million in 2016/17, in line with the re-
profiled budget.  

Changes to the Capital Programme

Adults

51.The Council has been awarded a grant of £1.834 million from the Department of 
Health’s Housing & Technology for People with Learning Disabilities Capital Fund 
to enable the purchase and adaptation of various properties for people with 
learning difficulties. It is anticipated that £0.8 million of this funding will be spent in 
2016/17, with the remainder £1.034 million spent in 2017/18.

52. It is recommended that a budget of £1.834 million, funded by a Department of 
Health Capital Grant, is approved in the Adults Capital Programme.  

Infrastructure

53. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.44 million in the 
Highway capital budget funded from revenue contributions of £0.35million and an 
additional £0.09 million of developer and other external contributions to help fund 
a variety of highway schemes. 

54. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.25 million in the 
capital programme for Safety Fencing funded from a revenue contribution from the 
Highways revenue budget (£0.25 million of the £0.50 million additional investment 
approved by Cabinet in November 2016).

55. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.10 million in the 
Waste capital budget for the replacement of waste compactors at HRCs funded 
from a revenue contribution from the Waste revenue budget.

56. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.450 million in the ICT 
capital budget, funded by a revenue contribution from a one off underspend in the 
ICT revenue budget, to fund urgent strong infrastructure projects

57.As a result of these recommendations, the overall capital programme increases by 
£1.24 million.

Page 30



- 1 -

COUNCIL STRATEGY & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY – 2017/18 – 2019/20

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Leader
Cabinet Member

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of Council
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Change

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 – 
2018/19
Council report: 17th February 2016
Cabinet Reports: 20th July 2016 and 14th December 2016
Council Efficiency Plan 2016/2020

Main Consultees Public, Schools Forum, Partners, Business Representation, Members of 
the Council, Scrutiny Committees, Trades Unions, Staff.

Planned Dates Consultation undertaken between December 2016 and January  2017

Divisional Councillor All Councillors

Officers Jo Walker (32) 8474 Strategic Finance Director
Jane Burns (42) 5202 Director Strategy and Challenge
Paul Blacker (32) 8999 Head of Financial Management 

Purpose of Report
  

To recommend the Council Strategy, MTFS and 2017/18 budget and 
precept to Council.

Key 
Recommendations 
(continued overleaf)

1. To consider the outcome of the consultation received, as 
summarised in this report and in Section C of the MTFS, and set 
out in detail in the consultation report.

2. To approve the Draft Council Strategy for submission to County 
Council.

3. To approve changes to the draft budget as set out in paragraphs 8 
(revenue) and 10 (capital), which are now included within the 
MTFS, and to approve the MTFS and final revenue and capital 
budget for 2017/18 for recommendation to Council, including all of 
the proposals set out in the annexes.

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



- 2 -

4. To note the schools funding, the provisional local government 
finance settlement and forecast reserve movements as 
summarised in this report and set out in the MTFS, and to 
recommend to Council a revenue budget of £402.68 million, and a 
band D council tax of £1179.26, and consequential precepts on 
District Councils.

5. To approve, for recommendation to Council, the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Investment Strategy and Prudential 
Indicators as set out in Section I of this report and Annex 9 of the 
detailed MTFS.

6. To approve, for recommendation to Council, the Risk Management 
Policy Statement & Strategy as set out in Section M of this report 
and Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS.

Resource 
Implications

The report concerns itself with the Council’s overall budget and the 
financial implications thereof.

Page 32



- 3 -

A      Introduction

1.     This report refers to the detailed MTFS attached, and should be read in conjunction with the 
Draft Council Strategy, the Due Regard Statement and the Consultation reports which 
accompany it. 

In December 2016 the Cabinet proposed a budget for consultation totalling £397.13 million and 
was based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase and a 2% National Adult Social Care levy.
Following Cabinet in December 2016 the draft financial settlement was announced on 15th 
December 2016.  This included a new one off Adult Social Care grant of £2.5 million.  The 
taxbase has also now been confirmed by all six districts and most recently their surplus levels 
on the collection fund.   This allows for a revised Budget proposal of £402.68 million.

This revised budget is an increase of £5.56 million on the December consultation budget, the 
majority being one off increases in funding, and details of this increase are provided in section 
C below.

Details of the Council Strategy which outlines the Council’s strategic policy direction, under 
which the budget proposal is formulated, together with the results of consultation on this policy 
direction are provided in sections E and F of this report.

B Summary Budget Proposal 2017/18

2 The recommended budget for 2017/18 is £402.68 million this represents a decrease in cash 
terms of £5.78 million, or 1.41%, from 2016/17, due to the significant reduction in 
Government grant funding.   

3 The recommended budget for 2017/18 contains:

 £25.52 million of investment into services, particularly those for older 
people and vulnerable children and adults 

 £4.04 million to cover for increased costs due to inflation.

 Funding for £103.81 million of new capital investment in roads, schools 
and other services.

 £35.34 million of savings delivered under the third year of the “Meeting 
the Challenge 2 - Together We Can” programme.

Page 33



- 4 -

4 The overall cash increases / decreases for service budgets are detailed in the table 
below.  

Overall Budget

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2017/18 Budget  

Budget Area

2016/17 
GCC 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 132,510 -11,360 15,732 136,882 4,372 3.30%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 54,501 -5,157 8,839 58,183 3,682 6.76%

Children and Families- Other Services 35,347 -4,916 210 30,641 -4,706 -13.31%

Communities and Infrastructure 80,255 -2,058 1,087 79,284 -971 -1.21%

Business Support 26,024 -1,650 764 25,138 -886 -3.40%

Technical and Corporate 54,284 -7,570 928 47,642 -6,642 -12.24%

Total GCC 382,921 -32,711 27,560 377,770 -5,151 -1.35%

Public Health 25,542 -2,630 2,000 24,912 -630 -2.47%

Total Budget 408,463 -35,341 29,560 402,682 -5,781 -1.42%

5 Full details of the budget proposals are set out in annexes 2 and 3 within the detailed MTFS 
accompanying this paper.  

Details of the commissioning intentions for each commissioning area moving forward are 
provided at Annex 1 within the detailed MTFS. The Annex highlights current achievements 
and future plans in relation to the redesign of services within Gloucestershire, which aim to 
maximise effectiveness whilst delivering on the significant financial challenges facing the 
Council.  These detailed narratives cover Children and Families (Annex 1.1), Adults (Annex 
1.2), Public Health (Annex 1.3) and Communities and Infrastructure (annex 1.4).

C Changes between the 2017/18 budget issued for consultation and the final budget

Revenue : Funding Changes 2017/18

6 The Cabinet approved the 2017/18 consultation budget in December 2016. The budget totalled 
£397.13 million and was based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase and a 2% national Adult 

Page 34



- 5 -

7

Social Care Levy.
 
The consultation budget was based on the Spending Review figures announced with the final 
2016/17 settlement, and on the latest available information on other funding streams. 

Following the release of the provisional financial settlement for 2017/18 on 15th December 
2016, and the notification of the final tax base and collection fund surplus figures from the 
District Councils in January 2017, the final budget proposal for 2017/18 is £402.68million, £5.56 
million (1.4%) higher than the consultation budget, although the majority of the increases are 
non recurring.

The changes in funding between the consultation budget (December cabinet, pre the draft 
finance settlement) and the final budget proposal (post the draft finance settlement) is analysed 
as follows;

The New Adult Social Care Grant (one off funding) £2.541m

Additional top up grant £0.923m

Additional Taxbase resulting in extra Council Tax raised £0.723m

Additional Council Tax Surplus Declared (one off 
funding)

£0.645m

Additional Educational Core Grant (one off funding) £0.570m
Additional Returned Funding Grant (one off funding) £0.153m

TOTAL £5.555m

The tax base increases, advised by the District councils, show an average increase of 1.6%, 
ranging between 1.3% and 2.2% across the six district councils, compared to the 1.3% 
estimated in the consultation budget. The overall Council Tax Collection Fund surplus figure set 
by the District Councils is £3.87 million (individual District Council’s range between £0.48 million 
and £0.76 million), an increase of £0.64 million from the amount estimated in the consultation 
budget.

Once again the taxbase is increasing within Gloucestershire at levels above the national 
average of 0.8%, and this is mainly due to house building within the area.

The other significant changes in the financial settlement were the result of additional inflationary 
increases, update of data and the introduction of the Adult Social Care one off grant.

Other grants that are included in the Council’s core funding, include:

 Public Health Grant – announced at £24.912 million.

 Education Support Funding –allocation based on pupil numbers totalling £1.296 million, it 
is anticipated that this funding will cease in 2018/19.

Page 35



- 6 -

 New Homes Bonus - £4.041 million provisional announcement.

The Council also receives a number of specific grants, and as yet confirmations are outstanding 
on these, with updates expected with the final settlement in February 2017.  The latest position 
is as follows:

Actuals Forecast
2016/17 2017/18

£’000 £’000
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 246,102 255,787
Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG) 36,631 37,287
Pupil Premium Grant 12,396 12,396
Primary School PE and Sport Funding 1,860 1,860
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 5,585 5,585
Adult and Community Learning 3177 3177
Music Service 796 796
SEN Implementation 373 417
Adoption Support Fund 788 788
Youth Justice Board - Remands 43 43
Youth Justice Board 480 480
Staying Put 260 260
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers 580 580
Fire Revenue Grant 300 0
The Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 4,875 4,875
Extended Rights to Free Travel 422 422
Independent Living Fund 977 945
Local Reform and Community Voices 345 345
Sixth Form Funding 1,908 1,908
Strategic Review of High Needs Provision 247 0
School Improvement Grant 0 426
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR 1148 1148

Total Ringfenced Grant 319,293 329,525

Ringfenced Revenue Grants, not included in 
Base Funding

Revenue: Spending Changes 2017/18:

8 The following changes have been made to the budget proposal for 2017/18:

The Adult Social Care budget has been increased on a one off basis by £4.035 million;

  £2.541 million to reflect additional one-off grant funding.

 £0.65 million to trial a different approach to discharging people from hospital who have a 
diagnosis of dementia. This reflects our approach of getting people back to 
independence and being there when we’re needed most.  It also aligns to both living 

Page 36



- 7 -

within our means and doing the right thing given the emergent evidence base that 
enhanced and intensive interventions can overcome the impact of hospitalisation, 
avoiding often lengthy placements in care homes.

 £0.500 million investment to help manage demand for Adult Social Care services 
intervention over the longer term. This investment will achieve better outcomes for 
people whilst encouraging independence and self care.  

 £0.300 million investment in preventative Mental Health; intervene early to improve 
outcomes for individuals thereby avoiding the need for crisis intervention.  This will focus 
on those people who risk deteriorating mental health.

 £0.044 million Proud to Care, which aims to raise the profile of the caring profession in 
Gloucestershire to improve capacity in the voluntary sector and the provider market 
(domiciliary and residential care).

The Children & Families – Vulnerable Children budget has been increased on a one-off basis by 
£1.520 million.

This is a planned investment over two years to enhance early help and prevention services by 
testing a number of different ways of intervening more effectively to avoid family breakdown and 
prevent children coming into Care.  This includes trialling services that focus on the most 
vulnerable women and break the cycle of repeat pregnancies and children coming into Care, 
enhancing the response to domestic abuse, working with schools to reduce exclusions and 
testing how we can better support young men.  Further detail is provided below;

 £0.800 million Domestic Abuse and Family Breakdown;  Domestic abuse is the most 
prevalent factor in social care cases. It also drives much of our repeat activity.  It is 
proposed to invest in therapeutic support for children using outreach workers to engage 
health, community, education professionals in early identification and to expand the 
Family Group Conferencing.  It is also proposed to develop a programme of interventions 
that identifies and works with young men engaged in risky behaviour.  This will allow 
families to agree their own solutions to these issues. 

 £0.320 million Breaking the Cycle; There are a group of vulnerable women who have 
complex needs and experience repeated pregnancies but lose their children to the care 
system.  The proposal is to develop a service, funded by a social impact bond, to support 
46 women over a 2 year period to improve outcomes for them in terms of relationships, 
employment and well being and reduce levels of risk and cost for public agencies. 

 £0.270 million Reducing Exclusions; Case file audits of young people who have come 
into the Care system show a consistent pattern of previous exclusion from school.   This 
proposal will develop a joint strategy with schools led by a leader from within the sector 
and include an incentivisation fund (match funded from DSG) that could support 
restorative practice projects at school level aimed at reducing exclusions. 

Page 37



- 8 -

 £0.030 million Enabling Active Communities; Working with Gloucester City on joint 
project funding community connectors to engage excluded groups and enhance 
community response to lower risks within families and

 £0.100 million Recruitment of’ in house’ foster carers; The increase in the numbers of 
children in Care has increased our reliance on external purchased placements with foster 
carers. In particular there is a need for more foster carers who can also be approved to 
adopt – ‘foster to adopt’.  This investment would enhance capacity within the Fostering 
team to specifically recruit 10 more foster to adopt families

I addition to the increases outlined above the starting budget for individual services (shown in 
Annexes 2 and 3) has been realigned to reflect permanent budget transfers occurring in 
2016/17.  In addition, a realignment of LGPS employer pension contribution budget has been 
made following the latest actuarial review of the Pension Fund.

Capital Funding Changes 2017/18

9 The 2017/18 budget issued for consultation contained £96.067 million of new investment in 
capital schemes financed from grants and capital financing budget.

Since the December consultation budget, the Council has been awarded additional Highways 
grants of £6.182 million; £1.435 million from the Pothole Action Fund, £3.260 million from the 
National Productivity Investment Fund, and £1.487 million as the incentive element of the 
Highways Block Maintenance grant.  There are also additional Schools Section 106 
contributions of £1.132 million with school contributions expected to increase by a further 
£0.430 million.    

This additional funding for new 2017/18 capital schemes amounts to £7.744 million and is 
summarised in the following table.  

Additional Funding for New Capital Schemes 2017/18
£’000

Infrastructure Grant – Pothole Action Fund 1,435
Infrastructure Grant – National Productivity Investment Fund 3,260
Infrastructure Grant – Highways Block Maintenance Grant – 
Incentive Element

1,487

School Contributions (estimate) 430
Developer Contributions – schools 1,132

Total New Capital 2017/18 7,744

This increases the amount of new investment in the 2017/18 budget to £103.811 million.     .  

Page 38



- 9 -

10

Capital : Spending Changes 2017/18

The additional contributions and grants mean that the 2017/18 Capital Programme can include a 
number of service priority schemes not previously included in the December consultation budget. 
These additions are reflected in section N and Annex 8a of the detailed MTFS.

These additional new 2017/18 capital schemes are detailed in the table below.   

Increase in New Capital Schemes 2017/18 
£’000

Children and Families
Capital Maintenance Programme (estimate) 280
Suitability Programme (estimate) 150
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 1,132
Infrastructure
Pothole Action Fund 1,435
National Productivity Investment Fund 3,260
Block maintenance incentive element 1,487

Increase in Total New Capital 2017/18 7,744

D Overall Capital Programme

11 The full capital programme is set out in section N and Annexes 8a and 8b of the MTFS.

The £103.811 million of new 2017/18 capital schemes and other changes to the Capital 
Programme, including recommendations contained in the Financial Monitoring Report earlier in 
the agenda, result in a total Capital Programme of £431.797 million, as detailed in the table 
below.   

Total Capital Programme 
£’000

Existing Approval 327,986

New Capital Schemes 2017/18 103,811

Total Capital Programme 431,797

The main investment relates to Communities and Infrastructure (£215.129 million) and Schools 
and facilities for children (£132.843 million), with the remainder being in Adults (£15.723 million) 
and Business Support Services (£68.102 million).

Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions have been included within the new 
Capital Programme on the basis that they will be funded from capital financing budgets, thereby 
avoiding the need for new borrowing.  These new schemes for 2017/18 not supported by grants 
or contributions amount to £13.318 million and are detailed in Annex 8b of the detailed MTFS.  

Page 39



- 10 -

The 2017/18 capital spend is forecast to be £122.185 million, with the majority of spend planned 
for schools and facilities for children (£38.206 million) and Communities and Infrastructure 
(£49.886 million).  The actual level of spend will be dependent on the 2016/17 outturn position 
and will be subject to review during the first quarter of 2017/18.  

E Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can – Draft Council Strategy 2017 to 2020 

12 The Council Strategy, developed under “Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can” is the 
key high-level document that, along with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), sets the 
Council’s strategic policy direction. It is supported by a series of policy statements that set out 
our proposals for specific areas in more detail. 

The Council Strategy is written in the context of continued constraints on public sector funding 
accompanied by growing demand for key council services.
  
Left unchecked, the combination of these factors would require us to spend an increasing 
proportion of the Council’s budget on social care for vulnerable children and adults, and on the 
care of older people.  If we carry on trying to respond in the same way, we risk these services 
becoming overwhelmed and delivering diminishing results.  

However, we believe that this also presents us with an opportunity to continue to think 
differently about the services we provide and the way we provide them.  

We want to help people to live fulfilling and independent lives by ensuring that they can access 
support that meets their individual needs through working with the entire community.  We 
believe that this will achieve better results for individuals and mean that the Council’s resources 
can continue to support the most vulnerable in our community. 

This direction of travel is in accordance with a public consultation carried out on “Meeting the 
Challenge 2 – Together We Can” in 2014 where the response was overwhelmingly positive 
about our proposals and provided us with a strong mandate for change.

The Council Strategy has been updated and is provided as an Appendix to this report.  
Commissioning intentions are provided for each commissioning area moving forward at Annex 1 
in the detailed MTFS.  

F Consultation

13 A formal budget consultation took place between 19th December 2016 and 19th January 2017, 
with the following groups:

 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and
district, town and parish councils

 The general public
 The council’s People’s Panel
 Trade Unions and professional associations
 Staff via the usual communication channels
 Schools via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

Page 40



- 11 -

As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social media 
communications campaign, including Facebook advertising to target hard to reach groups.

There were 1030 responses to the budget consultation.

The majority of respondents feel that our current priorities are as important or more important 
than last year.

Compared with last year, 38% feel that supporting the most vulnerable is more important, 
55% feel it is of equal importance and 7% feel it is less important.

Compared with last year, 34% feel that focusing on working with communities, families and 
individuals to help them to do more for themselves is more important, 54% feel it is of equal 
importance and 12% feel it is less important.

Compared with last year, 34% feel that focusing on reducing our running costs to get the 
best out of our assets is more important, 46% feel it is of equal importance and 19% feel it is 
less important.

79% generally agree with our budget proposals including the  1.99% increase in council tax and 
2%  national adult social care levy, with the majority of those (59%) either strongly agreeing or 
agreeing.

Overall the comments received supported the council’s proposals to raise council tax 
particularly in order to invest in services for people who need them most.

The top 4 comments on the council’s 2017 budget were:

 Support for the most vulnerable: including services for the elderly, children and those with 
mental health issues (112 comments)

 Invest more to improving Gloucestershire's roads and infrastructure 
(111 comments)

 Agree with budget proposals including the  increase to council tax and inclusion of 
national adult social care levy to support the elderly and most vulnerable (88 comments)

  Agree with council priorities (64 comments)

63 people objected to the increase in council tax or raised concern over the ability of some 
people to afford the rise. A more detailed list of themes can be found in the budget consultation 
report. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also undertaken their own budget scrutiny 
process, with scrutiny meetings held with members of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee, 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee and the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee. 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee also received a presentation and 
discussed the MTFS on 23rd January 2017.  Following these meetings the Scrutiny Management and 
Overview Committee will be feeding back their views to the 1st  February Cabinet meeting.

G Schools Funding

Page 41



- 12 -

14

15

16

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation for 2017/18 was announced by the DfE on the 
20th December 2016 and the position for Gloucestershire (including academies) is:

This represents an increase of £14.6 million from the current 2016/17 DSG of £412.4 million 
reflecting changes in pupil numbers and also for the following:

The Schools Block includes the transfer of £1.3 million for Education Services Grant centrally 
retained duties relating to both maintained schools and academies.

The High Needs Block includes an addition of £1.9 million for post-16 high needs places 
previously funded direct by the EFA and an additional £1.3 million that has been allocated to 
local authorities based on the 2-18 aged population and estimated growth.

The Early Years Block has increased by £4.3 million from its 2016/17 current total of £25.8 
million to £30.1 million to cover funding for:

 Disadvantaged 2yr olds entitlement.
 Universal 15 hour entitlement for 3 and 4 year olds.
 Additional 15 hours for 3 and 4 year old children of eligible working parents (7/12ths 

from Sept 17).
 Disability access fund (DAF) entitlement.
 The early years pupil premium.

The final formula for delegation of school budgets was recommended by the Schools Forum on 
12th January 2017 and is shown in Annex 4 of the detailed MTFS.  This takes account of the 
revised data set (based on the October 2016 school census) issued on 15th December 2016.

National Funding Formula for Schools
The government published some initial proposals for a national funding formula back in March 
2016.  The stage 2 consultation, setting out detailed proposals was published on 14th   
December 2016.  The deadline for responses is 22nd March 2017.

Overall, Gloucestershire schools and academies would gain 0.6% from the introduction of the 
NFF.  Outcomes for individual schools vary from +23.5% to -2.9%.

Further information on the proposals is included in section G of the detailed MTFS.

H 2016/17 Current Financial Position

Page 42



- 13 -

17 The current outturn forecast for 2016/17, based on December 2016 forecasts, is a forecast 
under spend of £0.89 million. 

Full details of this forecast are provided in a separate monitoring report to 1st February 2017 
Cabinet.

I Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators

18 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) are 
shown in Section P and Annex 9 in the detailed MTFS. The Strategy takes account of the Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Sector. 

Annex 9 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18, including borrowing, debt rescheduling, and 
investments.

 Prudential Indicators.

 Proposed Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy.

 Specified and Non Specified Investment for use by the Council.

J Future Years Forecast Budgets

19 The Council’s financial forecasts for 2018/19 and 2019/20 are set out in section M and annex 7 
of the detailed MTFS. 

These forecasts are only indicative due to the lack of certainty on government funding 
information post 2017/18, especially in relation to grant distribution methods.   

K Reserves 

20 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to ensure that reserves 
are adequate.  

A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2017, and movements since 31st 

Page 43



- 14 -

March 2016 are as follows:
31st March 

2016
£000

31st March 
2017
£000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves – Non Schools 106,866 104,537
Earmarked Reserves - Schools Related 31,112 31,112
General Fund Reserves 19,848 19,848
Total Capital Reserve 65,526 65,526

Total Reserves 223,352 221,023

General balances are anticipated to remain unchanged at a level of £19.848 million, assuming a 
balanced revenue outturn position for 2016/17. These equate to 4.73% of the 2016/17 net 
budget. If an over spend occurs in 2016/17, general fund balances are likely to reduce.

This level of general balances is considered to be a satisfactory level of general reserves, being 
within the target range of 4% to 6%.

Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £106.866 million as at 31st 
March 2016, to £104.537 million as at 31st March 2017, a reduction of £2.329 million.  It has 
been assumed that both Schools Related Reserves and Capital Reserves will remain at the 
level of balances held at 31st March 2016.

Annex 6 of the detailed MTFS provides a summary of the Earmarked Reserves, including all of 
the proposed and forecast reserve movements during 2016/17.

L Risk Mitigation 

21 In preparing the proposal the following factors mitigate the risks in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known and affordable 
within the core finance available to the Council, additional costs have been built into the 
proposed 2017/18 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and taken into 
account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely monitored 
during the period of the MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council from existing and 
future liabilities.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a series of 
major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have been put into place 
to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over the last three years, there is 
inevitably some residual risk.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for older and 
vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is rising. Although additional 
resources are being invested in these areas under the proposed 2017/18 budget options, 
they are limited by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the 
Council.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance increases, 

Page 44



- 15 -

contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the new National Living 
Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s budget.

M Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy

22

23

It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their risks.  Identifying 
risks enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision making, service planning and 
delivery to safeguard the wellbeing of its stakeholders and increases the likelihood of achieving 
its outcomes.  Taking into account the overall future strategic direction of the Council, its 
structure and its services, it is now deemed an appropriate time to refresh and reaffirm our Risk 
Management Policy Statement and Strategy, to ensure that the Council’s risk and assurance 
framework continues to build on our existing successes, which reflect national good practice 
and standards. This should enable the Council to effectively manage the potential opportunities 
and threats, thus improving service delivery to our communities.

Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS provides the updated Risk Management Policy Statement and 
Strategy for 2017/18, which aligns with the MTFS.  The aims of this Strategy are to support the 
challenges that the Council may face, allowing it to react dynamically to changing external 
circumstances by enabling the Council to handle risk effectively and deliver successful 
outcomes.

N Public Sector Equality Duty 

24 A detailed Due Regard Statement has been produced which summarises the impact of the 
budget proposals on people with protected characteristics and how the impact will be mitigated. 
It also includes the evidence base used and the impact on the workforce.  The document is a 
final draft. The final version will be produced for consideration by County Council on 15th 
February 2017 as they are the decision-makers for the Council’s budget.

O Conclusion

25 The Strategic Finance Director (the Chief Financial Officer) considers that the budget proposals 
set out by the Cabinet are robust and sustainable, and that the level of reserves are sufficient to 
meet the known risks within the budget, taking account of the Councils robust financial 
management framework.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire 
County Council

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

2017/18 to 2019/20

Budget 2017 /18

Page 47



2

A  Context

1 This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is presented to Cabinet for 
approval on 1 s t  February 2017, prior to f inal approval of County Council on 
15th February 2017. It has been prepared using best estimates from available data, 
based on the provisional financial settlement received in December 2016, with the 
final settlement expected early February 2017.  Any amendments required as a 
result of the f i n a l  financial settlement will be in the final budget submitted to 
County Council.

2 The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2017/18. The budget totals £402.68 
million and is based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase plus a 2% national Adult Social 
Care Levy - only the second tax increase levied by the Council in six years.

3  A key feature of the provisional Finance Settlement announced on 15th December 
2016 is the continuation of the ‘national adult social care levy’ allowing upper-tier 
authorities to increase council tax levels to fund adult social care pressures.  This 
provisional settlement announcement advised that upper tier councils could choose 
to raise a maximum of 6% over the next 3 years to the end of Parliament e.g. raise 
3% over the next two years or 2% over the next 3 years etc.  The proposed budget 
includes the adult social care precept at 2%, which raises an additional £4.99 million 
for Adult Social Care services, in addition to the 1.99% basic Council Tax proposed.

4 The draft MTFS should be considered in the context of the Council Strategy, which 
sets out our approach to meeting people’s needs:

5 The Council Strategy sets out the Council’s strategic policy direction and is supported 
by a series of policy statements that set out our proposals for specific areas in more 
detail.

6 In the context of the Council Strategy, commissioning intentions for each 
commissioning area moving forward are provided at Annex 1. The Annex highlights 
current achievements and future plans in relation to the redesigning of services within 
Gloucestershire, which aim to maximise effectiveness whilst delivering on the 
significant financial challenges facing the Council. These detailed narratives cover 
Children and Families (Annex 1.1), Adults (Annex 1.2), Public Health (Annex 1.3) and 
Communities and Infrastructure (Annex 1.4).

B Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can – Council Strategy 2015 to 2018

7 The Council Strategy, developed under “Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We 
Can” is the key high-level document that, along with the MTFS, sets the Council’s 
strategic policy direction. It was approved by County Council in February 2015 
following public consultation and has been refreshed annually since.  

Page 48



3

8 It is supported by a series of policy statements that set out our proposals for specific 
areas in more detail. These cover:

 Active Individuals
 Active Communities
 Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan
 Growing Older in Gloucestershire
 Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service Integrated Risk Management Plan
 Building Better Lives
 Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire

9 The vision for the Strategy continues to be ‘to use the resources available to us to 
improve quality of life for Gloucestershire people and communities’.

10 This is supported by three values that inform the Council’s direction and by which the 
implementation of this Strategy is steered:

 Living within our means – refusing to pass on debt to the next generation and 
continuing to focus our priorities in order to manage our budgets and reduce our 
borrowing.

 Focusing on what makes a difference – being relentless in the pursuit of good 
outcomes and finding the best, most efficient way of improving them.

 Helping communities help themselves – getting better results and achieving better 
value by giving power and tools to local people

11 The context for the Council Strategy remains one of continued constraints on public 
sector funding accompanied by growing demand for key council services.  Left 
unchecked, the combination of these factors would require us to spend an increasing 
proportion of the Council’s budget on social care for vulnerable children and adults, 
and on the care of older people.  The strategy recognises that if we carry on trying to 
respond in the same ways, we risk these services becoming overwhelmed and 
delivering diminishing results.  

12 The Strategy also sets out our new approach to meeting people’s needs based on:

 Active individuals
 Active communities
 Getting people back to independence
 Being there when we’re needed most

Page 49



4

C Consultation

13 A formal budget consultation took place between 19th December 2016 to 19th  
January 2017, with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social media 
communications campaign, including Facebook advertising to target hard to reach groups.

There were 1030 responses to the budget consultation.

The majority of respondents feel that our current priorities are as important or more 
important than last year.

Compared with last year, 38% feel that supporting the most vulnerable is more 
important, 55% feel it is of equal importance and 7% feel it is less important.

Compared with last year, 34% feel that focusing on working with communities, 
families and individuals to help them to do more for themselves is more 
important, 54% feel it is of equal importance and 12% feel it is less important.

Compared with last year, 34% feel that focusing on reducing our running costs to 
get the best out of our assets is more important, 46% feel it is of equal importance 
and 19% feel it is less important.

79% generally agree with our budget proposals including the  1.99% increase in 
council tax and 2%  national adult social care levy, with the majority of those (59%) 
either strongly agreeing or agreeing.

Overall the comments received supported the council’s proposals to raise council tax 
particularly in order to invest in services for people who need them most.

The top 4 comments on the council’s 2017 budget were:

 Support for the most vulnerable: including services for the elderly, children 
and those with mental health issues (112 comments)

 Invest more to improving Gloucestershire's roads and infrastructure 
(111 comments)

 Agree with budget proposals including the  increase to council tax and 
inclusion of national adult social care levy to support the elderly and most 
vulnerable (88 comments)

Page 50



5

  Agree with council priorities (64 comments)
63 people objected to the increase in council tax or raised concern over 
the ability of some people to afford the rise. A more detailed list of themes 
can be found in the budget consultation report. 

14 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also undertaken their own 
budget scrutiny process, with scrutiny meetings held with members of the Health and 
Care Scrutiny Committee, Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee and 
the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee. Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee also received a presentation and discussed the 
MTFS on 23rd January 2017. Following these meetings the Scrutiny Management and 
Overview Committee will be feeding back their views to the 1st February Cabinet meeting.

D Finance Settlement and Funding Assumptions

15 The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, 
business rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services 
through fees and charges.

16 On 15th December 2016, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government announced the provisional local government settlement for 2017/18. 
The announcement included the following significant proposals to be delivered over 
the remaining life of the Spending Review Period:

 Flexibility around the Adult Social Care precept to a maximum of 6% by the end 
of Parliament;

 Confirmation of the changes to the New Homes Bonus, resulting in a reduction 
in this grant, with the savings nationally being used to fund a new one off grant 
in 2017/18, resulting in an additional £2.5m for the Council by way of a one off 
Adult Social Care Grant

 Confirmation of the new improved Better Care Fund from 2018/19.  

17 In addition to the detailed proposals for 2017/18, illustrative figures were also 
provided for each financial year up to 2019/20.  These figures have been 
incorporated into future spending forecasts.  The proposed settlement for 2017/18 
confirmed the core grant reduction in cash terms of £17.28 million, 14.49%.

18 The main un-ringfenced grants received from government are Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG) and Business Rate Top Up Grant, which is part of the Business Rates 
Retention Scheme funding.  The Business Rates Retention Scheme was introduced 
from 2013/14. The Scheme allows the Council to retain some of the business rates 
raised locally. The business rate yield is divided equally between central and local 
government. The Council’s share of the locally retained element is 20%. The Top Up 
grant is received in order to protect upper tier services.  

19 Under the latest proposals, by the end of the CSR period in 2019/20 RSG will have 
reduced by 84%, whilst Top Up grant remains relatively stable increasing in line with 
RPI, the Council’s share of business rate yield is forecast to rise in line with RPI.

20 The Council entered into a pooling agreement with all six district councils in the 

Page 51



6

county in 2013/14. The reason for this was to retain a larger proportion of additional 
business rate income within the county, as a result of paying a lower levy on growth, 
above the baseline, to central government.

21 In the first year of operation, 2013/14, the Pool reported a surplus, however in 
2014/15 the Pool suffered a loss due to the impact of backdated appeals on rateable 
values and, in particular, the successful backdated appeal by Virgin Media, the 
largest valued business in Tewkesbury.  An improved position was reported in 
2015/16, with the Pool once again in a surplus.

22 Due to on-going issues and concerns around the appeals issue with Virgin Media, the 
Pool was reformed from 2016/17 to exclude Tewkesbury Borough Council, thus 
reducing the risk of a deficit occurring again. These changes have all been 
documented in budget monitoring reports and the out-turn reports.  A surplus is 
expected for 2016/17, and the Pool will remain in operation into 2017/18 once again 
excluding Tewkesbury.

23 There were a series of additional announcements within the CSR forward 
assumptions, which will also impact on the council’s future funding;

 Public Health Grant
The February 2016 announcement refers to a reduction of 3.9% in real terms 
to 2019/20 in Publ ic Heal th funding,  with the ring fence remaining for the 
next 2 years. The Council has forecast a reduction of around 2% for 2017/18, and 
this was confirmed with the December 2016 provisional settlement.

 Additional Adult Social Care funding 
In June 2013 Central Government announced the formation of a £3.8 billion 
Better Care Fund (BCF), to ensure a transformation in integrated health and 
social care.  The allocation of funding for the BCF for Gloucestershire totalled 
£41.3 million in 2016/17. The December  2016 announcements  
conf i rmed that  an improved BCF would be implemented from 2018/19 
although further operational details are still required.  Given concerns about the 
on-going cost pressures within Adult Social care a new one off Adult Social Care 
grant has been created for 2017/18 giving the Council £2.5 million in advance of 
the improved BCF being implemented from 2018/19. The Council continues to 
work closely with Health partners to facilitate more integrated working 
between health and social care. 

 Education Support Services Funding
The Council receives an Education Support Services Grant, reflecting services 
provided to maintained schools and a number of statutory services to discharge its 
responsibilities in respect of education.  The 2015 spending review announced a 
national saving of £600m from the Education Services Grant general funding rate 
by 2019-20.  From 2017/18 the statutory element of this grant, £1.29 million for the 
Council, will move into DSG, which has been reflected in the proposed budget.  It 
has now been confirmed that the remaining grant will reduce by over 64% from 
£3.6 million to £1.3 million.  Whilst this is an improvement on the 79% reduction 
assumed for the draft December budget the reduction is significant and has a 
budget implication for the Council.

Page 52



7

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward 
councils for new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into 
use.  This provides match funding for each new property for six years plus a 
bonus for each affordable homes.  The CSR proposed reform to the scheme 
and following a recent consultation the scheme going forward has been agreed 
reducing to a five year scheme in 2017/18 and then a four year scheme from 
2018/19.  The Council had already built in an assumed reduction to this budget, 
and this has been confirmed with the December settlement move to the five 
year scheme, so no further reduction in this funding stream is needed.  The 
provisional settlement also confirmed the continuation of the NHB returned 
funding grant, and the Council will receive an extra £0.15 on that budgeted. 

24 Well over half of the council’s funding now comes from Council Tax. The general 
Council Tax referendum limit for local authorities remains at 2% plus the ASC levy, 
as last year.  The budget for 2017/18 proposes to raise council tax by 1.99%, which 
generates income of £4.99 million, and the national adult social care levy of 2%, 
which generates income of £4.99 million.  Both these measures help to mitigate the 
impact of the reduction in government grants outlined above. 

25 Following dialogue with district councils additional funding has been built into the 
base budget for a 1.6% increase in the tax base for the county and surplus of £3.9 
million on the Collection Fund, both of which will be confirmed by District Councils by 
their 31st January 2017 deadline before the budget is approved by Council in 
February 2017.  The tax base increase of 1.6%, reflects a range of between 1.3% 
and 2.2% across the six district councils and compares to the 1.3% estimated in the 
consultation budget. Once again the taxbase is increasing within Gloucestershire at 
levels above the national average of 0.8%, and this is mainly due to house building 
within the area.  The overall Council Tax Collection Fund surplus figure set by the 
District Councils is £3.87 million (individual District Council’s range between £0.48 
million and £0.76 million), an increase of £0.64 million from the amount estimated in 
the consultation budget.  

26 In summary the budget has been based on best estimates as per the 4 year 
minimum funding guarantee and dialogue with district councils.  The final financial 
settlement is expected in February 2017 and will be used to confirm these estimates. 
The proposed council budget for 2017/18 is a forecast affordable budget of £402.68 
million based on a council tax increase of 1.99%, and a 2% national Adult Social 
Care levy.  

Page 53



8

27 The following table shows the changes since the Cabinet report in December 2016.

The New Adult Social Care Grant (one off funding) £2.541m

Additional top up grant £0.923m

Additional Taxbase resulting in extra Council Tax raised £0.723m

Additional Council Tax Surplus Declared (one off 
funding)

£0.645m

Additional Educational Core Grant (one off funding) £0.570m
Additional Returned Funding Grant (one off funding) £0.153m

TOTAL £5.555m

28 The Council also receives a number of specific grants, and as yet confirmations are 
outstanding on these, with updates expected with the final settlement in February 
2017.  The latest position is as follows:

Actuals Forecast
2016/17 2017/18

£’000 £’000
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 246,102 255,787
Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG) 36,631 37,287
Pupil Premium Grant 12,396 12,396
Primary School PE and Sport Funding 1,860 1,860
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 5,585 5,585
Adult and Community Learning 3177 3177
Music Service 796 796
SEN Implementation 373 417
Adoption Support Fund 788 788
Youth Justice Board - Remands 43 43
Youth Justice Board 480 480
Staying Put 260 260
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers 580 580
Fire Revenue Grant 300 0
The Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 4,875 4,875
Extended Rights to Free Travel 422 422
Independent Living Fund 977 945
Local Reform and Community Voices 345 345
Sixth Form Funding 1,908 1,908
Strategic Review of High Needs Provision 247 0
School Improvement Grant 0 426
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR 1148 1148

Total Ringfenced Grant 319,293 329,525

Ringfenced Revenue Grants, not included in 
Base Funding

Page 54



9

E Revenue Budget Proposal 2017/18

29 The proposed revenue budget for 2017/18 totals £402.68 million, a ne t  
reduction of £5.78 million from 2016/17, although an improvement of £5.56 
million on the consultation budget presented in December 2016.  Investment of 
£29.6 million is included within the Budget, with £35.34 million savings, many 
of which relate to Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together we Can programme.  
These investments and savings are detailed in annex 2.

30 A summary of this draft budget is provided below.

Overall Budget

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2017/18 Budget  

Budget Area

2016/17 
GCC 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 132,510 -11,360 15,732 136,882 4,372 3.30%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 54,501 -5,157 8,839 58,183 3,682 6.76%

Children and Families- Other Services 35,347 -4,916 210 30,641 -4,706 -13.31%

Communities and Infrastructure 80,255 -2,058 1,087 79,284 -971 -1.21%

Business Support 26,024 -1,650 764 25,138 -886 -3.40%

Technical and Corporate 54,284 -7,570 928 47,642 -6,642 -12.24%

Total GCC 382,921 -32,711 27,560 377,770 -5,151 -1.35%

Public Health 25,542 -2,630 2,000 24,912 -630 -2.47%

Total Budget 408,463 -35,341 29,560 402,682 -5,781 -1.42%

Page 55



10

31 The 2017/18 draft budget is funded as follows:

£000

Original 2016/17 Budget 408,463

Inflation 4,041
Cost and spending increases 25,519

Cost Reductions -35,341
Total 402,682
Less:
Settlement Funding Assessment 101,969
Public Health Grant 24,912
New Homes Bonus 4,041
Education Single Grant 1,296
Transitional Grant 2,482
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 1,951
Collection Fund Surplus 3,865
Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 259,625
Council Tax at band D = £1,179.26

32 The proposed budget for 2017/18 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (1%), pension deficit and increases in 
demand led services.  These increases in demand led services reflect budgetary 
pressures experienced in 2016/17, i.e. adults and children’s social care.  Investment 
in adult social care includes funding the impact of demography, the national living 
wage, duties under the Care Act, which are no longer funded by a specific grant, 
investments in both employment and transitions for those with learning disabilities, 
additional approved mental health professionals and investment in preventative 
mental health and targeted support to dementia.  Within Children’s & Families, the 
Council continues to invest in social workers and supporting the demand for children 
in care places.  This includes investing in an intensive recovery and intervention 
project, which aims to manage demand and improve outcomes for a cohort of 
vulnerable children and a two year investment in enhancing early help and prevention 
services for vulnerable families.  Within Communities and Infrastructure the 
investment has been targeted at cash protecting roads.

Page 56



11

F Financial Performance in 2016/17

33 The current forecast of the year end revenue position for 2016/17, based on actual 
expenditure at the end of November 2016 and forecasts made in December 2016, is a 
£0.89 million under-spend.  Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service 
area, is provided in the table below.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of November 2016

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 153,377 153,377 0 0.0% 0 0 

Public Health 25,542 25,542 0 0.0% 0 0 

Children & Families 100,683 104,496 3,813 3.8% 3,502 -311 

Communities & 
Infrastructure

87,618 87,618 0 0.0% 64 64 

Business Support Services 25,503 25,503 0 0.0% 0 0 

Support Services 
Recharges

-25,503 -25,503 0 0.0% 0 0 

Total for Services 367,220 371,033 3,813 1.0% 3,566 -247 

Technical & Corporate 52,839 48,133 -4,706 -8.9% -4,203 503 

Total 420,059 419,166 -893 -0.2% -637 256 

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Service Area
2016/17 
Budget

Forecast 
Outurn 

Position

Change in 
variance 

Forecast 
Outurn 

Variance

34 Further  details  of  the  forecast  year  end  position  can  be  found  in  the  
Financial Monitoring Report 2016/17 presented to Cabinet on 1st February 
2017. 

Page 57



12

G. Dedicated Schools Grant 2017/18 

35 A revised dataset based on the October 2016 school census was issued by 
the DfE on the 15th December 2016 and on 20th December 2016 they 
announced the DSG (prior to academy recoupment) for each authority for 
2017/18. This included:

 The Schools Block total
 The High Needs Block total
 A provisional Early Years Block total

36 The 2017/18 position for Gloucestershire including Academies  is:

37 This represents an increase of £14.6 million from the current 2016/17 DSG of 
£412.4 million  reflecting changes in pupil numbers and also for the following:

The Schools Block includes the transfer of £1.3 million for Education Services 
Grant centrally retained duties relating to both maintained schools and 
academies.

The High Needs Block includes an addition of £1.9 million for post-16 high 
needs places previously funded direct by the EFA and an additional £1.3 
million that has been allocated to LAs based on the 2-18 aged population and 
estimated growth.

The Early Years Block has increased by £4.3 million from its 2016/17 current 
total of £25.8 million to £30.1 million to cover funding for:

 Disadvantaged 2yr olds entitlement.
 Universal 15 hour entitlement for 3 and 4 year olds.
 Additional 15 hours for 3 and 4 year old children of eligible working parents 

(7/12ths from Sept 17).
 Disability access fund (DAF) entitlement.
 The early years pupil premium.

Schools funding formula for 2017/18

38 £3.6 million of the DSG Schools Block funding will be used for the following 
centrally retained budgets as previously agreed by the Schools Forum. The 
remaining £336.1 million will then be delegated to schools in 2017/18. 

Page 58



13

39 At its meeting on 22nd September 2016 the Forum agreed to make minimal 
change to the delegated formula for 2017/18. Therefore the proposed 
updated formula to be used for the delegated budget allocations in 2017/18 is 
attached at Annex 4. This formula uses the data set released by the EFA on 
the 15th December 2016 and applies the rule previously agreed by Schools 
Forum that Capping should be set at a level that exactly covers the cost of 
MFG protections.  It also includes 3 new schools starting in September 2017, 
2 primary schools (Longford, Clearwater) and 1 secondary school (SGS 
Berkeley Green).

Other Issues for Schools:

40 Free school recoupment
The government published a proposal in July 2016 to recoup the cost of all 
new mainstream free schools from the local Dedicated Schools Grant from 
year one rather than year two as currently.  It was confirmed in December that 
this proposal will go ahead.  The Gloucestershire response had argued that 
the distinction should be retained between new schools that meet basic need 
and those that increase choice for parents through a national policy.  Costs 
for the former should be recouped but not the latter on the basis that it is not 
fair for other local schools to meet the costs of new schools that are not 
needed.

41 Apprenticeship levy 
The new model for funding apprenticeships comes into effect from April 2017 
with all employers with a pay bill of more than £3 million being subject to a 
0.5% levy.  Staff in community schools, including voluntary controlled, are 
deemed to be employed by the local authority and are therefore subject to the 
levy.  

42 Devolved funding
The Council currently devolves to maintained schools a total of £300,000 from 
its own budget aimed at promoting high attendance and preventing exclusion.  
Schools have been encouraged to use the funding on a collaborative basis.  
The council’s budget position means it is unable to sustain this funding 
beyond the current financial year.

43 National Funding Formula for Schools
The Government published some initial proposals for a national funding 
formula back in March 2016.  The stage 2 consultation, setting out detailed 
proposals was published on 14th December 2016.  The deadline for 
responses is 22nd March 2017.

Page 59



14

Overall, Gloucestershire schools and academies would gain 0.6% from the 
introduction of the NFF.  Outcomes for individual schools vary from +23.5% to 
-2.9%.

44 The proposals
The main DfE consultation paper together with an executive summary and 
detailed tables is available via the following link:-
 https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-
formula2/

The key features of the proposals are:

 The National Funding Formula (NFF) will be introduced from 2018/19.  
In 2018/19 the notional NFF will be used to calculate the Schools Block 
for LAs, but the LA can then allocate the Schools Block total through its 
own formula.

 The Schools Block will be ring fenced but with some limited ability to 
move between the Schools and High Needs blocks with the explicit 
agreement of Schools Forum and majority of schools.

 The NFF will then be used to allocate funding to schools from 2019-20 
 There will however be some very limited flexibility on an ongoing basis 

from 2019/20 e.g. on pupil growth.
 The NFF will use the original proposed 12 factors plus addition of a 

Mobility factor (which will be allocated on a historic basis based on 
what LAs allocated in previous year). 

 The Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) will be based on hybrid method 
using General Labour Market trends and particular salary variations in 
the teaching workforce. 

 A new 4th Block of DSG for central school services (LA duties that 
cover maintained and academies) will be introduced from 2018/19.

 The NFF will continue to feature a Minimum Funding Guarantee at -
1.5% per pupil 

 And no school can lose more than 3% per pupil on its overall budget 
(the 3% floor).  On current data 5,500 schools nationally will be 
protected by this floor mechanism

 Gains will be capped at 3% per pupil in 2018/19 and 2.5% in 2019/20. 
The cap levels from 2019/20 onwards will be decided at next spending 
review.  This will be a significant issue for most smaller primary 
schools in Gloucestershire

 The Pupil Premium continues in its current form
 The NFF maintains the current balance between primary and 

secondary.  However there are significant shifts between formula 
factors when compared with the current distribution via LA formulae:

o Funding allocated through Additional needs factors will 
increase by 18% from £4.1bn to £5.8bn.  £1.1bn of the increase 
is from the basic per-pupil funding.

   
o Deprivation factor will be largest of the additional factors and 

will be allocated on a combination of free schools meals (‘ever 
6’) and the income deprivation affecting children index (IDACI).

Page 60

https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula2/


15

o The lump sum has been set at £110,000, lower than the current 
national average and is the same for both sectors as most LAs 
set equal lump sums. 

 Some other formula issues:
o Scarcity - qualifying primary schools receive up to £25,000 and 

secondary schools up to £65,000 on a tapered approach to 
avoid cliff edges for NOR changes.

o Premises allocations in 2018/19 for rates, rents, split sites and 
any transitional extra lump sum following amalgamation will be 
made based on historical allocations.  There will be further 
consultation on what happens for premises factors from 
2019/20 onwards. 

o Growth fund, including that for varied pupil numbers, to be 
lagged based on historical allocations in previous year. DfE to 
consult and decide further on what happens for these for 
2019/20 and onwards. .

45 The impact nationally
As a consequence of the NFF Gloucestershire’s position in terms of the 
schools block unit of funding drops from 102nd to 112th.  There are some 
large movements (Derby up 62 places, Cheshire East – an f40 authority – 
down 41).  There are few obvious patterns but the increase in additional 
needs funding has clearly helped some smaller metropolitan areas.  

46 F40 authorities in aggregate gain a net £183m but five f40 areas lose funding. 

47 The impact in Gloucestershire
The structure of the NFF is very different from the Gloucestershire formula.  In 
particular the differences reflect the shift in the NFF into additional needs and 
the higher lump sum for primary schools.  The NFF also includes three 
formula elements that do not feature in our local formula:

 Mobility,
 Scarcity.
 The IDACI element of the deprivation factor

The differences are summarised in the following table:

Page 61



16

48 In comparison with the current Gloucestershire formula the NFF:
 has a  much higher lump sum for primary schools
 has a much lower lump sum for secondary schools
 allocates more for deprivation
 features a scarcity factor

49 The impact on individual schools varies according to their data but there are 
some evident trends:

 Small primary schools gain from the higher lump sum
 Larger primary schools generally lose unless they benefit from the 

higher deprivation allocation in the NFF
 The majority (25) of our secondary schools lose

  
50 Capping will be an issue for many small primary schools

51 Other Issues
The consultation is silent on:

 The future of Schools Forums

 How budget allocations will be made to maintained schools and who 
will be responsible for responding to the impact of funding changes 
arising from the introduction of the NFF including redundancy costs 
and consideration of deficits and recovery plans

Page 62



17

 A new Central Schools Services block will be created as proposed in 
the first stage consultation, bringing together the central costs 
currently top-sliced from the Schools Block (for Gloucestershire this is 
admissions, copyright and Schools Forum costs only) and the 
centrally retained duties element of the Education Services Grant. The 
allocation will be on a per pupil basis but with the addition of 
deprivation.  There is a floor at -2.5% and a cap at + 2.4%.  The 
allocation for Gloucestershire reduces by 6.5% when the formula is 
fully implemented but only -2.5% in year 1 due to the funding floor 
protection. 

H Council Tax

52 The Council’s current 2016/17 Band D Council Tax is £1,134.01, including the 
Adult Social Care Precept.  For 2017/18 it is proposed that Council Tax will 
increase by 1.99% plus an additional 2% the Adult Social Care Precept.

53 Forecast Council Tax levels for each band are shown below.

2017/18 Increase on
Budget 2016/17

Band £ £

A 786.17 30.17
B 917.20 35.19
C 1,048.23 40.22
D 1,179.26 45.25
E 1,441.32 55.31
F 1,703.38 65.36
G 1,965.43 75.42
H 2,358.52 90.50

Nearly two-thirds of households are in Bands A, B or C.

I The Robustness of the Budget Proposals

54 The MTFS and proposed detailed budget for 2017/18 have been formulated 
in accordance with the medium term financial planning framework detailed in 
Annex 5.

55 The framework sets out the financial strategy, financial assumptions and 
financial risks taken into account when preparing the MTFS and budget for 
2017/18.

56 The starting point for producing the MTFS for the next three years, and the 
detailed budget proposals for 2017/18, is the 2016/17 MTFS, and particularly 
the detailed 2016/17 budget, together with any changes to legislation, and 
forecast commitments and funding.  The current budget monitoring has 

Page 63



18

identified a number of risks and pressures which need to be addressed if net 
expenditure is to be contained within budget. These issues, together with 
mitigating actions are set out in latest budget monitoring report and have 
helped inform the budget for 2017/18.  

57 The proposed 2017/18 budget, and future year’s budgets take into account 
forecast funding changes, new unavoidable commitments and savings plans 
as set out in this document.

58 As part of the local government settlement for 2016/17 Government 
announced greater flexibility for Council’s in how they make use of capital 
receipts.  Councils were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for 
repaying debt or funding further capital spend.  The rules now allow new 
capital receipts to be used to fund the revenue costs of transformation 
projects designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of 
public services and /or to transform service delivery in a way that reduces 
costs or demand for services in the future.  Plans for utilising capital receipts 
in this way need to be approved by County Council, incorporated in the 
Council’s Efficiency Statement, and progress reported on an annual basis to 
DCLG.  

59 The proposed budget 2017/18 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts 
in this way during 2017/18 financial year.  However, given the expected size 
and scale of the transformation programme required to balance the budget 
over the coming years, it is likely the facility to use capital receipts in this 
flexible manner will be required in future.

60 When developing and adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
the impact on the Council’s Prudential Indictors would be carefully 
considered.   

J Council’s financial standing and risks

61 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to 
ensure that reserves are adequate. During 2016/17 all reserves have been 
examined in detail. A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st 
March 2017, and movements since 31st March 2016 are as follows:

31st March 31st March 

2016 2017

£000 £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 106,866 104,537
Earmarked Reserves – School Related   31,112   31,112
General Fund Reserves   19,848   19,848
Total Capital Reserves   65,526   65,526

Total Reserves   223,352    221,023

62 General balances are anticipated to remain unchanged at a level of £19.848 

Page 64



19

million, assuming a balanced revenue outturn position for 2016/17. These 
equate to 4.73% of the 2016/17 net budget. If an over spend occurs in 
2016/17, general fund balances are likely to reduce.

63 This is considered to be a satisfactory level of general reserves, being within 
the target range of 4% to 6%.

64 Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £106.866 
million as at 31st March 2016, to £104.537 million as at 31st March 2017, a 
reduction of £2.329 million.  It has been assumed that both Schools Related 
Reserves and Capital Reserves will remain at the level of balances held at 
31st March 2016.

65 Annex 6 provides a summary of the Earmarked Reserves, including all of the 
proposed and forecast reserve movements during the year.  

K Strategic Finance Director (Section 151 Officer) Review of the Budget

66 The level of General Reserves needs to reflect the risks the Council is facing. 
These risks will depend upon the robustness of the budgets, the adequacy of 
budgetary control and external factors such as inflation and interest rates.

67 In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked 
reserves will fall during 2016/17, the following factors mitigate the risks in the 
budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known 
and affordable within the core finance available to the Council, additional 
costs have been built into the proposed 2017/18 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and 
taken into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the 
Council from existing and future liabilities.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint 
requires a series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme 
management plans have been put into place to deliver these savings, as 
evidenced by performance over the last three years, there is inevitably 
some residual risk.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially 
care for older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where 
demand is rising. Although additional resources are being invested in 
these areas under the proposed 2017/18 budget options, they are limited 
by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the Council.

Page 65



20

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension increases, contractual 
inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the new National Living 
Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the 
Council’s budget.

68 On the basis of the above, the Strategic Finance Director’s advice is that the 
level of reserves, following the movements indicated earlier, are adequate, 
the financial standing of the Council is sound in the context of the key risks, 
and that the proposed budget is robust and achievable.

L Public Sector Equality Duty

69 A Due Regard Statement is being drafted and has been updated in January 
2017 to include the evidence base about service users and workforce, and 
the final budget proposals.

M Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget 

70 The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2017/18 to 2019/20. 
The proposed detailed budget for 2017/18 is set out within this MTFS, whilst 
the current draft forecast budgets for 2018/19 and 2019/20, are:

2018/19 2019/20
£m £m

Budget 398.7 404.4
24

71 Annex 7 gives outline financial proposals for 2018/19 and 2019/20, and will be 
updated as further information becomes available.  

.
N Capital Expenditure

72 The proposed capital programme is set out in Annex 8a, with details of the 
financing of this programme being provided at the start of this Annex.

73 The capital programme provides total investment in the county totalling 
£431.797 million. The main investment is in Communities and Infrastructure 
(£215.129 million) and Schools and facilities for children (£132.843 million), 
with the remainder being in Adults (£15.723 million) and Business Support 
Services (£68.102 million). 

  
New Capital Investment 2017/18 onwards

74 The capital programme for 2017/18 onwards contains £103.811 million of new 
investment on capital schemes, financed from grants, revenue contributions, 
s106 contributions and capital financing budget, as set out in the table below.

Page 66



21

75 Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions totalling £13.318 
million have been included within the new programme on the basis that they 
are funded from revenue capital financing budgets, thereby avoiding the need 
for new borrowing.  Details of these new schemes for 2017/18 are in Annex 
8b of the MTFS.

Funding for New Capital Investment

Grant £000

Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2017/18 (balance remaining) 3,512

Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2018/19 20,923

Children and Families – Schools Condition Allocation 2017/18 5,177

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant 2017/18 15,854

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant 2018/19 (indicative) 14,350

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant 2019/20 (indicative) 14,350

Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2017/18 2,861

Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2018/19 (indicative) 2,861

Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2019/20 (indicative) 2,861

Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2017/18 1,435

Infrastructure – National Productivity Investment Fund 2017/18 3,260

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant – Incentive Element 
2017/18

1,487

Total Grant 88,931

Revenue contributions – Children and Families (estimate) 430

s106 contributions – Children and Families 1,132

Capital Financing Budgets 13,318

Total New Capital Funding 2017/18 onwards 103,811

Children and Families

76 The Council receives two main capital grants for schools from the Department 
for Education: Basic Need and Schools Condition. 

Page 67



22

77 The Basic Need allocation of £3.812 million for 2017/18 was approved in the 
2016/17 MTFS as future years’ spend.  Of this grant, £0.300 million has been 
allocated to existing schemes, leaving a balance of £3.512 million available 
for new investment.  The Basic Need allocation for 2018/19 has been 
confirmed as £20.923 million. 

78 An indicative figure for the Schools Condition allocation of £5.207 million for 
2017/18 was approved in the 2016/17 MTFS as future years’ investment. The 
Department for Education has now confirmed that the revised figure is £5.177 
million.

79 Estimated School contributions of £0.280 million and £0.150 million have 
been included in the Schools Capital Maintenance Programme and Suitability 
Programme, respectively.

80 S106 contributions of £1.132 million have been allocated to a capital scheme 
at Cotswold School to provide 6th Form accommodation. 

Communities and Infrastructure

81 The Council receives capital grants for Highways Maintenance Block and 
Integrated Transport Block.

82 The Department of Transport has confirmed the Maintenance Block Grant 
allocation for 2017/18 as £15.854 million and has provided indicative amounts 
of £14.35 million for both 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

83 The Integrated Transport Block Grant funding arrangements were revised 
from 2015/16.  In 2017/18 the total Integrated Transport Grant allocation for 
Gloucestershire is £2.861 million of non ring-fenced grant directly from the 
government.  The same figure has been provided as the indicative amount for 
both 2018/19 and 2019/20.

84 In addition to these two main grants The Department of Transport has 
confirmed a £1.435 million grant from the Pothole Action Fund for 2017/18, a 
£3.260 million grant from the National Productivity Investment Fund for 
2017/18, and £1.487 million funding as incentive element of the Highways 
Block Maintenance Grant.

O Borrowing

85 Total borrowing requirement at the end of 2016/17 is forecast to be £308.8 
million, a reduction of £8.8 million compared with the £317.6 million 
outstanding at the end of 2015/16

86 External borrowing is generally obtained from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB), usually at fixed rates of interest, over a set number of years.

Page 68



23

87 However, in recent years, due to the significant differential between interest 
rates charged by the PWLB and interest earned on invested balances, the 
Council has internally funded borrowing from investment balances (mainly 
reserves). This strategy, currently followed by the majority of local authorities, 
essentially involves lending investment balances to ourselves to reduce 
overall interest costs.

88 As stated earlier, the Council’s aim is to reduce the level of borrowing and 
where possible reduce the level of overall borrowing outstanding. The MtC2 
target for capital receipts from the sale of assets is £60 million by the end of 
2017/18, which will mainly be used to repay debt and finance capital 
expenditure to avoid new borrowing.  A Disposal Schedule will be considered 
by Cabinet in February 2017 in line with the Disposal Strategy.

P Treasury Management

89 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy (AIS) for 2017/18 are shown in Annex 9. 

90 It was considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 20th January 
2017 who endorsed it in advance of Cabinet and Council in February.

91 Annex 9 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 including, borrowing, debt 
rescheduling and repayment options.

 Prudential Indicators.

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement.

 Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives.

 Specified and Non Specified Investments for use by the Council.

92 The other main changes to the proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 
2017/18, when compared with the 2016/17 strategy, are as follows:

 The lowest risk category approved for use has been raised from BBB 
to BBB+.

 For non-specified investment limits, total long term investment is 
proposed to be increased from £120 million to £200 million, to enable 
the Council to take advantage of secured investments which are 
normally available at maturity levels greater than 1 year. 

 Increase the investment limit per broker from £75 million to £100 
million due to current limitations on investment custody arrangements.

Page 69



24

 Money Market Funds limit to be increased from £100 million to £150 
million to provide greater flexibility in maintaining liquid funds.

Q Prudential Code

93 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 the Council needs to 
comply with the “Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities” 
(The Code).

94 Under the 2003 Act, Authorities have the freedom to determine the level of 
borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital programmes.

95 The Code has been developed as a professional Code of Practice to support 
Local Authorities making these decisions. Regulations issued under the Act 
make compliance with the Code mandatory.

96 The objectives of the Code are:
 To ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable.
 To ensure treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with 

good professional practice.
 To be consistent with good local strategic planning, asset management 

planning and option appraisal.

97 To demonstrate that these objectives have been fulfilled the Code sets out 
indicators that must be used and the factors which must be taken into 
account.

The Council complies with the Prudential Code:

 By having medium term plans (Corporate Strategy, Revenue and Capital 
budgets).

 By having plans to achieve sound capital investment via the Capital 
Strategy, Project Appraisal and Asset Management Plans.

 By complying with the Treasury Management Code of Practice.
 By producing the indicators for affordability and prudence required by the 

Code.

R Risk Management Policy Statement &Strategy

98 It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their 
risks.  Identifying risks enables the Council to effectively manage strategic 
decision making, service planning and delivery to safeguard the wellbeing of 
its stakeholders and increases the likelihood of achieving its outcomes.  
Taking into account the overall future strategic direction of the Council, its 
structure and its services, it is now deemed an appropriate time to refresh and 
reaffirm our Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy, to ensure that 

Page 70



25

the Council’s risk and assurance framework continues to build on our existing 
successes, which reflect national good practice and standards. This should 
enable the Council to effectively manage the potential opportunities and 
threats, thus improving service delivery to our communities.

99 Annex 10 details the updated Risk Management Policy Statement and 
Strategy for 2017/18, which aligns with this MTFS.  The aims of this Strategy 
are to support the challenges that the Council may face, allowing it to react 
dynamically to changing external circumstances by enabling the Council to 
handle risk effectively and deliver successful outcomes.  The Risk 
Management Policy Statement and Strategy for 2017/18 was considered by 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 20th January 2017 who endorsed it 
in advance of Cabinet and Council in February.

S Attached Annexes

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions
Annex 2 Budget movements by Service Area 
Annex 3 Budget Summary by Service Area

Annex 4 Dedicated Schools Grant- Schools Block

Annex 5 Medium Term Financial Planning Framework
Annex 6 Reserves and Balances Analysis
Annex 7 Revenue Budget Forward Projections 
Annex 8a  Capital Programme 2017/18 
Annex 8b New Schemes 2017/18 Funded from Revenue 

Contributions and Capital Fund
Annex 9 Treasury Management Strategy

Annex 10 Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy

Page 71



26

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions

1.1 Children and Families Commissioning Intentions

Context

The Council has wide ranging responsibilities for children’s services; this includes 
leading and co-ordinating all local partners to ensure outcomes for children and young 
people improve. In 2016/17 the total budget for children’s services excluding Dedicated 
Schools Grant was £97.9 million; this included other grants and funding from 
formula/Council Tax. The strategic direction for children’s services is set by the local 
Children and Young People’s Plan; this together with the current corporate strategy 
identifies a continuing need to improve outcomes for the most vulnerable. 

Strategic Direction 
 
The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP), agreed by the Children’s Partnership 
in 2015, retains its clear ambition for all children to receive the best start in life and to 
reach their full potential. Most children in the county continue to live and do well; 
there is however a continued need to focus on the most vulnerable children and 
families.  As a consequence the plan has the following aims: that our vulnerable 
children will thrive with help from their family, their community and universal services 
and with specialist help when needed. Partners have agreed to work towards the 
following priorities:

• Children will thrive at home - Families stay together: Early Help is in place to 
prevent issues persisting and escalating.

• Children will thrive at home with help - Preventing family breakdown: Families 
stay safely together; with extra help from communities and practitioners.

• Children will thrive with specialist help - Providing for effective and efficient 
intervention: Children, who need it, will have specialist help; have a good 
experience and settle permanently, quickly and safely.

• We will work well together - Planning, developing and jointly providing 
appropriate support for families.

The Gloucestershire Children’s Safeguarding Board will continue to play a key role in 
harnessing effort across agencies, holding all partners to account and ensuring a 
strong quality assurance process is in place. 

Whilst the partnership as a whole continues to aspire to support families across the 
spectrum of need the council’s investment must be increasingly targeted on those who 
most need help and intervention. This reflects the significant demand pressures on 
specialist services and need to ensure sound safeguarding services and better life 
experiences for Children in Care. 

Page 72



27

Needs Analysis

A focus on the performance and quality of Children’s services has been retained whilst 
managing significant pressures on demand for placements for Children in Care and the 
challenge of ensuring sufficient, experienced social workers. The trend of increasing 
numbers of children in Care has continued with a rise of 8.6% between April and 
November 2016. The council is also participating in national transfer arrangements for 
unaccompanied asylum seekers which have seen the numbers rise to 23 and potential 
for further increases to reach national average numbers. Pressure across the market 
has resulted in challenges securing placements that meet children’s needs.  Further 
analysis of these trends is being undertaken including Scrutiny input. The volume of 
requests for service (in terms of contacts and referrals to children’s social care) is still 
high but action to enhance the ‘front door’ response may be having an impact with 
referrals rates showing a decrease since April 2017.
 
Progress has continued in respect of results at Key Stage 2 with 81% achieving level 4 
or above in reading, writing and maths and 60.1% of young people achieving 5 GCSEs 
(including English and Maths) at A*-C. The main challenge continues to be reducing 
the gap in outcomes between all children and the most vulnerable; permanent 
exclusion rates remain relatively high.

A new graduated pathway has been developed which should enable all partners to 
provide effective early help to avoid children and families needing specialist services. 
This pathway can be used by schools for children with special educational needs as 
well as children with other additional needs. 

Meeting the Challenge 2016/17 

Savings targets for this year are on target to be achieved including reductions in home 
to school transport costs as policy changes are rolled out.  The increase in children in 
Care has resulted in significant pressure on the placement budget especially regarding 
external placements for young people with complex needs. 

The additional investment in social workers has been deployed across the system with 
26.5 new social workers starting during 2016/17 up until October 2016. The spend on 
agency workers, whilst still too high at £983k (April to October 2016) should reduce 
over time and the turnover rate has reduced to 12.7% by October 2016.The caseload 
reduction strategy is beginning to have an impact with caseloads being more 
manageable in most teams. 

The DfE Innovations Programme funded developments during 2015 which have 
enabled us to develop a new model of practice, BASE, which is based on restorative 
practice and focuses on identifying family and individual strengths and ways in which 
risks in the community can be managed more effectively. This is a challenging way of 
working but is being introduced across the Youth Support Service and should in the 
long term improve the effectiveness of work with adolescents.  

Page 73



28

The difficulties being experienced by children and young people in terms of mental 
health and wellbeing and the subsequent pressures on services were recognised 
nationally with all local areas being required to produce five year plans to improve the 
offer. This has been led locally by Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) with all key partners and we now have a transformation plan that takes a 
‘whole system approach’ to supporting mental health and wellbeing. The key focus of 
the plan aims to address the gaps identified and provide a balance between the need 
for more early intervention and prevention and on meeting the needs of those very 
vulnerable children and young people who achieve poorer outcomes than most of the 
population. In addition Gloucestershire were one of 22 areas awarded pilot status by 
NHS England and the DfE to pilot joining up mental health support with schools. 15 
schools and a college in the Stroud area are taking part and an evaluation of the pilot is 
underway.

A major piece of work undertaken during 2016/17 has been reshaping services for 
families under 11 which has resulted in a tender for a new style targeted family support 
service run through children’s centres. Increased community ownership of children’s 
centres is also being achieved through new arrangements with schools and libraries. 
Work is well advanced to increase the availability of childcare for 3/ 4 year olds and 
take up of the existing offer for 2 year olds have been particularly high. 

The council has maintained its role in respect of schools in particular by successfully 
rolling out the SEN reforms and planning for additional school places in key areas. A 
joint CQC/Ofsted inspection of SEN took place during May 2016 and found that the 
SEN reforms had been well delivered with “Education, health and social care 
professionals work well together as a strong team to deliver their vision of providing 
high-quality services to their children and young people.”  
 
Looking Forward 
 
The budget for 2017/18 includes significant investment, (£9.05 million in total); to 
transform services, meet demand pressures and inflationary costs. The budget also 
requires savings of £10.07 million. 

The Council will maintain its commitment to children’s social work by delivering on its 
decision to invest £3.7m made in 2016, with the final £1.7m being invested in 2017/18. 
In addition the successful pilot in Gloucester City which has created additional social 
work capacity by reorganising teams and co-locating other professionals will continue. 

As part of a previous decision to target resources more effectively there are proposals 
to target services for young people on those who are most at risk and vulnerable. This 
will achieve efficiencies in work with young people who are not in education, 
employment or training (NEET). Analysis of children in Care has identified a group of 
particularly challenging teenagers who are being placed in a variety of placements, 
sometimes very high cost and at distance which is not meeting their needs. A trawl of 
best practice elsewhere has identified the North Yorkshire ‘No Wrong Door’ model 
which creates small residential ‘hubs’ where children can be worked with intensively 
and stabilised and then moved into local placements. A proposal has been developed 
with GCCG which will create a similar intensive service locally and, over time, reduce 
budget overspends. The budget proposes investing £1.4m in 2017/18 in this 
development. 

Page 74



29

The MtC savings include further reductions in home to school transport budgets and a 
continuing fall in spend against an historic pensions budget.  The final roll out of SEN 
changes in respect of 16 -19 year olds will reduce the need for some services and 
contractual efficiencies are proposed as demand changes. The council will also need to 
respond to changes in government funding for core education services as responsibility 
for school improvement continues to transfer to schools and academies. 

Delivering Change 
 
There are three overarching aims:

 To reduce and divert demand for high cost, high dependency (acute) services
 To improve outcomes for  children ‘at risk’ through high quality interventions which 

achieve stability within a family setting
 To ensure that vulnerable children are identified and supported to achieve good 

outcomes within local communities

To achieve these aims, commissioning intentions are:

 To shift and increase investment into the social care workforce to improve the 
quality of interventions and reduce the number of families whose problems escalate 

 To reshape family support services for children, young people and families to ensure 
they target emerging needs effectively 

 To develop alternative models of support and Care for young people and ensure 
only those children who need to, come into Care and are supported effectively 

 To ensure the local education system is meeting the needs of children and young 
people and the council is championing the needs of vulnerable children

Specific planned activities for 2017/18 include:

 Implementation of reshaped family support services for younger children
 Embedding new Early help arrangements and single pathway
 Implementing new arrangements for specialist support for teenagers and their 

families
 Improving practice in relation to Children in Care to secure permanence 
 Increase the availability of good placement options and alternative models of care 

especially for teenagers(including provision for USAC and refugees)
 Implementing plans for the new regional Adoption Agency, Adoption West 
 Responding to the recommendations from the recent  SEND inspection
 Reviewing the role of the LA in respect of education and ensuring sufficient school 

places in areas of growth in need

Page 75



30

Annex 1.2: Adults Commissioning Intentions 

Context

Adult social care has a current (2016/17) net budget of £132.510 million, the single biggest area of 
expenditure of the County Council.  We support approximately 25,000 people who have a disability, 
are vulnerable, or live with an age-related disorder, as well as commissioning services aimed at 
addressing social care and health inequalities, promoting health and well being.  We work in 
partnership with our service users and carers, health, housing and the third sector to maximise 
people’s potential for independence, meeting assessed need within a legal framework most notably 
as set out in the Care Act 2014.

The overall performance of adult services is improving particularly in the key policy areas of reducing 
reliance on residential and nursing care and self directed support.  We are also increasing the 
numbers of people supported to live independently through the use of technology (telecare) and 
continue to make progress in supporting people with disabilities into employment.  We have also 
devoted additional resources to ensuring timely hospital discharge, although as a consequence the 
timeliness of assessment work and reablement interventions in the community is an area that needs 
attention.

Strategic Direction

As indicated our strategic ambition is to support people to live independently.  The national policy 
framework created by Think Local Act Personal, builds on the direction set by “Putting People First” 
with its focus on community support and involvement, early intervention, prevention and reablement 
services.  This has also been reinforced by the detailed guidance released in support of the Care Act 
2014.  As part of this, and for those people who have on-going needs, we want to ensure we put 
each individual service user in control of their care and support, offering choice, providing 
professional advice and enabling their voice to be heard, with the ultimate aim of improving 
outcomes for people.  

We are reducing reliance on institutional care, creating innovative alternatives and encouraging the 
use of universal services, whilst recognising that there will always be a place for specialists too. We 
are also addressing the wider responsibilities in the Act for carers and notwithstanding that some 
elements have now been postponed to 2020 for all people with care needs and not just those we 
support. We are also continuing to promote an ethos of early intervention and prevention as an 
integral element to our intentions.

Needs Analysis

The number of adults aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire is projected to rise from 492,300 to 
576,600 between 2015 and 2039, with the 18-64 age group predicted to grow by 1.8% and the over-
65s by 66.6% in the same period. The projected increase in older people (over-65s) in 
Gloucestershire, in particular, exceeds the national level (56.4%), and the number is predicted to rise 
from 126,800 in 2015 to reach 206,300 by 2039. 

As the population ages, the number of older people with a very limiting long-term illness or disability 
is also predicted to rise, from 25,400 to 39,000 between 2015 and 2030. The number unable to 
manage at least one self-care activity is also predicted to grow, from 43,000 to 64,000 in the same 
period. The majority of this increase will be among the over-75s.

Page 76



31

Moderate or severe hearing impairment, dementia and obesity are among the conditions that will 
see a significant increase in the County’s older population. National estimates suggest that 80% of 
people living in care homes have some form of dementia or severe memory problems. In 
Gloucestershire, the number of older people with a dementia is expected to rise from 9,000 to 
15,000 between 2015 and 2030. An estimated 12,700 people aged 65+ in Gloucestershire feel 
lonely always or often, and around 3,500 older people have severe depression. 

The number of older carers aged 65+ is projected to rise from an estimated 18,400 people to 25,000 
between 2015 and 2030, of which over a quarter are predicted to be over-80s, who may require 
extra support to provide care. One main concern among carers who care for older people is social 
isolation.

An estimated 9,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire have a serious physical disability. Many 
people with a physical disability have complex need. Some of the most common conditions that 
people with physical disabilities also experience are long-term pain, depression and mental health 
conditions. Just under 60% of carers caring for people with a physical disability or sensory 
impairment have a long-standing illness or disability themselves.

An estimated 11,400 people aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire have a learning disability, of these 
2,400 have moderate or severe conditions. The most prevalent type of learning disabilities in 
Gloucestershire is autistic spectrum disorder. While the overall number of adults with moderate or 
severe learning disability is predicted to rise by 3.6% between 2015 and 2025, the number is 
predicted to rise most steeply in the older age group, by 19.8% for the over-65s in the same period. 
Many people with a learning disability have complex need; they are ten times more likely to have a 
vision impairment compared to the general population and a significant proportion (40%) have a 
hearing impairment.

In 2015, an estimated 58,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire had a common mental disorder, 
and a further 26,000 people had two or more psychiatric disorders. Between 1,300 and 1,600 people 
aged 18-64 are estimated to have experienced antisocial personality disorder, psychotic disorder or 
borderline personality disorder. Long-term illness or disability can lead to mental health issues, 
making the needs more complex.  It is estimated that 46% of people who have a long-term health 
condition and 30% of people who have long-term pain have a mental health condition. An estimated 
34% of people who have sight loss suffer from depression. 

Compared to other carers, carers caring for someone with a mental health condition are more likely 
to experience mental health need themselves, and they are also at a higher risk of neglecting 
themselves.

Meeting the Challenge 2016/17

In line with the strategic direction set out above, we have a series of projects targeted at living within 
our means and adjusting to meeting demand differently.  Most of these are designed around the 
implementation of national policy and good practice – expanding on the model of reablement, 
working in multidisciplinary teams whilst increasing our investment in the management of the social 
care function, avoiding crisis, commissioning differently, listening to our service users and improving 
the customer journey.  We also continue to look at our processes. 

Page 77



32

Looking Forward

The proposed budget for 2017/18 results in a Council Tax increase of 1.99%, plus an additional 
increase of 2% for the National Social Care Levy.  In addition to meeting the costs to date of 
implementing the Care Act, the increase will be used to address the existing high level of 
commitments, as the service manages the transition to an approach based on a higher level of 
investment in early intervention and prevention.
 
Against this background, we intend to improve outcomes and seek to achieve financial balance in 
adult services by:
 

 continuing to strengthen our assessment and care management function whilst also 
developing stronger links with primary care as part of the integrated multidisciplinary team 
model 

 supporting more people to live independently in the community

 improving transitions to adult services for children with special needs by establishing a joint 
social care team covering the 0-25 year old age group and ensuring all young people are 
prepared adequately for independence

 being more responsive to potential demand through early intervention and prevention

 continuing with our cultural change work which supports both staff and service users to reflect 
on their attitude to managing risk in everyday life  

 further improvements in the effectiveness of services we commission including those 
commissioned jointly with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

 working with the CCG to establish an Integrated High Needs Team which will join health and 
social care resources to extend services to some of the most complex and challenging 
service users 

 reducing admissions to full time care

 working with the NHS to better support people in need of urgent support in the community, 
facilitate timelier discharges from hospital and reduce readmissions

 decommissioning services that are no longer peoples’ preferred choice as they opt to meet 
their needs in different ways

 stimulating the market and empowering communities who want to be involved

 working with District Councils and Housing Associations to both enhance the specialist 
housing offer and future-proof new-build homes to enable all lives to be lived as 
independently as possible

 working with partners to develop new opportunities for volunteering

Page 78



33

 building on our success with helping people into the workplace by exploring innovative 
employment links to increase the number of disabled people in paid work

 continuing to actively reviewing high unit cost contracts to seek efficiencies

 ensuring our Telecare offer promotes helps people to live independently through solutions 
which improve service and cost less than traditional care

 enabling people with a learning disability to live more inclusive and independent lives in the 
community improving quality of life and ensuring each person has a circle of support around 
them

 embedding the use of Electronic Call Monitoring systems and ensuring we use the 
information that flows from the system to improve the quality of care and to inform our 
commissioning

 rolling out an outcomes based approach in the new domiciliary care service

 partnering with the Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure people with a learning disability in 
long stay hospitals are returned to independent living in their own community

 working with the Police and Crime Commissioner and many other partners to reduce the 
incidence of Hate Crime for people with disabilities and other impacted groups

Delivering Change 

Such financial constraints should be considered in the context of substantial change.  Statistically, 
there will be a rising demand for support from people with increasingly complex needs.  This will 
involve a range of partnerships, many of which will be new relationships with communities.  Whilst it 
will be challenging financially, it will result in investment in local communities and will provide 
opportunities to work with community and voluntary sector agencies in new ways and ensure we are 
sensitive to the communities in which many of our service users live.  

The scale and pace of change continues at an unprecedented level and will create transitional 
issues as we all adjust to working in a different way.  Communicating our intentions and listening to 
the voice of those we serve will be central to our thinking and will assist us to ensure all voices are 
heard and concerns and questions are actively addressed. All activities will be subject to community 
impact assessments and specific consultation will be undertaken where appropriate with 
stakeholders.  We will actively pursue opportunities to engage with service users and their carers to 
continue to build confidence in those partnerships

Page 79



34

Annex 1.3: Public Health Commissioning Intentions

Context

Under the Health and Social Care Act, three domains of public health; health 
improvement; health protection and health care public health, have become part of 
Local Government’s public health function. Gloucestershire County Council has a 
statutory duty to promote the health of the Gloucestershire population, and 
responsibility for commissioning specific public health services, supported by a ring 
fenced grant, which has been extended to include new responsibilities for 0-5 year olds 
(Health Visiting).  The allocation is based on a national formula linked to health 
inequality and health need and per the CSR remains ring fenced until the end of March 
2018, with reductions to 2019/20.

The grant is spent on activities whose main or primary purpose is to positively impact 
on the health and wellbeing of the local population, with the aim of reducing health 
inequalities in local communities.  Those activities include:

 carrying out health protection functions delegated from the Secretary of State
 reducing health inequalities and improving health across the life course, 

including within hard to reach groups
 ensuring the provision of population healthcare advice to Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

Strategic Direction

Nationally, the strategy for Public health in England was laid out in the Government’s 
White Paper Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010).  Locally, our strategic ambition is 
reflected in the vision presented in Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
Fit For the Future; ‘to improve the health of all Gloucestershire residents and protect 
the most vulnerable’ by ‘working with our communities to co-produce health, wellbeing 
and resilience.’ 

The Local Government Association has identified that investment in public health leads 
to reduced pressure on National and Local Government and the NHS, saving money 
that can be further invested in prevention and early intervention.  This, in turn, through 
improved health and wellbeing and health equality, leads to further reductions in 
pressure on care services.  This is known as the virtuous circle of public health. 

Needs analysis

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a strategic planning tool that brings 
together the latest information on the health and wellbeing of people who live in 
Gloucestershire and people who use Gloucestershire public services and underpins 
the Health and Wellbeing Board’s Strategy. It tells us that overall Gloucestershire is 
one of the healthiest counties in England. Health outcomes are above the national 
average and deaths from the major diseases like cancer, heart disease and strokes 
are below the national average and falling.  We have made some progress, however 
the picture in Gloucestershire is not perfect.  

Page 80



35

The health and wellbeing of people in some of our communities is not improving at the 
same rate as others.  Every year, many people suffer avoidable ill health or die earlier 
than they should – this is known as health inequality. 

In Gloucestershire, men in the fifth most deprived communities live, on average, 5.8 
fewer years than those living in our fifth least deprived areas – the pattern is similar for 
women, with those living in the most deprived areas living on average 4.1 fewer years 
than those in the least deprived areas (source, ONS 2006-10). 

While life expectancy in Gloucestershire is increasing, on average, a man can expect 
to live the last 14.6 years of his life and a woman the last 14.9 years in poorer health. 
This, coupled with the fact we have an ageing population, presents our biggest 
challenge. 

Life style factors such as smoking, poor nutrition, physical inactivity and alcohol misuse 
are important contributors to most preventable diseases. Unless we take early action to 
support individuals, families and communities to take steps to improve their own health 
and wellbeing now, we will not be able to resource the increases in people with on-
going care needs in the future. 

Public Health Vision

The vision is to make improving and protecting the public’s health everybody’s 
business and to embed public health into the operation of Gloucestershire County 
Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and wider partners so that we can 
tackle the big health and wellbeing issues that arise from worklessness, deprivation 
and family poverty. 

Commissioning Principles

• Prioritising primary prevention and early intervention - helping people to help 
themselves

• Ensuring the best start in life
• Focusing resources where the ‘need’ (potential to benefit) is greatest – helping 

to address avoidable health inequalities and targeting the most vulnerable
• Greater emphasis on mental health and wellbeing and the impact of poor mental 

health
• Embedding health and wellbeing across wider system, including funding some 

GCC activities

Delivering Change 

The Public Health allocation is a ring fenced grant and the expectation is that it will be 
fully spent. Helping people to stay healthy and live independently for longer is a major 
contributor to reducing cost pressures in the medium and longer term. 

Systematic primary prevention is critical to reduce the overall burden of disease in the 
population. It is estimated that 80% of cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2 
diabetes, and 40% of cases of cancer could be avoided if common lifestyle risk factors 
were eliminated (WHO, 2005).

Page 81



36

Secondary prevention, involving detecting the early stages of disease and intervening 
before full symptoms develop (for example through the NHS Health Check 
programme) is often cost effective, and if implemented at scale, would rapidly have an 
impact on life expectancy. (Kings Fund, 2013).

The comprehensive spending review in 2015 brought about a reduction in the Public 
Health ring fenced grant. Savings will be realised in 2017/18 through the re-
commissioned services for the drug and alcohol treatment and the healthy lifestyle 
service.  However public health funding for primary and secondary prevention will 
continue to contribute to early intervention activities across GCC.  For example in 
children’s centres and ensuring interventions are based on evidence of what works.  
Public health interventions aimed at building community capacity will help reduce need 
/ demand for peoples’ services.  We are actively working with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and GCC to ensure that up-stream health improvement services 
are routinely commissioned as part of a broader pathway approach.

Commissioning Priorities for 2017/18

1. Deliver mandated functions 
NHS Health Checks, Sexual Health, National Child Measurement Programme, 
Health Protection, Core Offer to the CCG & Health Visiting service

2. Deliver our driving change projects 
Remodelling of sexual health and Public health Nursing (Health Visiting and 
School Nursing)

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health 

4. Develop and embed heath and wellbeing in GCC business 

Performance will be measured against a subset of locally determined priority indicators 
from the Public Health Outcomes Framework, which includes 66 public health 
indicators.  We will apply the principle of ‘proportionate universalism’ ensuring the right 
level of support and intervention is commissioned according to need to reduce the gap 
in health inequalities.

Page 82



37

Annex 1.4: Communities and Infrastructure 

Commissioning Intentions – Place Shaping

Background

1. The Council has a number of important roles that help shape the nature of people 
and places in Gloucestershire:

 Framing and enforcing rules and laws that influence behaviour;
 Delivering critical public services and infrastructure that enable local people to 

go about their daily lives safely and efficiently; 
 Helping different communities to make choices for themselves, and shaping the 

actions of the Council and partners to meet the needs of the locality; and,
 Working with local, regional and national partners to enable the long-term 

economic, social and environmental wellbeing of Gloucestershire.

2. The importance of a locality that people identify with is well understood and does not 
really change over time. There is a need to keep the management and resolution of 
multi-faceted economic and social problems, regardless of whether they relate to 
individuals, families or communities, grounded in localities. To this end, building the 
capacity for collective action and choices about the use of public and community 
resources will continue to be a key challenge for the Council. Going forward, the 
Council’s place shaping commissioning will need to respond to the as yet unclear 
implications of the UK’s exit from the European Union.

Overall Commissioning Intention

3. The Council’s Place shaping functions interact with localities and communities on a 
daily basis. The outcomes – in terms of community capacity to support individuals and 
families, and infrastructure provision – are, on the whole, highly visible to people.

4. As a result of this, the overall commissioning aim for the Council’s Place shaping 
functions is to:

 Creatively use its resources, powers and influence to promote the general well-
being of localities and the individuals and communities who live and work within 
them. 

The elements of a strong locality and the Council’s general role

5. There are a number of components that make up a strong locality and the Council’s 
Strategy 2015-18 describe these as:

1. Active Individuals;
2. Active Communities;
3. Getting people back to independence;
4. Being there when we’re most needed and,
5. Providing the infrastructure for a thriving economy.

Page 83



38

The Council’s Commissioning Intentions for its Place Shaping Functions

6. Bearing in mind the elements of a strong locality identified above, and the overall 
commissioning policy aim identified in paragraph 4, the Council has established the 
outcomes it is seeking to achieve and its commissioning intentions in terms of 
delivering these through its Place shaping functions. In some cases the intentions are 
to continue with the current direction of travel, some will, however, require change, and 
where this is the case further consultations will be carried out. 

1. Active Individuals

1.1 Outcome Sought 
 A Council presence in localities that makes best use of the buildings, assets 

and technology within a community and that is part of a joined-up approach to 
providing information, advice and services; recognising that there is no ‘one size 
fits all’ solution.

 A robust commercial bus network supported by affordable and subsidised bus, 
concessionary fare and community transport provision that for most people 
maintains reasonable access to employment, education, health services and 
essential shopping facilities.

 Individuals and communities who understand the pressures faced by the 
Council and feel enabled wherever possible to make choices for themselves, in 
doing so shaping the policies and actions of the Council and partners.

1.2 Commissioning Intentions

Customer Programme and Area Based Review
 Through the Customer Programme, maximise the efficient of use of buildings, 

including Libraries, within any locality and provide information advice and 
transactional services through the most cost efficient access channels. In doing 
so recognise that whilst ‘better by digital’ is the aim for most transactions, 
vulnerable people may require a wider choice of access channels to meet their 
needs.

 Bring forward a new ‘better by digital’ programme incorporating all place 
shaping functions and accelerating the delivery of the related elements in the 
Customer Programme (including the rollout of digital equipment in Libraries), 
with an initial focus on ‘real time’ highways maintenance information.

Transport Authority
 Continue to keep public transport reimbursements and subsidies at affordable 

levels and regularly review the discretionary elements of the statutory 
Concessionary Fares scheme in order to minimise the local Council Tax 
subsidy.

 Work with communities and partners to make sure that the best use is made of 
all transport assets, whether privately, publicly or community owned, within any 
locality.

Page 84



39

Communications & Engagement
 Key policy and service change consultations with local people and communities 

continue to meet the standards defined by the Constitution Institute.
 Ensure land-use planning related consultations is carried out in accordance with 

the Statement of Community Involvement or governing statute and find a 
pragmatic balance between informal and formal consultations for other statutory 
functions (e.g. introduction of new / changed parking schemes).

2. Active Communities

2.1 Outcome Sought
 Individuals and community groups who have the skills, abilities and confidence 

to take effective action and leading roles in the development of their localities.

Community Capacity Building
 Work with partners, including the voluntary and community sector, to further 

develop the activities, resources and support that strengthen community 
capacity building, and to this end consult on a new Active Communities Policy 
and Strategy.

 Work with public sector partners to co-ordinate community capacity building 
activities.

 Where we can maximise the positive outcomes of doing so, we will continue to 
transfer assets to the local community in a way that accords with previous 
Community Offer programmes (e.g. Community Libraries), and continue to 
make other resources available at a locality level and subject to informed local 
influence over priorities (e.g. Highways Local, Highways – Your Way, 
Lengthsmen)

 Use the outcomes from the Peer Review of Highways to consult on options for 
Locality based and/or devolved Highway management arrangements that 
maintain value for money.

Minerals and Waste Planning Authority
 Continue to support District and Parish Councils in the production of their Local 

and Neighbourhood Plans so that local need, resilience and distinctiveness are 
promoted in the planning system.

 Maintain a planning process for minerals and waste that enables individuals and 
communities to express their opinions and concerns, particularly in localities 
where they may come into dispute or conflict with the development industry.

Page 85



40

Highway Authority
 Promote the aims and objectives set out in Gloucestershire’s Manual for Streets 

and the adopted Local Transport Plan and provide robust and evidenced-based 
advice to the Local Planning Authorities so that local people can express their 
concerns and opinions about development proposals, in terms of highway and 
transport impacts. 

Regulatory Services
 Ensure regulatory services support community groups and new businesses, 

and champion the economy pf Gloucestershire.

3. Getting people back to independence

3.1 Outcome Sought
 The most vulnerable receive the information, advice, support and advocacy 

when they most need it.
 People feel able and safe to go about their legitimate day-to-day business.

3.2 Commissioning Intentions

Voluntary and Community sector
 Re-commission the Council’s general and specialist advocacy services as part 

of the Customer Programme.
 Continue to commission an effective Healthwatch service.

Regulatory Services
 Continue to ensure that the Council’s regulatory services, particularly those 

related to Trading Standards, Fire Safety and Planning Enforcement (minerals 
and waste), continue to be intelligence led, proportionate, reasonable, clearly 
prioritised.

 To ensure that regulatory services work together with a focus on customer 
protection and empowering communities.

 Capitalise on the wider role of regulatory services to ensure early intervention 
and prevention work in partnership with health and social care is continued and 
expanded. 

Road Safety Partnership
 Following the joint review of the Road Safety Partnership with the Office of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), ensure smooth implementation of 
new Governance and operational arrangements in order to ensure that 
Gloucestershire’s roads, based on an objective analysis of the accident data, 
continue to be safe for users and that the number of people killed and seriously 
injured are reduced as far as possible.

Page 86



41

Lead Local Flood Authority
 To maximise the resources available for reducing long-term flood risk, in order 

to meet the Council’s statutory responsibilities as the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and deliver its Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

 Continue to enable development and economic growth by providing high quality 
statutory consultee advice to the Local Planning Authorities on flood alleviation 
and Sustainable Drainage systems.

4. Being there when we’re most needed

4.1 Outcome sought
Individuals, communities and businesses that are adaptable, resilient and able to 
operate during and recover quickly from emergencies.

4.2 Commissioning Intentions

Fire and Rescue Authority
 Continue to invest the capital necessary to maintain a fit for purpose Fire and 

Rescue Service that is making the most effective use of the latest proven 
technologies. 

 Continue to deliver the current Integrated Risk Management Plan that defines 
the long-term operating model for the service in order to deliver a resilient, 
affordable and strong Gloucestershire presence.

 Continue and expand on the integration of the Fire and Rescue Service within 
the operations of the Council.

 Maximise the Fire and Rescue Service Prevention Strategy to ensure early 
intervention and protection work is linked to health and social care, in order to 
deliver an effective and efficient service and to help manage demand on other 
services.

Civil Contingencies and Adaptation
 Continue to work through the Local Resilience Forum to ensure appropriate 

emergency management arrangements are in place and accord with the 
requirements of the Civil Contingencies Act.

 Continue to ensure Civil Protection is able to deal with emergencies and make 
communities safe and resilient.

 Continue to monitor Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions and the medium to 
long-term resilience of vulnerable individuals, communities and infrastructure to 
more severe and unpredictable weather patterns.

 Actively contribute to Local Government’s response to the national Climate 
Change Risk Assessment and the development of a new National Adaptation 
Programme.

Page 87



42

5. Providing the infrastructure for a thriving economy

5.1 Outcome Sought
Investment in the physical assets that underpin economic growth by enabling people, 
commodities, water, energy and information to move about and operate efficiently.

5.2 Commissioning Intentions

Waste Disposal Authority
 Continue to be a key partner within the Joint Waste Committee in order to 

manage waste and resources effectively. The intention being to move material 
up the waste hierarchy and, where sustainable (in the widest social, economic 
and environmental sense), into the circular resource economy.

 Continue to work in partnership with all Districts to reduce and reuse waste, 
improve recycling rates and divert waste away from landfill in line with the Joint 
Waste Management Strategy targets. Continually look for efficiencies and other 
opportunities to achieve these intentions more cost effectively.

 To complete the construction and commissioning of a new energy from waste 
facility at Javelin Park.

Highway Authority
 Through the Transport Asset Management Plan process continue to promote 

the invest to save and economic growth opportunities associated with 
investment in structural maintenance. To this end ensure that any spending 
continues to be needs led and delivers a road network which is safe, reliable 
and as fit for purpose as possible given the level of funding and resource 
available.

 Maximise efficiencies through the highways contract and keep the delivery 
model under review so that it continues to be fit for purpose.

 Keep the service standards within the Transport Asset Management plan under 
review to ensure that standards allow statutory duties to be met on a risk 
assessed basis, whilst maximising investment in planned road maintenance.

 Recognise the economic and financial value of the highway network and the 
impact of congestion on it, and identify new ways to manage demand through 
bringing technology and where appropriate regulation together (e.g. continuing 
the shift to cashless parking arrangements, bus lane enforcement cameras on 
new developments, finding the right mix of speed enforcement arrangements). 

 Deliver the Carbon Management Plan that seeks to reduce Council emissions 
by 60%, with a particular emphasis on investing in LED based street-lighting 
and renewable/alternative energy supply technologies.

Economic Development and Growth
 To work through the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee and 

the Economic Growth Joint Scrutiny Committee to support the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) in the delivery of its Strategic Economic Plan and current and 
future Growth Deals signed with Government.

Page 88



43

 To ensure the Accountable Body continues to be fit for purpose and able to 
effectively administer all Government capital resources made available to the 
LEP through the Growth Deal and other financial mechanisms (e.g. 
Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund).

 To take a lead in enabling the establishment of a new Employment and Skills 
Board.

 To make sure that the Council’s Asset Management Plan, Transport Asset 
Management Plan, and adopted Local Transport Plan are drivers of economic 
growth in the County.

 To ensure business compliance, such that legitimate traders enjoy a level 
playing field in the market place, and can prosper without fear of unfair 
competition locally.

Infrastructure Authority / Provider
 Through a revised Local Developer Guide, adopted Local Transport Plan, and 

existing Manual for Streets maximise resources secured through the planning 
system for investment in critical infrastructure, particularly highways and 
schools. In doing so fulfil the ‘duty to co-operate’ with other planning authorities 
and statutory consultees; making sure that developer contributions for other 
critical infrastructure are promoted and funded by the appropriate tier of local 
government.

 Identify opportunities to reduce future revenue demands on Council services 
through the appropriate use of developer contributions.

 Achieve around 95% next generation access coverage of broadband in the 
County by 2018.

 Deliver the transport schemes promoted by the Council, which have been 
funded through the Growth Deal (Rounds 1-3) and promote new infrastructure 
schemes in future rounds that will enable economic growth.

 Work with partners and stakeholders to enable the delivery of strategic transport 
infrastructure, such as the A417 ‘Missing Link’ and A46 improvements.

Minerals and Waste Planning Authority
 Continue to make best use of the resources available for meeting statutory 

planning responsibilities, particularly the production/adoption of the Minerals 
Local Plan and delivery of the adopted Waste Core Strategy.

Page 89



44

Annex 2 – Budget Movements by Service Area 

2017/18 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 132,510

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 327
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

Increased cost of care of vulnerable Adults

Inflation for Adult Social Care 1,612

Demand pressures linked to demographic growth 2,373

Transforming Care Programme & Associated Discharges for Learning Disability 
Services

725

Complex Transitional services for Learning Disabilities 1,569

Provision of Specialist Safeguarding Practitioners 112

2017-18 Adult Social Care Grant Funding 2,541

Trialling a different approach to discharging people from hospital who have a 
diagnosis of dementia.(One off investment)

650

Investment to help manage demand for Adult Social Care services over the longer 
term.(One off investment)

500

Preventative Mental Health; intervene early to improve outcomes for individuals 
thereby avoiding the need for crisis intervention.(One off Investment)

300

Proud to Care; Raise the profile of the caring profession in Gloucestershire to 
improve capacity in the voluntary sector and the provider market(One off 
investment - domiciliary and residential care)

44

National Adult Social Care Levy 4,979
Care Act 1,185
To fund, over and above the funding set aside in the Better Care Fund, the on-
going costs of the requirements needing to be undertaken in 2017/18 of the Care 
Act 2014.  This includes investment in new ways of working, the development of 
referral centres and enhanced support to self funders.

National Living Wage 2,994
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage

Approved Mental Health Practitioners 500

Forwards Employment Services for Learning Disabilities 300

Page 90



45

2017/18 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy Continued
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Cost Reductions

Contract Efficiencies -2,193
Release of post contract negotiation inflationary allowances and other contract
efficiencies.

Building Better Lives Programme -4,973
This programme supports the Building Better Lives Policy which sets out the 
direction of travel for supporting people with a disability within Gloucestershire 
over the next 10 years.  These savings will need to be delivered through effective 
enablement, brokerage and review to ensure needs are met utilising community 
resources. 

Older People and Vulnerable Adults Programme -3,781
The Older People and Vulnerable Adults Programme supports the strategic 
direction of keeping people safe and independent, ideally in their own homes, 
whilst investing in prevention to delay or avoid more expensive care support with 
less budget.  In addition it supports the integration of Health and Social Care to 
deliver positive outcomes for individuals.  

Adult Mental Health Services -332
Improving the commissioning, including the support and opportunities provided 
and developing more community based alternatives to long term care for people 
with serious mental health conditions.

QA Function -81
Full year effect of reorganisation of internal QA function.

TOTAL NET CHANGE 15,732 -11,360 4,372

2017/18 Adults Budget  including National Adult Social Care Levy 136,882

Page 91



46

2017/18 Public Health Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 25,542

Budget Changes:

Cost Reductions

Efficiencies & Grant Reductions -2,630
2.5% national reduction in ring fenced grant allocation and savings achieved 
through the recommissioning of Drug & Alcohol and Healthy Lifestyles Contracts

Investment in promoting positive health outcomes in Children & Families 2000

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,000 -2,630 -630

Public Health Budget 2017/18 24,912

Page 92



47

2017/18 Children and Families Budget - Vulnerable Children

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Budget Changes:

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 54,501

Pay Inflation 223
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

Contract Efficiencies -458
Release of post contract negotiation inflationary allowances and other contract
efficiencies 
Adoption/Fostering/ Independent Reviewing Team 1,175
Additional investment to meet costs associated with the increased demand for 
fostering and adoption allowances and inflationary fee pressures. To provide for 
additional staff to cover increased case work in the Independent Reviewing team

Additional Social Workers 2,460
Investment in social workers to reduce caseloads, improve practice and retention 
of staff and to maintain a multi-disciplinary team within the Gloucester City area

Intensive Recovery and Intervention Service 1,400
Investment to establish a service based around small residential ‘hubs’ where the 
most vulnerable young people can be worked with intensively to stabilise them, 
keep them in local placements and avoid long term high cost placements outside 
the county.

Domestic Abuse & Family Breakdown 800
Investment in therapeutic support for children using outreach workers to engage 
health, community & education professionals in early identification and to expand 
the Family Group Conferencing.( One off investment)
Breaking the Cycle 320
To develop a service, funded by a social impact bond, to support 46 women over 
a two year period to improve outcomes for them in terms of relationships, 
employment and well being and reduce levels of risk and cost for public agencies. 
(One off investment)
Reducing Exclusions 270To develop a joint strategy with schools led by a leader from within the sector and 
include an incentivisation fund (match funded from DSG) that could support 
restorative practice projects at school level aimed at reducing exclusions. ( One 
off Investment)

Enabling Active Communities 30
To work with Gloucester City Council on joint project funding community 
connectors to engage excluded groups and enhance community response to 
lower risks within families.(One off Investment)
Recruitment of in house foster carers 100
To enhance capacity within the Fostering team to specifically recruit 10 more 
foster to adopt families.(One off Investment)

National Living Wage 28
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage

Children in Care 2,033
Investment to mitigate against additional demand for services and inflationary 
pressures in Children's External Placement budgets

Efficiencies -2,000
Efficiencies generated via closer working with Public Health 

Youth Support & Children Programme -2,599
Savings within youth support and children's centre budget areas, realignment of
funding for activity grants from public health and review of budgets

Building Better Lives Programme -100
Efficiencies in residential short breaks provision

TOTAL NET CHANGE 8,839 -5,157 3,682

Children & Families - Vulnerable Children Budget 2017/18 58,183

Page 93



48

2017/18 Children and Families Budget - Other Services

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 35,347

Budget Changes:

Education
Pay Inflation 89
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

Contract Efficiencies -214
Release of post contract negotiation inflationary allowances and other contract
efficiencies 

Home to School Transport 94
To provide for contractual prices inflation.

Transport -996
Reduction in discretionary spend and introducing a personalised approach to SEN 
travel enablement; incorporating creative travel solutions and integrating services 

Education Services Grant (ESG) Funding -1,275
Deletion of the ESG funding for retained duties now moving into the Dedicated 
Schools Grant Funding Allocation from 2017-18 onwards

Education Services -916
Savings within pension budgets and from the reorganisation of education services
following the reduction in ESG funding for general duties support to maintained
schools

Supporting People 

Contract Efficiencies 
Release of post contract negotiation inflationary allowances and other contract
efficiencies 

-100

Reflecting shift to community based support -1,415

Commissioning 

Pay Inflation 27
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

TOTAL NET CHANGE 210 -4,916 -4,706

Children & Families - Other Services Budget 2017/18 30,641

Page 94



49

2017/18 Communities and Infrastructure Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 80,255

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 287
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

Coroners 29
Provide for additional demands surrounding Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding

Highways 510

Additional investment to mitigate against additional demand for services and 
Inflationary pressures 

One off investment in roads 170

National Living Wage 91
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage

Cost Reductions

Contract Efficiencies -590
Release of post contract negotiation inflationary allowances and other contract
efficiencies 

Fire & Rescue Service -94
Achieved through redesign of management structure and reduction in attendance
at false alarms.

Customer Services -430
Universal Service Savings and additional registration income 

Community Safety -94
Savings to Road Safety and Trading Standards Services

Infrastructure/Economic Growth -300

The Gloucestershire locality match requirement to unlock the Government's Core 
funding grant to gfirst LEP is £250,000. This has been fully funded by the County 
Council for the last 4 years enabling GFirst LEP to benefit from £2m of core 
funding from the Government and the County Council.  In that time GFirst LEP has 
become increasingly successful at securing growth funding; now in excess of £77 
million, which has benefited all districts in the county. A dialogue has started with 
District Councils on options for sharing the locality core funding match 
requirement, including use of the Strategic Economic Development Fund element 
of the Business Rate Pool. To enable a smooth transition the County Council has 
agreed to fund the match for 2017/18; any change will occur from April 2018.

Renewable Energy -300
Reduced Costs from LED Streetlighting

Highways -250
Further service standard changes, contract efficiencies and generation of 
additional income

TOTAL NET CHANGE 1,087 -2,058 -971

Communities and Infrastructure Budget 2017/18 79,284

Page 95



50

2017/18 Business Support Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 26,024

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 206
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017

Contract Inflation 46

ICT 106
Essential investment in system security designed to protect personal data and 
minimise the impact of disruptive forces on business as usual.

Communications
Invest to save projects in Council's digital capacity 80

Additional investment consultation following the outcome of the scrutiny task group 12

Legal Services 159
Provide for increase in demand for legal services by the Commissioner: Children 
and Young People

Information Management Services 155
Compliance with statutory requests made under the Data Protection Act (DPA), 
Freedom Of Information Act (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations (EIR)

Cost Reductions

Finance -180
Efficiencies including rationalisation of structure and reprioritisation of work.

HR/BSC -325
Efficiencies including rationalisation of structure and reprioritisation of work.

ICT -271
Efficiencies including rationalisation of structure and reprioritisation of work.

Strategy and Challenge -136
Review functions, budgets and income streams. Reduce posts and reprioritise 
work flowing from specific service reviews.

Customer - Access / Universal -441
Cross cutting efficiency savings yet to be allocated to services

Structure -297
Savings from reduced senior management posts

TOTAL NET CHANGE 764 -1,650 -886

Business Support Budget 2017/18 25,138

Page 96



51

2017/18 Technical and Corporate Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2016/17 Revised Budget) 54,284

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay and Pensions 928
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2017 and pensions deficit

Cost Reductions

Customer - Property Disposals -3,000
Revenue savings generated from the utilisation of the proceeds of property 
disposals to reduce debt and/or finance the capital programme

Removal of 16/17 Temporary Funding Allocations -4,570

TOTAL NET CHANGE 928 -7,570 -6,642

Technical and Corporate Budget 2017/18 47,642

Page 97



52

Annex 3 – Budget Summary by Service Area

Overall Budget

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2017/18 Budget  

Budget Area

2016/17 
GCC 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 132,510 -11,360 15,732 136,882 4,372 3.30%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 54,501 -5,157 8,839 58,183 3,682 6.76%

Children and Families- Other Services 35,347 -4,916 210 30,641 -4,706 -13.31%

Communities and Infrastructure 80,255 -2,058 1,087 79,284 -971 -1.21%

Business Support 26,024 -1,650 764 25,138 -886 -3.40%

Technical and Corporate
54,284 -7,570 928 47,642 -6,642 -12.24%

Total GCC 382,921 -32,711 27,560 377,770 -5,151 -1.35%

Public Health 25,542 -2,630 2,000 24,912 -630 -2.47%

Total Budget 408,463 -35,341 29,560 402,682 -5,781 -1.42%

P
age 98



53

Adults MTFS 2017/18

2016/17 
GCC 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %

Adult Social Care Grant 2017-18 0 0 2,541 2,541 2,541 -

Services for Older People 51,291 -4,076 4,276 51,491 200 0.39%
Services for People with a Physical Disability 14,794 -1,018 816 14,592 -202 -1.37%
Services for People with a Learning Disability 49,210 -5,853 5,689 49,046 -164 -0.33%
Services for People with Mental Health Issues 6,891 -332 1,036 7,595 704 10.22%
Other Services for Adults 10,324 -81 1,374 11,617 1,293 12.52%
Total:  Adults 132,510 -11,360 15,732 136,882 4,372 3.30%

P
age 99



54

Public Health MTFS 2017/18 

2016/17 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Sexual Health 4,178 -570 0 3,608 -570 -13.64%

Health Behaviours 2,702 -186 0 2,516 -186 -6.88%

Drugs and Alcohol 6,511 -1,028 0 5,483 -1,028 -15.79%
Children 0-19 (incl. Health Visiting & School 
Nursing)

8,242 -288 2,000 9,954 1,712 20.77%

Public Mental Health 432 -130 0 302 -130 -30.09%
NHS Health Checks 812 -100 0 712 -100 -12.32%
Safeguarding 200 -100 0 100 -100 -50.00%
PH function incl. staffing and intelligence 2,465 -228 0 2,237 -228 -9.25%
Total: Public Health 25,542 -2,630 2,000 24,912 -630 -2.47%

P
age 100



55

Children and Families  - Vulnerable Children MTFS 2017/18 

2016/17 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %

Vulnerable Children 54,501 -5,157 8,839 58,183 3,682 6.76%
Total:  Vulnerable Children 54,501 -5,157 8,839 58,183 3,682 6.76%

Children and Families - Other Services MTFS 2017/18 

2016/17 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Education 21,476 -3,401 183 18,258 -3,218 -14.98%
Supporting People 11,258 -1,515 0 9,743 -1,515 -13.46%
Commissioning 2,613 0 27 2,640 27 1.03%
Total:  Children & Families Other Services 35,347 -4,916 210 30,641 -4,706 -13.31%

P
age 101



56

Communities & Infrastructure MTFS 2017/18 

2016/17 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Parking -2,524 0 2 -2,522 2 -0.08%
Strategic Planning 2,026 -300 9 1,735 -291 -14.36%
Flood Alleviation 1,195 0 2 1,197 2 0.17%
Highways 17,338 -550 710 17,498 160 0.92%
Integrated Transport Unit 10,078 0 99 10,177 99 0.98%
Fire & Rescue Service 15,642 -94 131 15,679 37 0.24%
Libraries 3,209 0 26 3,235 26 0.81%
Community Safety 1,499 -124 61 1,436 -63 -4.20%
Healthwatch 367 0 0 367 0 0.00%
Commissioning & Delivery Support 2,628 -890 28 1,766 -862 -32.80%
Waste 27,518 -100 6 27,424 -94 -0.34%
Customer Services 1,279 0 13 1,292 13 1.02%
Total: C&I Including Waste 80,255 -2,058 1,087 79,284 -971 -1.21%

P
age 102



57

Business Support MTFS 2017/18

2016/17 GCC 
Revised Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Business Support Services 26,024 -1,650 764 25,138 -886 -3.40%
Total: Business Support 26,024 -1,650 764 25,138 -886 -3.40%

Technical & Corporate MTFS 2017/18

2016/17 
GCC 

Revised 
Base 

Budget
Cost  

Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2017/18 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %

Corporately Controlled Budgets 16,622 927 17,549 927 5.58%
Capital Financing 31,742 -3,000 0 28,742 -3,000 -9.45%
Members and Elections 1,350 1 1,351 1 0.07%
2016-17 Temporary Investments 4,570 -4,570 0 -4,570 -100.00%
Total: Technical & Corporate 54,284 -7,570 928 47,642 -6,642 -12.24%

P
age 103



58

Annex 4

P
age 104



59

Forward Planning 2017/18 to 2019/20 
Introduction
Context

Annex 5

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to 
the Council Strategy in relation to the next three year period. The MTFS sets out the Council’s 
high-level funded plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available financing and 
spending ambitions. It highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and 
capital), and reserves. It also highlights the underlying financial strategy, the financial 
assumptions, and the inherent financial risks. Importantly, it links decisions on resource 
allocation to decisions on policy priorities.
A key element within the MTFS is the recognition of the Council’s challenging financial position 
for the medium term, following the publication of the provisional Finance Settlement for 
2017/18 the draft “affordable” budget for 2017/18, assuming a 1.99% increase in Council Tax 
and a 2% increase for the National Social Care Levy, is forecast to reduce by £5.78 million in 
cash terms to £402.68 million. 

Developments
The MTFS is a strategic three year plan of internal resource allocations, with changes in 
allocation determined in accordance with the Council’s goals and priorities. The MTFS is 
updated and refreshed on an annual basis.
In response to its projected financial trajectory, the Council has been developing strategies and 
plans to deliver a balanced financial position over the medium term. This has resulted in the 
Council identifying (and delivering) significant efficiencies in the past via its “Meeting the 
Challenge” and “Meeting the Challenge 2” initiatives, which will continue to be required.
To support the Council’s planning process and inform financial decisions going forward, the 
Council has developed its MTFS planning process, and enhanced it with the introduction of the 
MtC programme. The initial MtC programme covered the four years 2011/12 to 2014/15. A 
second programme “Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together we Can”, covers the period 2015/16 to 
2017/18. This process provides a sound decision making procedure to ensure prioritisation of 
proposals against the Council Strategy. This improved process has been used to 
understand, assess and manage funding allocations in the context of significantly limited 
resources going forward.
Resources have been reviewed against the Council’s priorities and activities.

Financial Strategy
Context
Gloucestershire has a growing and ageing population and has also again recently experienced 
key budget pressures relating to the care of vulnerable Adults and Children. The Council needs 
to manage this demand increase, while continuing to deliver high quality cost effective services 
across Gloucestershire.

Page 105



60

The 2015 Government Spending Review created a social care precept to give local authorities 
who are responsible for social care the ability to raise new funding to spend exclusively on adult 
social care.  The 2017/18 provisional Settlement announcement gave more flexibility to upper tier 
authorities about applying the levy up to a maximum of 6% over the next 3 years to the end of 
Parliament.  The proposed budget includes the adult social care precept at 2%, which raises an 
additional £4.99 million for Adult Social Care services, in addition to the 1.99% basic Council Tax 
proposed.

The MTFS addresses these challenges by taking its lead from the Council’s strategic priorities, 
as set out in the Council Strategy and from the feedback from public consultation.

The Council's financial strategy for 2017/18 to 2019/20, contributes particularly to our proposed 
new approach to meeting people’s needs based on:

 Active individuals

 Active Communities

 Getting people back to independence

 Being there when we’re needed most

Preparation & Links
The Council’s MTFS is prepared annually, and now covers the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20.
It links decisions on resource allocation with decisions on policy priorities, as set out in the 
Council’s Strategy.
Principles
The principles underlying the MTFS are:

 Stable and sustainable budgets.

 Ensures resources are focussed on the Council’s highest priorities

 Demonstrates value for money.

 Recognises risk and ensures an adequate level of financial protection against risk 
by maintaining a prudent, but not excessive, level of financial reserves.

 Secure understanding of sources of potential finance.

 Builds financial capacity for organisational change.

 Is flexible – to allow shifts in spending should circumstances change.

 Does not overburden the Council with future financial commitments, with a key 
aim being to continue to reduce debt over the period of the new MTFS, thereby 
releasing on going debt related revenue savings.

 Aligns on-going financing resources with on-going spending commitments.

Page 106



61

Annex 6 
 Reserve Movements 

Balance 
at 31st 

March 
2016

Transfers Out 
2016/17

Transfers In     
2016/17

Projected 
Balance 

at 31st 

March 
2017

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Earmarked Reserves
Capital Fund 9,678 7,520 17,198 1

Strategic Waste Reserve 33,912 1,900 35,812 2
Transformation Reserve 6,956 -1,645 5,311 3
Invest to Save 3,175 142 3,317 4
Insurance Fund 10,823 -300 500 11,023 5
Active Communities 1,230 -30 1,200 6
Public Health 4,596 -1,651 2,945 7
County Elections 614 300 914 8
Vehicle & Plant Replacement 110 110 9
Fire Service Pensions 127 127 10
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,156 -11 1,145 11
Economic Stimulus Reserve 8,470 -7,908 562 12
Fire PFI Reserve - GFRS 2,757 342 3,099 13
Revenue Grant Reserves 11,751 11,751 14
Adoption Reserve 395 -256 139 15
Rates Retention Reserve 1,835 1,835 16
Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 -50 450 17
Vulnerable Children Reserve 2,570 2,570 18
Home to School Transport Reserve 672 -136 536 19
A417 Missing Link 1,264 1,264 20
Adult Care 1,654 1,654 21
Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 1,476 -1,339 137 22
Traded Services Reserve 67 -32 35 23
LED Renewables Reserve 223 296 519 24
Services to Families with Young Children 
Reserve

300 300 25

Other Reserves 555 0 29 584 26
Earmarked Reserves ( Non School) 106,866 -13,358 11,029 104,537

Schools Related

School Balances 23,824 23,824 27
Other Schools Related 7,288 7,288 27

School Related 31,112 0 0 31,112

Earmarked Reserves Total 137,978 -13,358 11,029 135,649

General Fund Balances 19,848 19,848 28

Total Revenue Reserves 157,826 -13,358 11,029 155,497

Earmarked Capital Reserves  Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2016

Transfers Out 
2016/17

Transfers In     
2016/17

Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2017

Capital Grant & Contributions Reserves 44,151 44,151 29

Capital Receipts Reserve 21,375 21,375 30

Total Capital Reserves 65,526 0 0 65,526

Notes on Reserves

Page 107



62

1. The Capital fund balance assumes that £7.520 million will be transferred from the 
revenue capital financing budget to support future capital programme expenditure from 
2017/18 onwards. 

2. The Strategic Waste Reserve’s estimated balance as at 31st March 2017 is £35.822 
million, following a proposed transfer of £1.9 million from revenue. These funds are 
required to meet contract payments due on construction / completion.

3. The Transformation Reserve was set up in 2009/10 to fund liabilities to pay for 
redundancy and one-off transformation costs associated with the MtC programme.

4. The Invest to Save Reserve supports projects that are designed to deliver on-going 
savings in the future by providing “pump priming” funding and is committed e.g. £0.9 
million Provision of Photovoltaic PV Panels for Shire Hall.

5. It is anticipated that the Insurance Fund will increase by £0.500 million as at 31st March 
2017 based on a detailed analysis of existing and future liabilities, utilising the advice of 
the actuary and the Council’s insurers. Two new reserves have been created for risks 
associated with Safeguarding (£0.25 million) and Residual liabilities relating to Highways 
(£0.25 million). 

6. The purpose of the reserve is to provide capacity to engage and build active communities 
as part of the Council’s Strategic Plan. Commitments against the reserve are likely to be 
spread over a number of years with additional staffing required to promote the approach 
in the Community.

7. The Public Health holds any unused balances from the ring fenced Public Health Grant 
received by Government. 

8. The County Elections Reserve acts as a smoothing reserve to fund the costs associated 
with County Council Elections held every four years.  A budgeted annual contribution of
£0.2 million is annually made to this fund. An additional contribution of £0.1 million is 
proposed for 2016-17 in order to ensure that adequate funding is available for the 2017 
Elections.

9. The Vehicle and Plant reserve is intended to support Council procurement of Service 
vehicles and Plant. It is intended that this fund will support the current cross cutting 
review of Transportation.

10.The Fire Pensions Reserve was established to support any potential liabilities under the 
Fire Service pension schemes. The cost of early retirements due to ill health result in 
additional employers’ liabilities and the intention of this reserve is to offset any impact of 
these costs on the revenue budget if required.

Page 108



63

11.The Fire Joint Training reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue 
implications over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early 
years of the contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the 
contract. Reserve balances are now expected to slowly reduce for the remaining of the 
contract to 2028.

12.The Economic Stimulus Reserve is committed to fund a series of initiatives to support 
economic growth within Gloucestershire i.e. Fastershire Rural Broadband and 
Apprenticeship Initiative. It is forecast that the Reserve will have a balance of £0.562 
million at 31st March 2017.

13.The Fire PFI reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications over 
the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the 
contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. 
Reserve balances are therefore expected to peak in 2025 at £4.77 million, but then 
reduce over the next 13 years to zero in 2038.

14.The Revenue Grants Reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under 
accounting policies, for specific unapplied revenue grants where conditions related to the 
grant have been fully met. 

15.The Adoption Reserve was established to support future costs associated with the 
Adoption Service.

16.The way that the Council is funded changed in 2013/14. As a result the Council is subject 
to volatility around Business Rates collections. To minimise this volatility the Council will 
receive a “Top Up” Grant from Central Government, which means that only our “Baseline” 
position will be subject to the volatility. This figure accounts for £20.6 million of our 
funding, and means that if our District Councils collect less business rates this figure could 
be lower. Central Government do have a safety net mechanism, that would mean that the 
Council would receive funding to offset this loss should Business Rates fall, however this 
safety net is set at 7.5%, meaning that our collected Business Rates would need to fall by 
£4.9 million before the safety net would become payable.  Where deficits do occur, the 
reserve will be used to prevent any impact on the revenue budget.

17.The Education Funding Smoothing Reserve funds any in-year funding adjustments made 
in relation to Academies. Such adjustments will be funded during the year from the 
reserve with base budget reductions made in the following year’s budget, i.e. if a school 
transfers to Academy status mid-year the Council’s budget will be top-sliced mid-year.

18.The Vulnerable Children’s reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks 
associated with the fluctuations in demand led Children Services, such as agency 
placements, fostering allowances, special guardianship and care allowances. 

19.The Home to School Transport Reserve was created in order to smooth out the budgetary 
pressures caused by the fluctuations in school transport days between financial years.

20.The A417 Missing Link Reserve was established to support the upgrading of this section 
of the A417. 

21.Adult Care reserve was established to create to cover the budgetary risks associated with 
the fluctuations in demand led Adult Services. 

Page 109



64

22.This reserve was created to hold a number of small revenue carry forwards from 2015/16 
for Community and Infrastructure services and will be fully utilised in 2016/17 other than 
£0.137 million for Street Lighting LED phase 2 contract mobilisation which will be spent in 
2017/18. 

23.The Traded Services reserve was created to support activities to generate further traded 
income. The reserve will be used in 2016/17 to fund costs associated with additional 
marketing.  

24.This is the smoothing reserve for the repayment of the SALIX/SEELs repayments over 7 
years. The reserve is forecast to increase in 16/17.

25.This Funding was approved by Cabinet to fund capital works which will enable children 
centre buildings to be adapted and made suitable for the provision of a wider range of 
services. 

26.This relates to a small number of specific reserves.

27. It has been assumed that balances for Schools and the Dedicated School’s Grant will 
remain at similar levels to those held at 31st March 2016.

28.General reserves are forecast to remain at £19.848 million at 31 March 2017, assuming a 
balanced outturn position on the Revenue budget for 2016/17. In the event of an over 
spend position a draw down on general reserves will be required.

29.The Capital Grants & Contributions Reserve is a technical reserve established, as 
required under accounting policies, for specific unapplied capital grants & contributions 
where conditions related to the grant have been fully met. These fully committed funds will 
be used to support the Capital Programme from 2016-17 onwards. 

30.The Capital Receipts Reserve holds capital receipts which have been received from 
approved property disposals. These receipts are held to finance the approved Capital 
Programme.

Page 110



65

Annex 7

MTFS 2017/18 – 2019/20 – Forecast draft budgets based on funding assumptions

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m £m
Base Budget 408.46 408.46 402.68 398.69
Inflation ( Pay,Pensions 
and Prices) 2.09 4.60 4.70

National Living Wage 3.11 3.80 3.40

Additional Social Workers 
in Children Services 2.46 0.00 0.00

Other increased costs 
(Vulnerable Adults & 
Children - including one off 
investments)

16.00 3.62 5.00

Other Pressures   
(Estimated) 3.36 3.97 5.22

Additional One off Adult 
Social Care Grant 2.54 -2.54 0.00

Savings to be met from 
Transformation 
Programme

-35.34 -17.44 -12.62

Net Operating Budget 408.46 402.68 398.69 404.39

Funded by:-

Core Grant Funding -118.25 -101.97 -92.43 -83.68
Other Non Ring Fenced 
Grant Funding -13.96 -12.31 -4.96 -4.84

Public Health Grant -25.54 -24.91 -24.27 -23.63
Council Tax Surplus -5.00 -3.87 -3.00 -3.00
Council Tax 
Requirement 245.71 259.62 274.03 289.24

Council Tax Calculation

Council Tax Base ( Est) 216,673 220,159 223,462 226,814
Council Tax Band D 
Equivalent) £1,134.01 £1,179.26 £1,226.32 £1,275.24

% Increase in Council Tax 3.99% 3.99% 3.99% 3.99%

Page 111



66

Annex 8a

Capital Programme 2017/18

MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL SERVICES
FINANCING STATEMENT

------------------    Profiled Budget   ------------------ Total Prior Total 
Future Still Years Scheme

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Years Required Actual Investment
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

GROSS PAYMENTS

Adults 7,026 1,875 584 2,567 0 12,052 3,671 15,723
Children & Families 23,160 38,206 23,677 38 0 85,081 47,762 132,843
Communities & Infrastructure:
Infrastructure 52,571 47,582 28,801 17,211 0 146,165 60,671 206,836
Libraries 284 1,224 500 0 0 2,008 789 2,797
Community Safety F&R 1,248 1,080 360 0 0 2,688 2,808 5,496
Business Support:
AMPS 3,389 19,370 10,752 0 0 33,511 6,303 39,814
ICT Projects 3,653 4,111 500 1,750 0 10,014 1,455 11,469
Archives 1,001 1,692 195 0 0 2,888 132 3,020
Customer 111 200 0 0 0 311 197 508
Business Support Misc 108 6,845 6,000 0 0 12,953 338 13,291
Total 92,551 122,185 71,369 21,566 0 307,671 124,126 431,797

AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Revenue Contributions 4,190 3,852 3,546 1,750 0 13,338
Section 106 Contributions 6,644 14,590 140 0 0 21,374
Capital Fund 5,994 8,032 0 360 0 14,386
Other External Contributions 456 87 0 0 0 543
External Grant - including Government 62,773 65,190 42,365 19,456 0 189,784
Other Reserves 7,426 2,536 0 0 0 9,962
Capital Receipts 5,068 21,103 19,318 0 0 45,489
Internal Borrowing 0 6,795 6,000 0 0 12,795
Other - including Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 92,551 122,185 71,369 21,566 0 307,671

Surplus/deficit (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 112



67

Capital Programme 2017/18 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

Prior Years 
Actuals

£'000
2016/17

£'000
2017/18

£'000
2018/19

£'000
2019/20

£'000

Revenue 
Contrib

£'000

S106 
External 
Contrib

£'000

Capital 
Fund
£'000

Other 
External 
Contrib

£'000

External 
Grant
£'000

Other 
Reserves

£'000

Capital 
Receipts

£'000

Internal 
Borrowing

£'000

Total for 
Remaining 

Life
£'000

Prior Years 
Funding

£'000

Funding of
budget total

£'000

Summary by Service Area
Adults 15,723 3,671 7,026 1,875 584 2,567 25 0 1,048 76 10,762 0 141 0 12,052 3,671 15,723
Children & Families 132,843 47,762 23,160 38,206 23,677 38 1,753 18,181 2,386 26 62,435 300 0 0 85,081 47,762 132,843
Infrastructure 206,836 60,671 52,571 47,582 28,801 17,211 2,673 2,763 4,812 370 109,731 8,762 17,054 0 146,165 60,671 206,836
Libraries 2,797 789 284 1,224 500 0 5 420 35 10 0 0 1,538 0 2,008 789 2,797
Community Safety F&R 5,496 2,808 1,248 1,080 360 0 1,380 0 380 0 903 0 25 0 2,688 2,808 5,496
AMPS 39,814 6,303 3,389 19,370 10,752 0 4,712 10 1,286 0 4,783 900 21,820 0 33,511 6,303 39,814
ICT Projects 11,469 1,455 3,653 4,111 500 1,750 2,553 0 3,811 0 0 0 3,650 0 10,014 1,455 11,469
Archives 3,020 132 1,001 1,692 195 0 237 0 428 61 1,062 0 1,100 0 2,888 132 3,020
Customer 508 197 111 200 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 161 0 311 197 508
Business Support Miscellaneous 13,291 338 108 6,845 6,000 0 0 0 50 0 108 0 0 12,795 12,953 338 13,291

431,797 124,126 92,551 122,185 71,369 21,566 13,338 21,374 14,386 543 189,784 9,962 45,489 12,795 307,671 124,126 431,797

Adults
Gloucester LD Reprovision Scheme 876 556 30 290 0 0 0 0 0 76 244 0 0 0 320 556 876
Sandford Park House 360 0 0 0 0 360 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0 360 0 360
Adults Social Services Grant 13/14 14/15 2,399 192 0 0 0 2,207 0 0 0 0 2,207 0 0 0 2,207 192 2,399
GIS 850 32 793 25 0 0 0 0 643 0 175 0 0 0 818 32 850
Social Care Capital Grant 15/16 1,409 0 325 500 584 0 0 0 0 0 1,409 0 0 0 1,409 0 1,409
Disabled Facilities Grant 4,682 0 4,682 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,682 0 0 0 4,682 0 4,682
Housing & Technology Capital Fund Grant 1,834 0 800 1,034 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,834 0 0 0 1,834 0 1,834
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 3,313 2,891 396 26 0 0 25 0 45 0 211 0 141 0 422 2,891 3,313
Total Adults 15,723 3,671 7,026 1,875 584 2,567 25 0 1,048 76 10,762 0 141 0 12,052 3,671 15,723

Children & Families
Alderman Knight sufficiency 1,900 76 250 1,574 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,824 0 0 0 1,824 76 1,900
Bettridge sufficiency 2,651 132 2,321 198 0 0 0 0 10 0 2,509 0 0 0 2,519 132 2,651
Paternoster, replace temps 2,800 5 70 2,585 140 0 0 0 0 0 2,795 0 0 0 2,795 5 2,800
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 4,958 1 400 4,437 120 0 0 4,957 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,957 1 4,958
Beaufort School 1FE expansion 3,900 0 380 3,400 120 0 0 3,800 0 0 100 0 0 0 3,900 0 3,900
Chipping Campden School, science block 1,140 0 1,053 87 0 0 0 1,140 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,140 0 1,140
Pittville School, increase capacity 1,908 0 1,503 405 0 0 32 0 0 0 1,876 0 0 0 1,908 0 1,908
Severn Vale School 1FE expansion 1,800 0 0 1,800 0 0 0 1,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,800 0 1,800
Maidenhill School, kitchen refurbishment 276 14 248 14 0 0 0 0 136 0 126 0 0 0 262 14 276
Bournside School, expansion 2,400 0 0 2,400 0 0 0 213 0 0 2,187 0 0 0 2,400 0 2,400
Short Breaks Capital Grants 942 5 447 490 0 0 0 0 0 0 937 0 0 0 937 5 942
Hartwood House refurbishment 303 0 250 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 303 0 0 0 303 0 303
Abbeymead Primary, temporary expansion 296 1 288 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 295 0 0 0 295 1 296
Woodmancote Primary, expand to 2FE 986 225 731 30 0 0 0 716 0 0 45 0 0 0 761 225 986
Leighterton Primary replace temps 440 0 88 330 22 0 0 0 0 0 440 0 0 0 440 0 440
Chalford Hill Primary, replace temps 1,283 23 112 1,148 0 0 3 0 0 0 1,257 0 0 0 1,260 23 1,283
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 1,501 1 60 914 488 38 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 1,500 1 1,501
Drybrook Primary remodel classrooms 760 0 38 684 38 0 0 0 0 0 760 0 0 0 760 0 760
English Bicknor Primary Pre-school 260 0 13 234 13 0 26 0 0 0 234 0 0 0 260 0 260
Grangefield Primary, expansion 2,668 46 1,500 1,122 0 0 0 2,622 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,622 46 2,668
Hardwicke Primary temporary expansion 500 0 450 50 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Kemble Primary All pupils under 1 roof 273 0 14 245 14 0 68 0 0 0 205 0 0 0 273 0 273
Mickleton Primary additional classroom 422 1 200 221 0 0 0 421 0 0 0 0 0 0 421 1 422
Northway Infant, replacement school 3,856 3,312 474 70 0 0 0 0 0 0 544 0 0 0 544 3,312 3,856
Thrupp Primary, replace temps 650 5 50 595 0 0 0 0 0 0 645 0 0 0 645 5 650
Hunts Grove, ICT, FFE & internal fees 511 0 3 508 0 0 0 0 0 0 511 0 0 0 511 0 511
Childrens Centres improvements 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 300
Waterwells Academy, 2 classroom building 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 300 0 300
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 271 0 0 0 271 0 271
Rowanfield Infant, rationalisation 500 133 352 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 367 0 0 0 367 133 500

P
age 113



68

Capital Programme 2017/18 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

Prior Years 
Actuals

£'000
2016/17

£'000
2017/18

£'000
2018/19

£'000
2019/20

£'000

Revenue 
Contrib

£'000

S106 
External 
Contrib

£'000

Capital 
Fund
£'000

Other 
External 
Contrib

£'000

External 
Grant
£'000

Other 
Reserves

£'000

Capital 
Receipts

£'000

Internal 
Borrowing

£'000

Total for 
Remaining 

Life
£'000

Prior Years 
Funding

£'000

Funding of
budget total

£'000

Calton Primary, 1FE expansion 4,796 2,766 1,830 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,030 0 0 0 2,030 2,766 4,796
Elmbridge Junior, adaptations 495 1 214 280 0 0 60 0 6 0 428 0 0 0 494 1 495
Hatherley Infant, toilet refurbishment 280 10 255 15 0 0 15 0 0 0 255 0 0 0 270 10 280
Tuffley Primary, extend community room 258 2 243 13 0 0 0 0 256 0 0 0 0 0 256 2 258
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 51,597 41,003 9,323 1,259 12 0 1,119 880 403 26 8,166 0 0 0 10,594 41,003 51,597
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Basic Need Grant 18/19 14,660 0 0 0 14,660 0 0 0 0 0 14,660 0 0 0 14,660 0 14,660
Locality Solutions 375 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 375
24hr Intensive intervention service-children's residential beds 1,200 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 1,200
Capital Maintenance Programme 1,680 0 0 1,680 0 0 280 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 0 1,680 0 1,680
Health & safety/accessibility etc. 700 0 0 700 0 0 0 0 0 0 700 0 0 0 700 0 700
Suitability Programme 1,650 0 0 650 1,000 0 150 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 1,650 0 1,650
Basic Need projects 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000
Balcarass School, 1FE extension 5,000 0 0 2,000 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0 5,000
Shurdington Primary, expansion 1,200 0 0 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 1,200 0 1,200
Springbank Primary, garden room 180 0 0 180 0 0 0 0 0 0 180 0 0 0 180 0 180
Severn Vale School, budget increase 3,200 0 0 1,000 2,200 0 0 0 0 0 3,200 0 0 0 3,200 0 3,200
Barnwood Park School, 1FE expansion 2,500 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500
Alderman Knight School, Support Centre 185 0 0 185 0 0 0 0 0 0 185 0 0 0 185 0 185
Cotswold School, 6th Form accommodation 1,132 0 0 1,132 0 0 0 1,132 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,132 1,132

Total Children & Families 132,843 47,762 23,160 38,206 23,677 38 1,753 18,181 2,386 26 62,435 300 0 0 85,081 47,762 132,843

Infrastructure - Highways - Struct Maint
B4234 Cannop Pond, Parkend 936 193 743 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 680 0 0 0 743 193 936
Pothole Action Fund Unallocated 4,535 0 3,100 1,435 0 0 0 0 814 0 2,721 1,000 0 0 4,535 0 4,535
Street Column Structural Test & Repair 1,028 679 349 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 349 0 0 0 349 679 1,028
Concrete Column Replacement-LED Project 1,180 559 621 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 621 0 0 0 621 559 1,180
Challenge Fund Contribution CMS & CC 684 340 344 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 344 0 0 0 344 340 684
High Mast Replacement 390 0 110 280 0 0 0 0 0 0 390 0 0 0 390 0 390
Street Lighting - General 3,044 2,757 0 287 0 0 0 0 0 0 287 0 0 0 287 2,757 3,044
Berkeley New And Berkeley Old Bridges 2,520 272 2,248 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,248 0 0 0 2,248 272 2,520
Horsley Hill Landslip Nailsworth 512 132 236 144 0 0 0 0 0 0 380 0 0 0 380 132 512
SM PRN A Roads Unallocated 2,215 0 2,215 0 0 0 0 0 740 0 1,475 0 0 0 2,215 0 2,215
SM NPRN B Classified Unallocated 1,067 0 1,067 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,067 0 0 0 1,067 0 1,067
SM NPRN C Classified Unallocated 4,969 0 4,969 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 4,966 0 0 0 4,969 0 4,969
SM NPRN Unclassified Unallocated 485 0 485 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 335 0 0 0 485 0 485
Footways Unallocated 896 0 780 116 0 0 0 0 35 0 861 0 0 0 896 0 896
Minor Works MTC2 16/17 2,208 0 1,601 607 0 0 428 0 0 0 1,780 0 0 0 2,208 0 2,208
Reactive Works Unallocated 3,640 0 3,640 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,640 0 0 0 3,640 0 3,640
Safety Fencing 350 0 350 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 350 0 350
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 22,202 18,025 3,940 237 0 0 1,159 50 302 0 2,646 20 0 0 4,177 18,025 22,202
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Structural Maintenance (estimate) 46,041 0 0 17,341 14,350 14,350 0 0 0 0 46,041 0 0 0 46,041 0 46,041
National Productivity Investment Fund 3,260 0 0 3,260 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,260 0 0 0 3,260 0 3,260
Total Infrastructure - Highways - Struct Maint 102,162 22,957 26,798 23,707 14,350 14,350 1,837 53 2,104 0 74,191 1,020 0 0 79,205 22,957 102,162

P
age 114



69

Capital Programme 2017/18 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

Prior Years 
Actuals

£'000
2016/17

£'000
2017/18

£'000
2018/19

£'000
2019/20

£'000

Revenue 
Contrib

£'000

S106 
External 
Contrib

£'000

Capital 
Fund
£'000

Other 
External 
Contrib

£'000

External 
Grant
£'000

Other 
Reserves

£'000

Capital 
Receipts

£'000

Internal 
Borrowing

£'000

Total for 
Remaining 

Life
£'000

Prior Years 
Funding

£'000

Funding of
budget total

£'000

Infrastructure - Highways - Integ Trans
Metz Way Bus Lane (East of Eastern Ave) 635 101 534 0 0 0 0 34 0 0 500 0 0 0 534 101 635
Cheltenham Transport Plan (Boots Corner 1,105 412 693 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 693 0 0 0 693 412 1,105
Tewkesbury Rd Chelt-Bus Priority Signals 353 77 0 276 0 0 0 223 0 0 53 0 0 0 276 77 353
Cinderford Northern Quarter Spine Road 4,440 748 2,613 1,079 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,692 0 0 0 3,692 748 4,440
Smartcards 615 310 61 244 0 0 0 0 41 0 264 0 0 0 305 310 615
On street parking (Cheltenham Phase 4) 378 113 256 9 0 0 0 0 51 0 214 0 0 0 265 113 378
Elmbridge Major Scheme Bid 13,380 3,942 4,473 4,965 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,438 0 0 0 9,438 3,942 13,380
Bowbridge Stroud - Community Offer 845 474 371 0 0 0 0 0 0 240 131 0 0 0 371 474 845
Bristol Road, Gloucester 590 71 219 300 0 0 0 495 0 0 24 0 0 0 519 71 590
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 23,418 18,547 2,365 2,506 0 0 244 1,941 203 130 2,353 0 0 0 4,871 18,547 23,418
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Integrated Transport (estimated 2017/18) 8,583 0 0 2,861 2,861 2,861 0 0 0 0 8,583 0 0 0 8,583 0 8,583
Total Infrastructure - Highways - Integ Trans 54,342 24,795 11,585 12,240 2,861 2,861 244 2,693 295 370 25,945 0 0 0 29,547 24,795 54,342

Infrastructure - Highways - Other
Rural Broadband - Fastershire 13,700 1,604 7,406 3,400 1,290 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,742 4,354 0 12,096 1,604 13,700
Flood & Water Management Act 280 15 0 265 0 0 0 0 265 0 0 0 0 0 265 15 280
Priors & Oakley FAS - FDGiA 1,983 118 150 1,715 0 0 0 0 139 0 1,726 0 0 0 1,865 118 1,983
Moreton in Marsh – watercourse dvrsn IPP 270 0 135 135 0 0 0 0 270 0 0 0 0 0 270 0 270
Residual Waste Project 9,023 8,740 0 283 0 0 283 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 283 8,740 9,023
LED Streetlighting Major Project 22,217 2,186 5,816 3,915 10,300 0 0 0 0 0 7,331 0 12,700 0 20,031 2,186 22,217
Lydney Level Crossings 500 12 35 453 0 0 0 0 0 0 488 0 0 0 488 12 500
Hempsted HRC 420 22 390 8 0 0 40 0 358 0 0 0 0 0 398 22 420
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 1,939 222 256 1,461 0 0 269 17 1,381 0 50 0 0 0 1,717 222 1,939
Total Infrastructure - Highways - Other 50,332 12,919 14,188 11,635 11,590 0 592 17 2,413 0 9,595 7,742 17,054 0 37,413 12,919 50,332

Libraries
Customer Services Programme 1,519 0 30 989 500 0 0 0 9 10 0 0 1,500 0 1,519 0 1,519
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 1,258 789 254 215 0 0 0 420 11 0 0 0 38 0 469 789 1,258
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Replacement of delivery vehicle 20 0 0 20 0 0 5 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 20
Total Libraries 2,797 789 284 1,224 500 0 5 420 35 10 0 0 1,538 0 2,008 789 2,797

Community Safety F&R
BA Project 700 0 350 350 0 0 0 0 0 0 700 0 0 0 700 0 700
Appliances and Equipment 510 0 510 0 0 0 510 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 510 0 510
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 3,196 2,808 388 0 0 0 130 0 30 0 203 0 25 0 388 2,808 3,196
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Replacement of Two Fire appliances 600 0 0 240 360 0 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Road Traffic Collision Equipment 140 0 0 140 0 0 140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 140 0 140
Replacement of Mobile data Terminals on appliances 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
Replacement of Command and Control Equipment 50 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Total Community Safety F&R 5,496 2,808 1,248 1,080 360 0 1,380 0 380 0 903 0 25 0 2,688 2,808 5,496

P
age 115



70

Capital Programme 2017/18 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

Prior Years 
Actuals

£'000
2016/17

£'000
2017/18

£'000
2018/19

£'000
2019/20

£'000

Revenue 
Contrib

£'000

S106 
External 
Contrib

£'000

Capital 
Fund
£'000

Other 
External 
Contrib

£'000

External 
Grant
£'000

Other 
Reserves

£'000

Capital 
Receipts

£'000

Internal 
Borrowing

£'000

Total for 
Remaining 

Life
£'000

Prior Years 
Funding

£'000

Funding of
budget total

£'000

AMPS
SH MTFS SH Maintenance 1,096 443 53 600 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 652 0 653 443 1,096
MTFS SH Reorganisation 1,201 264 480 166 291 0 0 0 442 0 0 0 495 0 937 264 1,201
MTFS SH Refurbishment 7,151 40 373 5,600 1,138 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 7,108 0 7,111 40 7,151
Worksmart - Photovoltaic Panels 1,140 0 0 1,140 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 900 0 0 1,140 0 1,140
Area Based Review 8,000 0 0 4,000 4,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,000 0 8,000 0 8,000
Blackfriars & Quays Redevelopment 4,130 77 1,020 2,000 1,033 0 0 0 0 0 4,053 0 0 0 4,053 77 4,130
Shire Hall - Toilet Refurbishments 301 28 101 86 86 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 273 28 301
Purchase of 33 Paygrove Lane 331 31 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300 31 331
Shire Hall Maintenance - 16-17 MTFS 1,500 0 0 1,000 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500 0 1,500
Health & Safety Works 2016/17 - 2018/19 900 0 0 600 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 900 0 900
Disabled Access Corp 2016/17 - 2018/19 450 0 0 300 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 450 0 450
Rural Estates - Farm Investment 1,500 0 0 1,000 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500 0 1,500
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 7,442 5,420 1,062 892 68 0 40 10 600 0 730 0 642 0 2,022 5,420 7,442
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Ex Magistrates refurbishment and conversion to Social Care Hub 2,900 0 0 1,100 1,800 0 2,900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,900 0 2,900
Office staffing restructures-AMPS moves support 1,772 0 0 886 886 0 1,772 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,772 0 1,772
Total AMPS 39,814 6,303 3,389 19,370 10,752 0 4,712 10 1,286 0 4,783 900 21,820 0 33,511 6,303 39,814

ICT Projects
ICT Strategy - Telephony 1,512 327 1,185 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1,182 0 1,185 327 1,512
ICT Strategy - Remote Access upgrade 319 0 319 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 319 0 319 0 319
ICT Strategy - Server Replace & Refresh 645 186 459 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 459 0 459 186 645
ICT Strat - Secure Wi-Fi 514 0 514 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 514 0 514 0 514
Shire Hall Refurbishment Programme 280 0 280 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280 0 280 0 280
ICT unallocated 450 0 0 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 1,838 942 896 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 896 0 896 942 1,838
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Compliance and security-windows 7 refresh 2,100 0 0 100 250 1,750 0 0 2,100 0 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 2,100
Strong infrastructure-Recycle laptop & desktop devices 762 0 0 762 0 0 762 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 762 0 762
Strong infrastructure-Wide Area Network 1,070 0 0 1,070 0 0 1,070 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,070 0 1,070
Flexible Mobile and efficient working-Wifi 129 0 0 129 0 0 129 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 129 0 129
Flexible Mobile and efficient working 800 0 0 550 250 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 800
Compliance and security-Remote access 92 0 0 92 0 0 92 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 92 0 92
Compliance and security-Web/email filtering 50 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Shire Hall Refurbishment-office refurb 60 0 0 60 0 0 0 0 60 0 0 0 0 0 60 0 60
Compliance and security-Refresh of virtual server 353 0 0 353 0 0 0 0 353 0 0 0 0 0 353 0 353
Flexible Mobile and efficient working-Mobile device management 50 0 0 50 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Strong infrastructure/Resilience 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
Compliance and security - Email archiving 145 0 0 145 0 0 0 0 145 0 0 0 0 0 145 0 145
Total ICT Projects 11,469 1,455 3,653 4,111 500 1,750 2,553 0 3,811 0 0 0 3,650 0 10,014 1,455 11,469

Archives
Alvin Street Extension 3,009 122 1,000 1,692 195 0 237 0 427 61 1,062 0 1,100 0 2,887 122 3,009
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 11 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 10 11
Total Archives 3,020 132 1,001 1,692 195 0 237 0 428 61 1,062 0 1,100 0 2,888 132 3,020

Customer
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 508 197 111 200 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 161 0 311 197 508
Total Customer 508 197 111 200 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 161 0 311 197 508

Business Support Misc
Energy Supply Technologies 12,795 0 0 6,795 6,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,795 12,795 0 12,795
Schemes under £250,000 16/17 onwards 446 338 108 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108 0 0 0 108 338 446
New Starts 2017/18 onwards
Customer Programme/Digital Strategy-website development 50 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Total Business Support Miscellaneous 13,291 338 108 6,845 6,000 0 0 0 50 0 108 0 0 12,795 12,953 338 13,291

P
age 116



71

Annex 8b New Schemes 2017/18 Funded from Revenue Contributions and Capital Fund

Capital Programme New Schemes 2017/18 onwards funded from Revenue Contributions and Capital Fund

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

Comments

Children & Families

Locality Solutions 375 375
Rationalising working hubs enabling better access for young people in care, better 
integration with wider youth support activity, and optimising building use for the future.

24hr Intensive intervention service - children's 
residential beds

1,200 1,200
To secure and adjust two properties to provide in house residential beds and 24 hour 
intensive intervention services.

Children & Families Total 1,575 1,575 0 0

AMPS
Ex Magistrates refurbishment and conversion to 
Social Care Hub

2,900 1,100 1,800

Office staffing restructures -  AMPS moves 
support

1,772 886 886

AMPS Total 4,672 1,986 2,686 0

ICT Projects

Compliance and security - windows 7 refresh 2,100 100 250 1,750
Providing an up-to-date and supported computer desktop operating system for all council 
devices to ensure that ongoing investment, support and maintenance by Microsoft 
provides value for money and service continuity.  

Strong infrastructure - Recycle laptop & desktop 
devices

762 762
Replacement of ageing end user devices that were re-purposed and re-utilised during the 
previous computer replacement programme.

Strong infrastructure - Wide Area Network 1,070 1,070
To replace the council’s ageing ICT voice and data network circuits with a secure, robust, 
scalable and cost effective service offering designed to accommodate and facilitate 
modern ways of working.

Flexible, mobile and efficient working - Wifi 129 129
To provide secure Wi-Fi coverage into Block 6 as part of the extended Property Services 
Shire Hall refurbishment programme

Flexible, mobile and efficient working 800 550 250
To continually assess and invest in additional technology solutions that will provide council 
staff with the tools they need to work more efficiently.  This will build upon existing 
investment in secure corporate mobile devices and unified communication technologies.     

GCC has adopted a strategic policy of closing satellite offices and investing in Shire Hall, 
providing benefits on the staffing side, such as allowing for better communications within 
teams whilst reducing the revenue costs associated with the running of multiple offices. 

P
age 117



72

Capital Programme New Schemes 2017/18 onwards funded from Revenue Contributions and Capital Fund

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

Comments

Compliance and security - Remote access 92 92
To complete the upgrade of the new secure and compliant remote access solution for 
council staff, 3rd parties and partnership organisations.

Compliance and security - Web/email filtering 50 50
To strengthen the council’s existing cyber security defences to better protect staff when 
conducting council business via the internet.  

Shire Hall Refurbishment - office refurb 60 60
To provide the required ICT infrastructure & networking capability into Block 6 as part of 
the extended Property Services Shire Hall refurbishment programme.

Compliance and security - Refresh of virtual 
server

353 353
To conduct an essential upgrade of end of life software used to provide council staff with 
access to information systems and data.

Flexible, mobile and efficient working - Mobile 
device management

50 50
To provide a technology solution which will enable field-based staff to remotely access 
council information systems and data securely from corporately managed mobile devices.     

Strong infrastructure/Resilience 300 300
To continually assess and invest in additional technology solutions that will provide council 
staff with a strong technological infrastructure.  This will build upon existing investment in 
a secure data centre and file storage platform for the council.     

Compliance and security - Email archiving 145 145 To ensure sufficient server capacity to meet the management of email archiving.
ICT Projects Total 5,911 3,661 500 1,750

Business Support Miscellaneous
Customer Programme/ Digital Strategy - 
website development

50 50
Development of the website, increasing opportunities for customers to self serve and 
delivering key digital projects

Business Support Miscellaneous Total 50 50 0 0

Libraries

Replacement of delivery vehicle 20 20
A replacement vehicle is needed to ensure cost effectiveness and to continue to provide 
an efficient delivery and distribution system for customers and other areas of the Council. 

Libraries Total 20 20 0 0

P
age 118



73

Capital Programme New Schemes 2017/18 onwards funded from Revenue Contributions and Capital Fund

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

Comments

Community Safety F&R

Replacement of Two Fire Appliances 600 240 360
GFRS has a well established fire engine replacement programme to ensure that its fleet 
remains sustainable and reliable for responding to emergencies. There are two new fire 
engines needed for 2017 – 18.

Road Traffic Collision Equipment 140 140

GFRS regularly attends road traffic collisions where people are required to be extricated 
using specialist equipment. Technological has progressed to battery powered equipment 
which is lighter, easier to handle and improves firefighter safety by removing hazards 
associated with the use of hydraulic equipment. The Service needs 7 more sets to 
complete its response model by placing RTC equipment on more appliances around the 
county.

Replacement of Mobile data Terminals on 
appliances

300 300

These  enable the Incident Commander to obtain premises and risk information for the 
incidents they attend and manage each incident successfully thereby improving firefighter 
and community safety. The MDT’s also form an integral part of the mobilising system and 
enable improved communications with the Control Room at HQ

Replacement of Command and Control 
Equipment

50 50

This scheme would see the network switches at the Service HQ, which are over 13 years 
old, replaced with current equipment in an equally resilient configuration. This will make 
the network infrastructure more resilient and protect telephony, voicemail, day to day 
operations and most importantly the essential connectivity for the 999 system.

Community Safety F&R Total 1,090 730 360 0

Total 13,318 8,022 3,546 1,750

Financing £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital Fund 5,798 5,798 0 0
Revenue Contributions 7,520 2,224 3,546 1,750
Total 13,318 8,022 3,546 1,750

P
age 119



74

 Annex 9 

Gloucestershire County Council
Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2017/18 to 2018/19

Contents

1. Background

2. External Context

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

4. Local Context

5. Borrowing Strategy 

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

7. Debt Rescheduling

8. Annual Investment Strategy

9. Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

10. Security of Investments

11. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives

12. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
 
13. Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

14. Other Items 

Appendices

A. Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

B. Existing Portfolio Projected Forward

C. Prudential Indicators

Page 120



75

1. Background

1.1 In February 2010 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) 
which requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year.

1.2 In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) issued revised 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments in March 2010 that requires the Council to approve an 
investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.3 This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance.  In particular this Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement aims to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 
 Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/18
 Prudential Indicators for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20
 MRP Statement 

1.4 The Council has borrowed and continues to invests substantial sums of money and therefore has 
potentially large exposures to financial risks, including the loss of invested funds and the effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore 
central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

1.5 In accordance with the CLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to approve a revised Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on which this report is based change 
significantly. Such circumstances would include, for example, a large unexpected change in 
interest rates, or in the Council’s capital programme or in the level of its investment balance.

2. External Context

Economic background
2.1 The major external influence on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2017/18 will be 

the UK’s progress in negotiating a smooth exit from the European Union.  Negotiations are 
expected to start once the UK formally triggers exit in early 2017 and last for at least two years. 
Therefore uncertainty over future economic prospects is likely to remain throughout 2017/18.

2.2 The fall and continuing weakness in sterling and the near doubling in the price of oil in 2016 have 
combined to drive inflation expectations higher.  The Bank of England is forecasting that Consumer 
Price Inflation will breach its 2% target in 2017, the first time since late 2013, but the Bank is 
expected to look through inflation overshoots over the course of 2017 when setting interest rates 
so as to avoid derailing the economy.

Credit outlook
2.3 Markets have expressed concern over the financial viability of a number of European banks 

recently. Sluggish economies and continuing fines for pre-crisis behaviour have weighed on bank 
profits, and any future slowdown will exacerbate concerns in this regard.

2.4 Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue failing 
banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the European Union, 
Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with their own plans. The credit 
risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased relative to the risk of 
other investment options available to the Council; returns from cash deposits however continue to 
fall.

Page 121



76

3. Interest Rate Forecast

3.1 The Council’s treasury adviser Arlingclose’s central case is for UK Bank Rate to remain at 0.25% 
during 2017/18. The Bank of England has, however, highlighted that excessive levels of inflation 
will not be tolerated for sustained periods. Given this view and the current inflation outlook, further 
falls in the Bank Rate look less likely. Negative Bank Rate is currently perceived by some 
policymakers to be counterproductive but, although a low probability, cannot be entirely ruled out in 
the medium term, particularly if the UK enters recession as a result of concerns over leaving the 
European Union.

3.2 Gilt yields have risen sharply, but remain at low levels. The Arlingclose central case is for yields to 
decline when the government triggers Article 50.  Long-term economic fundamentals remain weak, 
and the quantitative easing (QE) stimulus provided by central banks globally has only delayed the 
fallout from the build-up of public and private sector debt.  The Bank of England has defended QE 
as a monetary policy tool, and further QE in support of the UK economy in 2017/18 remains a 
possibility, to keep long-term interest rates low.  A more detailed economic and interest rate 
forecast, provided by Arlingclose, is attached at Appendix A.

4. Local Context

4.1 At 31st March 2016 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was £317.6m, while usable reserves and working capital 
which are the underlying resources available for investment were £276.5m.

4.2 The Council currently has £298.7 million (as at 31st October 2016) of external borrowing, a £20.9m 
PFI lease liability and £319.086 million (as at 26th October 2016) of internal investments. This is set 
out in further detail at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance 
sheet analysis at Table 1 below. 

4.3 Under the Prudential Code the Council is able to borrow funds in excess of the current level of its 
CFR up to the projected level in 2019/20. The Council is likely to only borrow in advance of need if 
it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now compared to where they are expected to be in 
the future, outweighs the current cost and risks associated with investing the proceeds until the 
borrowing was actually required. 

4.4 The forecast movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential Indicators (PIs). The 
movement in actual external debt and usable reserves combine to identify the Council’s borrowing 
requirement.

Page 122



77

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
CFR 317.593 308.842 306.701 302.960 293.235
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 298.712 293.849 285.513 277.649 269.786
and Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 20.942 20.391 19.825 19.138 18.465

Internal (over) Borrowing -2.061 -5.398 1.363 6.173 4.983
Less:
Balances & Reserves 223.352 221.023 216.023 211.023 206.023
Working Capital 51.116 40.000 40.000 40.000 40.000
Investments (276.529) (266.421) (254.660) (244.850) (241.040)

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2016/17 is forecast to be £308.8 million (equivalent 
to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £293.8 million, and a PFI lease 
liability of £20.4 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so. In 2016/17 £4.9 
million maturing external debt will be repaid.  £8.3 million is forecast to be repaid in 2017/18 and 
opportunities to repay debt early will be kept under review.  Where funding permits and it is cost 
effective to do so, additional loans may also be repaid.  

5.2 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance 
between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds 
are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-term plans change is a 
secondary objective.

5.3 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently 
much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council needed to borrow it 
would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-
term loans instead.  

5.4 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely to be beneficial over 
the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-
term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates 
are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and 
breakeven analysis. 

5.5 In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

Page 123



78

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

6.1 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local 

authority bond issues

6.2 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but may 
be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

6.3 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans 
and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

6.4 The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and lend 
the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB 
for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a joint and 
several guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any 
reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing 
the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

6.5 The Council holds £33.050 million of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) loans where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following which the 
Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All 
of these LOBO’s have options during 2017/18, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their 
options in the current low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept 
under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has 
the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as 
LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
have now been reclassified as fixed rate market loans.

6.6 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable interest rates in the 
treasury management indicators at Appendix C.

7 Debt Rescheduling

7.1 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a 
discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank lenders may also 
be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this 
and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. Such repayments will only be made after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Page 124



79

7.2 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in the 
Annual Treasury Management Report and the regular treasury management reports presented to 
Audit & Governance Committee .

8. Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2016-17 the Council’s internal investment 
balance has ranged between £282.7 million and £357.2 million, and similar levels are expected to 
be maintained in the forthcoming year

8.2 Both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and 
to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of 
return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

8.3 Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2017/18, there is a small chance that 
the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation already exists in 
many other European countries. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

8.4 Given the increasing risk and continued low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, 
the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / or higher yielding 
asset classes during 2017/18.  This is especially the case for funds available for longer-term 
investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus cash is currently invested -  40% is 
exposed to “bail-in” risk (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the Council will lose a 
porportion of the funds deposited):

8.5 The Council is committed to moving away from unsecured investments where feasible.  To 
minimise the risk of unsecured deposits the Council has the approved counterparties in Table 2 
below, subject to the cash and time limits shown.   

Page 125



80

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties (including Non Specified)

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.  Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and 
building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments are 
subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank 
is failing or likely to fail.

Page 126



81

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised arrangements 
with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on the bank’s assets, 
which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they 
are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the highest of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash 
and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and local 
authorities and multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to 
bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency.  Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the 
risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be made as 
part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of Registered 
Providers of Social Housing, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies are 
tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above investment 
types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage of providing wide 
diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a professional fund 
manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that offer same-day 
liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank 
accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 
notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 
a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Other Organisations: 
The Council may also invest cash with other organisations, for example by making loans 
to small businesses.  Because of the higher perceived risk of unrated businesses, such 
investments may provide considerably higher rates of return.  They will however only be 
made following a favourable external credit assessment and on the specific advice of the 
Council’s treasury management adviser.

Page 127



82

9 Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

9.1 The Council uses long-term credit ratings from the three main rating agencies Fitch Ratings, 
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services to assess the risk of 
investment default.  The lowest available counterparty credit rating will be used to determine credit 
quality, unless an investment-specific rating is available. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored 
by the Councils treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an 
entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the 

affected counterparty.

9.2 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade 
(also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only specified investments that can be withdrawn on the next working 
day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an 
imminent change of rating.

9.3 For specified investments: CLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:
• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:

o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations as those having a credit rating of A- 
or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or 
higher. For money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as 
those having a credit rating of A- or higher. 

Ratings as determined for use by the Council:

Long-term
Fitch A-
Moody’s A3
S&P  A-

Sovereign AA+

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and 
market sentiment towards investment counterparties. 

9.4 The Council may lend or invest money using any of the following instruments:

• interest-bearing bank accounts
• fixed term deposits and loans
• callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment at any time (with 

or without notice)

Page 128



83

• callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before maturity, but subject to 
a maximum of £30 million in total

• certificates of deposit
• bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments
• shares in money market funds and other pooled funds
• reverse repurchase (repo) agreements

Investments may be made at either a fixed rate of interest, or at a variable rate linked to a market 
interest rate, such as LIBOR, subject to the limits on interest rate exposures shown in Appendix 
C.

9.5 Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-estimated and payments over-estimated to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Councils medium term 
financial plan and cash flow forecast.

10 Security of Investments

10.1 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment 
default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, 
information on potential government support and reports in the quality financial press.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit 
quality, even though it may meet the credit rating criteria.

10.2 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as 
happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in 
other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing 
financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Councils cash balances, then the surplus will be 
deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt Management Office for example, or with other 
local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

10.3 Non-specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified investment 
is classed as non-specified.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to long-term 
investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date of arrangement, 
and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit quality.  Limits 
on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 below.

Page 129



84

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits

10.4 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £30 
million.

10.5 A group of banks under the same ownership or a group of funds under the same management will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on investments in 
brokers’ nominee accounts (e.g. King & Shaxson), foreign countries and industry sectors as below.  
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for 
any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Page 130



85

Table 4: Investment Limits

11 Policy on Use of Financial Derivatives 

11.1 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to 
reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable 
deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much 
of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are 
not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail 
their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

11.2 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks 
that the Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk. Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be 
subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall 
treasury risk management strategy.

11.3 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved 
investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

11.4 The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and ensuring officers 
have the appropriate training for their use. 

12 2016/17 MRP Statement

12.1  Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government Capital Finance 
System was changed on 1 April 1990. This required local authorities to assess their outstanding 
debt and to make an annual charge to the General Fund of 4% of the General Fund Debt.

Page 131



86

12.2 DCLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt 
redemption.  Guidance has been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required 
to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The 
MRP Statement must be submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever 
proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement 
would be put to Council at that time.

12.3 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital grants by 
government, the Council has not borrowed externally over the last 6 years. Opportunities are now 
limited for the repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high 
premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt 
early.  Internal borrowing has been fully repaid during 2016/17 , and maturing debt will continue to 
be redeemed over the next few years. 

12.4 DCLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt 
redemption,.  In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council remains within 
Prudential Indicators, and to reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council changed its 
policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. This prudent method is similar to other local 
authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum has 
been set at £8.2m 

12.5 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the basis of 
calculating an annual MRP provision  to any new borrowing requirement going forward.

12.6 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-based Code 
of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability. 

13 Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

13.1 Treasury Activity is monitored regularly and reported internally to the Strategic Finance Director.  
The Prudential Indicators will be monitored through the year and reported as follows:

The Strategic Finance Director will report to the Audit and Governance Committee on Treasury 
Management activity / performance and Performance Indicators as follows:

 Outturn report on treasury activity for the prior year will be presented to the July meeting.
 A monitoring update report will be presented to the October meeting.
 Consultation on the following year strategy will be presented to the January meeting.

14 Other items

Treasury Management Training

CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Strategic Finance Director to ensure that all members and 
staff tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and understand fully 
their roles and responsibilities.  

Requirements for members training, including Audit and Governance Committee, will be kept 
under review.  Senior staff with responsibility for treasury management have a professional 
responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the relevant Codes and Guidance which apply to the 
treasury function, and have access to the skills and knowledge to carry out their roles effectively.

Page 132



87

Investment Consultants / Treasury Advisors

The CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommends that the Investment Strategy 
should state:

 Whether and, if so, how the Council uses external contractors offering information, advice 
or assistance relating to investment, and

 How the quality of any such service is controlled.

In order to ensure that we manage the relationship with our treasury advisors effectively we meet 
on a regular basis, usually quarterly.  At these meetings current market conditions are reviewed, as 
is the strategy in light of this.  We ensure that the information provided is current and appropriate to 
our circumstances.  

The Council maintains the quality of the service with its advisors by holding quarterly meetings and 
tendering periodically.

Page 133



88

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying Assumptions:

 The medium term outlook for the UK economy is dominated by the negotiations to leave the EU. 
The long-term position of the UK economy will be largely dependent on the agreements the 
government is able to secure with the EU and other countries.

 The global environment is also riddled with uncertainty, with repercussions for financial market 
volatility and long-term interest rates. Donald Trump’s victory in the US general election and 
Brexit are symptomatic of the popular disaffection with globalisation trends. The potential rise in 
protectionism could dampen global growth prospects and therefore inflation. Financial market 
volatility will remain the norm for some time.

 However, following significant global fiscal and monetary stimulus, the short term outlook for the 
global economy is somewhat brighter than earlier in the year. US fiscal stimulus is also a 
possibility following Trump’s victory.

 Recent data present a more positive picture for the post-Referendum UK economy than predicted 
due to continued strong household spending. 

Page 134



89

 Over the medium term, economic and political uncertainty will likely dampen investment 
intentions and tighten credit availability, prompting lower activity levels and potentially a rise in 
unemployment. 

 The currency-led rise in CPI inflation (currently 1.0% year/year) will continue, breaching the target 
in 2017, which will act to slow real growth in household spending due to a sharp decline in real 
wage growth.

 The depreciation in sterling will, however, assist the economy to rebalance away from spending. 
The negative contribution from net trade to GDP growth is likely to diminish, largely due to 
weaker domestic demand. Export volumes will increase marginally.

 Given the pressure on household spending and business investment, the rise in inflation is highly 
unlikely to prompt monetary tightening by the Bank of England, with policymakers looking through 
import-led CPI spikes to the negative effects of Brexit on economic activity and, ultimately, 
inflation.

 Bank of England policymakers have, however, highlighted that excessive levels of inflation will 
not be tolerated for sustained periods. Given this view and the current inflation outlook, further 
monetary loosening looks less likely.

Forecast: 
 Globally, the outlook is uncertain and risks remain weighted to the downside.  The UK domestic 

outlook is uncertain, but likely to be weaker in the short term than previously expected.

 The likely path for Bank Rate is weighted to the downside. The Arlingclose central case is for 
Bank Rate to remain at 0.25%, but there is a 25% possibility of a drop to close to zero, with a 
very small chance of a reduction below zero. 

 Gilt yields have risen sharply, but remain at low levels. The Arlingclose central case is for yields 
to decline when the government triggers Article 50.

Page 135



90

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Page 136



1

Appendix C 
Prudential Indicators 2017/18

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have regard 
to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential 
Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators. The objectives of the Prudential 
Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities 
are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in 
accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these 
objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits and, in 
particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  The table below shows the estimates of capital 
expenditure, and further detail can be found in the Capital Programme Report.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate *

£m £m £m £m £m
Capital 
Expenditure 69.959 89.754 113.401 69.582 21.446

* Based on Current Estimates however this is likely to increase should the Council 
receive additional Capital Grant funding.

2.2 Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue Contributions 6.988 3.289 2.733 3.546 1.750
Capital Fund and other Reserves 6.568 14.393 9.575 0.000 0.240
Government Grants and External Contributions 55.172 66.983 73.195 40.718 19.456
Capital receipts 1.231 5.089 21.103 19.318 0.000
Total Financing 69.959 89.754 106.606 63.582 21.446
Internal Borrowing 0.000 0.000 6.795 6.000 0.000
External Borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 0.000 6.795 6.000 0.000
Total Financing & Funding 69.959 89.754 113.401 69.582 21.446

Page 137



2

3. Capital Financing Requirement:

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for 
a capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the Balance 
Sheet relating to capital expenditure and its financing.  The CFR is forecast to fall over the next 
three years as maturing debt is repaid and additional volunary revenue contributions are made.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Capital Financing Requirement 317.593 308.842 306.701 302.960 293.235

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement:

4.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing 
will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that the net external borrowing does 
not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional increases to the capital financing requirement 
for the current and next two financial years. 

4.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this reduction is 
ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing requirement which is used 
for comparison with gross external debt.

4.3 The Strategic Finance Director reports that the Council is currently experiencing a short term 
issue whereby the level of external borrowing exceeds the Capital Financing Requirement. This is 
due to the current limitations in being able to repay external debt early and that the current policy 
whereby the capital programme is approved and largely fully funded without the need for 
additional borrowing. This doesn’t have any adverse impact on the Council’s revenue budget and 
overall financial position.  It is anticipated that this temporary position will be rectified in 2017-18 .  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals from the 
approved budget.

5. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

5.1 The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy and manages its treasury position 
in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a 
consequence of all the financial transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital 
spending reflected in the CFR. 

5.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not net 
of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing 
items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and 
long term liabilities.  This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term 
liabilities such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its 
proposals for capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury management policy 
statement and practices.  

5.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst case 
scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash movements. 

Page 138



3

5.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).  The Council’s Authorised Limit is 
shown below.

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 360.000 360.000 360.000 350.000

Authorised Limit for 
External Debt

5.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates of 
other cashflow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same estimates as the Authorised 
Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

5.6 The Strategic Finance Director has delegated authority, within the total limit for any individual 
year, to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial option appraisals and best value 
considerations.  Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Council.  The Council’s Operational Boundary is shown below.

6. Actual External Debt:

6.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 
actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 
consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit.

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet 
financing costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the Prudential Code.

7.2 The estimate for interest payments in 2016/17 is £17.5 million and for interest receipts is £2.8 
million.  The ratio of financing costs to the Council’s net revenue stream is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital expenditure 
by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs.  The ratio is 
based on costs net of investment income.

Page 139



4

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream 6.13% 6.26% 6.14% 5.82%

8. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

8.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on 
Council Tax.  The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue budget 
requirement of the current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of the 
revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed capital programme.

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 2.06 3.83 3.77

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

8.2 The Council’s capital plans, as estimated in forthcoming financial years, will have a minimal 
impact on Council Tax.  This reflects the fact that capital expenditure is predominantly financed 
from grants, contributions, capital receipts, and internal resources. 

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

9.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at its Council 
meeting on 24th February 2010*.  

*The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice (published November 2011) 
into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure:

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 
interest rates.  This Council calculates these limits on net principal outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed 
rate debt net of fixed rate investments).

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not exposed 
to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the 
use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on investments.

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made for drawing 
down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will ultimately be determined by 
expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury 
management strategy. 

Page 140



5

10.4 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on 
fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net principal 
borrowed will be:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Upper limit for Fixed Interest 
Rate exposure
Upper limit for Variable 
Interest Rate exposure

320 320 320 320

0 0 0 0

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against excessive 
exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten 
years.  

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period as 
a percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Page 141



6

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

12.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as a result 
of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 

Page 142



7

 
Gloucestershire
County Council
Risk Management 
Policy Statement & 
Strategy 

2017-2018

Page 143



1

Risk Management Policy Statement

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is 

one of the key principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key 

contributor to a sound internal control environment and the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 

effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed at 

acceptable levels. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and 

opportunities and striving to create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats 

effectively we will be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing 

our opportunities we will be in a better position to demonstrate improved services and better 

value for money. 

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and 

develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on 

our reputation, environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is 

about ensuring that we have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient 

protection from harm, without stifling our development. As an organisation, with a range of 

different stakeholders, each with differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge.  

We must ensure that the decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the 

potential implications for all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking 

our actions outweigh the risks.

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, 

in which risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively 

managed, rather than avoided. Risk management therefore needs to be taken into the heart 

of the Council and our key partners. We need to have the structures and processes in place 

to ensure the risks and opportunities of daily Council activities are identified, assessed and 

addressed in a standard way. We do not shy away from risk but instead seek to proactively 

manage it.  This will allow us not only to meet the needs of the community today, but also be 

prepared to meet future challenges.

Page 144



2

The Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team are fully committed to effective risk 

management and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to 

the communities within Gloucestershire. 

Page 145



3

Contents

Risk Management Strategy.......................................................................................................3
What are the real benefits of managing risk?............................................................................3
Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives .............................................................................4
What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? ........................................................................................5
How are our objectives going to be met?..................................................................................5
Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements) ....................6
Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities .............................................................................7
Risk Management Governance Structure ...............................................................................12

Page 146

file://svrshir07/RES_Shirehall$/AuditandRiskManagement/RiskManagement/Policies%20and%20Standards/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202016-2017%20v2-0.docx%23_Toc437424536


4

Risk Management Strategy
This strategy recognises that the next few years will present unprecedented 

challenges for the Council in delivering its services and corporate priorities. 

Risk Management is a central part of the Council’s strategic management. It is a cyclical 

process whereby the Council identifies, evaluates, monitors and controls potential 

opportunities and adverse effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of the 

organisation. It enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision-making, service 

planning and delivery, to safeguard the wellbeing of our customers and stakeholders. 

The Council should not be afraid of identifying a risk or feel that identifying a risk is a failure. 

Identification of a risk provides an opportunity for improvement and success!

What are the real benefits of managing risk?
Risk Management will strengthen the ability of the Council to achieve its 

corporate objectives and enhance the value of services provided by:

 Informing strategic and operational decision-making;

 Safeguarding all persons to whom the Council has a duty of care;

 Increasing our chances of success and reducing our chances of failure;

 Enhancing stakeholder value by minimising losses and maximising opportunities;

 Increasing knowledge and understanding of exposure to risk;

 Enabling not just backward looking review, but forward looking thinking;

 Contributing towards social value and sustainable development; 

 Reducing unexpected and costly surprises;

 Minimising our vulnerability to fraud and corruption;

 Freeing up management time from ‘fire-fighting’;

 Providing management with early warnings of problems;

 Ensuring minimal service disruption;

 Ensuring statutory compliance;

 Better targeting of resources i.e. focus scarce resources on high risk activity;

 Reducing the financial costs due to, e.g. service disruption, litigation, insurance 

premiums and claims, and bad investment decisions;

 Delivering creative and innovative projects; and

 Protecting our reputation.

Page 147



5

Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives

 Strategic approach to risk management to make better informed decisions which is 

vital to successful transformational change;

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept on our 

different service delivery activities and priorities. Understanding our ‘risk appetite’ and 

acknowledging that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on the context 

of corporate impact and sensitivity;

 Risk management enables us be more consistent in options appraisals and more 

flexible/agile in delivering change. Risk aversion can result in the bar being set much 

higher for commissioning a change compared with maintaining the status quo;

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things 

can go wrong. Where this happens we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from 

happening again;

 Developing leadership capacity and skills in having a clear understanding of the risks 

facing the Council and how we manage them;

 Risk management should be integral to how we run Council business/services. Risk 

management processes provide effective arrangements that identify and achieve 

successful local and national priority objectives;

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, 

including strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational. This includes 

setting risk ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, 

considering the level of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures;

 Ensure that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements 

in relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to 

Corporate Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement;

 Effective monitoring and Board intelligence on the key risks facing the Council; and

 Good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks. 

Page 148



6

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils 

down to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take.  The 

HM Treasury definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is 

prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do 

we need to determine our risk appetite?

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are 

legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that 

taking on additional risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At 

the other end of the scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that 

has a risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily 

encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit opportunities. 

A framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be more 

explicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite 

we are able to raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise 

standards, improve service quality, system reform and provide more value for money. 

This framework is considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery. 

How are our objectives going to be met?

The Council’s objectives will be achieved by:

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 

Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management 

Standard (ISO 31000 - 2009). The application of the standards and principles within it 

will be reviewed annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes;

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for 

risk management;

Page 149



7

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic 

management processes;

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, 

programme and project management, partnerships and procurement processes;

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and 

providing opportunities for shared learning; and

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review 

arrangements in place to manage risk. The framework will ensure that risk 

management is dynamic and responsive to change.

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management 
Activities (minimum requirements)

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register;

 A quarterly review of service area risk registers;

 A monthly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers;

 An annual review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 An annual report on risk management activity; and

 An annual review and report on the overall effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control by Internal Audit, which feeds into the Annual Governance Statement.

Page 150



8

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities

There needs to be clarity in terms of ‘who does what’ otherwise we will be 

exposed to risks being unmanaged, causing us damage or loss that we could 

otherwise influence, control or avoid. The key roles and responsibilities are 

outlined below:

Cabinet / Portfolio Holders
 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, 

and monitor implementation; 

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions;

 Monitor key performance results including the production of an annual report on 

strategic risk management activity; and

 Nominate a Lead Member Risk Management Champion to be responsible for the 

championing, scrutiny and oversight of the risk management activities.

Scrutiny

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively 

managed through discussions with Directors and Service Heads;

 Facilitate a risk management culture across the council;

 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and being proactive in raising risk from the 

wider Gloucestershire area and community; and

 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions.

Audit and Governance Committee

 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of 

the risk management arrangements and associated control environment; and

 Receive an annual report on risk management activity. 

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

Page 151



9

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the council;

 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and 

opportunities;

 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant 

risk information;

 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating 

to risk management;

 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of 

the wider council’s performance arrangements;

 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk 

assessment;

 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance 

programmes;

 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or 

failures of existing control measures; and

 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of 

risk management activities.

Directors
 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing 

an assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their 

service(s);

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 

managed by owning risk registers;

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance;

 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating 

to their areas of responsibility;

 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Portfolio Holders; 

and

 Nominate a Risk Champion to work alongside the Corporate Risk Management Team, 

who will be the key interface in supporting the application of risk management 

principles within their service.

Page 152



10

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads
 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in 

line with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their 

areas of responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions;

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance;

 Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing 

control measures;

 Promote and share good practice across service areas;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; and

 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended.

Managers
 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion;

 Identify training needs and report these to their service Risk Champion;

 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service 

Head; and

 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their 

Lead Commissioner or Service Head.

Staff/Other Stakeholders

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks effectively in their job and, 

report risks to their manager.

Corporate Risk Management Team

Strategic and Operational Risk

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk 

management framework, strategy and process on behalf of the council;

 Undertake an annual review of the council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy and 

update accordingly, presenting any revisions to COMT for approval;

Page 153



11

 Spread the ethos and, promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout 

the council;

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register;

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and partnership 

risk registers;

 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of 

risk management principles and, support the Risk Champions in delivering their role;

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the 

support of the Risk Champions;

 Ensure that all relevant staff and Members are adequately trained in risk management 

and risk assessment techniques;

 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly;

 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review 

national standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and

 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management.

Risk Financing and Insurance

 Lead on the development and implementation of the council’s insurance programme;

 Provide advice and guidance with regards to insurance requirements, indemnities and 

legal liabilities;

 Lead on claims management and investigation services for claims made against the 

council; and

 Provide an insurance programme to maintained schools, who buy-back the traded 

service.

Corporate Risk Management (virtual) Group

The virtual group is made up of senior officers within the following:

 Corporate Risk Management;

 Performance and Improvement;

 Information Management;

 Health and Safety;

 Civil Protection;

 Risk/Insurance Services;

 Commercial Services; 

Page 154



12

 Asset Management and Property Services, and

 Service area risk champions.

The key aims of the virtual group are to:

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 

corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service 

areas and that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to 

be taken by the Corporate Risk Management Team i.e. ‘top down – bottom up’ 

approach;

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy 

and Strategy;

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 Support the development of and advise on the adequacy of the service, programme, 

project and partnership risk registers;

 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers 

within their service area;

 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas;

 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the Corporate Risk Management 

Team;

 Maintain, on behalf of their services, risk registers that comply with corporate 

guidelines;

 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas; and

 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the 

council.

Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to:

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of 

the risk management and control processes operating within the council which feeds 

into the council’s Annual Governance Statement;

 Provide advice and guidance on risk and control; and

 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council.

Page 155



13

Risk Management Governance Structure

Corporate Risk 
Management Team

Corporate Risk 
Management (Virtual 

Group)

Performance 
and Improvement

Internal
Audit

Support Functions

County Council

Staff/Other Stakeholders

Cabinet/CoMT

Scrutiny Committees

Audit and Governance 
Committee

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project and Programme Boards

Cabinet
Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

Commissioning Board

Civil Protection Team

P
age 156



14

Audit Risk Assurance & Insurance Services
Shire Hall

Westgate Street
Gloucester

Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

December 2016
Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Meeting the Challenge 2: 

Together We Can 
 

Gloucestershire County Council’s   
Strategy 2015-2018 

 
(2017/18 update) 

 
January 2017 

 
 

 
  

Page 159



2 
 

Contents 

 
 

 Page 

1. Foreword 3 

2. Our Vision and Values 4 

3. Our Context 6 

4. Our Funding 7 

5. Our Approach and Your Response 9 

6. Active Individuals 11 

7. Active Communities 13 

8. Getting People Back to Independence 15 

9. Being There When We’re Needed Most 17 

10. Providing the Infrastructure for a Thriving Economy 20 

11. Getting Our Own House in Order 22 

 
  

Page 160



3 
 

1. Foreword by the Leader and the Chief Executive 
 
These are times of unprecedented change for Gloucestershire County Council and 
our partners.  We are facing considerable challenges at the same time as enormous 
opportunities.  The challenges take the form of rising demand for the services we 
provide to the most vulnerable children, adults and families at the same time as we 
face continued reductions to our funding.  The opportunities are about our 
relationships and the ways we can work together with local people and communities, 
with our partners and with Central Government to improve outcomes for local people 
and communities. 
 
Under our strategy - Meeting the Challenge: Together We Can - we have continued 
to deliver significant savings from the Council’s budget, ensuring we remain 
financially resilient and freeing up resources to respond to changing patterns of need 
and demand.  Although the need to make tough choices continues, this means we 
can continue to respond to those who are the most vulnerable and in the greatest 
need of our help and support.  For example, for the second year running, we will be 
investing additional resources into extra social workers to work with vulnerable 
children and their families.  We are also increasing the number of social workers who 
are able to respond to and help those with severe mental health problems. 
 
Alongside this, we are working ever more closely with our partners across the public 
sector and beyond to shape the future of health and social care, grow the local 
economy and develop the skills we need and to make public services as effective 
and  efficient as possible. 
 
This update of our strategy reflects the progress we have made and sets out our 
response to the new challenges and opportunities that are presenting themselves. 
 
 
 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne Peter Bungard 
Leader Chief Executive 

 
  

Page 161



4 
 

2. Our Vision and Values 
 
Our vision is to use the resources available to us to improve quality of life for 
Gloucestershire people and communities. 
 
Our plans are built on three clear values that have informed the direction we are 
taking and the decisions that we will make in implementing this strategy: 

 Living within our means 

 Doing the right thing 

 Helping communities help themselves 
 
 
Living within our means  
We can’t afford to spend money we haven’t got. This means we have to focus on our 
priorities in order to manage our budgets and reduce our borrowing.   
 
We will do that by: 

 Being as efficient as possible and saving money by joining up with partners to 
increase our buying power and reduce costs. 

 Making tough but necessary choices about the services we provide and about 
what we will and won’t do. 

 Implementing reductions to government grants locally – where government 
reduces funding for specific services, we will not be able to afford to subsidise 
those services locally. 

 Reducing our debt and the cost it places on our revenue finances. 
 
 
Doing the right thing 
We will spend our money where the need is greatest and where we know it will make 
the biggest difference.  We want to make sure local people get good outcomes from 
their services and we understand that it is the quality of the service that matters to 
local people, not who provides it.   
 
Our focus will be on: 

 Making a difference for the most vulnerable children, young people and 
adults. 

 Providing the infrastructure and services that keep the county moving and 
working. 

 Making decisions that take account of the long-term, as well as immediate 
challenges.  

 Finding the best, most efficient way of delivering services.  If someone else 
can do a better job or make the money go further, then we should make use 
of their skill and expertise.   

 Constantly looking for opportunities to increase efficiency and reduce costs. 
 

Page 162



5 
 

Helping communities help themselves 
The Council is at its most effective when it is helping people to live successful lives 
as independently as possible and helping communities to help themselves.  We 
believe giving power to local people gets better results and better value.   
 
We will: 

 Give individuals more say about the services and the support they receive. 

 Encourage communities to do more themselves and giving them tools for 
community action. 

 Recognise that some areas need more help than others and that, with a little 
support, they can get their ideas off the ground. 

 Work with communities and partners to build their capacity so that they can do 
more for themselves.  

Page 163



6 
 

3. Our Context  
 
For most people in Gloucestershire outcomes are good and, if you look at the county 
as a whole, we have high levels of educational attainment and employment, good 
health and a high quality of life.   
 
Nevertheless, we know that this is not everyone’s experience, and that for those in 
greatest need, outcomes are much poorer.  A significant number of people rely on 
the County Council and our partners to help to meet their needs and to live fulfilling 
lives.  The number of vulnerable people is growing, creating more demand on 
Council services.  This is because: 

 The population is growing and people are living longer – The number of 
people in Gloucestershire aged over 85 whose  day to day activities are 
limited a lot by long term illness and disability is predicted to rise by over a 
quarter by 2021. 

 Medical advances – Children who are born with a disability are more likely to 
survive into adulthood and people can live much longer with a serious 
disability.   

 Changes to community and family life – Families are more likely to live further 
away from each other than in previous generations.  That makes it more 
difficult to care, for example, for an elderly parent who is beginning to 
struggle. 

 Changing public expectations – The growth of the internet and social media 
mean that public services are much more visible to local people.  The publicity 
surrounding a single incident somewhere in the country can increase demand 
for our services overnight.  This is particularly true of those services that are 
concerned with keeping vulnerable children or adults safe. 

 Despite its overall affluence, we have areas of Gloucestershire amongst the 
most deprived 10% in the country. 

 
While much of this change is positive, it means that the circumstances in which our 
services were designed have changed radically.  If we carry on trying to respond in 
the same ways, those services will become overwhelmed, cost more than we can 
afford, and give increasingly poor results for the people that rely on them. 
 
Instead, we need a response that is suited to today’s opportunities and challenges – 
one that fits with the way people live their lives, builds on the strengths of our 
communities and focuses the Council’s resources where they can be most effective. 
 

 
  

Page 164



7 
 

4. Our Funding 
 
Currently, funding for Council services comes from two main sources: grant funding 
from Central Government and Council Tax from local residents.  Based on 
announcements about public sector spending as a whole, we know that this funding 
will continue to reduce over the coming years. We also know that we will face 
unavoidable cost increases, increased demand for council services and other service 
pressures.   
 
However, over the same period, changes to the way that councils are funded will 
give us more autonomy, more control over our income and more incentives to grow 
the local economy. 
 
We remain committed to keeping Council Tax low and relentlessly pursuing every 
opportunity to reduce costs, improve the efficiency of all of our services and focus on 
the things that make the most difference for local people.  We are also making 
targeted strategic investments to transform services that work with the most 
vulnerable people and families.   
 
In line with national trends, we are seeing higher levels of demand for services for 
vulnerable people - children, families and adults.  The past year has seen an 
increase in the number of referrals to safeguarding services, an increase in the 
number of children who need our support and ultimately an increase in the number 
of children coming into our care.  There is a growing number of people living with 
long term conditions, such as dementia, and that increases the need for us to 
provide support. 
 
As the diagram below shows, services for children and families and vulnerable adults 
together make up well over half of the Council’s budget.  For this reason, we cannot 
afford to exclude them from the need to make savings, but at the same time we are 
making targeted, strategic investments in key areas such as Children’s 
Safeguarding, support for Children in Care and Adults with Mental Health Problems.  
 
In recognition of these national pressures, the Government continues to offer us the 
opportunity to raise an additional levy on Council Tax to fund the growing cost of 
social care.  For 2017, the Council has chosen to maintain the levy at 2%, which 
raises an additional £4.99 million for Adult Social Care services.  We believe that by 
doing this at the same time as focussing relentlessly on outcomes, we can improve 
the way we support the most vulnerable people. 
 
 

£147.6 million 

£21.7 million 

Page 165



8 
 

 
 
 

£100.9m 

£88.1m 

£25.5m 

£25.8m 

£52.2.m 

Page 166



9 
 

5. Our Approach and Your Response 
 
Faced with the need to continue to make the money we receive go further, we are, of 
course exploring every opportunity available to us.  We will continue to focus on 
“getting our own house in order” - delivering services as efficiently as possible in 
order to minimise the impact of savings on our service users.  However, we believe 
that efficiency alone is not enough, and along with other councils up and down the 
country, we need to make a fundamental shift in the way we deliver services to adapt 
them to today’s challenges and opportunities. 
 
We have a 4-stage approach that describes how the Council works with individuals, 
families and communities to make sure that we are able to be there for the most 
vulnerable people when they most need our help. 
 

 
 

Active Individuals 

 Helping people to make the right life choices like being active and healthy 

 Signposting people to what they need within their own communities  
 

Active Communities 

 Investing in community capacity and building on existing support 

 Providing support for people to do more for themselves, their families and 
their communities 
 

Getting people back to independence 

 Providing intensive support for a quick recovery following an accident, illness, 
injury or crisis 

 Effective short-term interventions that let families help themselves 
 

Being there when we’re needed most:   

 Providing specialist support for those who really need our help 

 Targeting long-term care on people with complex needs 

Page 167



10 
 

We recognise that this approach has implications for Council partners, local 
communities and service users.  In particular, we are working jointly with the 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) to ensure that our strategies 
align and a number of the objectives within this strategy are shared objectives that 
are also reflected in GCCG’s draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan. 
 
We know that we can’t deliver this strategy alone.  For that reason, before finalising 
this strategy we undertook an extensive engagement and consultation exercise 
involving over 2,700 local people through roadshows, community and staff 
workshops and an online questionnaire. 
 
The results showed clear and consistent support for our proposed approach, and a 
willingness to work with us to make it happen.  The results also helped us to identify 
those areas where we need to refine or develop our proposals.  In particular, people 
gave us the following messages: 

 When reviewing those buildings and areas of land that the Council no longer 
needs, we should consider all options for their future use including transferring 
them to community ownership and using them to generate income, as well as 
selling them in order to pay off debt. 

 While people overwhelmingly support a move to provide more Council 
services and information online, we do need to keep opportunities for face-to-
face or telephone contact for those people who do not have internet access 
and for those instances when personal contact is important. 

 Individuals and communities are willing to take on a bigger role in helping 
people to stay independent longer, but the Council has an important role to 
play in acting as a catalyst and making it easier for people and groups to take 
on new roles. 

 The Council needs to give communities time and practical help to step 
forward in areas where we are stepping back. 

 
All of the feedback received has helped us to develop this strategy further and to 
ensure that we are meeting our responsibility under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
to pay due regard to the needs of those groups whose characteristics are protected 
under the duty1.   
 
The following chapters describe how we are applying this approach and what it 
means for communities, services and service users. 

  

                                            
1
 Full details of the consultation are available online at 

http://togetherwecan.gloucestershire.gov.uk/repository/documents/MTC2_Phase_1_Consultation_Re
port.pdf and a Due Regard Statement is available alongside the Cabinet Report 
 

Page 168

http://togetherwecan.gloucestershire.gov.uk/repository/documents/MTC2_Phase_1_Consultation_Report.pdf
http://togetherwecan.gloucestershire.gov.uk/repository/documents/MTC2_Phase_1_Consultation_Report.pdf


11 
 

6. Active Individuals 
 
Everyone can take steps to reduce the chances that they will need to rely on council 
support in future.  By making healthy lifestyle choices, keeping active and planning 
for the future, people are less likely to end up needing our care and help. 
 
The County Council can help people to stay active by providing access to 
information advice and support that can help them make the best choices for 
themselves and their families.  When people have to deal with a crisis in their lives or 
need to make changes in order to remain independent, we will make sure they can 
access the advice they need. 
 
Our evidence suggests that more people would prefer to use the Council’s websites 
to access information, find out about a service or report an issue than are currently 
able to do so.  When people want to do things like report a pothole or a broken 
streetlamp, find equipment to help them live independently or follow up a request for 
a service, it makes sense for the public and the Council if information can be easily 
accessed online. 
 
We know that not everyone has internet access, and some people will still want to 
deal with a real person, so we won’t phase out other ways of getting in touch entirely.  
By making more services available online, not only will we make it more convenient 
for those who prefer to access services via the internet, but we will also be able to 
save the Council money and free up phone lines for those who need them. 
 
Since launching this strategy in April 2015, we have: 
 

 Upgraded our People’s Network PCs, making it easier for people to get online 
who don’t have internet access at home. 

 Introduced free Wi-fi to all our libraries. 

 Made improvements to specific areas of the Council’s website to make it 
easier to access services online.  This has included making it easier to book 
vans into our Household Recycling Centres, apply for school places and find 
out about Adult Education courses online.   

 Launched a new mobile application to help people with a Learning Disability 
into employment. 

 Mapped the county to identify all those places where members of the public 
can access the internet securely and safely and targeted training on those 
areas of the county with the lowest levels of internet use.  

Over the next year, we will: 

 Continue to increase the range of services available over the Council’s 
website and via social media whilst preserving other channels for those that 
cannot access services via the internet.   

Page 169



12 
 

 Review all of the information, advice and guidance services that the Council 
commissions to make sure that they represent the best value for money and 
help to signpost people to appropriate sources of help. 

 Continue to review Council buildings to provide more joined up access to 
advice, information and services and create opportunities to rationalise 
properties. 

 Continue to build on the Council’s strong track record of helping people with 
disabilities into paid employment and suitable accommodation.  

 Continue to work with public and community transport providers, where 
necessary, helping them provide transport to essential services for vulnerable 
and isolated people at a price taxpayers can afford. 

 Continue to review and refocus all the Council’s public health contracts to 
focus on those which do most to improve the health of our local population 
and reduce dependence on social care in the long-term. 

 Continue to improve signposting of services for vulnerable people and their 
carers, making sure that people have access to good quality information and 
advice. 

 
We will measure success by: 

 An increase in the number of people who access services on the Council’s 
website. 

 A reduction in the costs associated with contacting the Council. 
 

 An increase in the number of people with learning disabilities who are in 
sustained employment. 

  

Page 170



13 
 

7. Active Communities 
 
With the help of family, friends and neighbours, most people manage without the 
council’s support.  Thousands of people across the county provide formal or informal 
care and without that support, the council would be completely unable to meet the 
demand for its services.  Nevertheless, with an ageing population, the number of 
people who need help from the council is growing. 
 
We believe that, working closely with colleagues from the NHS, we can help 
communities to identify those individuals who are at risk of becoming more 
vulnerable in future, then help those individuals to find support within their own 
communities that helps them remain as independent as possible. 
 
We also know that, an unexpected change, crisis or emergency can lead to people 
or families struggling to cope with the everyday demands of life.  When this happens, 
we want them to be able to find help, support and advice within their own 
communities. 
 
We know some communities are better able to respond in this way than others, and 
that the Council has an important role to play in supporting community capacity 
building, promoting volunteering and helping community groups.  We want to to be 
as flexible and adaptable as possible to local need, working in partnership with 
parish councils and other community organisations at a local level. 
 
Since launching this strategy, we have: 
 

 Providing over 300 grants to help people and communities to be active. 

 Provided 60 grants for activities for children and young people. 

 Agreed an ‘Active Communities’ policy with partners to make sure that we 
work together to harness the energy of local communities to help themselves 
and provide support for people at risk of becoming lonely or isolated. 

 Agreed a new Integrated Risk Management Plan for our Fire and Rescue 
service, focussed on working with communities to prevent emergencies and 
keep vulnerable people safe. 

 Launched a pilot scheme through the Fire and Rescue service where fire 
safety volunteers can offer fire safety assessments in people’s homes. 

 Carried out £925k worth of repairs and improvements to local roads through 
228 Highways schemes promoted and prioritised by local members, with 
more planned for completion before the end of the financial year. 

 Worked with local schools to make sure there are enough places for a 
growing population of children and young people. 

 

 

Page 171



14 
 

Over the next year, we will: 
 

 Continue to encourage and help GPs and other professionals to signpost to 
sources of help within communities. 

 Continue to pursue and develop strategies for working with individuals, 
communities and partners others to relieve the demand on social care 
services by helping people make the most of other support available to them. 

 Work jointly with schools, Health, police and other partners to offer flexible, 
comprehensive, community-based support that targets prevention on those 
children and families who need it most. 

 Continue to focus the Fire & Rescue Service on prevention, making our 
priority preventing emergencies before they happen, helping reduce fires and 
accidents and making more use of retained and community fire-fighters where 
possible to build community resilience. 

 Work jointly with health partners on asset based community models, led by 
service-users, that build their capacity and give a strong voice to their 
members. 

 Expand existing children’s centres childcare facilities to meet government 
proposals to increase the nursery education entitlement to 30 hours a week 
for 3 and 4 years olds of working parents. 

 Launch our targeted family support service operating from Children’s Centres, 
providing preventative help  focussed on those areas where children and 
families most need our support.  

 Continue to reshape support to vulnerable adults utilising community based 
support wherever possible. 
 

We will measure success by: 

 Evaluating the impact of locally delegated budgets  

 The number of community projects supported 

Page 172



15 
 

8. Getting People Back to Independence 
 
When people need our help, following an accident, emergency hospital admission or 
other crisis in their lives, our focus will be on giving them support to help them back 
to independence. 
 
We already provide reablement to people following a stay in hospital, and do 
extremely well compared to other areas in getting people out of hospital quickly, 
once they are ready.  However, we think we could do more to target the service on 
those most likely to benefit and to focus reablement on helping people to regain their 
skills, confidence and independence.  We also want to continue to increase our use 
of Telecare technology to help people to look after themselves safely. 
 
In the case of Children and Families, our focus will be on help that makes a lasting 
difference.  Families can get caught up in referral and assessment processes when 
what they really need is quick access to help and support.    
 
We want to keep families together within the community wherever possible, 
preventing family breakdown by providing more effective early support.  At the same 
time we want to take more decisive action to improve outcomes for those children 
who are at risk.   
 
Across our work with children and families, we are focussing strongly on the quality 
of the services we provide and the interventions we make.  We encourage everyone 
involved in the lives of children and families to take responsibility for developing 
solutions together.  This is helping to build a strong ethos and culture at all levels 
from the families themselves, to front-line workers and senior management.   
 
Since launching this strategy, we have: 
 

 Continued to work closely with local hospitals to make sure that people are 
discharged as quickly as possible once their medical treatment is finished and 
they are ready to return home or move into another care setting. 

 Put in place new Domiciliary Care services that focus on improving people’s 
outcomes and, whenever possible, increasing their levels of independence. 

 Replaced Statements of Special Educational Need with new Education, 
Health and Care plans based on a more rounded view of a child’s needs. 

 

 Introduced a completely new approach to helping vulnerable children and 
young people get to school, college or training to make sure that access to 
education is considered as part of the wider needs of the young person and 
their family and our support is targeted where it is most needed. 

 Won an award from the Municipal Journal in recognition of the joint work 
between service users and our Disability Team in reviewing the quality of 
service provision. 

 
 
 

Page 173



16 
 

 
Over the next year, we will: 
 

 Extend the provision and speed up the delivery of Telecare technology to 
promote independence and personal safety. 

 Reshape reablement to improve performance and provide a stronger focus on 
helping people back to independence. 

 Continue to work with schools, health and other partners to establish a clear, 
comprehensive early help offer for children and families. 

 Continue to ensure that social workers can focus more on intervention and 

less on assessment, providing specialist support for those who really need our 

help. 

 Complete the roll-out of our new Domiciliary Care contracts. 

 Wherever possible, continue to move investment away from lengthy 

placements and into programmes that are proven to help turn children’s and 

families’ lives around. 

 Work with our partners in the criminal justice sector to join up public protection 
and safeguarding practice in order to tackle child sexual exploitation, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence. 

 Reduce youth offending and improve services for our care leavers 

 Work with commissioners and providers across the whole health and social 

care system to deliver joined up care and contain the costs associated with a 

rapidly ageing population. 

 Review all mental health contracts to ensure the right balance between 

community-based support, short term support and longer term care. 

 Continue to review and where necessary, recommission public health 

contracts while ensuring that the remaining investment supports the Council’s 

priorities within the strategic approach we have agreed with partners. 

We will measure success by: 

 An increase in the number of people remaining at home following Reablement 

 A reduction in the number of children coming into Children’s Safeguarding 
Services more than once   

Page 174



17 
 

9. Being There When We’re Needed Most 
 
We want to be there for those who need us the most, even if that means making 
difficult decisions about what we can’t afford to do. 
 
We believe we can improve the way we provide long-term care to vulnerable people 
and those with physical and learning disabilities.  Gloucestershire supports more 
people in nursing care than similar authorities.  This reduces their independence and 
separates them from their friends, families and communities. It also often costs more 
than the alternatives.  We are reducing the number of people we admit to nursing 
care, not only because it makes financial sense, but also because it is the right thing 
to do for the individuals concerned.  We want to focus on providing community-
based care that works alongside the support people get from their families and 
neighbours. 
 
We also want to increase the choice people have over the care they receive.  We are 
doing well in providing service users with personal budgets, but do not currently 
make as much use as we can of direct payments – putting people’s budgets directly 
in their control.  
 
We will continue to champion the needs of children across the Education system, 
working in partnership with schools to achieve good standards and to make sure 
Gloucestershire children get the start in life that they deserve.   
 
We recognise that some families need specific help from us.  The number of children 
in care has continued to rise nationally and locally, making it increasingly difficult to 
find suitable placements for vulnerable children when they are needed.   While we 
will continue to work hard to try to reduce the number of children who need to come 
into care, we are also investing in new ways of working with those children and 
young people with the most complex needs.  Our aim is to make sure that every 
child who needs it has access to a placement that addresses all their needs, 
provides stability and security, and works with them to improve their outcomes in a 
timely way. 
 
Since launching this strategy, we have: 
 

 Maintained a focus on performance and quality in the face of increased 

demand for both adult and children’s services. 

 Reduced high levels of admissions to residential and nursing care, bringing us 

closer in line with similar areas. 

 Recruited more social workers so that they have smaller caseloads and can 

provide better support. 

 Secured £1.5m through the Department of Education’s Innovations 

Programme to develop different ways of working with vulnerable young 

people to improve their outcomes and reduce risk. 

Page 175



18 
 

 Implemented a transformation plan for Children’s mental health with the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners and piloted a schools-based 
approach to improving children’s mental health.  
 

 Strengthened the line management of adult social care teams to ensure a 
strong focus on achieving the best possible outcomes with our resources. 
 

 Renegotiated some of biggest contracts with social care providers to ensure 
that we continue to secure the best possible value for money for our most 
vulnerable service users. 
 

 Created a specialist team to purchase all placements to ensure that the 
Council gets the best possible value for money. 

 

 Rolled out Electronic Call Monitoring to providers of Domiciliary Care for 
people with disabilities and older people to make sure that service users get 
the support they need, to provide extra reassurance to families and to help 
with the accurate processing of payments. 

 
Over the next year, we will: 
 

 Invest significant additional resources into Children’s social care in order to 

achieve better outcomes for children and ensure quality remains high in the 

face of increased demand. 

 Develop an Intensive Support & Intervention Service to support and improve 
outcomes for children coming into care with the most complex needs.  

 Invest in additional social workers to help those with significant mental health 
problems. 

 Continue to make more use of community-based care and rely less on 
residential and nursing care in order to bring us broadly into line with similar 
areas. 

 Standardise the way we purchase and provide transport for vulnerable adults 
in order to get the best possible deal for the Council. 

 Fully integrate services for children and adults with disabilities into a single, 
all-age, all-disability approach. 

 Develop the capacity and capability of providers to care for and address the 
needs of adults, children and young people with challenging behaviour. 

 Simplify the administration of direct payments across personal social care and 
health budgets. 

 
 

 

Page 176



19 
 

We will measure success by: 

 The number of people helped to become more independent 

 The number of older people and vulnerable adults receiving ongoing support 
through domiciliary, residential and nursing care 

 The number of children in care 

 Feedback from service users about the quality of the care they receive 

 An increase in the use of direct payments 

 

  

Page 177



20 
 

10. Providing the Infrastructure for a Thriving Economy 
 
Jobs, business and growth are crucial to the wellbeing of Gloucestershire people.  
As a council we will continue to work hard to support Gloucestershire businesses 
and employers. 
 
We have a particular responsibility, working with partners in both the private and the 
public sector for creating the infrastructure and environment for a thriving economy.  
This includes maintaining safe, functioning roads, disposing of the county’s rubbish, 
promoting economic development and growth, helping people to develop the skills 
for a thriving economy and securing investment in critical infrastructure. 
 
It is important that Gloucestershire continues to be in a strong position to compete in 
the national and international economy.  That means making sure we have an 
infrastructure that works and is attractive to potential investors, and that we have 
good plans ready to attract grant funding from central government and that we can 
provide a workforce with the skills are needed. 
 
Since launching this strategy, we have: 
 

 Continued to roll out superfast fibre broadband to nearly 90% of local homes 
and secured a further £2m of funding from Government for the next phase. 

 Won Large Project of the Year award at the Institute of Highway Engineers 
West Mercia Awards for our work on improvements to the ‘Cheltenham and 
Gloucester’ and ‘Walls’ roundabouts. 

 Continued to invest at least £2.1m a year in flood alleviation measures. 

 Achieved full planning permission and agreed to project manage the 
Cinderford Northern Quarter road. 
 

 Started work on the Elmbridge roundabout project with work scheduled to be 
completed by Autumn 2017. 
 

 Attracted over £4m in Government funding and negotiated a deal with the 
Police and Crime and Commissioner that will unlock the regeneration of the 
Blackfriars area of Gloucester City Centre and the refurbishment of Shire Hall. 

 Begun to introduce LED street lighting across the County, which will reduce 
the Council’s carbon footprint and save £22m over the next 12 years. 

 Continued to cash-protect the county’s roads whilst saving money through the 
efficiencies and opportunities offered by our new Highways contract 

 
  

Page 178



21 
 

Over the next year, we will: 
 

 Continue to work with our partners, including GFirst (Gloucestershire’s Local 
Economic Partnership), to accelerate economic growth and improve 
productivity. 

 Support GFirst to deliver the Strategic Economic Plan  

 Seek devolved powers over national funding streams for training, skills and 
apprenticeships in order to target resources more effectively, tackle 
worklessness and support vulnerable young people into employment by 
helping them to develop the skills that local employers need and value. 

 Continue the roll out of next generation broadband across County with the aim 
that everyone in Gloucestershire will have access to the broadband services 
they need. 

 Deliver further transport improvements across Gloucestershire, funded via the 

Government’s Growth Deal process. 

 Continue to work with District Councils to reduce and reuse waste, improve 
recycling rates and stop waste going to landfill  

 Use the money available to ensure investment in highways is spent where it’s 
most needed and that we maintain a safe and functioning road network  

 Maximise resources secured through the planning system for investment in 
critical infrastructure, such as highways and schools.  

 Use land the Council owns to create opportunities for economic growth and 
employment. 

 
We will measure success by: 

 The amount of external funding secured to support the County’s 
infrastructure. 

 Coverage of next generation access broadband. 

 A reduction in the rate of residual household waste.  

 The number of apprenticeships created. 

Page 179



22 
 

11. Getting our Own House in Order 
 
We want Gloucestershire County Council to continue to be a well run council that is 
transparent, accountable and focussed on what matters to local people at the same 
time as keeping our running costs to a minimum.   
 
Over the past six years, we have done exactly that, making significant savings.  We 
will do the same in the coming year.  Our support services are increasingly focussed 
on helping to transform the way the Council works and its services, managing areas 
of highest risk and driving change on the front-line. 
 
Since launching this strategy, we have: 
 

 Delivered almost £42m in savings 

 Rolled out new ICT through the Worksmart programme to support flexible 
working across the Council’s workforce and provide opportunities to reduce 
the amount of office space needed. 

 Continued to generate revenue savings through the sale of Council property 
that is no longer needed. 

 Established a new partnership with Gloucester City Council to share services. 

 
We will: 

 Continue to develop our workforce to respond to the changing needs and 
challenges faced by the Council and the people it serves. 

 Continue to use money from the sale of redundant Council buildings and land 
to repay debt and free up money for frontline services. 

 Continue to reduce the council’s running costs and the cost of support 
services. 

 Aim to increase the amount of income the Council generates in order to keep 
it broadly in line with similar councils. 

 Continue to offer traded services to schools and other partners where that can 
help to generate efficiencies of scale, make services more sustainable or 
create mutual benefit. 

 Continue to reduce the county’s carbon footprint and take opportunities to 
generate of renewable energy from the Council’s land. 
 

 Be ready to seek greater devolved powers for the Council and its partners in 
order to join up local public services, improve efficiency and deliver savings 
for local people. 

 
 

Page 180



23 
 

We will measure success by: 

 The proportion of the budget spent on ‘non-frontline’ services 

 The amount of revenue saved through debt redemption 

 A reduction in the Council’s Carbon emissions 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2017-18 Budget Consultation 

 

Findings and Report 

 

20th January 2017 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 183



2 

 

Contents 
 

 

                   Page 

1. Executive Summary of Public Consultation 

1.1 Background............................................................................................................3 

1.2 Key Findings..........................................................................................................3 

 

 

2. Findings from the Public Consultation on the 2016/17 Budget  

2.1    Survey Method....................................................................................................4 

2.2.1 Council Priorities.................................................................................................5 
2.2.2 Council Budget...................................................................................................7 

2.2.3 Comments ……………………………………………………………………………8 
 

3. Consultation with Trade Unions...........................................................................11 

 

4. Schools Forum consultation.................................................................................15 

 

 

Appendix A            

Data tables of survey respondents  

 

Appendix B           

Online and Paper Questionnaire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



3 

 

1. Executive Summary of Public Consultation 

 
1.1 Background 
 

The proposed budget which stakeholders have been asked to comment on through 

the budget consultation totals £397.13m which includes investment of £24m and a 

requirement for £35.34m savings, many of which are based on the final year of the 

Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can programme (MTC2). The budget 

includes proposals for more money to invest in social workers and support for 

children in care including intensive recovery and intervention, investments in 

employment and transitions for people with learning disabilities, more mental health 

professionals, and prioritising the county's roads. 

 

This budget also proposes a 1.99 per cent council tax increase and an adult social 

care levy of 2 per cent on top. 

 

Consultation on the 2017-18 draft budget took place between the 19th December 

2016 and 19th January 2017. The consultation comprised of a self selecting online 

survey which was also available in hard copy at all local libraries. Consultation also 

took place with stakeholder organisations, councillors, and trade unions. The 

minutes of the discussion with Trade Unions and Schools Forum appear further in 

this report.  

 
As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social 
media communications campaign, including paid for Facebook advertising to target  
hard to reach groups.  
 
The consultation outlined our budget proposals and sought feedback on the council’s 
priorities. Stakeholders were also encouraged to give us their general feedback on 
our draft budget through a link to the full Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

This report outlines the key findings from the consultation. 
 
1.2 Key Findings  
 
 There was strong endorsement that the council should continue to focus on the 

priorities outlined in the council’s strategy.                 

 79% generally agree with our budget proposals including the  1.99% increase in 
council tax and 2%  national adult social care levy, with the majority of those 
(59%) either strongly agreeing or agreeing 

 

 Overall the comments received supported the council’s proposals to raise 

council tax particularly in order to invest in services for people who need them 

most. The main comments arising from the feedback were: 

Page 185



4 

 

 
 Support for the most vulnerable: including services for the elderly, children and 

those with mental health issues  

 Invest more to improving Gloucestershire's roads and infrastructure  

 Agree with budget proposals including the  increase to council tax and 

inclusion of national adult social care levy to support the elderly and most 

vulnerable  

  Agree with council priorities  

 

 Additional areas highlighted for more investment included health and social care, 
people with disabilities, schools, children and families and preventative services.  
 

 There was a strong feeling that we should continue to challenge ourselves to 
ensure we are delivering the best value for money 

 
 

2. Findings from the Public Consultation on the 2017-18  Budget  

 
2.1 Survey Method 
 
An online survey was launched and promoted to all key stakeholders, including 
District and Town and Parish councils, the LEP, the voluntary and community sector, 
Health, service users and Gloucestershire residents. 
 
Paper surveys were also available to the public through local libraries and media 
coverage was achieved through press releases and a strong social media campaign. 
This included Facebook advertising over a two week period to target hard to reach 
groups and resulted in us reaching 41,615 Gloucestershire residents and over 783 
click throughs to the online survey (not all click throughs resulted in completed 
surveys).  
 

The consultation was promoted through the People’s Panel who fully represent the 

geographical distribution of the population of Gloucestershire as well as the age, 

gender and ethnic diversity of the county.  

 

In total, 1030 responses to the public consultation survey were received. This was a 

9% increase in responses from 2016. 

 

We received a good mix of respondents from a cross section of the community. 

 

Profile questions on gender, age, ethnicity, disability and sexual orientation were 

also included in the survey and the responses have been analysed to ensure that the 

equality objectives of the council have been adhered to. 

 

A copy of the online/paper questionnaire has been included in Appendix B. 

Page 186



5 

 

 

 

 

2.2.1 Council Priorities 

 

Supporting the most vulnerable 

 

Question 1 asked respondents how important it is, compared with last year, to focus 
our  budget on ‘supporting the most vulnerable’  
 
1029 people responded to this question. 93% feel that supporting the most 
vulnerable is more important or of equal importance. 
 

 
 

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by ethnicity. 
 
Respondents from the BME community felt that this priority was less important than 
those from the White community.   
 

Ethnicity More Important Of equal 
importance 

Less Important 

White 39%  56%  6%  

BME 50%  32%  18%  
 

Page 187



6 

 

 

Working with communities families and individuals to help them to do more for 
themselves 
 
Question 2 asked respondents how important it is, compared with last year, to focus 
our  budget on ‘Working with communities families and individuals to help them to do 
more for themselves’  
 
 
1026 people responded to this question. 88% feel that working with communities 
families and individuals to help them to do more for themselves is more important or 
of equal importance. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
There was no variation in responses between the protected characteristic groups. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



7 

 

 
 
Reducing our running costs to get the best out of our assets  
 
Question 3 asked respondents how important it is, compared with last year, to focus 
our  budget on ‘Reducing our running costs to get the best out of our assets’ 
 
1025 people responded to this question. 81% feel that reducing our running costs to 
get the best out of our assets is more important or of equal importance. 
 

 
 
There was no variation in responses between the protected characteristic groups. 
 
 
 
 
2.2.2 Council Budget 

 
Question 4 asked respondents to indicate the extent to which they agreed with the 

council’s proposed budget. They were given information about the key areas to raise 

additional income to support the most vulnerable through a rise in council tax of 

1.99% and an additional 2% levy to support vulnerable adults. They were also given 

information about proposed investment and were provided with a proposed budget 

breakdown.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



8 

 

 

79% generally agreed with our budget proposals, with the majority of those (59%) 
either strongly agreeing or agreeing. 
 

. 

 
There was no variation in responses between the protected characteristic groups. 
 

2.2.3   Comments 
 

Respondents were also asked whether they had any comments to make about the 

proposed budget for 2017/18. 

 

819  comments were received. Overall the comments received supported the 
council’s proposals to raise council tax particularly in order to invest in services for 
people who need them most.  
 
Some disagreed with any rise in council tax and in particular noted the difficulties 

that some sections of the community would face in paying any increase.  

 

 

 

 

Page 190



9 

 

The most common themes were: 

 

 Support for the most vulnerable: including services for the elderly, children and 

those with mental health issues (112 comments) 

 

 Invest more to improving Gloucestershire's roads and infrastructure  

(111 comments) 

 Agree with budget proposals including the  increase to council tax and 

inclusion of national adult social care levy to support the elderly and most 

vulnerable (88 comments) 

 

  Agree with council priorities (64 comments) 

 

 

Additional areas highlighted by respondents for more investment included health and 
social care, services for people with disabilities, schools, children and families and 
preventative services. There was also a strong feeling that we should continue to 
challenge ourselves to ensure we are delivering the best value for money, through 
areas such as contract management and efficiencies within our support/core 
services. Objections to austerity also featured as one of the recurring themes.  
 
Table 1 below indicates those themes raised by seven or more people during the 
consultation  
 
Table 1 
 

The most common themes were: 
 

1. Support for the most vulnerable: including services for the elderly and children and 
those with mental health (112 comments) 

2. Invest in our infrastructure, in particular our roads (111 comments) 

3. Agree with budget proposals including the increase to council tax and inclusion of 
national adult social care levy to support the elderly and most vulnerable (88 
comments) 

4 Agree with priorities (64 comments) 

5. Cannot afford/objections  to paying  more council tax (63 comments) 

 
 
 
Themes raised by seven or more people 
 

6. Objections to austerity  (47 comments) 

7. Unable to make a judgement as don’t understand the bigger picture (43 comments) 

Page 191



10 

 

8. More money on health & social care (32 comments) 

9. Did you get the best resources/value for money from the budget  (23 comments) 

10. Reduce spending on business support (17 comments) 

11. More money to support people with disabilities including learning disabilities in the 

community (15 comments) 

 
12. More money for schools (15 comments) 

13. Support people in the community to help themselves more (14 comments) 

14. Would be prepared for a bigger increase in council tax (12 comments) 

15. Too much is invested nationally on supporting “vulnerable adults” (10 comments) 

16. Improve  partnership working (10 comments) 

17. More money to children & families including developing social activities for young 

children  (10 comments ) 

18. Maintain libraries as their role is multi faceted (8 comments) 

19. Focus our budget more on the areas that need it the most (7 comments) 

20. Money wasted by poor management of contracts (7 comments) 

21. Money wasted by people cheating  the system (7 comments) 

22. Reduce spending on care/ Adult services  (7 comments) 

23. Too much spend on pension deficit (7 comments) 

24. Early Prevention (7 comments) 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 192



11 

 

3. Trade Unions and Professional Associations - Budget 

Consultation 2017/18 

This meeting took place on Tuesday, 17 January 2017, when the following people 
attended: 
 
Jayne Jackson  UNISON 
John Abbott  UNISON 
Andrew Steward ATL 
John Pemberthy NUT 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of Gloucestershire County Council 
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Resources 
Officers in support: Jo Walker, Director, Strategic Finance; Bridget Taylor, Interim 
Head of HR; Nick Lerry, Employer Relations Manager; Amy Davies, Senior 
Consultation Officer. 
 
Union representatives attended a pre-meeting with officers at which Jo Walker 
provided an overview of the budget proposals. There was also the opportunity to 
discuss any particular aspects of the proposals and to ask any questions on 
technical detail.   
 
By way of context, Jo Walker outlined that there was a significant reduction in 
funding from government (cash equivalent in excess of £11.5m) combined with the 
additional cost pressures e.g. 
 

 Pressures in children’s social care (e.g. increased children in care numbers in 

line with national trends) 

 Demand for adult social care e.g. increase in older people (85+) 

 Costs associated with people with disabilities between childrens and adults 

In summary the budget totals £397.13m, including investment of £24m to cover cost 
pressures and a requirement for £35.34m savings, many of which are based on the 
final year of the Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can programme (MTC2).  
 
Among other things MTC2 has focussed on the promotion of demand management 
through initiatives such as ‘active individuals’ and ‘active communities’. 
 
There are ongoing issues and challenges to address around improving how we 
manage demand. A good example of this is the Intensive Intervention Service (IIS) in 
Children’s Services within the draft budget, which ensures a more effective ‘wrap 
around’ of health and social care services, including the co-location of services (a 
similar approach has been introduced to good effect in North Yorkshire). This might 
therefore be seen as a good example of investing to manage demand.   
 
In response to a query about whether ISS would be supported by additional grant 
funding, the subsequent reply was that the council is hoping that the Clinical 
Commissioning Group will become a partner for the project and there is £300k 
external capital grant.  

Page 193



12 

 

It was also noted that accepting the social care precept would enable additional 
funding to be raised through council tax to support adult social care services, 
including costs of implementing the national living wage. 
 
Q – How many Approved Mental Health Practitioners will be appointed from the 
additional funding (£500k)? 
A – Commissioners are awaiting approval from Cabinet for the additional funding of 
£500k for the AMHPs service.  Once approval of funding has been secured the 
options submitted to CoMT in November 2016 will need to be followed-
up.  Commissioners will then be in a clearer position to advise on the potential 
numbers of new AMHP appointments to address the rising demand for Mental 
Health Act Assessments.  Depending on the options the number of AMHPS may be 
between 4 – 9 FTE, as well administration staff and management resources. 
 
The Council will continue with the discretionary local Living Wage supplement for 
Gloucestershire County Council staff, providing a minimum rate of pay at £7.85 per 
hour. 
Savings in Adults’ Services will be generated from a mix of additional contract 
efficiencies and demand management projects.  
The group was advised that Kim Forey has now been appointed as Head of 
Integration and reports directly into Linda Uren and Margaret Willcox. This role will 
take forward a range of developments in joint commissioning and partnership 
working arrangements.  
 
Q – Reduction in historical schools’ costs come generally from reduced capital 
investment; but are any of these costs attributable to PFI arrangements?  
A - We have no PFI schools. The council’s PFI in the Fire Service and Skillszone are 
the only two such arrangements that we have. 
 
Q – Could we bring services back in house, such as social care? 
A – We currently spend over 70% on outsourced services, but we could consider 
insourcing if there was an appropriate business case e.g. household recycling waste 
services were taken back from private sector in 2016 and are now undertaken by 
UBICO (a local authority ‘teckal’ company).  We therefore consider such issues on a 
case-by-case basis, having regard to value for money, quality, what the market can 
provide against what could be delivered in-house etc.  
 
Q – Is the Order of St John care services contract still with Gloucestershire County 
Council? 
A - Yes, this is a long term contract, which still has a number of years to run. 
 
Q – What is the value of dedicated schools grant (DSG) for 2017-18? 
A – Reference was made to the Dedicated Schools Grant section in the MTFS and 
that there will be a further update in the final MTFS, following on from last week’s 
Schools’ Forum meeting.  
 
Q – Where are the cuts likely to be in HR? 
A – The budget reduction is mainly being achieved at the management level (on a 
voluntary basis) together with one HR Advisor vacancy that will not be filled. It is not 

Page 194



13 

 

envisaged there will be any compulsory redundancies, and it is not considered that 
the resultant structural changes will adversely affect the service provided.  
 
Q – Will there still be a Schools’ HR Team?  
A – Yes, we will be retaining the Schools’ HR Team. 
 
Cllrs Mark Hawthorne and Ray Theodolou joined the meeting at this point to 
provide their overview of the budget proposals and to invite any questions 
from the trade unions.  
 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne outlined the context in which the budget proposals had been 
drafted, acknowledging that the council faces a challenging position, including the 
largest reduction to date in the Revenue Support Grant. Overall, cabinet wishes to 
protect frontline services as much as possible: prioritising adults’ and children’s 
services. The children and families’ budget has been separated into two ‘lines’ so 
that we can outline more clearly the changes to funding for schools’ services.  
Cabinet will publish a revised budget on Monday (23.01.2017), in respect of which 
there will be some room to ‘flex’ certain of the details that were published in 
December. It is hoped that this will provide the council with a little more room for 
manoeuvre in some areas. 
 
As in previous years, there will continue to be a drive for savings and efficiencies 
across the organisation. 
 
Looking forward, the council will move towards 100% business rate retention from 
around 2019-20. 
 
We are also continuing to look at matters in respect of the National Funding Formula 
and hope that this may become more reflective of our current demographic 
pressures; it was noted that the existing formula is heavily out of date (dating from 
around 2010) and does not properly reflect the county’s current position. 
 
It is proposed to increase council tax by 1.99%, also taking a 2% social care precept. 
In conclusion it was emphasised that next year’s budget will continue to be very 
challenging, particularly around adults’ services. 
 
Q - Small rural schools provide an obvious potential area for rationalisation. Is this 
something the council intends to pursue?  
A – It would probably be worth taking up that question with Cllr Paul McClain, who 
has previously advocated ‘clustering arrangements’ for small rural schools. However, 
the government is still committed to a programme of full academisation of maintained 
schools, so it should be noted that any ‘enforced’ clustering could push schools 
further down that route. However, this question would be better picked up through 
Schools Forum, and schools will need to make decisions on such matters in light of 
the New Funding Formula. 
 
Q – With regard to adults’ social care, will the additional 2% be diverting service 
investment from existing services to different types of provision? 
A- We need to build mechanisms to manage demand more effectively and some of 
that money can support this. We are now better at supporting people to remain in 

Page 195



14 

 

their own homes longer, through re-enablement and related services. Also this will 
be very much about continuing to develop effective partnership working with the 
CCG, GP’s and Hospitals’ Trust, particularly with a view to reducing delayed 
discharges from care which we already benchmark well against other local 
authorities. 
The investment is therefore primarily to underpin existing provision, which includes 
supporting contracted providers to implement increases in the statutory National 
Living Wage.  
As previously mentioned, there are also issues to address regarding discharge from 
health services. There will also be support in respect of developments in learning 
disability services.   
The council will continue to lobby national government, which will include maintaining 
a close involvement with the LGA. There appears to be some movement on this 
nationally, albeit not as much as we would like to see. 
 
 
There were no further questions and Cllr Hawthorne concluded the meeting by 
thanking everyone for their attendance. 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



15 

 

 
 
 
 

 
4. Schools Forum Consultation - Budget Consultation 2017/18 

The Schools Forum met on 12thJanuary 2017. Feedback for incorporation into the 
Budget Consultation is detailed below.  

 
GCC Budget Consultation 2017/18 

 
Feedback from Schools Forum – 12th January 2017 

 
The Forum received a presentation which provided a summary of the draft budget for 
2017/18, the budget cost pressures, plus the wider Children and Families 
commissioning intentions. Minutes of the meeting will provide a record of the 
discussion but a summary of the feedback from the meeting is as follows:- 
 
Overall the Schools Forum is supportive of the budget proposals.  During 
consideration of the presentation particular reference was made to:- 
 

 The impact of education funding changes, especially the implications on the 

Council’s budget as a result of the withdrawal of the Education Services Grant 

for ‘general duties’ from September 2017.   

 The additional investment in the Children in Care Budget to mitigate against 

additional demand for services and inflationary pressures in Children’s 

External Placement budgets.    

 The additional investment to meet costs associated with the increased 

demand for fostering and adoption allowances and inflationary fee pressures.   

 The second phase of the additional investment in social workers associated 

with reducing high caseloads and improving practice.                                 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



16 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A – Data Tables – Respondent breakdown 
 
Age 

 
Total 1022 

99% 

No response 

  
8 

1% 
16-24 53 

5% 

25-34 171 

17% 

35-44 198 

19% 

45-54 223 

22% 

55-64 163 

16% 

65-74 138 

14% 

75 + 49 

5% 

Prefer not to say 27 

3% 

    
Gender   

    
Total 1017 

99% 

No response 

  
13 

1% 

Male 433 

43% 

Female 539 

53% 

Rather not say 
  

45 

4% 

    
  
 
 

Page 198



17 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Disability   
    

Total 1011 

98% 

No response 

  
19 

2% 

With disability 
 
 

74 

7% 

Without disability 864 

85% 

Prefer not to say 72 

7% 

    
  

    
Ethnic Origin  
 

 Total 1011 

98% 

No response 

  
19 

2% 

White 897 

89% 

BME 22 

2% 
Prefer not to say 92 

9% 

    

 
  

Sexuality 
 

 Total 1007 

98% 

No response 

  
23 

2% 

Heterosexual/Straight 830 

82% 

Gay or Lesbian 37 

Page 199



18 

 

4% 

Bisexual 15 

1% 

Prefer not to say 120 

12% 

    
  
    
Religion or Belief  
 

 Total 1018 

99% 

No response 12 

1% 

Christian 475 

47% 

Buddhist 8 

1% 

Jewish 0 

0% 

Muslim 9 

1% 
Sikh 1 

0% 
No religion 417 

41% 

Other 8 

1% 

Prefer not to say 100 

10% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 200



19 

 

 
 

Appendix B – Online and paper survey questionnaire e online 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/budget2014 
 

 

Page 201



20 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 202



21 

 

 

 

 

Page 203



22 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 204



23 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



24 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 206



25 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 207



26 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 208



27 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

JANUARY 2017

REPORT TO CABINET ON DRAFT 2017/18 BUDGET

1. PURPOSE

To report observations from the committee following its process of gathering 
evidence in order to advise Cabinet on council and budget priorities for the 
draft 2017/18 budget.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee has the lead role in terms of 
budget scrutiny. It produces a response to the Cabinet’s draft budget on 
behalf of the scrutiny function as a whole. Briefing sessions with Directors and 
Cabinet Members were held throughout November 2016 with the opportunity 
to scrutinise the draft budget in detail in discussions held at service specific 
scrutiny committees in January 2017.

2.2 This response draws out the key observations and comments made in 
response to the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy which goes to Cabinet 
on 1 February and is to be approved at full Council on 15 February 2017

.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 Cabinet on 14 December 2016 approved for consultation and scrutiny the 
detailed draft budgets for 2017/18, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and the Treasury Management Strategy.

3.2 Members recognise that the draft MTFS proposes a budget totalling £397.13 
million and is based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase plus the continuation of 
the social care levy of 2% specifically to fund Adult Social Care. Upper tier 
authorities are allowed to increase the Adult Social Care Levy by 3% next 
year, up to a maximum of 6% for the period 2016/17 – 2018/19. In addition to 
the normal Council Tax limit. A 2% social care precept in Gloucestershire 
raises an additional £4.98 million for Adult Social Care and is ring-fenced to 
Adult Social Care. 

3.3 The proposed revenue budget for 2017/18 is a net reduction of £11.34 million 
from 2016/17. Investment of £24m is included, requiring £35.34 million 
savings. 

Page 211



4. OBSERVATIONS

4.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee met on 23 January 2017 to 
discuss their observations from the previous scrutiny sessions and to discuss 
the updated position with regards to funding. 

Members ask that Cabinet note the following observations that were made at 
the service specific scrutiny committees and have been endorsed by OSMC:

4.2 Adults & Public Health

4.2.1 Members understand that since the publication of the draft MTFS that the 
Council have now been notified that it will receive a further £2.5m for the adult 
social grant for 2017/18. This is a ‘one –off’ amount and is ring-fenced, aimed 
at starting the transition to the increase in the Better Care Fund from 2018/19. 

4.2.2 The Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee discussed how this 
funding might be best utilised. Members noted the cost reductions in the adult 
mental health services budget as well as reductions in the budget for services 
for people with a learning disability. One member suggested that the 
additional funding could be used in these areas. Discussions will need to be 
had with the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and other 
partners as to the appropriate use of this funding.     

4.2.3 With regards to Learning Disabilities, members were made aware of the 
positive work that had been carried out in terms of helping individuals into 
employment and increasing independence. Members commented on 
performance concerns relating to a reduction in the number of assessments 
being carried out and queried this decrease in performance levels against 
intended reductions in budget. It is important to note that the cost reductions 
in the budget did not relate to a reduction in staffing levels for social worker 
teams, but were through the changing approach brought about by the Building 
Better Lives Programme. 

4.3 Children and Families

4.3.1 The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee welcomed the work that was 
being carried out, and investment included in the budget, to establish the 
Intensive Recovery and Intervention Service (IRIS). This was based around 
residential hubs to provide effective support for those very vulnerable young 
people with multiple needs. 

4.3.2 Members recognised the challenges around agency spend and the work that 
was being carried out in this area. In response to questions it was clarified 

Page 212



that the actual spend had risen sharply from 2016/17 and that the trend had 
not been apparent before that point. Members noted the second part of the 
additional investment for social workers which sat within the budget following 
the recommendations of the task group. Members looked forward to seeing 
the impact of this investment over the coming months. 

4.4 Communities and Infrastructure

4.4.1 The Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee understood that there 
had been a number of one-offs within the budget for 2016/17 that were not 
within the base budget for 2017/18. In particular, members noted the 
Lengthsman Scheme, funding relating to barriers to cycling, and air quality. 
Some members commented that there were arguments for continuing to 
provide this level of funding in those areas and that it would be up to Council 
to consider whether these one-offs should be included again.

4.4.2 One member raised a concern regarding the level of footway funding 
suggesting that more should be spent. 

4.5 Support Services

The committee note that the level of reserves is within 4-6% of the budget and 
that this is adequate when considering the volatility of demand. The 
Committee stated that reserves should remain at this level. 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSED AWARD OF A SOUTH WEST SUB-REGIONAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
FOR THE PROVISION OF LEAVING CARE/INDEPENDENT LIVING SETTINGS.

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Children and 
Young People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning

Cllr Paul McLain
  

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Sufficiency Statement and Commissioning Intentions for Children in Care
2015-2018, 29/6/2015 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Documents can be obtained from Semonetta O’Connell

semonetta.o’connell@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Main Consultees Engagement with the market Place
Looked After Young People (service users)

Planned Dates Proposed new framework agreement for The Provision of leaving 
care/independent living settings to start 1st July 2017

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Semonetta O’Connell, Commissioning Manager, CYP Commissioning
Tel:  01452 328572
Email:  semonetta.o’connell@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek authorisation from Cabinet for the Council to participate in a 
collaborative tendering process led by South Gloucestershire Council for the 
creation and award of a sub-regional framework for the provision of leaving 
care/independent living settings.  

Recommendations That Cabinet authorises the Commissioning Director: Children and Families 
to:

1 Participate in a competitive tendering process compliant with the 
provisions of Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (SI 
2015/102) and conducted by South Gloucestershire Council as the lead 
authority for the award of a four year South West sub-regional Framework 
Agreement (the Framework) commencing on the 1st July 2017 for the 
provision of leaving care/independent living settings. 

Page 215

Agenda Item 7



2 Enter into a Participation Agreement with South Gloucestershire Council 
to give effect to the recommendation above and pay South 
Gloucestershire Council up to £5,000 (tbc) as a contribution to their costs 
in acting as lead authority for the procurement of the Framework.

3 Enter into such number of call-off contracts (placements) as are required 
to meet the Council’s responsibility to provide services for Care Leavers 
who require Independent Supported Living.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The benefit of a collaborative framework agreement will be that the local 
authorities using the Framework will work together to improve services, 
manage the market and pool information. 

The participating authorities for the Framework will be: Bristol, Bath and 
North East Somerset, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire, Swindon, 
Wiltshire and Gloucestershire. 

Resource 
Implications The Framework itself does not have a value attached to it. The Framework 

will identify unit prices for services which can be called-off under it, to meet 
the individual needs of the Young People nominated to receive the service. 

Current estimated spend by the Council for the 2016/17 financial year is 
£1.07 million. This would equate to an estimated spend of £4.28 million over 
the term of the new Framework.

Placements are currently and will continue to be funded though the 
Children’s Social Care agency budget.

Page 216



1 Background

1.1 The Council has a duty to provide sufficient, appropriate accommodation for Young People 
who leave care (Children Act 1989). This report seeks to outline how the Council can 
discharge this duty through participating in a collaborative sub regional framework 
arrangement.

1.2 Central government is proposing to place additional duties on local authorities with regard 
to Looked After Children; the strategy set out in Keep on Caring: Supporting Young People 
from Care to Independence, will enable young people leaving residential care to stay close 
to and be supported by their residential provision until they are 21 years. The Children and 
Social Work Bill 2016/17 will extend support for care leavers until they are 25 years if they 
have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP).

1.3 There is an ongoing need for this service provision. There are currently 30 Young People 
accessing this service and the Council will need to secure accommodation services for 
young people 16-18 years once the current arrangements expire. 

1.4 The Council currently meets its obligations through a framework which was awarded on 1st 
May 2016 for a period of 18 months. The framework covers only Gloucestershire and is 
due to expire on the 31st October 2017.  

1.5 The proposed sub-regional Framework will allow the Council to buy independent 
supported living placements for young people from a range of pre approved providers.  

1.6 The participating authorities for the Framework will be: Bristol, Bath and North East 
Somerset, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire, Swindon, Wiltshire and 
Gloucestershire. 

1.7 Evaluation of current arrangements has identified the following benefits that the Council 
wishes to retain and to build on within the sub-regional arrangements:  

a) Provision of quality services with improved quality monitoring that leads to 
improved provision

b) Improved ability for Young People to develop and maintain adult tenancies
c) Improved, clearer pricing structures leading to transparent cost and spend
d) Improved working relationships with providers of semi independent 

accommodation and support providers for Young People aged 16 to 18 years.
e) Satisfying the requirements in the Children & Young People’s Act 2008 regarding 

Local Authorities obligation to meet the sufficiency duty 

1.8 The benefit of a collaborative framework agreement will be that the local authorities using 
the Framework will work together to improve services, manage the market and pool 
information. 

1.9 Through the regional framework the council seeks to continue to provide accommodation 
through a process that minimises bureaucracy and duplication and secures quality and 
timely placements for vulnerable Young People. This option would also allow the Council 
to have increased influence over the market and shape services to meet the Council’s 

Page 217



requirements.  The collective influence of a sub-regional framework on price and uplift 
negotiations would help to ensure value for money. 

2 Proposal

The Council participates in a collaborative tendering process led by South Gloucestershire 
Council for the creation and award of a sub-regional framework for the provision of leaving 
care/independent living settings for young people aged 16-18.

3 Other Options Considered

Option 1. For the Council to allow the current arrangements to expire and move to ‘spot’ 
purchasing future placements.  Whilst this option would give access to the whole market, there 
would be a requirement for additional resources to support the procurement and contracting 
processes and quality monitoring responsibilities, making the whole process slow, un-wieldy 
and resource intensive.  The Aggregation Rules under PCR 2015 would require that EU 
compliant tender processes are run for each individual award once the relevant threshold 
figure has been reached. In addition it is likely that placement costs would be at enhanced 
rates with the Council likely to experience a reduction in the level of influence it has within the 
marketplace. 

Option 2:  For the Council to tender a Gloucestershire framework agreement.  This option 
would emulate the current arrangements and enable the Council to tailor its requirements. 
However the Council would not be able to achieve the benefits of the economies of scale that 
a sub-regional approach brings including maximisation of sub-regional cost and volume 
arrangements, sharing of contract monitoring and quality assurance, sharing of good practice.  
The ability to influence service provision would also not be realised.   

Option 3. For the Council to cease providing semi Independent accommodation and support 
services for Young People aged 16-18 years in its entirety. This option would prevent the 
Council from discharging its statutory duty to provide appropriate and suitable 
accommodation.

4 Risk Assessment  

Risks/Issues (potential future impact): Mitigating actions: 

1.  Key suppliers could fail to engage. Evidence to date would suggest this is 
unlikely. Feedback from providers 
indicates that framework agreements offer 
them significant benefits and those 
relationships with participating local 
authorities are improved. There is an 
effective communication and market 
engagement strategy in place.

2.  Challenge from providers in respect of 
procurement process.

The lead authority (South Gloucestershire) 
to follow “light touch” procurement process 
under PCR 2015.  

Page 218



3. Pursuing a joint framework can incur 
risks that relate to the full participation of 
all the participating councils. This can 
result in failure to achieve the maximum 
cost and volume benefits. 

The lead authority will seek to mitigate this 
by active management and information 
sharing across the Local Authorities. 

Unit rates are fixed offering greater cost 
and volume benefits, making it attractive to 
Councils to use the framework 
arrangements. 

5 Officer Advice

The preferred option would be for the Council to participate in a collaborative, structured and 
compliant process with South Gloucestershire acting as the lead authority for the selection of 
pre-qualified providers and the award of a Framework for the provision of leaving 
care/independent living settings for young people aged 16-18 years. This option enables the 
Council to discharge its duty to provide good quality sufficient accommodation for care 
leavers. It allows for care leavers to take their first steps towards independent living with 
support and advice that affords them the best chance of becoming successful adults. 
Collaborating with other local authorities enables the Council to achieve better value for 
money in this sector and be more efficient in streamlining procurement processes. 

6 Equalities considerations

6.1 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. 

6.2 An assessment has been undertaken, the details of which can be found within the Due 
Regard Statement. Current and ongoing arrangements have and will continue to have a 
positive impact. Bespoke packages to meet individual needs (including protected 
characteristics) drive the type of provisions that are awarded. Diversity of provision enables 
the Council to promote equality of opportunity for this group. Moving to a sub-regional 
framework should enhance the diversity and expertise available.

7 Consultation Feedback

7.1 Plans to consult and obtain feedback from young people and providers are underway and 
will take place early in the New Year. 

7.2 Current feedback from internal stakeholders has identified that there is a keenness to 
continue with Framework arrangements and that these should move towards the integration of 
supported living services more generally. Participation in the framework will compliment 
proposed integration of services.

8 Performance Management/Follow-up 

8.1  Monitoring of the sub-regional framework agreement will be undertaken through regular, 
not less than quarterly, meetings with all participating authorities. 

Page 219



8.2  Ongoing monitoring of the quality of the services called-off under the Framework will be 
undertaken through regular contact between the Young People’s Social Workers and other 
Professional Contacts as well as collation and analysis of quality monitoring information on a 
scheduled basis.

 8.3  All Providers will receive formal annual quality assurance visits and will be supported with 
the development of appropriate action plans to improve service provision where concerns are 
identified. In addition to this there will be formal contract monitoring meetings to support the 
inspection visits. 

Page 220



Report Title Proposed award of a South West sub-regional framework agreement 
for the provision of leaving care/independent living settings.  

Statutory Authority Children’s Act 1989

Children Act 2004 (Guidance and Regulations)

Children and Young People Act 2008

Leaving Care Act 2000

Relevant County 
Council policy

Gloucestershire Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan: 
2015-18 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=64573&p=0

Sufficiency Statement

Resource 
Implications

The Framework itself does not have a value attached to it. The 
Framework will identify unit prices for services which can be called-
off under it, to meet the individual needs of the Young People 
nominated to receive the service. 

Current estimated spend by the Council for the 2016/17 financial 
year is £1.07 million. This would equate to an estimated spend of 
£4.28 million over the term of the new Framework.

Placements are currently and will continue to be funded though the 
Children’s Social Care agency budget.

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships South West Regional Framework

Decision Making and 
Involvement

N/A

Economy and 
Employment

N/A

Caring for people Provision of this service, supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
obligations under the Children Act 1989 as amended to make 
available appropriate accommodation and support for vulnerable 
Young People.

Social Value Participating local authorities seek to ensure that the provision of the 
Framework will ensure that the impact on social value is significant 
with benefits to local communities where young people are safely and 
appropriately housed and supported. That placing young people in 

Page 221

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=64573&p=0


their local areas and supporting and nurturing them to respect their 
community, appreciate facilities and contribute to their community 
adds social value. 

Built Environment N/A

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

The participating local authorities will endeavour that during the 
performance of the Framework to use methods, equipment, materials 
and consumables that minimise environmental damage.

Education and 
Information

Priority will be given to education, training and skills for employment.

Tackling Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Semonetta 
O’Connell.
semonetta.o’connell@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Human rights 
Implications

The providers will be required to abide by the principles of the Human 
Rights Act and will be required to have clear policies in relation to the 
human rights of a young person.

- Children Act
- UN Convention on the Rights of Children (Article 12)
- National Standards for the Provision of Advocacy Services 

2003
- The National Minimum Standards

Consultation 
Arrangements

As detailed in 6.1 and 6.2

Page 222

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


GLOUCESTER SOUTH WEST BYPASS (GSWB) LLANTHONY ROAD IMPROVEMENTS

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Adopted Local Transport Plan 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The LTP documents can be downloaded by clicking on the link below.
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3 

Main Consultees • Lead Cabinet Member 
• Officers from across Gloucestershire County Council 
• Local Member (Cllr Tracey)
• Land owners in respect of land acquisition and businesses

Planned Dates  Approval of Full Business Case for land purchase (seeking Gfirst LEP 
funding) –  August  2017

 Commencement of Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) process and 
land acquisition negotiations with all affected parties – April 2017

 Completion of CPO process and land acquisition negotiations with all 
affected parties – October 2019 

 Site preparation and demolition – November 2019
 Main scheme start – 2020/21
 Scheme complete and open to the public – 2021/22

Divisional 
Councillor

Cllr Pam Tracey

Officer    Simon Excell,  Lead Commissioner; Strategic Infrastructure
Simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Chris Riley, Project Manager; Major Schemes. Highways Commissioning 
Chris.riley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 223

Agenda Item 8

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
mailto:Simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Chris.riley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval: 

For the County Council to underwrite the risk of the County Council not 
receiving all of the committed Growth Deal funding scheduled for 2018/19 
thereby allowing the land acquisition to be brought forward from 2018/19 to 
2017/18. 

To proceed with the making of all orders required to proceed with the 
scheme. 

Recommendations That Cabinet::

(1) Make provision to allow the County Council to underwrite the risk of 
the County Council not receiving all of the committed Growth Deal 
funding scheduled for 2018/19;
 

(2) Commence land acquisition via Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) in 
addition to negotiated settlement route allowing the land acquisition to 
commence in financial year 2017/18; and

(3) Make any other ancillary orders that might be required to successfully 
implement the scheme.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the County Council to acquire the land required for 
the scheme within the Gfirst LEP funding period which will, in turn, enable the 
approved County Council funded widening scheme to be delivered.

Resource 
Implications The scheme will be funded by two main streams:

1) GFirst LEP - £2M Growth Deal funding to enable purchase of the land
and associated costs, site clearance and demolition.

2) GCC - £2.974M Capital funding to enable contract procurement and 
delivery of the road improvement scheme.  (This includes £125K S106 
contribution from the Hunt’s Grove development).

Therefore, the estimated cost of the complete scheme is £4.97M.  

The £2M land costs include land purchase, demolition of existing buildings 
and making good of adjacent buildings as well as costs associated with utility 
diversions, licences, permits and design works required for CPO purposes.  
These land costs are proposed to be funded by GFirst LEP Growth Deal 
funding.  

Given the GFirst LEP funding must be spent within the allocated funding 
period which ends in March 2021, there is a risk that the negotiations will not 
have concluded and therefore GCC will be liable for additional expenditure.

Page 224



It is therefore recommended that the scheme progresses as soon as possible 
with GCC under writing financial risk around the Growth Deal funding 
element.  This risk would be funding from the Highways capital grant 
allocations.

 

Page 225



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1  Background

The Llanthony section of the GSWB is the only section on the A430 GSWB which has 
yet to be improved.  The road is single carriageway which creates a bottleneck between 
Llanthony Road and St Anne Way.  The proposed scheme will see the widening of this 
section, optimisation and refurbishment of traffic signals to maximise traffic flows and 
improvements to the side road junctions to improve access for local residents and 
businesses.  The scheme will also include improvements to pedestrian crossing 
facilities as well as the widening of pedestrian and cycle facilities to link with existing 
facilities at either end of the scheme.  

The scheme is included in the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan.

The scheme will involve the acquisition of third party land to enable the widening to take 
place.  The land in question is currently in the ownership of various owners with the 
land take requiring the demolition of a number of commercial buildings which are 
currently in use.  The land acquisition is proposed to be progressed via a negotiated 
settlement route in parallel to a compulsory purchase order (CPO) route.  The purpose 
of the this  approach will be to allow the flexibility of a mutually agreed settlement 
package for the businesses/property owners, but with the assurance of the CPO route 
in the event that we are unable to resolve the acquisition via the negotiated route.  

Please see Appendix A: Land Interest Plan for further information.

2  Resource Implications

The scheme will be funded by two main streams:

1. GFirst LEP - £2M Growth Deal funding to enable purchase of the land and 
associated costs, site clearance and demolition.

2. GCC - £2.974M Capital funding to enable contract procurement and delivery 
of the road improvement scheme.  (This includes £125K S106 contribution 
from the Hunt’s Grove development).

Therefore, the estimated cost of the complete scheme is £4.97M.  

The £2M land costs include land purchase, demolition of existing buildings and making 
good of adjacent buildings as well as costs associated with utility diversions, licences, 
permits and design works required for CPO purposes.  These land costs are proposed 
to be funded by GFirst LEP Growth Deal funding.  

Given the GFirst LEP funding must be spent within the allocated funding period which 
ends in March 2021, there is a risk that the negotiations will not have concluded and 
therefore GCC will be liable for additional expenditure.  It is therefore recommended 
that the scheme progresses as soon as possible with GCC under writing financial risk 
around the Growth Deal funding element.  This risk would be funding from the 
Highways capital grant allocations.

Page 226



3  Funding breakdown

GCC funding breakdown:
Year Funding allocation (Highways 

Capital)

Profiled spend to March 2017 £149,000
2017/18 £200,000
2018/19 £500,000
2019/20 £600,000
2020/21 £700,000
2021/22 £700,000
S106 Hunt’s Grove £125,000
Total £2,974,000

The cost of the main scheme will be funded by the County Council from Highways 
capital programme grant allocation and Section 106 funding. However failure to either 
secure Growth Deal funding or failure to acquire the land purchase within the funding 
period (before March 31st 2021) is likely to delay the scheme.

4  Review of Current Budget Cost Estimate

Current budget estimates are based on preliminary designs (Atkins and Amey) and land 
cost estimates (GCC Asset Management Property Services).  

5  Risk Assessment

An up to date risk register for the scheme exists and has been regularly updated in line 
with the GCC Risk Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate 
key risks.

The key risks can be summarised as follows:

1) Land Acquisition – via negotiated settlement with landowners or CPO in the 
event that we are unable to agree terms with landowners.  Land acquisition is 
vital for the scheme to progress;

2) Funding – the GFirst LEP funding must be spent within the allocated funding 
period which ends in March 2021.  In the case of CPO, whilst the land 
ownership may be resolved when the Order is made, it is not uncommon for 
financial settlements to continue to be in dispute after that time.  Payments 
for land which are outstanding after March 2021 will not be eligible to be paid 
for by the Growth Fund and will instead have to be funded by the County 
Council.  This is one of the main drivers for requesting that this aspect of the 
scheme should be brought forward; and

3) Design/construction issues – in terms of timetable slippage, unforeseen 
delivery issues, and therefore associated scheme cost increases (which 
would fall to the County Council).

Page 227



The risk register review undertaken has focused on the risks that are likely to affect the 
procurement process, these are determined as: 

 Land acquisition; and
 Statutory utility diversions.

Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the 
project moves forward. There are, however, a number of risks open that could have an 
impact on the design and cost of the project. Securing the required land is the next 
critical step in managing the project’s risk profile down. Risks will continue to be actively 
monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be 
reported to the Lead Cabinet Member.

6  Options

The options for Cabinet are as follows:

 Option A: To authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure  to progress the scheme as set out in this report’s 
recommendations; or

 Option B: To decline this authorisation to the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure.

7  Officer Advice

That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

8  Equalities Considerations

This scheme is included in the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan which 
includes analysis of data in regard to user needs. The detailed design of the final 
scheme will be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities 
and safety. 

9  Consultation Feedback
The Council has carried out an extensive consultation on the Local Transport Plan in 
which this scheme is listed   Consultation will be held with relevant land owners and 
businesses later this year and more broadly with the public (through public share 
events) in 2017.

10  Performance Management/Follow-up

Scheme delivery will continue to be managed in accordance with business case 
objectives and the monthly meetings of the Local Transport Plan Management Board.

Page 228



Report Title Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) Llanthony Road 
Improvements

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Acquisition of Land Act 1981

Relevant County Council 
policy

Adopted Local Transport Plan 

Resource Implications The scheme will be funded by two main streams:

1. GFirst LEP - £2M Growth Deal funding to enable 
purchase of the land
 and associated costs, site clearance and demolition.

2. GCC - £2.974M Capital funding to enable contract 
procurement and delivery of the road improvement scheme.  
(This includes £125K S106 contribution from the Hunt’s Grove 
development).

Therefore, the estimated cost of the complete scheme is 
£4.97M.  

The £2M land costs include land purchase, demolition of existing 
buildings and making good of adjacent buildings as well as costs 
associated with utility diversions, licences, permits and design 
works required for CPO purposes.  These land costs are 
proposed to be funded by GFirst LEP Growth Deal funding.  

Given the GFirst LEP funding must be spent within the allocated 
funding period which ends in March 2021, there is a risk that the 
negotiations will not have concluded and therefore GCC will be 
liable for additional expenditure.  It is therefore recommended 
that the scheme progresses as soon as possible with GCC 
under writing financial risk around the Growth Deal funding 
element.  This risk would be funding from the Highways capital 
grant allocations.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Close working with affected landowners and businesses

Decision Making and 
Involvement Asset Management Property Services, GCC Commercial 

Services, Legal Services, Finance, Audit/Risk

Economy and Employment One of the aims of the scheme is to promote the economy of 
Gloucester and wider area by reducing congestion and 
improving journey times.

Page 229



Caring for people The scheme design will promote the safety of all users.

Built Environment An Environmental Impact Assessment has been undertaken for 
the scheme.  

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

An Environmental Impact Assessment has been undertaken for 
the scheme.

Education and Information Public share events regarding the scheme will take place in 
2017.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative

Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No
No specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the 
protected characteristics. However, this scheme is included in 
the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan which 
includes analysis of data in regard to user needs. The detailed 
design of the final scheme will be undertaken in accordance with 
relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety. 

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation Arrangements The Council has carried out an extensive consultation on the 
Local Transport Plan in which this scheme is listed   Consultation 
will be held with relevant land owners and businesses later this 
year and more broadly with the public (through public share 
events) in 2017

Appendix A: Land Interest Plan 

Page 230



S

u

d

m

e

a

d

o

w

 
R

o

a

d

S
p
i
n
n
a
k
e
r
 
R

o
a
d

H

e

m

m

i
n

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

Llanthony

Industrial Estate

L

l
a

n

t
h

o

n

y

 
R

o

a

d

File ref - \\shirs030\shidata\individual task orders\sep schemes aug 2014\llanthony road widening\5.0 cad - drawings\work area\highways\1 live drawings\cogltoc209.50.p2.dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :

A1

Date

Client

Revision details

Designed:

Approved:

Rev

Drawn:

Checked:

Chkd Appd

100

c

Copyright     Amey

www.amey.co.uk

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Drawing Status Suitability

Drwn

WC Oct 2016

SA Nov 2016

DB Nov 2016

AH Nov 2016

Llanthony Road Widening

Appendix A:

Land Interest Plan

1:500

metres

Shared S3

COGLTOC209.050 P2

LP

Existing Street Light

Existing Traffic Sign

Existing Road Gully

RS

GU

SURVEY KEY

NOTES

1. The land shown is based on OS tile base plans which may vary from

actual topographical surveyed features.  Any variations will require

agreement with the Landowner to determine definitive boundaries.

2. The proposed land boundaries shown are based on the design as

shown on Drg COGL43041066 P1. This is subject to further design,

consultation planning consent, and so may be subject to change.

Acquisition or dedication

agreement for public highway

Temporary Rights for

Construction Purposes

Full extent of registered plot

KEY

P1 First Issue DB Nov 2016SA

P1.1 Land plot full extents added DB Nov 2016MS

P2 Title & Notes amended DB Dec 2016MS
AH

AH

AH

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank



A40 OVER ROUNDABOUT  IMPROVEMENT SCHEME

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure   Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Local Transport Plan

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The scheme documents can be downloaded by clicking on the link below.
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/A40over 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3 

Main Consultees  Local Members (Cllr Hilton and Cllr Awford)

 Highways England

 Wide range of Consultees as part of the main public consultation
     exercise held September 2016

Planned Dates  Works commence – January 2018
 Scheme complete and open to the public – Summer 2018

Divisional 
Councillor

Westgate – Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Highnam – Cllr Philip Awford

Officer    Simon Excell,  Lead Commissioner; Strategic Infrastructure
Simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Chris Riley, Project Manager; Major Schemes. Highways Commissioning 
Chris.riley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to: 

Conduct a legally compliant, competitive tender process for the purpose of 
awarding a contract to a single contractor to carry out construction works in 
accordance with the detailed design of the A40 Over Roundabout 
Improvement Scheme. 

Recommendations
That Cabinet authorise the Commissioning Director, Communities & 
Infrastructure to:

Page 233

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/A40over
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/A40over
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
mailto:Simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Chris.riley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


(1) conduct a legally compliant competitive tender process for the award 
of a works contract to a single supplier for the construction of the A40 
Over Roundabout Improvement Scheme; and

(2) upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in consultation 
with the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, to 
enter into a contract with the preferred provider evaluated as offering 
the Council best value for money for delivery of the works OR, in the 
event that the preferred provider for the contract is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract, to enter into such contract with the 
next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the Council to pursue the award of a construction 
contract for the scheme, which will provide the best opportunity to realise 
best value for money from the market and to meet the timescales set out in 
the funding agreement for drawing down the GFirst LEP funding described in 
the “Resource Implications” set out below.

Resource 
Implications Initial estimated value of the scheme (and, by consequence thereof, the 

works contract proposed hereunder) is £2.35M based on the detailed design 
produced by the council’s highway design consultant Amey.  This 
incorporates feedback from the public share events, members and in 
conjunction with Sustrans.  The proposed contract will be funded from 
£2.23M funding provided by GFirst LEP and £0.12M from S106 Developer 
contributions.  The costs of the proposed contract will be contained within the 
approved scheme funds, with any increased costs being contained within the 
Highways capital programme grant allocation. The cost of the scheme will be 
continuously monitored as it progresses.

Page 234



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1 Background

Significant improvements were made to the junction in 2015 by Highways England 
(HE). This was in addition to major work undertaken by the County Council in 2009 on 
the western approach, including adding the bus lane. The cost of the HE scheme 
(referred to as A40 Over Roundabout Gloucester Western Approach Widening) was 
circa £0.35M and was promoted by HE as part of their national Pinch Point schemes 
programme.

The said scheme consisted of widening the A40 eastbound approach to three lanes to 
allow a dedicated right turn lane, and also widening the roundabout carriageway on the 
northern side. A pedestrian crossing was also re-located to a safer location and 
improved lighting within the vicinity of the works.

The proposed new scheme (and the works contract proposed hereunder) is intended to 
build on the past improvements and also seeks to ‘future proof’ the junction, given the 
recent improvements, strategic importance of the link and current traffic flows. The 
overall aim of the proposed scheme is to reduce queues and delays on the A40 ‘east-
west’ and A417 ‘north-south’ approaches through A40 Over roundabout, thus improving 
vehicle journey times and addressing journey reliability problems.

The following aspects of the roundabout have been identified for improvement:

 A417 North: Widening of the southbound approach to the roundabout entry to 
provide three lanes at the junction stop line;

 A40 East: Widening of the westbound approach to the roundabout entry to 
provide three lanes at the junction stop line; and

 A40 Roundabout – General: The addition of a third circulatory lane within the 
roundabout.

The overarching goal is to provide a free flowing link in terms of traffic approaching and 
travelling through the currently heavily congested A40 Over Roundabout. The three 
most important outcomes / objectives have been identified as follows:

 Reduce journey times and improve journey time reliability for all users, 
particularly on the two arms that will be improved (from A417 Maisemore to Over 
and on the westbound approach from Longford Roundabout);

 Improve local links in the area for all users, including buses; and
 Provide the most direct route and quickest route for all users, reducing CO2 

emissions, noise and air pollution.

Full details of the scheme including consultation responses can be found in Appendix 
A.

Page 235



2  Securing a Works Contractor

As the value of the scheme is in excess of £0.5M it will be necessary to procure the 
works outside of the Amey term maintenance contract.  The value of the scheme is 
below the OJEU threshold for works and, upon Cabinet approval, we will be going to 
the market using a competitive tender process in accordance with GCC’s Standing 
Orders using ProContract (which is the standard electronic contract system used by 
GCC).

Site supervision and project management support will be provided by Amey 
(consulting).  The form of contract will be NEC3, Option A which is an industry standard 
for this type of scheme.

3  Resource Implications

Initial estimated value of the scheme (and, by consequence thereof, the works contract 
proposed hereunder) is £2.35M based on the detailed design produced by the council’s 
highway design consultant Amey.  This incorporates feedback from the public share 
events, members and in conjunction with Sustrans.  The proposed contract will be 
funded from £2.23M funding provided by GFirst LEP and £0.12M from S106 Developer 
contributions.  The costs of the proposed contract will be contained within the approved 
scheme funds, with any increased costs being contained within the Highways capital 
programme grant allocation. The cost of the scheme will be continuously monitored as 
it progresses.

4  Risk Assessment

The risk register for the scheme has been regularly updated in line with the GCC Risk 
Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks.

The key risks can be summarised as follows:

1) Completion of the Section 6 Agreement with HE to allow GCC to undertake 
improvements on HE network;

2) Design/construction issues, in terms of timetable slippage, unforeseen 
delivery issues, and therefore associated scheme cost increases (which 
would fall to GCC).

The risk register review undertaken has focused on the risks that are likely to affect the 
procurement process, these are determined as:

 Statutory utility diversions

Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the 
project moves forward. There are, however, a number of risks open that could have an 
impact on the design and cost of the project. Going to market to secure a works 
contractor is the next critical step in managing the project’s risk profile down. Risks will 
continue to be actively monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope of the 
project will be reported to the Lead Cabinet Member.

Page 236



5  Options

The options for cabinet are as follows:

 Option A:  To Authorise the Commissioning Director; Communities & 
Infrastructure to progress a tender process as defined in this report ; or

 Option B; To decline this authorisation to the Commissioning Director; 
Communities & Infrastructure.

6  Officer Advice

That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

7  Equalities Considerations
No specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the protected characteristics, 
however, this scheme is included in the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan 
which does include analysis of data in regard to user needs.  The detailed design of the 
final scheme will be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance in relation to 
equalities and safety.

8  Consultation Feedback

The scheme has been amended to incorporate feedback from attendees from the 
public share events.  Full details of feedback and responses to feedback are detailed in 
the full business case (see Appendix A).

9  Performance Management/Follow-up

Scheme delivery will continue to be managed in accordance with business case 
objectives and the monthly meetings of the Local Transport Plan Management Board.

Page 237



Report Title A40 Over Roundabout Improvement Scheme

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004

Relevant County Council 
policy Adopted Local Transport Plan

Resource Implications Initial estimated value of the scheme (and, by consequence 
thereof, the works contract proposed hereunder) is £2.35M based 
on the detailed design produced by the council’s highway design 
consultant Amey.  This incorporates feedback from the public 
share events, members and in conjunction with Sustrans.  The 
proposed contract will be funded from £2.23M funding provided 
by GFirst LEP and £0.12M from S106 Developer contributions.  
The costs of the proposed contract will be contained within the 
approved scheme funds, with any increased costs being 
contained within the Highways capital programme grant 
allocation. The cost of the scheme will be continuously monitored 
as it progresses.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Close working with the preferred contractor (when appointed) and 
HE.

Decision Making and 
Involvement GCC Commercial, Legal Services, Audit and Risk.

Economy and Employment One of the aims of the scheme is to promote the economy of 
Gloucestershire through improved transport infrastructure 
reliability and reduced journey times.

Caring for people The scheme design will promote the safety of all users.

Built Environment An Environmental Impact Assessment has been undertaken for 
the scheme.  

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

An Environmental Impact Assessment has been undertaken for 
the scheme.

Education and Information Various consultation events have been used to educate and 
inform the public and stakeholders.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative

Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Page 238



Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

No specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the 
protected characteristics, however, this scheme is included in the 
County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan which does 
include analysis of data in regard to user needs.  The detailed 
design of the final scheme will be undertaken in accordance with 
relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety.

Monitoring of Service Users
The Equality Act 2010 states that service providers have a 
continuing duty to consider impacts on groups with protected 
characteristics and therefore monitoring of users once the 
scheme is operational will be required to ensure that equality 
issues pertaining to age, disability, sex and ethnicity, are being 
considered and evolved after opening. Additionally any 
information on incidents/accidents or in the area around the 
scheme will be analysed according to the characteristics of the 
victim if the information is available.

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation Arrangements Consultation completed during Summer 2016 as part of the full 
business case for the scheme. Refer to Appendix A.

Appendix A – Full Business Case for scheme

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

A40 Over Roundabout 
Improvements 
 
COGL43041188 /FBC 

October 2016 

 

Full Business Case 

Page 241



 

Document Control Sheet 

Project Name: A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

Project Number: COGL43041188 

Report Title: Full Business Case 

Report Number: A 

 
Issue 
Status/Amendment 

Prepared Reviewed Approved 

 
A 

Name: 
Ryan Townsend 
 

Name:  
Ian Sanders 

Name:  
Rae Suemul 

Signature:  
 
 
Date: 13.10.16 

Signature:  
 
 
Date: 13.10.16 

Signature:  
 
 
Date: 13.10.16 

 
 

Name:  
 

Name:  
 
 

Name:  
 

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

 Name:  
 

Name:  
 
 

Name:  
 

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

 Name:  
 

Name:  
 
 

Name:  
 

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Signature:  
 
 
Date:  

Page 242



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - i - Issued: October 2016 

Contents 

1 Introduction ....................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Purpose of this Document .................................................................................. 3 

1.2 Need for Proposed Changes ............................................................................... 3 

1.3 A40 Over Roundabout Study Area ....................................................................... 5 

1.4 Sections of the corridor considered for the Full Business Case ............................... 5 

1.5 5-Case Model .................................................................................................... 8 

2 The Strategic Case ............................................................................................. 9 

2.1 Rationale for Intervention .................................................................................. 9 

2.2 Summary of Scheme Objectives and Beneficiaries .............................................. 10 

2.3 Need for the scheme ....................................................................................... 12 

2.4 Existing Situation and Delay ............................................................................. 13 

2.5 Journey Times from the Forest of Dean (west) to Over Roundabout .................... 15 

2.6 Capacity Assessment of Existing Roundabout ..................................................... 17 

2.7 Scheme Breakdown ......................................................................................... 18 

3 Economic Case ................................................................................................. 20 

3.1 Introduction .................................................................................................... 20 

3.2 Economy ........................................................................................................ 20 

3.3 Environment ................................................................................................... 21 

3.4 Social ............................................................................................................. 26 

3.5 Critical Success Factors .................................................................................... 28 

3.6 Junction Modelling ........................................................................................... 30 

3.7 BCR Calculations ............................................................................................. 34 

3.8 Appraisal Summary Table ................................................................................. 36 

3.9 Value for Money Statement .............................................................................. 40 

4 Commercial Case .............................................................................................. 41 

4.1 Bus Services.................................................................................................... 41 

4.2 Commercial Issues........................................................................................... 41 

4.3 Scheme Procurement ....................................................................................... 42 

4.4 Commercial Risk Assessment ............................................................................ 44 

5 Financial Case .................................................................................................. 45 

5.1 Project Costs ................................................................................................... 45 

5.2 Project Funding ............................................................................................... 46 

Page 243



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - ii - Issued: October 2016 

5.3 Financial Risk Management Strategy ................................................................. 47 

5.4 Ongoing Maintenance ...................................................................................... 48 

6 Management Case ............................................................................................ 49 

6.1 Overview ........................................................................................................ 49 

6.2 Project Governance, Roles and Responsibilities .................................................. 49 

6.3 Project Management Structure .......................................................................... 50 

6.4 Public Consultation .......................................................................................... 50 

6.5 Communications and Engagement Management................................................. 53 

6.6 Stakeholder Communication ............................................................................. 55 

6.7 Evidence of Previously Successful Management Strategy ..................................... 57 

6.8 Availability and Suitability of Resources ............................................................. 58 

6.9 Design and Construction Methodology ............................................................... 59 

6.10 Legal Powers Required for Construction............................................................. 59 

6.11 Project Programme .......................................................................................... 60 

6.12 Benefit Realisation Strategy .............................................................................. 60 

6.13 Key Project Risks ............................................................................................. 64 

7 Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................. 65 

7.1 Conclusions ..................................................................................................... 65 

7.2 Recommended Next Steps................................................................................ 65 

7.3 Funding Recommendation ................................................................................ 65 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Scheme Outline Drawings 

 Scheme GA 

Appendix B: Environmental Reports 

B1 Air Quality and Greenhouse Gases Assessment  

B2 Noise Assessment 

B3 Landscape Appraisal  

B4 Townscape Appraisal  

B5 Ecological Appraisal 

Appendix C: GANNT Charts 

 C1 Construction Phase 

 C2 Scheme Programme 

Appendix D: Scheme Risk Register 

Page 244



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 3 - Issued: October 2016 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose of this Document 

This document provides information to support the implementation of proposed changes 

at A40 Over Roundabout, located on the outskirts of Gloucester. This report is based on 

the preferred design option, and aims to provide the required detail as set out in the 

Appraisal Summary Report (ASR) for the Full Business Case.  

 

 

Figure 1.1: A40 Over Roundabout - proposed scheme. 

1.2 Need for Proposed Changes 

Amey has been requested by Gloucestershire County Council to recommend and design 

an improvement scheme for the A40 Over Roundabout.  

Significant improvements were made to the junction in 2015 by Highways England. This 

was in addition to major work undertaken by Gloucestershire County Council in 2009 on 

the western approach, including adding the bus lane. The cost of the Highways England 

scheme (referred to as A40 Over Roundabout Gloucester Western Approach Widening) 

was circa £350,000, and was promoted by Highways England as part of their national 

Pinch Point schemes programme. 

A417 North 

A40 GNBP 

A40 Forest of Dean  

Gloucester 

Page 245



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 4 - Issued: October 2016 

The scheme consisted of widening the A40 eastbound approach to three lanes to allow a 

dedicated right turn lane, and also widening the roundabout carriageway on the 

northern side. A pedestrian crossing was also re-located to a safer location and improved 

lighting within the vicinity of the works. 

It is the view of the Amey Consulting team in Gloucester that this change has improved 

the capacity of the roundabout (as evidenced by surveys within this report), and 

specifically addressed the very long journey times from the west towards the roundabout 

during the AM peak. 

Therefore, this new proposal builds on the past improvements and also seeks to ‘future 

proof’ the junction, given the recent improvements, strategic importance of the link and 

current traffic flows. The overall aim of the proposed scheme is to reduce queues and 

delays on the A40 ‘east-west’ and A417 ‘north-south’ approaches through A40 Over 

roundabout, thus improving vehicle journey times and addressing journey reliability 

problems. 

The following aspects of the roundabout have been identified for improvement: 

 A417 North: Widening of the southbound approach to the roundabout entry to 

provide three lanes at the junction stop line; 

 A40 East: Widening of the westbound approach to the roundabout entry to 

provide three lanes at the junction stop line; 

 A40 Roundabout – General: The addition of a third circulatory lane within the 

roundabout. 

 

  

Page 246



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 5 - Issued: October 2016 

1.3 A40 Over Roundabout Study Area 

The A40 Over Roundabout is located to the northwest of Gloucester and is the primary 

point of entry into the city for vehicles travelling from the West. The land surrounding 

the roundabout is mainly agricultural land, as shown in Figure 1.2 below.  

Currently there are several footpaths and cycle routes which allow users to navigate the 

roundabout safely via dedicated cycle and pedestrian routes (however these are limited 

to in terms of direction).  

 

Figure 1.2: A40 Over Roundabout Study Area 

1.4 Sections of the corridor considered for the Full Business Case 

Following the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) submission, Amey considered a number of 

different options in detail as summarised below; 

 Option 1 – signals for A40 west and A417 south arms (GCC scheme) 

 Option 2 – signals for A40 west, A40 east and A417 south. 

 Option 3 – signals for A40 west only.  

 Option 4 – signals A40 west and A40 east. 

 Option 4A – This has the same layout as Option 4 but without the signals in 

place. 

Options 1 to 3 were not considered further because the benefits were measured to be 

less than that of Option 4 and 4A. Therefore, after assessment of the results Option 4 

and 4A are the two options considered for the Full Business Case.  

 

Page 247



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 6 - Issued: October 2016 

 Option 4 1.4.1

This option, with signals on the roundabout, was shown as a potential scheme in the HA 

sponsored Route Congestion Study, but discounted as much of its benefit was to the 

local road network rather than the Trunk Road. Since then, this option has been tested 

by Amey. The LINSIG modelling demonstrates that the signalling of the two A40 arms 

offer benefit, giving improved all round junction capacity of all the options tested. 

With the two main A40 an arm signalled, this also has the added benefit of providing 

opportunity for greater control of the roundabout, (and also the possibility of controlling 

the signals via the Highways England Route Management system) and to maintain its 

operation during traffic incidents such as accidents or route diversions.  

There are a number of key factors that lead to Option 4A being the preferred scheme, as 

opposed to the signals, summarised as follows: 

 Changes recommended to the roundabout  such as lane reallocations, changes to 

the deflection on entry and ‘keep clear’ boxes can be considered and 

implemented in the future if appropriate; 

 Constraints on the adjacent network, such as Walham Viaduct and Longford 

roundabout that cause exit blocking eastbound on the A40 – adding signals at 

this time without a confirmed solution for adjacent junctions is a risk; 

 Minimise delay at non-peak times  - the signals would only be needed in the 

peaks, and therefore would either have to be turned off, or if on permanently 

would cause additional delays at non-peak times for vehicles; 

 The non-signalised option provides a higher BCR than with the signals.   

 Option 4A 1.4.2

Option 4A has the same layout as Option 4 but without the signals in place. The 

proposed layout and a geotechnical section are shown in Figure 1.3 and 1.4 below.  This 

would provide the benefit of the additional lanes, but remove the cost and possible 

uncertainty of signals at the junction. Under this option it would be proposed that the 

construction would allow for the signals to be added at a later date if required, therefore 

‘future proofing’ the junction via the provision of all necessary ducting and cabling during 

construction. This strategy has been agreed with Highways England as appropriate.  

Therefore Option 4A is the recommended scheme for implementation.  The 

rationale for this approach is covered within this Full Business Case document.  

Page 248



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 7 - Issued: October 2016 

 

Figure 1.3: Proposed Scheme (Option 4A), Over Roundabout 

 

Figure 1.4: Geotechnical Section, Over Roundabout 

Gloucester 

A40 Forest of Dean 

A417 North 

A40 GNBP 

A40 GNBP 

To/from Gloucester 

Page 249



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 8 - Issued: October 2016 

1.5 5-Case Model 

The Transport Business Case process is designed to ensure that investments are directed 

at the right schemes and that these are managed and delivered in the best way. This 

ensures that transport investment addresses important issues in an effective way, 

delivering value for money. 

The core of each stage of the Transport Business Case is the 5-Case Model which 

ensures that schemes: 

 Are supported by a robust case for change that fits with wider public 

policy objectives – the ‘strategic case’; 

 Demonstrate value for money – the ‘economic case’; 

 Are commercially viable – the ‘commercial case’; 

 Are financially affordable – the ‘financial case’; and 

 Are achievable – the ‘management case’. 

This document uses this 5-case model in an appropriate and proportionate way to 

demonstrate the merit of investing in the proposed A40 Over Roundabout 

Improvements.  

 Context of the Transport Business Case Process 1.5.1

Currently promoters of all schemes involving an investment of public funds over £5m 

(‘major schemes’) are required to prepare and submit a Transport Business Case. 

Previously a Business Case would be submitted to the Department for Transport (DFT).  

Government policy changes have involved the devolution of decision-making for smaller 

major schemes, below £5m, to Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP’s). These bodies are 

designed to direct investment for an area based on economic priorities set through a 

partnership which is private-sector led. GFirst is the LEP within Gloucestershire. The 

GFirst LEP Assurance Framework outlines the business case requirements which have 

been followed for this scheme.  

Page 250



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 9 - Issued: October 2016 

2 The Strategic Case 

2.1 Rationale for Intervention 

 Changes from the Initial Design and Scope of the Study 2.1.1

The overall purpose of the investment is to reduce congestion along all four arms of the 

A40 Over Roundabout including the A40, A417 and Over Causeway and reduce queue 

times at the approach to the roundabout.  

The overall aim of the scheme is to reduce queues and delays on the A40 ‘east-west’ and 

A417 ‘north-south’ approaches through A40 Over roundabout, thus improving vehicle 

journey times and addressing reliability problems.  

The initial scope of the scheme, extended west as far as Highnam and Linton Lodge, and 

also included the review and/or removal of lane restrictions, locally known as ‘Linton 

Lodge hatchings’. These are located on the eastbound A40 (Highways England 

maintained) between the A40/A48 roundabout and the B4215 junction. The hatchings 

run for approximately 300m on the inside lane of the dual carriageway.  

As reviewed in the Strategic Outline Case, it was established that the hatching was in 

existence prior to Linton Lodge being developed ,and was introduced by the HA for 

safety reasons. There is a need to protect vehicles queueing back from the traffic lights 

owing to the substandard forward visibility on the approaching bend in the vicinity of 

Linton Lodge. Whilst the Linton Lodge access benefits from the hatching, it is not and 

was never the primary reason for their installation.  Therefore, due to the prevailing 

safety reasons regarding stopping sight distances, the proposal to review the hatching at 

Linton Lodge was deleted from the final scheme.  

 GCC Local Transport Plan Objectives  2.1.2

 Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP3) sets out the transport strategy for the 

county encompasses the period from 2015 to 2031. In terms of the Overarching 

Strategy, the scheme contributes towards all of the key objectives as summarised in 

Table 2.1 below from LTP3. In particular, the scheme contributes to the objective of 

supporting sustainable economic growth by making the network more reliable and 

increasing journey time reliability.  

 

Page 251



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 10 - Issued: October 2016 

 

Table 2-1 : Key Objectives outline by the Local Transport Plan 2015-2031.  

2.2 Summary of Scheme Objectives and Beneficiaries 

The overarching goal is to provide a free flowing link in terms of traffic approaching and 

travelling through the currently heavily congested A40 Roundabout. The three most 

important outcomes / objectives have been identified as follows: 

 

 Reduce journey times and improve journey time reliability for all users, 

particularly on the two arms that will be improved (from A417 Maisemore to 

Over and on the westbound approach from Longford Roundabout); 

 Improve local links in the area for all users, including buses; 

 Provide the most direct route and quickest route for all users, reducing CO2 

emissions, noise and air pollution. 

 

 

  

Page 252



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 11 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 2-2 - Objectives and Stakeholder Benefits 

 Main benefits Criteria by Stakeholder 

Investment 

Objective 1 

Reduce journey 

times for all users 

 

Users 

Improving journey times for all users. 

Improving access to jobs and services. 

Residents of Gloucester 

Providing an improved transport link, with planning ahead for 

future development.   

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Maintaining attractiveness of area for domestic and non- 

domestic properties. 

Safeguarding of existing jobs and facilitation of new job 

creation. 

Investment 

Objective 2 

Improving local 

links in the area 

Users 

Improving journey times. 

Improving access to jobs and services. 

Enhanced bus service with reduced delay. 

Residents of Gloucester  

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Maintaining attractiveness of area for domestic and non- 

domestic properties. 

Safeguarding of existing jobs and facilitation of new job 

creation. 

Investment 

Objective 3 

Providing the most 

direct route, 

reducing CO2 

emissions, noise 

and air pollution 

Users 

Maintaining lower vehicle operating costs. 

Avoiding journey time increases and delays. 

Local residents and businesses 

Environmental stakeholders. 

Avoiding increase in air pollution CO2 and noise. 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Maintaining attractiveness of area. 

Page 253



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 12 - Issued: October 2016 

2.3 Need for the scheme 

Whilst the scheme is expected to contribute to the wider economic development of the 

area, it is focused on improving links between surrounding areas (such as routes to the 

north accessed via the A417), and the Forest of Dean and Gloucester.  

The A40 Over Roundabout scheme improvement will also help support the objectives for 

growth as set out within the preferred Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core 

Strategy (GCT-JCS). This document outlines a preferred strategy for delivering homes 

and key employment sites in a sustainable manner to meet future needs and foster 

economic growth. The A40 route provides a key gateway to and from Gloucester, 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury to the west and efficient links for travel to key locations will 

safeguard the quality of life for residents of Gloucestershire.   

The latest proposals for the JCS are currently being considered by the Housing 

Inspectorate.  There are still uncertainties regarding the eventual future housing and 

employment numbers (and their location) to be formally adopted. The County Council 

have been working constructively with the JCS authorities to assess the transport 

infrastructure needed if the full JCS proposals are accepted.   

Within the JCS plan area a number of strategic housing allocation sites currently under 

review that would have an impact on Over Roundabout, and also on the Gloucester 

Northern Bypass including proposed sites at Innsworth, Twigworth and south 

Churchdown.  If these sites are formally adopted, there will be funding available for 

associated transport mitigation measures, which would highly likely include significant 

improvements to both the A40 Gloucester Northern Bypass and A40 Longford 

roundabout.    

It is also important to consider the other restrictions on the network that impact on 

Over, including Walham Viaduct and Longford Roundabout to the east. The County 

Council are acutely aware of the limitations on junction capacity due to the single lane 

restriction on the Walham viaduct link section between Longford and Over roundabouts, 

which can often result in blocking back into Longford roundabout during the PM peak 

hour.  It has therefore been long recognised that there is a need to bring forward a major 

improvement scheme for this route section between Over and Longford.         

            

  

Page 254



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 13 - Issued: October 2016 

2.4 Existing Situation and Delay 

All of the results from the surveys below have been taken into account for the design of 

the submitted scheme (Option 4A).  

 Video Surveys 2.4.1

A count was commissioned for September 2015 to provide information on the current 

traffic flows in the autumn period following the Highways England scheme completed in 

March 2015.  

For the traffic surveys in September 2015, as well as the full classified turning count for 

the junction video surveys were available. The results for the two critical eastern and 

western arms have been analysed, with the results summarised below. Observations 

were also taken regarding the blocking back from the eastbound exit (towards Longford) 

on to the roundabout, as in recent times and before the Western Approach widening 

scheme (that included widening on the northern circulatory of the roundabout) this has 

been known to be a problem. This is as a result of the capacity at Longford, and the 

single lane restriction on Walham Viaduct. The key points from the observation of the 

videos are as follows; 

 Blocking back on to the A40 Eastbound towards Longford 2.4.2

The East Bound exit arm towards Longford was blocked significantly between 07.30 and 

08.00AM and was blocked approximately 50% of the time during this time period. This 

Caused traffic queues to increase as vehicles were unable to enter the roundabout due 

to this congestion. 

 

Blocking back was significantly reduced after 08.00 AM when there was no congestion to 

prevent vehicles from arm B (A417) entering the roundabout and traffic flow was 

efficient.  There was no blocking back in the PM peak period.  

 

  

Page 255



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 14 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 2-3: Time in minutes the A40 towards Longford was blocked  

   East bound towards Longford 

Time Period Time Blocked (Minutes) % 

07.30-07.35 3.3 66% 

07.35-07.40 2.3 46% 

07.40-07.45 4.15 83% 

07.45-07.50 1.25 25% 

07.50-07.55 1.15 23% 

07.55-08.00 0 0% 

08.00-08.05 0 0% 

08.05-08.10 0 0% 

08.10-08.15 0 0% 

08.15-08.20 0 0% 

08.20-08.25 0 0% 

08.25-08.30 0 0% 

08.30-08.35 0 0% 

08.35-08.40 0 0% 

08.40-08.45 0 0% 

08.45-08.50 0 0% 

08.50-08.55 0 0% 

08.55-09.00 0 0% 
 

 A40 approach from Longford  2.4.3

Lane 1 reached maximum capacity during all but one period between 08.00 and 09.00 

and this is often replicated in lane 2 during the same periods. Lane 1 often causes access 

to lane 2 to become blocked as traffic is unable to filter into two lanes.  

During the PM period this is almost completely reversed as Lane 2 reaches capacity over 

50% of the time compared to lane 1 which only reached capacity once.  

 

 A40 approach from the Forest  2.4.4

During the AM periods lane 1 and 3 frequently reach full capacity.  

Congestion reaches its peak between 08.00-08.30.  

Lane 2 fluctuates throughout this period only reaching full capacity once.  

During the PM traffic appears to reduce significantly with all lanes seeing relatively small 

queue lengths and reaching peak queues between 17.15 and 17.30 but never reaches 

full capacity.  

Lane 2 in the PM has very low queue lengths often below 5 vehicles during this period.  

 

Page 256



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 15 - Issued: October 2016 

2.5 Journey Times from the Forest of Dean (west) to Over 

Roundabout 

 Blue-tooth data 2.5.1

 

Since the Western Approach Widening Scheme was completed, journey time data is 

available to estimate the level of improvement from the west. Blue-tooth data was 

collated in June 2015 for the approaches to Over Roundabout. This demonstrated that 

the free-flow time from the Highnam Roundabout to Over is just over 2 minutes, and 

that during the AM peak this only reached just over three minutes and therefore a delay 

incurred of one minute.  

 

Although not a straight comparison with earlier data, it does indicate that the Western 

Approach Widening has made a significant difference and improvement to the 

congestion from the west.  

 

The two Graphs below show the Bluetooth data collected in June 2015. They show the 

average journey times throughout the day. The red line represents free flow conditions. 

 

 

Figure 2-3: Graph shows journey times between Highnam Roundabout & Over 

roundabout. 

Page 257



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 16 - Issued: October 2016 

 

 

 

Figure 2-4: Graph shows journey times between Maisemore & Over 

Roundabout. 

 Journey Time Observations 2.5.2

In 2014 journey time information was collated locally by staff before the improvement 

was completed, with the results demonstrating that a delay of 30 minutes was common, 

with queues as far back as Minsterworth on the A48 on the Murco Garage on the A40 

during the AM peak.   

These results can be compared with new observations from November 2015 to compare 

the changes. This data helps to add to the overall picture regarding changes in journey 

times through the junction.  

The average time from Highnam Roundabout through Over Roundabout was 14.5 

minutes in 2014 for the AM peak (sample of 21 runs), with times varying between 7 and 

21 minutes. A significant reduction is shown following completion of the improvement 

scheme, with an average time in 2015 of 6.5 minutes (sample of 8 runs), with times 

varying between 4 and 10 minutes.  

These results add to the conclusion that the Western Approach Widening improvements 

have made a significant difference to the journey times from the Forest of Dean. 

Page 258



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 17 - Issued: October 2016 

2.6 Capacity Assessment of Existing Roundabout 

 ARCADY Model, Existing Layout 2.6.1

A new ARCADY model was completed using the September 2015 observed traffic flows 

to assess the current level of operational capacity, and modelled queues and delays. The 

results are summarised in the tables below.  

 
Table 2-4: ARCADY Summary of Existing Junction Performance, 2015 Flows   
 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 

(veh) 

RFC Queue 

(veh) 

RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  4 0.81 6 0.86 

Arm 2 – A417 south 1 0.33 1 0.54 

Arm 3 – A40 West 56 1.03 2 0.67 

Arm 4 – A417 North 64 1.25 3 0.76 

 

The summary of the existing junction performance shows that the A417 North arm 

experiences significant queueing and delay in the AM period compared to the other 

Arms. However the A40W arm also shows a significant increase in the AM period. This 

correlation is expected as increased delays and vehicle queue lengths prevent vehicles 

travelling east bound on the A40W from entering the roundabout, consequently 

increasing delays.  

The model outputs also confirm that the PM period experiences comparably less 

congestion. The largest delays are caused on the A40E and the A417N in the PM but 

these are significantly lower than delays in the AM.  

Tables 2.5 and 2.6 below show the assessment of the roundabout, as per the current 

layout, for future years of 2017 and 2041 and show the increased levels of congestion. 

Note that the future year traffic growth has been calculated using TEMPRO assumptions, 

and do not fully reflect the high level of development that would occur in the area as a 

result of the JCS Housing Policy and other key developments currently planned. 

Therefore, the traffic flows and levels of congestion, especially for 2041 are considered 

to be on the low side of expected conditions.  

 
  

Page 259



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 18 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 2-5: ARCADY Summary of Existing Layout, 2017 
 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 

(veh) 

RFC Queue 

(veh) 

RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  4 0.81 13 0.95 

Arm 2 – A417 south 1 0.33 2 0.60 

Arm 3 – A40 West 68 1.04 3 0.74 

Arm 4 – A417 North 69 1.34 7 0.89 

 

Table 2-6: ARCADY Summary of Existing Layout, 2041 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 

(veh) 

RFC Queue 

(veh) 

RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  6 0.86 13 0.95 

Arm 2 – A417 south 1 0.35 2 0.60 

Arm 3 – A40 West 149 1.12 3 0.74 

Arm 4 – A417 North 105 1.34 7 0.89 

 

2.7 Scheme Breakdown  

 Part 1 of improvement  2.7.1

Section 1 of the scheme involves widening the capacity of the A417 towards Maismore 

allowing a priority lane for traffic approaching the roundabout.  

The main benefits of this section of improvement will be a reduction in congestion and 

therefore queue time, allowing more reliable and efficient service for users travelling in 

this direction.   

There is currently no cycle lane or pedestrian access on this section of the approach to 

the roundabout. However it is expected that both cycle and pedestrian’s numbers will be 

very low on and around the roundabout due to its location and surrounding services, and 

anyone who does choose this route as a cyclist will be competent enough to negotiate 

the roundabout safely using the road. 

  Part 2 of improvement 2.7.2

 
Part 2 of the improvement includes a widening of A40 Longford crossover allowing an 

additional lane to allow traffic travelling towards Gloucester on the Over Causeway. This 

Page 260



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 19 - Issued: October 2016 

will also reduce queue time on the approach to the roundabout which currently 

experiences a significant amount of delays, which is increased during peak hours.  

There is currently no cycle lane or pedestrian access on both of the mentioned routes 

A417 Maisemore and the A40 Cross over towards Longford. However it is expected that 

both cycle and pedestrian’s numbers will be very low on and around the roundabout due 

to its location and surrounding services and anyone who does choose this route as a 

cyclist will be competent enough to negotiate the roundabout safely using the road.  

 

 Part 3 of Improvement  2.7.3

 
Part 3 includes increasing the capacity of the roundabout to 3 lanes around the entire 

roundabout. This will increase the capacity of the roundabout and allow all lanes to be in 

use at one time.  

Page 261



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 20 - Issued: October 2016 

3 Economic Case 

3.1 Introduction 

An economic appraisal has been conducted in relation to this scheme, the benefits of 

undertaking the scheme and the disbenefits of not undertaking the works have been 

analysed qualitatively, along with consideration of the costs of the proposed works.  

3.2 Economy 

 Business, individual users and transport providers 3.2.1

Substantial reduction in journey times during peak periods for all users, particularly for 

trips from the A417 North (Maisemore) in the AM Peak. This can be interpreted from the 

predicted reduction in queue lengths.  

 Reliability impacts on business users 3.2.2

Substantial improvement for A40 Over Roundabout, with improved links between 

Gloucester and surrounding areas. As seen in Figures 2.3 and 2.4 there are existing 

issues regarding reliability of journey times, and this will improved by the proposed 

scheme. 

 Regeneration 3.2.3

The scheme improvements will impact on areas subject to regeneration – as detailed for 

the Joint Core Strategy. The scheme will improve connectivity between regeneration 

areas in the Forest of Dean with populations and opportunities located to the east of 

Over. 

 Wider impacts 3.2.4

The scheme will form part of the wider strategy to improve the Gloucester Northern 

Bypass, and links to strategic links in Gloucestershire and wider afield. The scheme will 

impact on the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) housing and employment sites, providing wider 

economic benefit and potential jobs across the Country. The wider economy may also 

see benefit by improving the strategic highway links to the motorways and routes across 

the country.    

N 

Page 262



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 21 - Issued: October 2016 

3.3 Environment 

 Noise  3.3.1

A noise assessment (Appendix B2) was carried out to assess the potential noise effects 

both in terms of operation of the scheme as well as during construction of the scheme. 

The effects of construction noise have been assessed in terms of BS 5228-1.  Road 

traffic noise calculations were carried out in accordance with the Calculation of Road 

Traffic Noise (CRTN) Manual. 

 

The closest noise sensitive receptors (residential) are located in the village of Over, 

approximately 200m to the west of the scheme.  The widening of the carriageway has 

the potential to move the noise source closer to nearby receptors. However, it is 

assumed that the proposed scheme does not alter the main parameters used in the 

calculations i.e. traffic volumes, average speed and composition of HGVs. 

 

During construction, the closest receptors are not expected to experience significant 

effects if the works are to be carried out during the day however significant effects are 

expected if works are to be carried out during the evening or at night. As a result 

mitigation in the form of best practicable means is recommended and these will be 

provided in a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

 

The results show that there is no expected change in operational noise levels as a 

result of the widening of the Over roundabout.  The Contractor should however agree 

appropriate mitigation measures with the local authority’s Environmental Health Officer 

for noise generated during the construction phase of the works. 

 Air Quality 3.3.2

The Air Quality Assessment (Appendix B1) assessed the temporary and permanent 

impacts on air quality associated with the scheme. The assessment was completed in 

accordance with the Department for Transport TAG Unit A3 guidelines and, where 

appropriate, the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB).  

 

There are few residential and commercial receptors within 200m of the scheme. The 

potential adverse effects of dust soiling on people and on nearby ecological receptors 

are low and through the recommended site-specific mitigation measures, become 

Page 263



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 22 - Issued: October 2016 

negligible.  The potential adverse effects of PM10 on human health during construction 

are expected to be negligible. 

 

The assessment report also assessed the permanent effects from associated operational 

vehicle movements on local ambient levels of NO2 and PM10.  The predicted 

concentrations with and without the scheme both in the first year of operation and the 

future year of operation are well below the respective air quality objectives for both NO2 

and PM10.  The overall effects of traffic on ambient air quality have therefore been 

assessed as being imperceptible and as such no mitigation is deemed to be required for 

the operational phase of the scheme. 

 

The overall impact of the scheme on air quality has been classed as neutral/not 

significant. 

 Greenhouse gases 3.3.3

A detailed assessment of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions has not been carried out as 

none of the criteria, to determine whether the A40/A417 Roundabout is classed as an 

‘affected’ road, are forecast to be met (see Appendix B1 for more information). GHG 

emissions were therefore not assessed quantitatively and a regional assessment of air 

quality impacts considered unnecessary. 

 

As the primary aim of the A40 Over Improvements is to reduce congestion by 

improving the capacity and flow of road traffic using the roundabout the scheme will 

contribute to minimising greenhouse gas emissions. The vehicle kilometres travelled 

are not expected to change significantly as a result of the Project and optimum traffic 

flow and speeds are more likely to be achieved as a result of the improvement works. 

This is consistent with the vision and aims of the LTP3 for an environmentally and 

financially sustainable transport network. 

 Landscape 3.3.4

A qualitative review of A40 Over Roundabout and alteration with respect to the Web 

TAG appraisal method for landscape was undertaken (Appendix B3). The local 

character of the area consists of gently sloping agricultural land under grass and arable 

production on the edge of Gloucester.  The scheme is not within a conservation area or 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  The Cotswold AONB starts approximately 

Page 264



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 23 - Issued: October 2016 

6km southeast of the scheme. It is however located on the edge of Alney Island Local 

Nature Reserve (LNR).  

 

Vegetation clearance will have a negative impact on the current landscape setting 

although this is not likely to have a significant adverse impact.  There are no Tree 

Preservation Orders identified on the roundabout at the A417 Over Causeway and the 

A40.  Tree impact will depend on the construction methods and working space 

required, but collaboration with the arboriculture officer throughout the detailed design 

process and on site will ensure trees are retained where possible.  

 

In the medium term it is expected that seeds already present in the bank will 

germinate and saplings will grow due to the available space.  Trees/shrubs to remain 

will be protected during construction to retain the positive visual amenity.  Although 

the carriageway widening will increase the feel of urbanisation throughout the highway 

corridor, the impact overall is expected to be slight adverse effect.   

 Townscape 3.3.5

A qualitative assessment of the impacts of the proposed scheme on townscape has 

been undertaken (Appendix B4).  The scheme is not highly visible from urban areas 

and open spaces; the carriageway widening is therefore unlikely to have a significant 

adverse impact on the surrounding settings. 

 

There is currently a busy road infrastructure in place at present which is visible to a 

number of visual receptors (road users). It is determined that the scheme will have a 

neutral effect on the local townscape. The proposed improvements will likely have no 

impact on the layout, scale and appearance of the surrounding built environment.     

 Heritage or historic resources 3.3.6

The initial environmental scoping assessment identified  that two Scheduled 

Monuments lie within 500m of the scheme: Over Bridge (NHLE No. 1015873) 

representing the original alignment of the crossing over the River Severn (170m to SW 

of the Scheme), and Over earthwork (NHLE No. 1002092) site of a medieval moat 

(approx. 430m to NW).  No further designated heritage assets (Listed Buildings, 

Registered Battlefields, Registered Parks and Gardens or Conservation Areas) lie within 

500m of the Scheme. Historic  England’s Pastscape records five undesignated heritage 

assets within 500m; four relate to former crossings of the River Severn and the other 

Page 265



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 24 - Issued: October 2016 

identifies the site of a late 19th century Isolation Hospital.  The location of the scheme 

within the Severn Valley raises the potential for currently unknown archaeological 

remains (particularly prehistoric and Roman) to survive, however as the works are to 

take place within disturbed ground within the highway boundary the potential for these 

is considered insignificant. 

 

No permanent impacts to historic resources are anticipated due to the location of the 

scheme within the existing artificial embankment.  Impact would therefore be neutral 

and this topic has been scoped out from further assessment. 

 Biodiversity 3.3.7

A preliminary ecological (scoping) appraisal of the site has been carried out (Appendix 

B5) and is intended to record relevant habitats, including any that are formally 

designated for nature conservation, and to highlight the potential for legally-protected 

or otherwise notable species.  There are no sites of international or national 

environmental importance that will be impacted directly or indirectly through the 

scheme.  An ecological walkover revealed that the scheme has the potential to impact 

the habitats of birds (e.g. scrub, trees), bats and badgers.   

 

Local Nature Reserve (LNR) and Key Wildlife Site (KWS) Alney Island lies directly 

adjacent to the scheme boundary and in order to prevent impact upon this site, no 

materials or liquids will be stored adjacent to the LNR and KWS, and contractors shall 

be made aware of its location and aware that no access to this area or storage of 

materials within this area is allowed without prior approval from an ecologist.  

 

The removal of broadleaved plantation woodland is likely to have a short term minor 

negative impact upon birds and bats, however, the erection of bird boxes on trees not 

impacted by the scheme could result in a positive impact for birds.  The erection of bat 

boxes on mature trees in the wider area of this scheme could also have a medium to 

long term positive impact upon bats, and where possible works will take place during 

the day to negate the use of artificial lighting which can negatively impact upon 

commuting and foraging bats.  

 

Inactive badger setts were found within the scheme boundary.  The badger sett will be 

re-surveyed prior to construction to ensure that it is still inactive. If the badger sett has 

become active a licence from Natural England will be required to disturb the sett prior 

Page 266



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 25 - Issued: October 2016 

to construction.  As a precaution any excavations present on site that are left overnight 

will have graded edges to allow any badgers (and any other mammals) that may fall in 

the excavation, to leave.  

 

The required vegetation clearance will be undertaken between September and 

February (inclusive) to avoid the nesting bird season.  If any vegetation clearance is 

required during the breeding season (March-August) then an inspection for active 

nests will be made within 48 hours prior to cutting.  If an active nest is found, a buffer 

zone will need to be established and works delayed at this location until the chicks 

have fledged. 

 

With the implementation of mitigation measures, the overall impact on the natural and 

urban environment has been assessed as broadly neutral.   

 Water environment / flooding 3.3.8

The River Severn flows either side of Over Roundabout and is approximately 150m at 

closest point.  The Roundabout itself is within flood zone 2 (land assessed as having 

between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river flooding (1% – 0.1%) in 

any year), but the surrounding area is within flood zone 3 (land assessed as having a 1 

in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding (>1%) in any year).  

 

There is no change to the drainage system in terms of the proposed outfall flow rates 

and locations; therefore this topic has not been assessed further.  The drainage design 

philosophy for the scheme is to keep everything as current and store any additional 

flow in the system and/or through attenuation.  Storm blocks and an orifice plate will 

be installed by the A40 Westbound to attenuate additional flow coming from the 

roundabout.  Orifice plates will also be installed for the other two outfalls. The drainage 

system has been modelled to ensure the system can cope for a 30 year return period 

flood plus 20% climate change in line with design standard. 

 

The Lead Local Flood Authority (GCC) and the Environment Agency should, however, 

be contacted to discuss any flood management actions/issues under the Flood and 

Water Management Act 2010. Appropriate pollution prevention measures will be 

implemented during works to prevent contamination to the water environment.   

  

Page 267



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 26 - Issued: October 2016 

3.4 Social 

 Commuting and other users  3.4.1

Improved reliability and efficiency of the A40 Roundabout will improve journey times and 

encourage use and travel to Gloucester, the Forest of Dean and other surrounding areas.  

 Reliability impacts on commuting and other users 3.4.2

Substantial reductions in the variability of peak journey times, resulting in less “lost time” 

for commuters.  

 Physical activity 3.4.3

Pedestrian and cycle routes will remain unchanged under the proposed scheme. 

Therefore the physical activity impacts of the scheme are considered to be neutral. 

 Journey quality 3.4.4

Perception of journey quality will be improved by a smoother and predictable transit to 

all links on the A40 Roundabout.  

 Accidents 3.4.5

The existing accidents have been reviewed covering the period 2010 to 2015 covering 

the A40 Over roundabout and approaching links. The data suggests that between 2010 

and 2015 there has been 2 serious accidents on the roundabout and around 8 “Slight” 

accidents which have occurred directly on the roundabout. On the two arms in which 

this scheme will effect there has only been 1 “slight” accident on each arm. This is 

expected to remain low as no change in traffic volumes is expected as a result of the 

scheme.  

 

 

Page 268



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 27 - Issued: October 2016 

 

Figure 3-1: Over Roundabout Accident Data between 2010 and 2015.  

 

Page 269



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 28 - Issued: October 2016 

4 Security 

No change to security is predicted to arise due to the scheme and therefore no 

assessment will be completed.  

 Access to services 4.1.1

As there are no proposed changes in routings or timings of current public transport 

services, an assessment of access to services is not proposed. 

 Affordability 4.1.2

Affordability of the service will remain the same with no changes to service costs. The 

improvements in congestion around the A40 Roundabout might encourage cyclist on 

these routes. However due to the location of the scheme it is unlikely to be a significant 

increase and pedestrian number will be low.  

 Severance 4.1.3

Neutral impact expected. 

 Equality impacts 4.1.4

No Impact expected 

4.2 Critical Success Factors 

There are several ‘Critical Success Factors’ (CSF) that will determine if the scheme can 

be introduced satisfactorily. These CSF are essentially a combination of performance, 

finance and delivery assurances, as suggested in HM Treasury’s ‘The Green Book’ and 

which can be assessed qualitatively and broadly aligned under the five criteria of the 

Business Case. The CSFs for the Over scheme are as follows:  

CSF1: Strategic Fit (Strategic Case) 

 Will enable housing and employment development (for example at the 

JCS sites) to be brought forward; 

 Enables development (housing; employment) to take place, where 

residents or employees have access to an improved highway network; 

 Improve road safety; 

 Improvement in quality and reduction in travel time for all vehicles 

Page 270



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 29 - Issued: October 2016 

CSF 2: Value for Money (Economic Case) 

 Will maximise return on investment, striking a balance between the cost 

of delivery and the cost to the economy of non-delivery; 

 

CSF 3: Achievability (Commercial Case) 

 Deliverable utilising current engineering solutions; 

 Limits long-term maintenance liabilities. 

 

CSF 4: Affordability (Financial Case) 

 Deliverable within the capital funding available; 

 Revenue liabilities for the option are affordable within current budgets. 

 

CRF 5: Timescale for Implementation (Management Case) 

 Can be delivered within the timeframe of available funding. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 271



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 30 - Issued: October 2016 

4.3 Junction Modelling 

 LINSIG Modelling, Option 4 4.3.1

A LINSIG model has been completed using the new September 2015 flows to assess the 

current level of operational capacity and modelled queues and delays based on Option 4, 

with the signals on the roundabout for the two A40 arms.  

The results from the LINSIG assessment are summarised in the tables below; 

 
Table 3.1: Summary of LINSIG Results, 2015 Flows 

 

 

 

 

  

Arm Description 

Network Results 

AM PM 

DoS% Queue DoS% Queue 

A40 W Ahead Left 96.4 21 92.9 13 

A40 W Ahead 82.7 9 58.6 5 

A417 N Ahead 45.4 2 38.0 1 

A417 N Ahead 61.1 3 41.0 1 

A40 E Left Ahead 88.0 9 93.0 13 

A40 E Ahead 79.0 7 86.5 11 

A417 S Ahead 44.2 2 58.3 4 

A417 S Ahead 44.2 2 85.4 9 

Network Performance 

(PRC) 
-7.1% -3.3% 

Total Network Delay 45 pcu/Hr 38 pcu/Hr 

Page 272



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 31 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 3.2: Summary of LINSIG Results, 2017 Flows 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Arm Description 

Network Results 

AM PM 

DoS% Queue DoS% Queue 

A40 W Ahead Left 97.4 23 93.7 14 

A40 W Ahead 83.5 9 59.3 5 

A417 N Ahead 46.5 2 38.7 1 

A417 N Ahead 62.2 3 41.8 1 

A40 E Left Ahead 88.9 9 93.8 13 

A40 E Ahead 79.8 7 87.2 11 

A417 S Ahead 44.9 2 59.1 4 

A417 S Ahead 44.9 2 86.4 9 

Network Performance 

(PRC) 
-8.3% -4.2% 

Total Network Delay 48 pcu/Hr 40 pcu/Hr 

Page 273



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 32 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 3.3: Summary of LINSIG Results, 2041 Flows 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In summary, the AM LINSIG modelling results show that A40W experiences the highest 

vehicle queue length.  

The PM results convey a very similar pattern to the AM period showing again the A40W 

and the A40E to be the most congested arms for the signalised arm.   

In conclusion the signalised option does reduce queue times and increase the level of 

service across all lanes approaching the roundabout. The AM period remains the most 

congested period but congestion remains relatively low and acceptable with no real 

major delays. The PM period suggests that congestion is less of an issue when compared 

to the AM, and congestion appears to be reduced significantly on all arms during this 

period and most significantly on arms with the highest flow rates. It does show a 

significant improvement compared to the Do-Nothing of leaving the roundabout as is 

(Table 2.5 and 2.6), where there was a modelled indicative queue of over 100 vehicles 

on the A40 West and A417 North arms.  

 ARCADY Model, Option 4A 4.3.2

The modelling for Option 4A assumes the same lane widening on the approaches to the 

roundabout and circulatory, but without implementing any traffic signals.  

Table 3-4 below summarises the results for Option 4A using the ARCADY model.  

 

Arm Description 

Network Results 

AM PM 

DoS% Queue DoS% Queue 

A40 W Ahead Left 111.3 71 94.0 15 

A40 W Ahead 92.5 14 60.8 5 

A417 N Ahead 45.7 2 43.7 2 

A417 N Ahead 61.4 3 47.2 2 

A40 E Left Ahead 102.1 19 93.7 14 

A40 E Ahead 89.7 10 88.1 12 

A417 S Ahead 48.0 2 64.6 4 

A417 S Ahead 48.1 2 94.4 14 

Network Performance 

(PRC) 
-23.7% -4.9% 

Total Network Delay 111 pcu/Hr 47 pcu/Hr 

Page 274



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 33 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 3.4: ARCADY Summary of Proposed Junction Performance, Option 4A 
 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  1 0.59 2 0.63 

Arm 2 – A417 south 1 0.37 2 0.61 

Arm 3 – A40 West 49 1.02 2 0.66 

Arm 4 – A417 North 1 0.53 1 0.39 

 
Table 3.5: ARCADY Option 4A 2017 Flows 

 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  
2 0.60 2 0.64 

Arm 2 – A417 south 
1 0.37 2 0.61 

Arm 3 – A40 West 
61 1.04 2 0.67 

Arm 4 – A417 North 
1 0.54 1 0.40 

 

Table 3-6: ARCADY Option 4A 2041 Flows 
 

Arm AM PM 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Queue 
(veh) RFC 

Arm 1 – A40 East  
2 0.64 2 0.70 

Arm 2 – A417 south 
1 0.40 2 0.67 

Arm 3 – A40 West 
139 1.11 3 0.73 

Arm 4 – A417 North 
1 0.57 1 0.44 

 

The summary results convey a significant reduction in queue lengths and traffic 

congestion on the entire roundabout. The most substantial improvement is evident in the 

AM period and most significantly congestion on the A417 N. This reduction is also 

replicated in the PM period.  

In summary the ARCADY assessment confirms that the proposed plans for the Over 

Roundabout decrease congestion and increase the efficiency of the roundabout for every 

arm. Most considerably the congestion experienced on the A417N during the AM period 

which was identified in the video reviews to severely effect A40W, is predicted to reduce.  

Page 275



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 34 - Issued: October 2016 

The results for 2041 can be compared to the assessment for the existing layout, as in 

Table 3.7 below.  

 
Table 3-7: ARCADY 2041 Flows, Existing Layout and Proposed (Queue, 
Vehicles)  

 

Arm AM PM 

Existing Proposed Existing Proposed 

Arm 1 – A40 East  
6 2 13 2 

Arm 2 – A417 south 
1 1 2 2 

Arm 3 – A40 West 
149 139 3 3 

Arm 4 – A417 North 
105 1 7 1 

4.4 BCR Calculations 

The economic assessment for the A40 Over roundabout design has been undertaken 

using a bespoke spreadsheet model that has been developed to compare the scheme 

costs and the monetary cost benefits associated with an enlarged widened roundabout. 

The ARCADY results above have been used as the basis for the calculations.  The delay 

(seconds) has been calculated and inputted to the spreadsheet, demonstrating that the 

enlarged roundabout provides capacity benefit and reduces delay for vehicles.  

The monetary cost benefits for this delay saving to drivers by journey purpose has been 

calculated from the TAG data book (Resource cost values, £ per hour (2010 prices) and 

calculated for 30 and 60 years. A 30 year and 60 year BCR value has been calculated by 

comparing the monetary costs calculated from the delay saving with the present value 

construction costs. 

A Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) calculation has been completed for both schemes, with the 

results summarised as follows:  

 
Option 4 – Full Signalisation  

 

 30 year BCR 10.30  
 

 60 year BCR 22.91  
 

Option 4A – Roundabout Widening, no signals  
 

 30 year BCR 19.95 
 

 60 year BCR 45.76  
 

Page 276



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 35 - Issued: October 2016 

Note that the BCR for Option 4A has been revised as a result of new cost estimates for 

the final scheme. The BCR for Option 4 is as per previous assessment work to compare 

the two schemes.  

Therefore the results show that both schemes have a positive BCR, with Option 4A 

producing a higher BCR score. This has contributed to Option 4A being taken forward 

as the recommended scheme.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 36 - Issued: October 2016 

4.5 Appraisal Summary Table 

Table 3.8: Appraisal Summary Table 

Impacts Summary of key impacts Assessment 

     

Quantitative 

 

Qualitative 

 

Monetary £m(NPV) 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

E
c
o

n
o

m
y
 

Business users & 

transport providers  

Avoidance of increased costs, increased journey times, increased delay.   
 30 year BCR 19.95 
 60 year BCR 45.76  

 
 
 

Significantly Beneficial  

Value (£m) 2010 

prices, discounted to 

2010 

£1.8M 

 

Reliability impact on 

Business users 

Avoid increase in journey times and increase safety.  
See “commuting and other users” Significantly Beneficial N/A 

Regeneration Maintaining attractiveness of area for domestic and non- domestic 

properties. 

 Improving journey times. 

 Improving access to jobs and services. 

 Improving local bus service reliability.  

 Direct, safe route for all vehicles. 

 

Not calculated for this scheme Significantly Beneficial N/A 

  
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 

Noise During construction, the closest receptors are not expected to experience 

significant effects if the works are to be carried out during the day however 

significant effects are expected if works are to be carried out during the 

evening or at night. As a result mitigation in the form of best practicable 

means is recommended. 

The results show that there is no expected change in operational noise 

levels as a result of the widening of the Over roundabout.   

Not assessed Neutral Impact   

Air Quality The potential adverse effects of dust soiling on people and on nearby 

ecological receptors are low and through the recommended site-specific 

mitigation measures, become negligible.  The potential adverse effects of 

Not assessed Neutral Impact   

P
age 278



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 37 - Issued: October 2016 

Impacts Summary of key impacts Assessment 

     

Quantitative 

 

Qualitative 

 

Monetary £m(NPV) 

PM10 on human health during construction are expected to be negligible. 

The overall effects of traffic on ambient air quality have therefore been 

assessed as being imperceptible and as such no mitigation is deemed to 

be required for the operational phase of the scheme. 

Greenhouse gases A greenhouse gas assessment has not been carried out, but as the 

primary aim of the A40 Over Improvements aim to reduce congestion by 

improving the capacity and flow of road traffic using the roundabout the 

scheme will contribute to minimising greenhouse gas emissions. 

Not assessed 

  
Neutral Impact  

 

Landscape The carriageway widening will increase the feel of urbanisation 

throughout the highway corridor, and tree removal will open up the 

views. Overall the impact is expected to be a slight adverse effect.   

 Not quantified Slight adverse  

N/A 

Townscape The proposed improvements will likely have no impact on the layout, 

scale and appearance of the surrounding built environment.    It is 

determined that the scheme will have a neutral effect on the local 

townscape. 

 Not quantified 

 

Neutral Impact N/A 

Biodiversity The implementation of mitigation measures, the overall impact on the 

natural and urban environment has been assessed as broadly neutral.   

 
Not quantified 

Neutral Impact N/A 

Water Environment The scheme is within flood zone 2 and the drainage system has been 

modelled to ensure the system can cope for a 30 year return period plus 

20% climate change in line with design standard.  There will be a neutral 

impact as long as mitigation measures are implemented. 

Not quantified Neutral Impact  

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
 

S
o

c
ia

l 
 

Commuting and Other 

users 

Avoidance of increased costs, increased journey times, increased delays 

and reduced reliability. Journey time saving primarily on the A417 (N) 

towards Maisemore and the A40 GNBP corridor.   
Not quantified Significantly Beneficial N/A 

P
age 279



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 38 - Issued: October 2016 

Impacts Summary of key impacts Assessment 

     

Quantitative 

 

Qualitative 

 

Monetary £m(NPV) 

Reliability impact on 

Commuting and Other 

users 

Improved journey time reliability for all users including buses. Increase 

capacity of the lanes proposed by the scheme will reduce queue times 

and increase efficiency of the junctions.  

Not quantified  Significantly Beneficial N/A  

Physical activity This scheme is unlikely to have a direct impact upon Physical activity. 

Not quantified Significantly Beneficial 

 

 

N/A 

Journey quality  Journey times will be improved by a quicker and predictable transit 

through Over Roundabout.   
Not quantified Moderately Beneficial   N/A 

Accidents Accident figures are expected to remain low due to a more organised and 

efficient roundabout.  

Refer to Accident Data  Slightly Beneficial  N/A 

Security No Impact expected.  Not quantified  Neutral 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

Access to services Access to services will not be affected by the proposed scheme, apart 

from an improved route into and Gloucester and improved access to the 

forest of dean and other surrounding areas.  

Not quantified Slightly Beneficial 

N/A 

  

Affordability Provision of LEP funds £2.23M, Developer S106 £0.12M 
Developer funds have been secured N/A N/A 

Severance No impact expected  Not quantified  Neutral  N/A 

Option and non-use 

values 

Not relevant N/A N/A N/A 

P
age 280



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 39 - Issued: October 2016 

Impacts Summary of key impacts Assessment 

     

Quantitative 

 

Qualitative 

 

Monetary £m(NPV) 

  
 P

u
b

li
c
 A

c
c
o

u
n

ts
 

 

Cost to Broad 

Transport Budget 

 

User benefits Non-user benefits 
Cost of scheme is £2.35M with £0.12M from 

Developer S106 

Expected net overall 

benefit 
N/A 

Indirect Tax 

Revenues 

 

No Impact Expected 

Not quantified N/A N/A 

P
age 281



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 40 - Issued: October 2016 

4.6 Value for Money Statement 

 VfM Category 4.6.1

The VfM has been prepared in accordance with the DfT's "Value for money 

assessment: advice note for local transport decision makers". The overall qualitative 

outcome is Very High. This VfM is based on the quantified BCR for the scheme of 19.95 

over 30 years (i.e. Very High).  

 

Page 282



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 41 - Issued: October 2016 

5 Commercial Case 

5.1 Bus Services  

There have been previous improvements to bus routes on the A40 (w) Arm from the 

Forest of Dean, as a result of the bus lane (starting at the Toby Carvery).  Further 

improvements to the Over junction would benefit a large number of bus routes which 

operate at present. The scheme would improve bus reliability on all routes and most 

significantly the buses which use the A417 (N) from Maisemore. This improvement would 

be most significant at peak times and will encourage users to use the bus services which 

currently use the A40 Over Roundabout. Details of which can be seen below. 

 

Stagecoach bus services currently operating are as follows; 
 

23 - Gloucester - Lydney - Coleford: Half hourly at peak, hourly off peak. 

24 - Gloucester - Cinderford – Coleford: Hourly at peak, 2 hourly off peak 30-hourly all .  

31 - Gloucester - Cinderford – Coleford: Hourly all day. 

32/132 -Gloucester - Newent - Ross or Ledbury: Half hourly at peak, hourly off peak.  

33 - Gloucester to Ross – Hereford: Hourly all day, 

Newent school buses - 3 journeys Gloucester - Newent / Newent – Gloucester. 

 
Collectively, these services carry a total of 1,450,000 passengers per annum. It is 

important to note that other services are available, apart from those listed above.  

5.2 Commercial Issues 

The scheme will generate no direct income for the County Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 283



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 42 - Issued: October 2016 

5.3 Scheme Procurement 

5.3.1 Procurement Options 

GCC have identified three procurement options for the delivery of their LEP funded 

schemes. The alternative options are: 

 

A. Full OJEU tender (Schemes greater than OJEU limit of £4,322,012) 

GCC would opt for an ‘open’ tender, where anyone may submit a tender, or a ‘restricted’ 

tender, where a Pre-Qualification is used to whittle down the open market to a pre-

determined number of tenderers. This process takes approximately one month and the 

first part is a 47 day minimum period for GCC to publish a contract notice on the OJEU 

website.  

The minimum tender period is 6 weeks but could be longer for more complex schemes. 

Once the tenders are received they will be assessed and a preferred supplier identified. 

There is a mandatory 10 day ‘standstill’ period, during which unsuccessful tenderers may 

challenge the intention to award to the preferred contractor. 

 

B. Open Tender (Schemes greater than £1M but less than OJEU limit) 

GCC would opt for an ‘open’ tender, where anyone may submit a tender; this would 

include Pre-Qualification criteria which will be used to select 5 tenderers. 

Schemes will be procured via ProContract and this would include prior notifications of the 

tender approximately 4 weeks before the formal tender. Depending upon the complexity 

of the scheme supplier engagement presentations will be arranged.  

The minimum tender period is 6 weeks but could be longer for more complex schemes. 

The successful 5 tenders will be assessed and a preferred supplier identified. A 10 day 

‘standstill’ period will be adopted, during which unsuccessful tenderers may challenge the 

intention to award to the preferred contractor. 

 

 

 

Page 284



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 43 - Issued: October 2016 

C. Delivery through Amey Highways Term Maintenance Contract (HTMC) (Schemes less 

than £500k). 

This option is strictly not procurement as the HTMC is an existing contract. The HTMC is 

based on a Schedule of Rates agreed at the inception of the contract. The price for each 

individual scheme is determined by identifying the quantities of each required item into a 

Bill of Quantities. Amey may price ‘star’ items if no rate already exists for the required 

item. If the scope of a specific scheme is different from the item coverage within the 

HTMC contract a new rate can be negotiated. 

The preferred procurement route for the A40 Over Roundabout Improvements scheme is 

Option B Open Tender. 

This option has been selected due to the estimated value of the scheme. 

A detailed design has been produced for the scheme and the works are standard 

construction. For budget certainty the scheme will be procured on a lump sum basis as 

an ECC Option A contract (Lump Sum with Activity schedule). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 285



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 44 - Issued: October 2016 

5.4 Commercial Risk Assessment 

The table below provides a summary of the identified commercial risks surrounding the 

scheme. 

Qualitative Commercial Risk Assessment 

Scheme 

Commercial Risk 

Item 

 

Likelihood of Risk 

Arising () 

Impact Severity 

() 

Predicted Effect 

on Scheme 

Procurement, 

Delivery & 

Operation () 

Immediate Bearer of 

Risk and Suggested 

Mitigation 

 

L
o

w
 

M
e

d
iu

m
 

H
ig

h
 

S
li

g
h

t 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 

S
e

v
e

re
 

S
li

g
h

t 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 

S
e

v
e

re
 

Scheme construction 

is delayed and/or 

costs increase. 

 

Eg from unexpected 

engineering 

difficulties. 

         

GCC, as scheme 

promoter, bears the 

risk. 

Ensure that scheme 

development, design, 

procurement and 

construction procedures 

are sufficiently robust 

to minimise likelihood 

of construction 

difficulties.  

Ongoing maintenance 

costs of scheme 

higher than expected 

         

GCC, as scheme 

promoter, bears the 

risk. 

Ensure that scheme 

design, materials 

selection and 

construction procedures 

are sufficiently robust 

to minimise likelihood 

of maintenance issues. 

Table 4-1: Scheme Commercial Risk Assessment 

 

Page 286



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 45 - Issued: October 2016 

6 Financial Case 

6.1 Project Costs 

This section considers the capital costs associated with the proposed scheme investment.   

 Breakdown and Time Profile of Project Costs 6.1.1

Scheme Cost Breakdown and Profile 

Project Cost 

Components 
Capital Cost Items 

* Cost 

Estimate  

Status 

(O/P/D/T) 

Costs by year (£) 

Year of Estimate: 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Design & 

Management 

Design fees, 

Surveys and trial holes 
D £250,000 £90,000 £80,000 £12,000 

Construction 

including  

Traffic-Related 

Maintenance 

Non-Routine Re-construction 

Re-Surfacing of carriageway and cycleway 

Signals upgrade 

D 0 £560,000 £1,035,000 0 

Contingency (As appropriate) D £50,000 £100,000 £170,000 £3,000 

Indirect Tax Non-Recoverable VAT (if applicable) - - - - - 

Total Cost 

Including Risk Adjustment 

Excluding optimism Bias 

(NB - Not Base Cost with Real Cost 

Adjustment) 

D £300,000 £750,000 £1,285,000 £15,000 

*O = Outline estimate, P= Preliminary estimate,  D = Detailed estimate,  T = Tender price, 

*O = Outline estimate, P= Preliminary estimate,  D = Detailed estimate,  T = Tender price, 

Table 5.1: Scheme Capital Cost Breakdown and Profile 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 46 - Issued: October 2016 

6.2 Project Funding 

This section considers the capital funding requirements and commitments for the 

proposed scheme investment.   

 Sources of Funding 6.2.1

The sources of funding for the scheme are summarised below.  

Scheme Funding Sources and Profile of Contributions 

  

 

Funding Contributions by year 

 

Funding 

Source 
Fund Details 

2
0

1
6

/
1

7
 

2
0

1
7

/
1

8
 

2
0

1
8

/
1

9
 

2
0

1
9

/
2

0
 

All Years 

Gov. / LEP 

(direct) 
GFirst LEP £300,000 *£750,000 *£1,180,000 0 £2,230,000 

S106 
Longford Housing 

development 
0 0 £105,000 £15,000 £120,000 

All Funding 

Sources 
Total £300,000 £750,000 £1,285,000 £15,000 £2,350,000 

*subject to progress with the A40 Elmbridge Roundabout Scheme it may be possible to bring 

some of this spend forward to earlier years. 

Table 5.2: Scheme Funding Sources and Profile of Contributions. 

 Security and Earliest Availability of Funds 6.2.2

A Section 106 agreement dated 17th May 2013 for the Longford Housing development has 

secured funds of £120,000 towards improvements to the A40 Over roundabout. These 

funds are with GCC. 

Security of Scheme funding Sources and Earliest Availability 

  
Security of Funding Contribution 

() 

Earliest Available 

Date for Securing 

Fund Contribution 

Funding Source Fund Details Low Medium High 

Part 

Funding 

Date 

Full 

Funding 

Date 

GLTB/LEP LEP    Dec 2016 2018/19 

Private Funding  Private     NA 2016/17 

Table 5.3: Security and Availability of Scheme Funding Contributions 

Page 288



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 47 - Issued: October 2016 

 

6.3 Financial Risk Management Strategy 

This section examines the risks associated with the costs and financial requirements of 

the onsite infrastructure and engineering works.  It considers the mitigation that may be 

needed to handle the identified risks, if they arise.   

 Risks to the Scheme Cost Estimate and Funding Strategy 6.3.1

Table 5.4 show the financial risks and suggested mitigation measures associated with 

this scheme. 

Table 5.4: Scheme Financial Risk Assessment 

Qualitative Financial Risk Assessment  

Scheme Financial Risk 

Item 

 

Likelihood of Risk 

Arising () 

Impact Severity 

() 

Predicted Effect 

on Scheme 

Delivery & 

Outcome () Suggested Mitigation 

 

L
o

w
 

M
e

d
iu

m
 

H
ig

h
 

S
li

g
h

t 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 

S
e

v
e

re
 

S
li

g
h

t 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 

S
e

v
e

re
 

Unforeseen increase in 

scheme cost reduces the 

VfM (i.e. BCR nearer to 

1.0 ‘low’) 

         

Amend preferred scheme 

design content to reduce 

scheme cost and increase 

VfM / BCR 

Earmarked / secured 

funds do not cover 

current scheme capital 

cost 

         

Amend preferred scheme 

design content to reduce 

scheme cost 

 

 

          

 

  

Page 289



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 48 - Issued: October 2016 

6.4 Ongoing Maintenance 

The scheme will include the following additional carriageway surface areas; 

 

 
Gloucester County 

Council Network 

Highways England 

Network 

Southbound Approach 80 m2 100 m2 

Westbound Approach 85 m2 300 m2 

Eastbound Approach - 47 m2 

Northbound Approach - 79 m2 

 165 526 

 

Gloucestershire County Council 

The following information is from the GCC Maintenance contract; 

To cover two surface treatments and a surface course resurfacing, the cost of the 

ongoing maintenance is estimated as £23.20 per m2. Over a 30 year design life this 

would equate to £0.77p per m2 per year. The scheme will construct additional 

Gloucester County Council carriageway area of 165 m2. 

The additional maintenance liability would therefore equate to £127.05 per year and GCC 

will include for this in maintenance budgets. 

 

Highways England 

The scheme will also construct additional Highways England carriageway area of 526 

m2. A section 6 agreement will be put in place between Gloucestershire County Council 

and Highways England. This will confirm that a zero commuted sum payment, for any 

additional future maintenance liability for the HE resulting from these works. This has 

been discussed in principle and agreed with Highways England. Work to complete this 

agreement is being drafted and should be in place by December 2016. 

 

  

Page 290



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 49 - Issued: October 2016 

7 Management Case 

7.1 Overview 

The Management Case outlines how the proposed scheme and its intended outcomes 

will be delivered successfully.  It gives assurances that the scheme content, programme, 

resources, impacts, problems, affected groups and decision makers, will all be handled 

appropriately, to ensure that the scheme is ultimately successful. 

7.2 Project Governance, Roles and Responsibilities 

 Project Governance 7.2.1

GCC have set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effectual 

decision making process for the management of the LEP funded schemes. Each scheme 

will have a designated project manager who will be an appropriately trained and 

experienced member of GCC staff. 

A detailed breakdown of meetings (along with the attendees, scope and output of each) 

which make up the established governance process is set out below. 

 Project Board Meetings (PBM) 7.2.2

PB meetings are held monthly to discuss individual progress on each scheme and are 

chaired by Amey Project Managers (PMs). Attendees include representatives for different 

aspects of LEP management (i.e. Communication, Traffic, Risk Management, Amey 

design and/or construction team). Progress is also discussed in technical detail raising 

any issues or concerns for all to action. A progress report, minutes of meeting and an 

update on programme dates are provided ahead of the meeting for collation and 

production of the LEP progress and highlight Report. 

 LEP Progress and Highlight Report 7.2.3

The Progress and Highlight Reports sent by the GCC PMs comprise of the following 

updates; general progress, project finances, issues, risks and meeting dates. The report 

also identifies any areas of concern or where decisions are required by the PB meeting.  

An agreed version of the latest Progress and Highlight Report is issued to the PB meeting 

attendees during the meeting. 

Page 291



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 50 - Issued: October 2016 

7.3 Project Management Structure 

Gloucestershire County Council and Amey have agreed a project management structure 

for the project, as shown in Table 6.1 below.  

 

Table 6.1: Project Management Structure 

A full GANTT chart showing the proposed project programme is included as an Appendix 

E. 

7.4 Public Consultation 

The key outcomes from the consultation can be summarised as below. Two public 

consultation events were held for the proposed A40 Over Roundabout Improvement 

Scheme. One was held at Hartpury Village Hall on the 20th September 2016 and the 

other at Highnam Community Centre on the 22nd September 2016. There were between 

60-70 attendees at these events. 

The overall consensus of the feedback received was positive with general support for the 

scheme and there were no notable objections to any of the proposed changes.  

Page 292



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 51 - Issued: October 2016 

A list of key points raised are summarised below, and where possible the points will be 

incorporated into the final designs. The green box items will be incorporated within the 

design and the amber/yellow box items will be included subject to further consideration. 

Suggestions and concerns raised by 

attendees 
How responded to and addressed 

Entering the roundabout from the A417 

southbound is difficult as there are too few 

gaps in the traffic.  

The scheme design improves this situation. 

Two of the three vehicle lanes will be extended, 

on the A417 southbound approach. This will 

allow more vehicles to enter the roundabout 

when a gap becomes available. 

The lane markings and destinations on the 

approaches to the roundabout and the spiral 

markings on the roundabout are confusing and 

need to be amended. 

In light of the comments received the existing 

and proposed road markings will be reviewed. 

The Design Team will ensure that the final road 

marking layout provide clearer indication to 

drivers on which lanes they should be using. 

Improved signing is required to show lane 

destinations in advance of the roundabout. 

The design layout will include lane destination 

signing positioned in advance of the junction 

Entering the roundabout from the A417 

southbound can be hazardous as vehicle 

speeds on the roundabout can be high. Vehicle 

speeds need to be reduced. 

Design Team will review alternative options to 

reduce traffic speeds on the A40 eastbound 

approach to the roundabout. These will be 

discussed with Highways England and included in 

the scheme if acceptable. 

In peak periods the traffic on the A40 is 

queued right across the junction and stops 

vehicles entering the roundabout from the 

A417. Can we install yellow box junction 

markings or Keep Clear markings. 

The suggestion will be considered further. The 

Design Team will investigate whether the 

installation of road markings to keep the 

highway clear could be accommodated.  

Cycling on the roundabout is dangerous, there 

are off road cycletracks near-by but they are in 

a poor condition. Can they be improved? 

The Design Team will undertake a review of the 

existing off carriageway cycle facilities and 

consider what improvements could be included 

in the Over roundabout scheme subject to 

funding constraints. 

There is a merge where 2 lanes go into 1 on 

the A40 eastbound exit from the roundabout. 

The merge is difficult and should be removed. 

The layout of the merge will be reviewed by the 

design team and amendments will be made if 

appropriate. The final design will be subject to 

an independent Safety Audit. 

Page 293



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 52 - Issued: October 2016 

Suggestions and concerns raised by 

attendees 
How responded to and addressed 

Box junction or keep clear marks where the 

A417 southbound joins the roundabout. 

The layout of the roundabout will be reviewed 

by the design team and amendments will be 

made if appropriate. The final design will be 

subject to an independent Safety Audit. 

The proposals don’t go far enough; the 

scheme should include traffic signals to allow 

traffic to exit the A417 safely and without 

delay. 

The installation of traffic signals has been 

considered and the traffic analysis showed that 

they may be required in the future, in order to 

reduce delays on the A417. To “future proof” the 

scheme ducting and draw pits for traffic signals 

will be installed as part of this scheme. 

There is a greater problem along the A40 

Northern Bypass due to the single carriageway 

between Over and Longford. 

 

Why not widen the A40? 

The single carriageway does restrict exit from 

the roundabout where the carriageway narrows 

from 2 to 1 lane. The early merging on the exit 

discourages motorists from using 2 lanes on the 

roundabout. Extensive widening of the A40 

would be very expensive and is not funded as a 

scheme. 

Could the funds be spent on raising the 

carriageway level to stop it flooding? 

Funding for the scheme comes from the GFirst 

LEP and is designated for Major Capital Schemes 

that meet specific Governmental criteria 

including increased connectivity and promoting 

growth. The funds cannot be used for any other 

purpose. 

The County Council has investigated raising the 

level of the road; unfortunately the potentially 

high cost of this scheme has meant that it has 

not received funding yet. But reducing flooding 

on the A417 still remains an objective for the 

County Council and will be part of their long term 

plans.  

Can vegetation on the roundabout be removed 

to improve visibility and help drivers leaving 

the A417. 

The removal of vegetation to increase visibility 

between approaching vehicles and those waiting 

can unacceptably increase vehicle speeds as 

drivers can see further ahead and attempt to 

enter the roundabout at speed. 

Page 294



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 53 - Issued: October 2016 

Suggestions and concerns raised by 

attendees 
How responded to and addressed 

Could the scheme be installed before 2018 Works could start earlier but only if there are no 

other works on the A40 in the near vicinity, 

which could affect traffic. The Elmbridge 

roundabout scheme is due to be completed in 

September 2017 and the A40 Over scheme is 

currently programmed to follow in early 2018. 

7.5 Communications and Engagement Management  

GCC have a tried and tested Communication and Engagement Management Plan which 

is used on all major projects. Effective use of the plan has resulted in limited adverse 

feedback from the public and ensured successful delivery of schemes both from a project 

management and public relations perspective. This section will provide further 

information on how stakeholders are identified, how they are communicated to and the 

methods/ techniques used to communicate.  

 Aims and objectives 7.5.1

The main aim of the Communication and Engagement Plan is to ensure that 

stakeholders and members of the general public are kept informed throughout the 

development and implementation of a scheme. This can range from keeping key 

stakeholders updated with critical information, essential to the successful delivery of the 

scheme to providing information to the general public. 

Table 6.3 below indicates the approach used by GCC to categorise the various scheme 

stakeholders.  

 

  

Page 295



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 54 - Issued: October 2016 

Stakeholder Category Stakeholder Characteristics 

Beneficiary Stakeholders who will receive some direct or indirect benefit 

from the scheme.  

Affected 
Stakeholders who are directly affected by the scheme in 

terms of its construction and/ or operation 

Interest 
Stakeholders who have some interest in the scheme, 

although not affected directly by its construction or operation 

Statutory 
Stakeholders who have a statutory interest in the scheme, its 

construction, operation or wider impacts 

Funding 
Stakeholders who are involved in the funding of the 

construction or operation of the scheme 

Table 6.3: Stakeholder Categorisation Approach 

 Engagement Categories  7.5.2

The information supplied to stakeholders can vary depending on their involvement with 

the scheme. The following table indicates the level of engagement that the variety of 

stakeholders can expect in relation to this scheme. 

Engagement Category Details of Engagement Method 

Intensive consultation Stakeholders who are directly affected by 

the scheme and whose agreement is 

required in order for the scheme to 

progress. Consultation throughout the 

design and implementation. 

Consultation 

Stakeholders who are affected by the 

scheme and can contribute to the success 

of its design, construction or operation. 

Consultation at key stages  

Information 

Stakeholders with some interest in the 

scheme or its use. Information to be 

provided at appropriate stages 

Page 296



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 55 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 6.4: Stakeholder Engagement Levels 

7.6 Stakeholder Communication 

Table 6.5 below summarises the strategy for managing engagement with stakeholders 

for the scheme.  It itemises the relevant stakeholders and interests and indicates the 

stakeholder category with which each is associated. 

The following stakeholders have been notified of the scheme and their input sought. 

 

Name of Stakeholder / 
Interest Group 

Stakeholder 
Category 

Engagement and 
Consultation 
Level 

Engagement        Method 

Highways England 

Beneficiary 

Statutory 

Affected 

Intensive 
consultation 

Direct contact and regular 
meetings 

Parish Councils Beneficiary Consultation Pre-exhibition briefing 

Local MPs Interest Consultation Pre-exhibition briefing 

Elected Members Interest 
Intensive 
consultation 

Pre-exhibition briefing 

Scheme users Beneficiary 
Consultation 

Information 
 

Public Share Events  

 Access and rights of way 

groups (including Sustrans) 
Interest Consultation 

Local press Interest Information Pre-exhibition briefing 

Local Enterprise Partnership 
Beneficiary 

Funding 
Information 

Through LGF Business 

Cases & progress reports 

Table 6.5: Stakeholder Management Strategy and Method 

 

 Highways England – Regular meetings have been held with the agency and their 

technical approval agents Skanska. Details of design development are reviewed and the 

scheme co-ordinated with other Highways England schemes 

 Member engagement - Pre- consultation meetings have been held to discuss the 

scheme in detail with GCC project manager on a one to one basis.  Details also provided 

for all online content which included a public share event literature, display boards and 

drawings.  Feedback was positive with no suggested amendments. 

 

Page 297



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 56 - Issued: October 2016 

 Parish Councils – Email was sent to 56 parish councils (from GCC project manager) 

inviting them to public share events and also providing link to online scheme resources 

including scheme introduction and information, public share event literature, display 

boards and drawings.  Responses were limited however many of the parishes sent 

representatives to the public share events. 

 

 Public Share Events – Events held in local venues on a drop in basis.  Large scale plans 

and graphic together with scheme introduction, background and FAQs.  The event was 

manned by scheme designers and engineers together with GCC project 

manager.  Attendees offered personal tour of information available and in depth 

discussions about issues, concerns, improvements etc.  Most attendees took the 

opportunity to ask questions and give their own views of the scheme. 

 

The following stakeholders will be contacted after the scheme has been approved for funding 

and GCC road space booked.  

Name of Stakeholder / 
Interest Group 

Stakeholder 
Category 

Engagement and 
Consultation 
Level 

Engagement        Method 

Emergency Services Statutory Intensive 

consultation 

Direct contact 

Road Haulage Association Interest Consultation Direct contact 

Freight Transport Association Interest Consultation Direct contact 

 

  

Page 298



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 57 - Issued: October 2016 

7.7 Evidence of Previously Successful Management Strategy 

GCC have a successful track record of delivering major transport schemes within the 

county. The most recent of which was the Walls G&G Roundabout Contract (WC&G). 

The WC&G scheme, completed in October 2014, was designed to support economic 

development, job creation and social regeneration, improving access with high quality 

connections between the urban centres, transport hubs and development sites. The 

overall objectives of the scheme were to unlock the development potential of the area, 

attract inward investment and maximise job opportunities for local people. The extent of 

the scheme is shown on the two layout plans below. 

The scheme was successfully delivered within budget and on programme through the 

adoption of a robust management approach. The total value of the scheme was £3.1M 

of which £0.5M was funded by Central Government. The scheme was procured through 

a full OJEU tender process. 

The intended scheme outcomes are currently being monitored but the intended benefits 

of the scheme are anticipated to be realised. 

 

 

Page 299



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 58 - Issued: October 2016 

 

7.8 Availability and Suitability of Resources 

The scheme is intended to be delivered using a collaborative approach between GCC 

staff and their appointed support organisation Amey. GCC have identified appropriately 

trained and experienced staff that will be the responsible for the management of the 

scheme. The identified staff, fulfilling the GCC Project Manager and Amey Project 

Manager roles, has been ring-fenced to support the scheme throughout its duration, 

from design through scheme procurement and onto construction supervision. They will 

have more junior staff available to support them as required. 

GCC will utilise dedicated Amey resource through an existing contract to undertake 

design and also provide early contractor involvement (ECI), where appropriate, to the 

design process to ensure best value. 

 

  

Page 300



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 59 - Issued: October 2016 

7.9 Design and Construction Methodology 

 Design Methodology 7.9.1

The scheme design is standard detail and in accordance with current issues of: 

 - Gloucestershire County Council's Manual for Streets 

 - Design Manual for Roads and Bridges 

 - Local Transport Notes 

 - Inclusive Mobility 

 - Traffic Signs Manual and Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 

 - Sewers for Adoption design code 

 Construction Methodology 7.9.2

The proposed works all involve standard construction methodology in accordance 

with Specification for Highway Works. The proposed works do not require special 

construction techniques and could be wholly carried out by conventional methods 

The Contractor selected for the works will have a proven track record in carrying 

out similar works.  

7.10 Legal Powers Required for Construction 

 Land/Access 7.10.1

All works are within the highways boundary and there is no requirement for land 

acquisition for temporary or permanent works. 

The majority of the scheme work is on the Trunk Road and fall on Highways England’s 

(HE) network. In order to undertake the works GCC are required to obtain a section 6 

agreement, this allows the County Council to carry out works on the Trunk Road 

network. Included within the section 6 agreement is a section that details that there will 

be a zero commuted sum payment, for any additional future maintenance liability for the 

HE resulting from these works. 

This has been discussed in principle and informally agreed with HE. Work to complete 

this agreement is being drafted and should be in place by December 2016. 

 Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) 7.10.2

No permanent traffic regulation orders are required. 

Page 301



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 60 - Issued: October 2016 

 Environmental Restraints 7.10.3

No exceptional restraints have been identified. 

7.11 Project Programme 

The following milestone dates are from the schemes delivery programme, Gantt chart is 

included as an Appendix C; 

Activity Target Date 

Submit Full Business Case for Approval 13th October 2016 

Approve Full Business Case 13th December 2016 

*Issue Supplier Engagement Notice 20th July 2017 

Issue Tender Documents 31st August 2017 

Tenders Return 12th October 2017 

Complete Tender assessment and award 16th November 2017 

*Construction Start 15th January 2018 

Construction End  31st May 2018 

*The scheme has been programmed to 4 month after anticipated completion of the Elmbridge Roundabout 

Improvement works. It may be possible to start the A40 Over Roundabout scheme earlier than the indicated 

date subject to progress of the Elmbridge scheme. 

7.12 Benefit Realisation Strategy 

7.12.1 Scope of the Plan 

The Benefits Realisation Strategy is designed to enable benefits that are expected to be 

derived from the scheme to be planned for, tracked and realised.  

7.12.2 Expected Benefits 

The outputs and benefits are those expected to be derived from the scheme: 

  Outputs – tangible effects that are funded and produced directly as a result of 

the scheme; and/or 

  Outcomes – final impacts brought about by the scheme in the short, medium 

and long term. 

Page 302



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 61 - Issued: October 2016 

7.12.3 Benefit Measurement Methods 

To determine whether the scheme benefits are being realised, the desired outputs and 

outcomes have been converted into measurable indicators of scheme benefits, as set out 

in the table below. Benefits have been classified as ‘Quantitative’ (Qn) or ‘Qualitative’ 

(Ql). Quantitative benefits are those which can be measured in terms of specific 

numerical values on a continuous scale, whether in absolute or percentage terms, 

whereas qualitative benefits are measured in category-based or descriptive terms. 

Ref 

Benefit 

(Desired Output / 

Outcome) 

Benefit Indicator Target Type 
Specific Data 

Requirements 
Owner 

Desired Outputs 

1 Implement the  junction 

improvements 

Improved traffic flow on 

the highway 

Reduced Queue 

Times  as a result 

of the scheme 

Qn Basemap 

Bluetooth Data 

GCC 

Desired Outcomes 

2 Improvement in journey 

times from Maisemore to 

Over 

Journey Time Reduction 

for AM Peak  (2015 Base) 

Reduction in 

vehicle journey 

times immediately 

after the scheme is 

implemented 

Qn BaseMap 

Bluetooth Data 

GCC 

3 Minimal accidents at 

Over Roundabout  

Number of accidents Reduction over 5 

years 

Qn Accident Data GCC 

Table 6.6: Outputs and Outcomes - Indicators and Targets  

 

  

Page 303



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 62 - Issued: October 2016 

7.12.4 Baseline Data  

Baseline data for journey times are included with the Bluetooth results in the report. The 

traffic counts below for Over were collected in March 2016 and show the total vehicle 

counts, during peak hours and throughout the day.  

 

Table 6.7: A40 West, Traffic Counts 2016 

 

 

  

Location of 

ATC Count 

Page 304



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 63 - Issued: October 2016 

Table 6.8: Westgate Bridge Traffic Counts 2016  

 

  

 

7.12.5 The One Year After Study 

The One Year after Study will be carried out no less than one year after the completion 

of the scheme. It will include assessment against scheme objectives / Desired Outcomes. 

7.12.6 The Five Year After Study 

The Five Year after Study will follow the same format as the One Year after Study but it 

will be able to provide a final appraisal of the scheme that includes all benefits. The 

Evaluation Summary Table will be updated to include five year results. A further 

consultation exercise to consult on the views of stakeholders and the public is possible. 

  

Location of 

ATC Count 

Page 305



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 64 - Issued: October 2016 

 Actions to be undertaken for Benefit Realisation Strategy 7.12.7

Tracking of the scheme benefits will be a key element in understanding the success of 

the scheme. The scheme objectives have been used to develop the desired outputs and 

outcomes (Table 6.6 above). The table below links the Benefit Realisation for specific 

measures with responsibility. It is also important to refer to the Risk Register for specific 

risks and associated controls throughout the project. 

Measures Monitoring 
Benefits 

Realisation 
Responsible for Delivery 

Delivery on time Through contract 

management 

Through contract 

management 

Amey/Contractor/GCC 

Delivery on budget Through contract 

management 

Through contract 

management 

Amey/Contractor/GCC 

Growth (housing, jobs) Derived from traffic 

surveys and ATC data 

Realisation involves 

other schemes, 

including non-transport 

(e.g. JCS development) 

LEP 

Wider economic 

benefits 

 Realisation involves 

other schemes, 

including non-transport 

(e.g. development) 

LEP 

Table 6.9: Benefits Realisation and Monitoring 

7.13 Key Project Risks 

A project risk register is to be maintained throughout the scheme duration. 

The Construction risks will be passed to contractor during the construction. The Project 

Risk Register is included as Appendix D. phase.  

Page 306



 Project Name A40 Over Roundabout Improvements 

 Document Title Full Business Case 

Doc. Ref.:COGL43041188 /Final A  Rev. FBC - 65 - Issued: October 2016 

8 Conclusions and Recommendations 

8.1 Conclusions 

The survey work undertaken by Amey indicates that the Highways England Western 

Approach Widening Works in 2015 have significantly improved congestion through the 

roundabout, especially for the approach from the Forest of Dean (A40 West). However, 

it is advised that additional improvements would provide further betterment and future-

proof the junction for increased traffic flows that are anticipated due to significant 

development across Gloucestershire. 

It is recommended that Option 4A is constructed, with the ducting and provision for 

the signals, leaving the possibility that the signals could be installed at a later 

date. The Value for money assessment for the scheme (Option 4a) is “Very High”, with 

the quantified BCR of 19.95 over 30 years. 

Future development in the local area (as proposed in the JCS Joint Core Strategy 

Housing site) and associated infrastructure works will in time increase the capacity of the 

adjacent local junctions (critically the single carriageway link over Walham Viaduct, 

Longford Roundabout and possible changes to the Gloucester Northern Bypass). The 

signals could therefore be implemented in the future, after the impact of the proposed 

scheme has been assessed and if the adjacent network can absorb increased traffic 

flows travelling through Over Roundabout.   

8.2 Recommended Next Steps 

Development and delivery of the scheme should be approved and scheduled for the 

2017/2018 financial year. 

8.3 Funding Recommendation 

Due to the outcomes reported in this study, and the anticipated return on the public 

funded aspects of the proposal, it is advised that the scheme meets the criteria of 

schemes for the LEP and therefore should be approved for funding. 

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



INVESTING IN SUPPORT FOR HOMELESS VULNERABLE PEOPLE 

INTERIM ARRANGEMENTS

Cabinet Date    1 February 2017

Long Term Care Cllr Kathy Williams

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy Cabinet Report 

20th April 2016

Extension of Contracts for Accommodation Based Support Services for 
Vulnerable Homeless Adults 8th June 2016

Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy update Cabinet 
report 16th November 2016

Location for 
inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
Hard copies can be obtained from:
Kathryn Rees.  Lead Commissioner Supporting People
Tel: 01452 328485
Email: kathryn.rees@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees Districts Councils

Service Providers

Planned Dates Stakeholder engagement February 2017 – August 2017

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Kathryn Rees.  Lead Commissioner Supporting People
Tel: 01452 328485
Email: kathryn.rees@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 309

Agenda Item 10

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:kathryn.rees@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kathryn.rees@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To outline the council’s strategy to ensure homeless vulnerable people are 
effectively supported and reduce the risk associated with entrenched rough 
sleepers.

To seek endorsement of the council’s continued involvement with partners, 
especially district councils, in 

 the development and commissioning of a Social Impact Bond (worth 
£990k) to help rough sleepers and individuals entrenched within the 
homelessness system; and

 reviewing services for homeless vulnerable people.

To seek Cabinet approval to:
 make direct awards to the current 5 providers of accommodation 

based support services for single homeless vulnerable adults for a 
term expiring on 30th September 2018; and

 exercise contractual options to extend the existing contracts for 
accommodation based support services for homeless young 
vulnerable people until 30th June 2018 and then extend the term for a 
further three month period to expire 30th September 2018 

in order to align contractual arrangements and maintain service delivery as 
long term options are explored.  

Recommendations It is recommended that Cabinet:

1) a)  note the Social Impact Bond investment of up to £990k as detailed in 
section 5 of the report, which will enable personalised support to rough 
sleepers and individuals entrenched within the homelessness system and 
provide link workers to support each individual to navigate their journey 
away from homelessness to positive, sustainable outcomes.

b)  endorse the council’s continued involvement, with district councils, in 
developing the Social Impact Bond and review of services to homeless 
vulnerable people.

2) delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: Children and Families, 
in consultation with Cabinet Member Long Term Care, to:

a) direct award interim contracts to the five incumbent providers of each 
of the contracts for homeless vulnerable adults, as listed in Section A 
of Appendix A of this report, so that they should all expire 30th 
September 2018, and 

b) exercise contractual options to extend the existing contracts for 
accommodation-based support for homeless young vulnerable people 
with each of the six providers, as listed in Section B of Appendix A of 
this report, for a further period of 1 year, commencing on 1 July 2017, 
and then 

Page 310



vary such contracts to extend their terms by a further three month 
period to expire 30th September 2018 on the basis set out in Section 
C of Appendix A to this Report

for the purpose of aligning contract end dates to enable their alignment with 
future plans as described in section 9 of this report.

Reasons for 
recommendations

Supporting homeless people is a partnership activity and the council will need 
to be fully involved in supporting the new service funded through a Social 
Impact Bond targeted on those most in need.

The recommendations of this report, if accepted, aim to maintain service 
delivery and support during 2017-18, in accordance with the aims of the 
Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy.   
The accommodation based support for single vulnerable homeless adults 
contracts listed in Section A of Appendix A is scheduled to cease in June 
2017. The Assessment services contract for homeless adults with complex 
needs and chaotic lifestyles listed in Section A of Appendix A is scheduled to 
cease in January 2018.  
The accommodation based support for homeless young vulnerable people 
contracts listed in Section C of Appendix A will cease in June 2017 unless 
extended in accordance with the options to extend contained therein.  

It is important that the council (a) makes Direct Contract Awards to the 
current providers of the accommodation based support for single vulnerable 
homeless adults contracts listed in Section A of Appendix A; and (b) 
exercises its contractual options to extend the accommodation based support 
for homeless young vulnerable people contracts listed in Section B of 
Appendix A; and (c) varies them so that they will expire in September 2018 to 
maintain support for service users whilst we further review long term options.

Accommodation based services have been successfully managing a 
transition process to shift investment from specific accommodation based 
services to a more flexible, needs led community based model. 

Cabinet agreed in November 2016 to undertake a review of all 
accommodation based and community based support services with a view to 
aligning contract dates and possibly consolidating contracts to achieve further 
efficiencies and more effective pathways.  

Resource 
Implications

The total estimated value of the proposed direct awards, as listed in Section 
A of Appendix A, is £1.77M.  

The cumulative estimated value of the proposed contract options to extend, 
as listed in Section B of Appendix A, is £1.291M.

The cumulative estimated value of the proposed contract variations listed in 
Section C of Appendix A is £0.33M.

Page 311



Detailed negotiations with providers will confirm the level of spend and any 
savings that are possible from the continued remodelling of these services. 
Contract values will be within proposed budget levels.
There are no other resource implications; no Council staff are currently 
employed in this area.

Page 312



1. Background 

Following extensive consultation and analysis with all relevant stakeholders, the 
Supporting People Strategy 2011-15 (adopted by Cabinet in March 2011) identified 
potential future challenges including a projected increase in homelessness with 
resulting pressures on the associated services. 

The Council continues to be committed to a wider strategy to address homelessness as 
originally agreed by the Supporting People Partnership Board aimed at intervening 
early to prevent the risk of homelessness and to provide intensive support to the 
individuals who were at risk and who could have an adverse impact on the wider 
community.

The Supporting People Partnership recognised that supportive networks increase the 
opportunities for homeless people to re-establish themselves in stable accommodation 
in familiar areas where they have developed social ties. 

This principle has underpinned the remodelling of:

 homelessness services for adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles;
 the wider network of accommodation based services for single homeless 

vulnerable adults;
 accommodation based support for vulnerable young people; and 
 the development of a broader range of services for homeless individuals.  

An incremental approach has been taken when remodelling services, so that 
transitional arrangements can be managed well and evidence collated to inform 
subsequent remodelling and development of services. 

A series of decisions have been taken to remodel provision commissioned by GCC 
under the auspices of the Supporting People Strategy to support the creation of an 
effective homeless pathway. 

The council continues to work closely in partnership with other agencies particularly 
district councils, with district councils leading some areas of work.  This has more 
recently led to the joint commissioning of services for Rough Sleepers, as detailed in 
section 4, and the successful partnership bid for investment of up to £990k over four 
years for a county wide social impact bond to provide support to rough sleepers and 
individuals entrenched in the homelessness system, as detailed in section 5 of this 
report.

In November 2016 Cabinet agreed to extend a number of contracts awarded as part of 
the Settled, Secured and Safe Lives policy agenda to ensure provision of support for 
people in vulnerable circumstances.  Cabinet also agreed undertake a review of the 
Accommodation Based Support (ABS) and Community Based Support (CBS) contracts 
for the purpose of considering their potential alignment.  The contracts for support to 
homeless vulnerable people are included in the review, with some due to end, and 
unable to be extended beyond, June 2017. 

Page 313



2. Remodelling Homelessness Services

The overarching aim has been to achieve a step-change in services supporting 
homeless people with chaotic lifestyles, complex needs, un-treated and undiagnosed 
medical and mental health conditions.  This report addresses arrangements for 
Accommodation Based Support (ABS); including the assessment services, for 
homeless vulnerable people.

A two phase process was agreed through the partnership, firstly to procure new 
emergency access provision and secondly to review and remodel the remaining 
accommodation based services in the wider homelessness network to shift the 
emphasis to working with people with more complex needs, chaotic lifestyles and 
relapses. 

3. Development of Accommodation Based Service model (ABS) and wider 
homeless pathway

Two small scale assessment services have been established to work within a new 
broader homelessness pathway designed to move people quickly off the streets and 
into the most appropriate services, housing options and communities.  This in turn 
helps to prevent the migration of homeless people into the Gloucester City and reduces 
repeat presentations to crisis services.  Service users are also supported so that they 
may achieve independent living in the long term.  

In parallel Community Based Support services (CBS) were developed in order to 
provide lower levels of support and enable a focus on supporting homeless vulnerable 
people with more complex, multiple and high level needs.  A multi agency process has 
been designed and agreed in partnership to manage the assessment and access to 
accommodation based services. This approach has to date proven successful with the 
two service offers complementing each other; we now need to have flexibility to deploy 
resources where they are needed in response to fluctuating demand. 

Homeless Accommodation Based Support now includes:

 Homeless services for adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles 
(Assessment Services);

 Accommodation based support services for homeless (18yrs+) who have 
complex, multiple and high level needs; and 

 Accommodation based support services for young, vulnerable homeless 
individuals aged between 16 – 21 yrs.  These services were remodelled to target 
support at younger people as part of the early intervention approach.  Services 
previously accommodated young people up to the age of 25 

This provision allows for intensive, individually tailored support to be delivered.  The 
service operates within buildings owned /leased and managed by the Provider in their 
capacity as a Landlord.

Page 314



4. Rough sleeping

Rough Sleeper outreach services have been delivered across Gloucestershire since 
October 2012.  Funding was initially secured from Department Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) administered via Homeless Link.  The focus is on reducing and 
preventing rough sleeping, assisting people at risk of rough sleeping to sustain stable 
housing and improving access to healthcare and employment across the county.
The ultimate aim is to prevent rough sleeping by challenging behaviour and offering an 
alternative that will improve quality of life.  The service relies on multi-agency working 
as this is the key to maintaining the safety of those service users and work towards 
reconnecting people and places. 

The outreach service and Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) arrangements 
are now jointly funded with contributions from the Districts, GCC, GCCG and PCC.  A 
steering group has been established to monitor the performance of the outreach service 
and bring together data and intelligence across the wider provision of services 
commissioned by the partnership.

5. Social Impact Bond

The homeless outreach service has successfully engaged and supported previously 
long term and entrenched rough sleepers into provision.  A small cohort of entrenched 
rough sleepers remain who either refuse to engage or who have no recourse to public 
funds.   The outreach service is also experiencing an increase in numbers of people 
new to rough sleeping; however with early intervention they are able to support this 
cohort to quickly move away from the streets.  

The transition away from rough sleeping and into accommodation based support can 
prove challenging for some service users.  We have also been able to identify a 
significant number of service users who often move in and out of services, including the 
repeated involvement of Health and the Police, and who repeatedly fail to sustain 
accommodation due to their very high and complex needs.   A successful partnership 
application to the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has 
attracted investment of up to £990k over four years for a county wide Social Impact 
Bond to provide personalised support to rough sleepers and individuals entrenched 
within the homelessness system, with Link workers (Navigators) working with relatively 
small caseloads supporting each individual to navigate their journey away from 
homelessness to positive, sustainable outcomes.   

A key component of this model will be a ‘Housing First’ approach.  This is based on the 
principle that housing is an individual’s primary need and providing permanent 
accommodation for those currently sleeping on the street before addressing wider 
support needs.   This provision will align with, and complement, the existing range of 
services and pathways.  It is anticipated that this will release capacity for the outreach 
service to work more effectively with new and preventable rough sleepers; will decrease 
demand on other services; and will thus allow commissioners to reallocate resources 
where necessary.

Page 315



6. Homeless Vulnerable Adults Services Contracts (listed in Section A of Appendix 
A to this Report)  

Following a competitive tendering process, P3 were awarded 2 contracts for homeless 
assessment services for adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles, for a period 
of 3 years with options to extend for 2 further periods of one year.  These services have 
been in operation since February 2013 and contracts end in January 2018.

During 2013-14, Single Tender Negotiations were conducted with the providers of 
accommodation-based support for single homeless vulnerable adults.  Four providers 
(Home Group, Riverside, YMCA and Elim) were awarded one-year contracts with 
options to extend for 2 further periods of one year.  These arrangements have been in 
place since July 2014 and contracts end in June 2017.

Throughout the life of these contracts, the service providers have performed in line with 
expectations, supported staff and residents as they have transitioned to new service 
models and have delivered improved outcomes for service users who have complex 
and multiple needs.  

The current cumulative value of the contracts is £1.56M per annum.   

Proposal

It is proposed that Cabinet authorises the Commissioning Director: Children and 
Families in consultation with Cabinet Member Long Term Care to make 8 month direct 
awards to P3 for the delivery of the 2 assessment services, and 15 month Direct 
Awards to each of the 4 providers of single homeless vulnerable adults ABS services 
as listed in Section A of Appendix A of this Report, so that all contractual terms will 
expire on 30th September 2018.  The making of such Direct Awards will allow the 
Council to review and test how these arrangements may be further consolidated and 
balance investment of ABS and CBS. 

Under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR 2015) the Council is required to 
conduct a compliant competitive tender process for contracts that exceed the relevant 
procurement threshold. However, the Council can direct award a contract if it can apply 
the relevant criteria within Regulation 32 of PCR 2015.  The provision that we would be 
utilising in this instance would be Regulation 32 (2)(b)(ii) PCR 2015. The justification for 
using this provision is that the Council considers that competition for these contracts 
would be absent for “technical” reasons, namely, that the proposed short term interim 
contracts would be of little or no interest to other suppliers who would have to acquire buildings 
in order to deliver the service.  Moreover, a transfer of this service to new providers 
would be likely to trigger the application of the TUPE regulations to the transfer of staff 
between existing providers and any replacements providers.  A new provider is unlikely 
to be willing to bear TUPE related liabilities for such a short term interim contract.

In addition to the application of PCR 2015, the Council is required to comply with its 
own Contract Standing Orders (CSO) when making a direct award.  For the reasons set 
out in the report officers advise that the provisions of CSO 9.6(a) have been met and 
that given the need to have interim contracts in place for July 2017 there is also an urgent 
need under CSO 9.6(b).  Providers have indicated that they are willing to extend the 
contracts, but this will be determined by formal negotiation.  

Page 316



Operation of the new contracts during the period of the direct awards is likely to be 
more cost effective for the following reasons: 

 The providers’ experience and familiarity with the business will continue to drive 
efficiencies over the contract term

 There are costs of mobilisation or set up, which would have been worked into 
their original costings.

Our proposal will also require us to publish a VEAT (Voluntary Transparency Notice) 
under Regulation 99 of PCR 2015 in respect of the proposed direct interim contract 
award. The aim of this is to reduce the risk of challenge to the Council.  Dialogue with 
the market will be undertaken as part of our scoping of future arrangements.

7. Homeless Vulnerable Young People Services Contracts (listed in Section B of 
Appendix A to this Report)

Following Lead Cabinet Member approval a series of single tender negotiations were 
initiated with providers of accommodation based support for homeless vulnerable 
young people.  7 providers were awarded contracts for a period of one year with the 
option to extend for 2 further periods of 1 year.  These arrangements have been in 
place since July 2015.

Service providers have supported staff and residents as they have transitioned to new 
service models.  Performance and levels of need continue to be monitored closely each 
quarter.  Providers have been supported to develop shared training events for 
continued improvement and consistency.
 
The current cumulative value of the contracts is £1.291M per annum.   

Proposal: 

It is recommended that the Council exercise its contractual options to extend the 
existing contracts for accommodation based support for homeless young vulnerable 
people with each of the six providers (as listed in section B of Appendix A) for a further 
period of 1 year, commencing on 1 July 2017, and then vary the contracts to extend 
their terms by a further three month period to expire 30th September 2018 without 
further advertisement on grounds that the value of the proposed extensions will not 
exceed the relevant procurement threshold (namely £589,148) nor 10% of the value of 
the original contracts as permitted under regulation 72 PCR 2015.  

8. Options

The following options have been considered:

1. To allow the contracts to end in July 2017 and January 2018.
This option would reduce support to homeless people in vulnerable 
circumstances with an adverse impact on other health, housing and social 
care services.

2. To undertake a new competitive tender process for the supply of these services.

Page 317



This option would prevent us from aligning all current accommodation-based 
services, with a view to exploring options to consolidate further and make 
better use of all provision in meeting verified need.

3. To align contract dates so that they should all expire on 30th September 2018.

9. Officer Advice:

Officer advice is that Cabinet approve option 3.  This will enable the council to align 
contract end dates and to review and test how these arrangements may be further 
consolidated to achieve effective pathways; balancing investment of Accommodation 
Based Support and Community Based Support and deploying resources where they 
are needed in response to fluctuating demand. 
  

10.Risk Assessment  

The main risk is that direct awards are not managed within the required timescales. 
This will be mitigated by ensuring sufficient capacity to support the process.

The risk of not being able to meet fluctuating demand – continued performance 
monitoring of these contracts; the sharing of intelligence with partners and providers; 
and the proposed review of the efficiency of the wider provision of ABS and CBS will 
seek to ensure that people in need of housing related support will be provided with an 
appropriate service.

The ability of providers to meet the requirements of the Direct Award arrangements will 
be tested through individual negotiations and performance reviews. Relevant partners 
will continue to be engaged to assess risk and consider mitigations in the case of 
providers not being able to continue to provide services as per our requirements.

There is also a risk of challenge by competitors of the council’s existing providers to the 
proposed direct contract awards.  This is judged to be low due to the reasons detailed 
in section 6 of this report.   Moreover, we propose to mitigate such risk by publishing a 
VEAT (Voluntary Transparency Notice) under Regulation 99 of PCR 2015 in respect of 
the proposed direct interim contract awards under which the council shall provide 
details to the market of the council’s justification for making the proposed awards.  
Dialogue with the market will also be undertaken as part of our scoping of future 
arrangements. 

Risk will continue to be regularly reviewed as part of the project management process, 
and any significant changes will be reported to Lead Cabinet Member.

11.Equalities considerations

The Due Regard Statements completed to inform the decision to tender and award the 
original contracts have been reviewed when considering the options to extend and 
make Direct Awards. The position regarding these assessments remains valid for the 
extension and Direct Award arrangements, i.e. the proposed changes have been 
assessed as having a positive effect on supporting people who are in need of housing 

Page 318



related support in Gloucestershire. This is because the new models will offer more 
flexible support tailored to meet the complexities of need for people in vulnerable 
circumstances.

12.Performance Management/Follow-up 

Current contract management arrangements will remain in place under the extension 
and Direct Award arrangements. The extension and award periods will enable us to 
continue to work with stakeholders, providers and partners, most notably the District 
Councils to: 

 further develop the accommodation pathway for people in vulnerable 
circumstances across Gloucestershire; 

 review and test how these arrangements may be further consolidated;
 continue to gather data to understand the longer term outcomes for people in 

vulnerable circumstances and how sustainable their move to independence 
living is following their support;

 understand appropriate levels of future investment;
 analyse cases of repeat homelessness ; and
 continue to work with partners to reduce rough sleeping.

13.Consultation Feedback

Partners support the recommendations, and will continue to be informed of 
performance and progress in delivering the objectives.

Page 319



Report Title Investing in Support for Homeless Vulnerable People - 
Interim Arrangements

Relevant County Council 
policy

Safe Settled and Secure Lives in Gloucestershire

Resource Implications
The total estimated value of the proposed direct awards, as 
listed in Section A of Appendix A, is £1.77M.  

The cumulative estimated value of the proposed contract 
options to extend, as listed in Section B of Appendix A, is 
£1.291M.

The cumulative estimated value of the proposed contract 
variations listed in Section C of Appendix A is £0.33M.

Detailed negotiations with providers will confirm the level of 
spend and any savings that are possible from the continued 
remodelling of these services. Contract values will be within 
proposed budget levels.

There are no other resource implications; no Council staff are 
currently employed in this area.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships These proposals have been subject to consultation with 
strategic partners. Partners will continue to be involved in the 
monitoring of such arrangements and future commissioning 
intentions.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Stakeholders have been consulted on the proposed contract 
arrangements

Economy and Employment No significant impact

Caring for people The proposals will maintain service delivery and continuity as 
services continue to be remodelled in line with the Settled, 
Secure and Safe Lives Policy.  

Social Value

Built Environment No impact

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No impact

Page 320



Education and Information The services are required to support people to achieve positive 
economic outcomes, including providing information and support to 
access education and/or training if appropriate.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes - 
considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

Strategic partners have been consulted on these proposals.

Page 321

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Homeless Services for Adults with 
complex needs and chaotic lifestyles 

contracts (Assessment Services)

People, Potential, Possibilities (P3) 
x 2 contracts

8 months 01/02/2018 30/09/2018 Combined total 
of £204,932

Cheltenham YMCA 15 months 30/06/2017 30/09/2018 £156,250
Elim Housing Association 15 months 30/06/2017 30/09/2018 £205,294
Riverside ECHG 15 months 30/06/2017 30/09/2018 £512,167

Accommodation based support for 
single homeless vulnerable adults

Stonham Housing Association 15 months 30/06/2017 30/09/2018 £689,619

APPENDIX A

SECTION A- Direct Awards of Interim Contracts

Service Provider Length of interim 
service

Extension start 
date

Extension 
end date

Estimated 
value

SECTION B - Contract Options to Extend

Service Provider Length of extension Extension start 
date

Extension 
end date

Estimated 
value

Bromford 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £248,000
County Community Projects 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £341,000
G3/Rooftop 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £305,760
Stonham Housing Association 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £289,000
Elim Housing Association 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £13,880

Accommodation based support for 
homeless young vulnerable people

Open House 12 months 01/07/2017 30/06/2018 £93,000

SECTION C - Contract Variations 

Service Provider Duration Start date End date Estimated 
value

Bromford 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £63,358
County Community Projects 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £87,118
G3/Rooftop 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £78,115
Stonham Housing Association 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £73,833
Elim Housing Association 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £3,546

Accommodation based support for 
homeless young vulnerable people

Open House 3 months 01/07/2018 30/09/2018 £23,759

P
age 323



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP AN INTENSIVE INTERVENTION SERVICE FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Children & Young 
People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning

Cllr Paul McLain

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

None

Location for 
inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
Hard copies can be obtained from:
Helen Price, Lead commissioner Families
Tel: 01452 328484
Email: helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees  Staff, children’s social care and Prospects
 NHS provider services (2gether Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust)
 Vulnerable young people in care
 Key partners – including Police

Planned dates April 2017

August 2017

Jan 2018 –
Summer 2018

Summer/
autumn 2018

Phase 1 set up.

Proposed start date of first phase of Service with 
Intensive team, foster carers and some supported living 
provision.

Development of residential provision.

Service fully operational.

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Helen Price, Lead Commissioner Families
Tel: 01452 328484
Email: helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 325

Agenda Item 11

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to develop an Intensive Intervention Service for the 
most vulnerable at risk young people. To jointly develop this service with 
Gloucestershire clinical commissioning group in order that more effective use 
is made of total spend and resources. 

  

Recommendations 1. That Cabinet approve: 

a) The proposal to develop an Intensive Intervention Service for young 
people. 

2. That Cabinet authorises the Commissioning Director, Children and 
Families, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People and Strategic Commissioning,  to: 

a) Enter into a formal joint funding agreement with Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, if required, to invest in the Intensive 
Intervention Service

Reasons for 
recommendations Analysis has identified a group of young people with complex needs where 

current provision is not meeting their needs adequately. Dual pressures on 
sufficiency of placements and spend on this group is acute and offers 
significant risks. Examination of national best practice, the underlying needs 
of this group and young people’s experiences indicates that the proposed 
new service offers the best chance of :  

 Improving the council’s ability to place the most vulnerable young 
people in placements that comply with regulatory requirements

 Improving outcomes for this group, including reducing offending 
improving stability and improving educational and employment 
prospects.

 Containing and reducing current spend

Resource 
Implications

Across the health, education and social care economy we currently spend 
£7.8 million on out of county placements for 100 children and young people 
aged 11-18. This is estimated to rise to at least £9.2 million in the next 6 
years if we continue to purchase placements in the same way.  Within social 
care the projected overspend for 2016/17 is £1.6 million and this will 
continue to rise in future years.

As set out in the MTFS papers, an investment of £1.4 million revenue is 
required to support the smooth transition to the new service and prevent the 
current overspend on the budget continuing.

Capital of £1.2 million is required to provide appropriate accommodation 
including residential provision.  

Page 326



1. Background 

The overall number of children in care in Gloucestershire has risen from 465 in 2011/12 
to 627 as of the end of September 2016), a 26% increase. Gloucestershire’s position 
reflects a national trend which has seen a 5% increase since 2011/12, in the South 
West the increase was 10% in the same period. Some councils have seen their 
numbers double during this period1.. Gloucestershire had relatively low rates of children 
in care; current increases bring it in line with statistical neighbours. The reasons for the 
increase are complex and include changes in decisions made during the court process, 
more robust assessment processes in response to, for example, findings of serious 
case reviews, which have led to improved responses locally to issues such as neglect.

There are a growing group of young people who have significant needs and complex 
issues. These young people tend to be older (over 11) and are referred and supported 
through social care or mental health services or a combination of both. This relatively 
small group of young people account for 41% of the placement budget spend for 
children in care. This group tend to have more placement breakdowns and require 
higher cost more intensive placements and services. Private residential providers have 
not been able to consistently meet their needs resulting in situations where we have 
been unable to find them homes. This is a situation that is replicated throughout the 
country as local authorities are increasingly trying to meet the needs of this cohort with 
limited capacity in the market to respond. 

The current context has meant that two significant issues have become much more 
acute over the last 3 years: 

Rising spend – Spend on this group of young people has historically been volatile and 
it has always been challenging to manage and contain.  Spend continues to rise on this 
group year on year and without action will continue to do so. 

Sufficiency- over the past 9 months the number of these young people who we have 
not been able to find placements for has been increasing - leading to alternative 
packages of care and/or crisis very short placements. Prior to the current situation 
these types of arrangements were rare, tending to occur in exceptional circumstances, 
at peak times. Spend on emergency crisis arrangements is usually significantly more, 
and puts pressure on other parts of the health and social care system with resources 
across the system not being utilised in an efficient and joined up way.

In the main these young people have significantly poorer outcomes than their peers and 
the care population as a whole. They are more likely to engage in offending activity, be 
subject to forms of exploitation and are less likely to be engaged in education with 
stable employment prospects and training. 

A shared issue

These young people’s needs tend to span social care and health services, many are 
described as having emerging personality disorders or conduct disorders and continue 
to display similar behaviour and use multiple services going forward into adult life. They 
can and do present to the range of social care services in crisis and to gateway 
services such as the hospital Emergency Department, with self-harming, psychosis or 

Page 327



suicidal behaviours. Typically when faced with these young people individual agencies 
work hard to find solutions. However, as services are not currently integrated this can 
take a great deal of time and solutions are often achieved despite the current system. 
 
As a health and social care economy, joint spend is currently £7.8 million on 
placements for this group of young people. It is estimated that could rise to at least £9.2 
million in the next 6 years if nothing changes.

Work undertaken, including consultation with young people

In order to address these issues the following work has been undertaken to 

 Understand the needs of these children and young people more fully (with 
Research in Practice)

o 64% of this cohort had experienced domestic abuse and 36% had 
suffered from chronic neglect. 

o 56% of the young people had been excluded from school, an average of 
10 times each. 

 Examine best practice nationally to ascertain the best way to address the current 
issues. Two national innovation projects have been successful in addressing 
similar issues elsewhere, Hope House (Surrey) which has a mental health focus 
and No Wrong door (North Yorkshire) with a social work and social care focus.

 Consultation with young people to understand what would have made their 
experience more successful and less traumatic. They reported that their 
experience of current provision is negative, they highlight that being away from 
friends, family and school can exacerbate their issues and result in further 
problems later on. They value key relationships with a trusted worker, to be near 
to friends and family and maintain links. They felt that time out when crisis 
occurred to think about their next move might have been helpful. 

The combined findings have indicated that to successfully address quality of care for 
young people, the sufficiency of placement issues and control and reduce spend the 
following factors are crucial:

1. A whole system approach which encourages a culture of enabling as many of 
these young people to be supported through crisis into community (family or 
foster care) based permanence is important

2. A service which maintains at least one key relationship with young people, 
wherever there are living

3. Assessment and planning which galvanises the full range of professionals who 
can support more complex young people with significant, behavioural, mental 
health and social needs.

4. Flexibility in staffing which allows the total staffing resource to be deployed 
where the most demand is located. 

5. A service which makes the most of family and fostering options by offering 24 
hour support and specialist mental health advice.

6. Flexibility of placement options, enabling young people to move smoothly 
between home, residential and fostering options

7. When crisis occurs, the service is able to flexibly and quickly deploy a range of 
support to manage and contain it and not lose sight of the longer term plan.

8. Placements and day provision which is close to home to enable the service to 
focus on enabling young people to keep and develop community connections 

Page 328



and access universal provision (such as school and social groups) where 
possible. 

2. Proposal

A more integrated, intensive response is required in order to effectively meet the needs 
of these children and young people and ensure that they receive the help required in a 
timely way. It is proposed to jointly develop an intensive intervention service with 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) as key partners and with the 
support of stakeholders. It will provide: 

 Local dedicated short term and emergency residential placements (used as an 
intervention across two children’s homes)

 Highly skilled foster care 
 Timely intensive one to one support, maintaining relationships with one key 

worker for young people
 Integrated mental health, physical and sexual health support 
 Education, employment, training and positive activities through day provision
 Parent and carers support

The service will be a combination of home based support, residential and foster care 
delivered by skilled social workers, family workers as well as mental health workers 
within day service or in residential/foster placements where required. 

This proposal will offer a whole system approach which replicates the best aspects of 
the national best practice examined. Both models have strong evidence of reduced 
spend, fewer placement breakdowns and significantly improved outcomes for young 
people.  It will allow for flexible deployment of staff that will allow key relationships to be 
developed and maintained wherever a young person is placed. It allows the total staff 
resource to be used to offer a 24 hour response, actively seeking to de-escalate crisis 
and avoid family or placement breakdowns. These arrangements would actively seek to 
where possible keep young people close to home and to promote and support 
engagement with local education and community solutions. Given the challenges in the 
residential care market currently, these services will initially be developed through the 
current main providers, the Council, Prospects and 2gether NHS Foundation  Trust. 
This does not preclude alternative delivery mechanisms at a later date. The model 
assumes that existing services such as youth support, diversion and placement 
support, fostering will be reconfigured to work as part of the intensive service.

A detailed business case has been developed which suggests a positive impact on both 
spend and sufficiency:

 Effect on spend – over a six year period the spend on placements for this group of 
young people could reduce by £2.5million. This would be achieved by a combination of 
reducing spend on externally spot purchased presidential placements and maintaining 
young people either at home or in foster care. This includes the costs of service set up  
and assumptions about the initial need to  run the current and new system in parallel. 

Effect on sufficiency- Dedicated local residential placements should address 
sufficiency problems and will provide flexibility for emergency and short term 

Page 329



placements. There will be an expectation that the majority of young people will be 
placed within this provision.   

Improved outcomes for young people – The combination of provision and dedicated 
experienced multi disciplinary staffing will enable these young people to have more 
stable local placements and have fewer crises. This in turn will enable them to take up 
the broader opportunities to improve their educational attainment, remain part of their 
community and family networks and be less likely to become involved in risky or 
antisocial behaviour. The whole service will be more able to help these young people to 
realise the potential they have to become successful adults.  

3. Resource requirements

Across the health, education and social care economy we currently spend £7.8 million 
on out of county placements for 100 children and young people aged 11-18. This is 
estimated to rise to at least £9.2 million in the next 6 years if we continue to purchase 
placements in the same way.  Within social care the projected overspend for 2016/17 is 
£1.6 million and this will continue to rise to over £2.1 million per annum should nothing 
change (cumulative overspend of £8.7 million over 5 years). The proposed option 
requires additional investment in the Children and Families budget as proposed in the 
council’s 2017/18 budget of £1.4m, a total investment of £6.9 million revenue over 5 
years. An additional £1.2 million capital will also be required with the aim of returning 
spend to current budget levels over a 5 year period. The investment required will be 
less than the predicted cumulative overspend over the same period. For 2017/18 the 
additional revenue investment will meet set up and transition costs.

The investment will fund the transition from current arrangements, which rely on private 
providers, to the integrated provision described above with the benefits this provides. 
The model assumes that existing services will be reconfigured to work as part of the 
intensive service; resourcing for these services will be within existing resources. The 
capital investment will fund the purchase and adaptation of two properties for residential 
provision, each with four beds, living accommodation and office space. 

4. Options

The following options have been considered:

1. Do nothing – This option will not enable any of the key factors to be met, it will not 
address the sufficiency or spend issues to be addressed. These issues will become 
more acute. Current issues resulting in distant placements, lack of ability to offer 
continuity of relationships, care and support for young people will not be addressed. 
Shared, integrated responses which address the complex nature of these young 
people’s need will not be addressed. 

2. To develop an intensive integrated support service (without residential placements) – 
this option will reduce spend slightly but will not fully enable spend to be contained, residential 
spend will continue to rise and sufficiency will continue to be problematic. It will not allow 
young people to be placed locally, and therefore will not meet all of their needs resulting in the 
continuation of high cost placements. 

Page 330



3.To block buy residential placements (in a regional arrangement which could be locally 
based) – This option will only partially address the sufficiency issues, other councils who have 
pursued this option have also developed council run residential provision as the residential 
providers cannot effectively meet the needs of the complexity of all of the  cohort of young 
people, especially in crisis situations. It will not sufficiently contain spend and will only partially 
address the key factors identified, shared integrated responses which address the complexity of 
the needs of these young people will not be achieved. 

4. To pursue the proposed option – this option is the only option which fully addresses the key 
factors identified, most importantly improving long term outcomes and life chances for young 
people combined with addressing the rising spend and sufficiency issues. 

5. Officer Advice:

The current situation is not a sustainable option. The recommended option will enable 
the council in partnership with the CCG to attempt to address the rising spend, quality 
of service, outcomes and sufficiency issues that it faces in respect of these young 
people. It is the only option that builds on best practice which have been successful; 
this model increases the likelihood of the council being able to address these issues 
however it does not guarantee complete success. Developing this option jointly with the 
CCG will allow better use to be made of joint resource to address a shared issue. 

6. Risk Assessment  

Risk of poor mobilisation - This will be a complex service; it involves a number of 
different providers with different professional and organisational priorities. There needs 
to be considerable staff development  to develop the expertise and confidence in 
working differently with this group of young people.  Securing suitable premises and 
meeting tough regulations and planning requirements will be necessary. 

Mitigation: Careful, robust project management and continued involvement of staff in 
co-design. Cross council expertise to ensure practical mobilisation through dedicated 
officer links and expertise secured at an early stage. 

Delays and risks in managing residential provision – The council does not currently 
manage residential provision for this group of young people. This is a highly regulated 
environment which requires sufficient, skilled management oversight. OFSTED may 
require the council to limit or restrict the residential provision as it develops. Insufficient 
compliance with OFSTED requirements and inspection regimes may risk, inadequate 
judgements in the future.  

Mitigation: Ensure that sufficient, skilled management oversight is in place, should this 
not be secured in a timely way consider delaying start dates. Compliance with all 
regulatory processes, robust monitoring and reporting systems must be in place.   

Overall numbers of children and young people in care continue to rise – Should 
overall numbers of children in care continue to rise, additional pressure will be placed 
on placements and support, this may compound current issues. This would put 
pressure on budgets and the availability of placements which could result in the service 
becoming ‘log jammed’ unable to move children on. 

Page 331



Mitigation: This proposal delivers to a small cohort of the overall care population, it is 
specific and benefits (including savings) can be directly associated with this cohort. 
Other measures (such as investment in social workers and improving practice) are 
being developed; these should impact on overall numbers of children in Care over time. 

Reputational risks due to inability to safely care for young people – The young 
people using the service have experienced significant difficulties and can be a 
significant risk (due to others or their own behaviour) and/or present significant risks to 
others. Currently the council shares this risk with private residential providers, providing 
in house residential means that the risk lies solely with the council. More recently 
residential providers have sought to manage this risk by refusing placements so this 
risk must be considered alongside the risk the council can face of having no placement 
for a young person. 

Mitigation: Ensure that sufficient, skilled management oversight is in place. 
Compliance with all regulatory processes, robust monitoring and reporting systems are 
in place. As part of project planning consider whether alternative delivery models could 
mitigate risk but still ensure young people can access placements.     

All of these risks must be balanced against current risks the council is experiencing 
when young people are unable to be placed, placements break down and inappropriate 
placements being made.
 
7. Equalities considerations

A due regard statement has been completed and has found the impact of these 
proposals to be positive across most characteristics, with opportunities to improve 
service provision. No negative impacts have been identified.  

8. Performance Management/Follow-up 

A robust performance framework will be developed to offer clear, responsive oversight 
of this service. It will focus on the following areas:
 Compliance with regulatory requirements, to ensure all residential and provision is 

good quality.

 Unit costs of provision and overall spend on this group to contain and reduce overall 
spend in this area

 Improved outcomes for this group, including engagement in education, training and 
work

 Sufficiency of placements and home based support that enable this group of young 
people to be successfully placed or return home where possible

 Avoidance of escalation of need, reduced crisis presentations requiring less than 
satisfactory responses which can compound problems and issues

Page 332



Report Title Proposal to develop Intensive service for children and young people

Statutory Authority Children’s Act 1989

Children Act 2004 (Guidance and Regulations)

Children and Young People Act 2008

Leaving Care Act 2000

Relevant County 
Council policy

Gloucestershire Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan: 
2015-18 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=64573&p=0

Sufficiency Statement

Resource 
Implications

Across the health, education and social care economy we currently 
spend £7.8 million on out of county placements for 100 children and 
young people aged 11-18. This is estimated to rise to at least £9.2 
million in the next 6 years if we continue to purchase placements in 
the same way.  Within social care the projected overspend for 
2016/17 is £1.6 million and this will continue to rise in future years.

As set out in the MTFS papers, an investment of £1.4 million revenue 
is required to support the smooth transition to the new service and 
prevent the current overspend on the budget continuing.

Capital of £1.2 million is required to provide appropriate 
accommodation including residential provision.  

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships The council is seeking to develop this service with the CCG and 
continues to involve providers of closely aligned services such as the 
Police, alternative educational provision and community services.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

N/A

Economy and 
Employment

This service will seek to maximise opportunities for this group of 
young people to engage in education, employment and training and 
to contribute positively to the local economy.

Caring for people Provision of this service, supports Gloucestershire County Council to 
meet its statutory obligations under the Children Act 1989 as 
amended to make available appropriate accommodation and support 
for vulnerable Children and Young People.

Social Value This service seeks to ensure that this vulnerable group of young 
people is afforded the opportunity to contribute to their local 
communities and to recognise the social value they can bring

Page 333

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=64573&p=0


Built Environment N/A

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

In securing premises for the residential children’s homes the council 
will seek to ensure that any provision minimises the impact on the 
natural environment.

Education and 
Information

This service will seek to maximise opportunities for this group of 
young people to engage in education, employment and training. It will 
seek to reconnect this group of young people as this group is often 
excluded from education  and they currently have significantly poorer 
educational outcomes and employment prospects. 

Tackling Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? / Neutral/ 
Vulnerable to climate change? / No/ 

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes/No
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo Moore, 
Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights 
Implications

The service will be required to abide by the principles of the Human 
Rights Act and will be have clear policies in relation to the human 
rights of young people.

- Children Act 1989
- UN Convention on the Rights of Children (Article 12)
- National Standards for the Provision of Advocacy Services 

2003

Consultation 
Arrangements

Young people and their families will continue to be consulted 
throughout the development of this service. To date their views have 
shaped the initial planning and early development as described in the 
body of the report. An established consultation group will continue to 
be involved and specific consultation with young people within the 
cohort who tend to be less well heard is planned. Parental 
consultation is less well developed and this will be strengthened as 
the service is developed.

Neighbourhood consultation when the locations of the residential 
children’s homes are known will be initiated as part of the planning 
approval process. 

Page 334

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


PRIORS AND OAKLEY FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Highways and 
Flood Councillor  Vernon Smith

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Individual Cabinet Member decision - 12th October 2016
Gloucestershire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Annual 
Implementation Plan
Location Plan and associated Drawings reference numbers 652358/001, 
652358/002, 652358/003 and 652358/200

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

David Parish 01452 426033 david.parish@gloucestershire.gov.uk
  GCC Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and Implementation Plan    
  2016/17;   http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/LFRMS

Main Consultees Residents, Cheltenham Borough Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council, 
Local County and District Councillors

3rd May 2011; Letter drop to affected residents in the Priors/Oakley area 
informing them of the findings from the Surface Water Management Plan 
(SWMP) and of planned” drop in” session with copies to local District 
Councillors. 

31st May 2011; “Drop in” session held at Lynworth and Priors Partnership 
Centre. Feedback received from residents including video recordings of 
recent floods.

21st October 2015; Email to local County Councillors informing them of 
forthcoming press release and details of intended ground investigations at 
Noverton Farm and Priors Farm area and the start of the scheme.

11th July 2016; Briefing papers of proposed FAS sent to local County 
Councillors.

September 2016 CH2mHill commenced consultation with Tewkesbury BC 
and Cheltenham BC on their requirements for an Environmental Impact 
Assessment through pre application planning enquiries.

Planned Dates Tender Award April 2017 (subject to planning permission)

Civil Engineering Work start May 2017 (subject to planning permission)

Civil Engineering Work completion November 2017 (subject to planning 
permission)

Page 335

Agenda Item 12

mailto:david.parish@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/LFRMS


Divisional 
Councillors

Cllr. David Prince, Pittville and Prestbury.

Cllr Colin Hay, Allsaints and Oakley

Cllr. Roger Wilson, Winchcombe and Woodmancote 

Cllr. Paul McLain, Battledown and Charlton Kings

Officer David Parish
01452 426033
David.Parish@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report (i) To approve the use of legal powers under section 64 of the Land 
Drainage Act 1991 to enter private land to undertake the construction 
of a flood alleviation scheme at Priors/Oakley, Cheltenham, and;

(ii) To delegate authority to the Commissioning Director for Communities 
and Infrastructure to designate a Flood Risk Management asset on 
completion of the works under the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010 (FWMA).

Recommendations (i) Subject to the granting of planning permission, to approve the use of 
Section 64 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 to issue a notice on the 
relevant landowners for the purpose of undertaking the construction of a 
flood alleviation scheme in relation to the land outlined red in the 
planning application 17/00017/FUL;

(ii) To settle compensation claims from affected landowners arising from the 
interference in their use of land affected by the work if it can be shown 
that injury is sustained by reason of the exercise of the Council to 
construct the flood alleviation asset, the periods of time when the 
storage basins fill with surface water and the occasions when 
maintenance and inspection is undertaken, and;

(iii) To delegate authority to the Commissioning Director for Communities 
and Infrastructure in consultation with the Lead Cabinet member for 
Highways and Flood and the S151 officer, to undertake such ancillary 
steps necessary to; 
(a) exercise the powers contained in the FWMA 2010 to approve the 
designation of the flood risk management asset on completion and, 
subject to the granting of planning permission,
(b) Undertake such ancillary steps necessary to implement the 

recommendations set out above in paras (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) (a).

Reasons for 
recommendations

To approve a legal strategy to enable the implementation of a flood 
alleviation scheme at Priors/Oakley Cheltenham, approve the proposal to 
designate the completed flood risk management asset and identify the scale 
of risk and costs including possible claims for compensation.

Resource 
Implications

DEFRA has earmarked £1.693 million flood grant in aid and a contribution of 
£50k from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Local Levy, this was 
approved by DEFRA’s Project Approval Board in October 2016.GCC has 
allocated a £243k contribution from the Flood Alleviation Capital budget as 

Page 336

mailto:David.Parish@gloucestershire.gov.uk


partnership funding.
Total funding identified; £1.986 million
The procurement of the civil engineering work, associated design costs, and 
site supervision is estimated to be within the overall budget available.
The estimated valuation of compensation (if payable) and the budget 
available is referred to in the annex to this report.
There is sufficient in house officer resource to oversee the preparation and 
implementation of this contract. 

Page 337



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1In 2010 DEFRA awarded GCC a grant to undertake a Surface Water 
Management Plan (SWMP) in Cheltenham. Flood risk was identified through 
historic flooding, modelling and mapping, the plan was completed in December 
2011. The SWMP identified possible flood alleviation measures in Oakley and 
these were the subject of feasibility studies in 2012. The feasibility study 
recommended the development of a scheme comprising two flood storage areas 
(FSAs) upstream of the urban area.
 

1.2  Following further site investigation and design a viable flood alleviation scheme 
has been developed and is identified in the Gloucestershire Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy Annual Implementation Plan for 2016/17. The scheme 
should benefit the owners/occupiers of 213 properties known to be at risk of 
flooding from surface water and watercourses from the Cleeve escarpment. The 
scheme has been designed with the intention that after the works have been 
completed the land will continue to be available for its current use and purposes. 
It is acknowledged that during the period when the works are in progress, when 
the attenuation areas fill with excess surface water and when the completed 
asset is subject to annual inspection and maintenance, might cause the 
landowners some inconvenience. However, this has been considered in the 
context that the landowners may claim compensation if it can be shown that 
injury is sustained by reason of the exercise of the Council exercising its powers 
to enter the land for the purposes of carrying out the work and that the scheme 
will provide benefits for the owners/occupiers of at least 213 properties that 
would otherwise be at risk of flooding in the future. 
 

1.3The scheme involves the formation of an earth bund, two attenuation basins, and 
the creation of diversion channels together with some widening and realignment 
of existing watercourses. A key aspect of the design of these assets is that, on 
completion, the topsoil will be replaced and restored to its original condition 
albeit the levels will have changed.  It will still be possible for the land to 
continue to be used for its present agricultural uses. The sides of the bund 
forming the new attenuation basin will be inclined gradually such that the area 
can continue to be grazed on or used for silage. 

1.4The scheme design is being undertaken by CH2MHill and this work is nearing 
completion. The total estimated cost of the scheme is just under £2 million with 
£1.693 million DEFRA Flood Grant in Aid, GCC contributing £243k and a 
contribution of £50k from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Local 
Levy. The design work to date has been funded from the GCC contribution. 

1.5The implementation of the scheme will be subject to planning approval from both 
Tewkesbury BC and Cheltenham BC, applications were submitted in January 
2017. 

Page 338



1.6Officers have been negotiating with the owners for their agreement to allow us to 
construct the scheme on their land. The site straddles the Tewkesbury BC and 
Cheltenham BC district administrative boundaries and Cheltenham BC is a 
partner in delivering the scheme. In designing the scheme, Officers have worked 
with the owners to ensure the proposed location of the structure has the least 
impact on the agricultural  use of the land. The original design of the attenuation 
basin on the land known as Noverton Farm was located in a field further north. 
However, following discussions with the landowner, the Council redesigned and 
relocated this structure to an adjacent field further south in the same ownership 
and used for grazing. This enabled the landowner to maintain an area to 
develop in the future should that owner  wish to do so.

1.7 The scheme received final approval from the Environment Agency’s Project 
Approval Board (PAB) in October 2016. 

1.8  The procurement of the construction work is the subject of a tender using the 
Environment Agency’s Water and Environment Management Framework Lot 4. 
This was the subject of a separate Individual Cabinet Member’s Report and 
signed off by the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood on 12th October 
2016. Tenders are expected to be received in February 2017 and contract 
award in March 2017.

2. Options

2.1Option 1. Use powers vested in the Land Drainage Act 1991 and the FWMA 
2010 to implement a flood alleviation scheme and reduce the level of risk of 
flooding for 213 properties. Section 64 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 provides 
the required power to serve a notice on the owners of the land to enable the 
Council (or its authorised agents) to enter land for the purpose of undertaking 
the development of a flood alleviation scheme. Section 4 of the FWMA 2010 
confirms that the Land Drainage Act powers continue to exist for the purpose of 
flood risk management in relation to the Council exercising the power to serve a 
notice under Section 64 and for these powers to be used by the County Council 
as Lead Local Flood Authority. There is no right of appeal under these powers 
other than through judicial review.

2.2Option 2. Use compulsory purchase powers to acquire the site from the land 
owners. The effect of using a compulsory purchase power would be to acquire 
an interest in the land and such powers are to be used as a last resort. In 
considering the exercise of these powers the Council has to balance the overall 
benefits to the owners in them retaining ownership and enabling the continued 
use of their land against the Council’s power to compulsorily acquire the land. If 
the Council exercises its compulsory purchase powers it would deprive the 
current owners the opportunity to continue to work the land and provide wider 
benefits of this for the local community. The County Council has no desire or 
need to own the land and it is unnecessary to deprive the current owners from 
having use of the land. For this reason it is proposed that it would be appropriate 
to exercise the Council’s power under Section 64 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 

Page 339



to serve a notice to enable construction of the structure and allow the owners to 
continue to own and use the land. This option is therefore not recommended.

2.3Option 3. Do nothing and 213 properties remain at risk of flooding at the present 
level. The Council has received substantial external funding to carry out this 
work and the proposed structure will reduce the risk of flooding for residents of 
Oakley and Priors estates whilst enabling the landowners to continue to use the 
land.  Again, this option is therefore not recommended. 

3. Risk Assessment
 

3.1The financial risk exists from settling reasonable claims for compensation from 
landowners affected by the works; this risk will be mitigated by designing the 
scheme to enable the current land use to continue after completion of the works.

3.2The risk of the scheme not receiving planning permission. This has been 
mitigated by ensuring all appropriate measures have been taken to carry out 
preliminary surveys and gather sufficient evidence to support a comprehensive 
Environmental Statement and included within as part of the application.

3.3The risk that tender prices exceed the estimated budget. This risk is mitigated by 
careful design and planning and the inclusion of contingency sums in the 
scheme’s budget.

4. Resource Implications

4.1DEFRA has earmarked £1.693 million flood grant in aid and a contribution of 
£50k from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Local Levy, this was 
approved by DEFRA’s Project Approval Board in October 2016.

4.1GCC has allocated a £243k contribution from the Flood Alleviation Capital 
budget as partnership funding.

4.2Total funding identified; £1.986 million.

4.3The procurement of the civil engineering work, associated design costs, site 
supervision and compensation payments to landowners (if required) is estimated 
to be within the overall budget available.

4.4There is sufficient in house officer resource to oversee the preparation and 
implementation of this contract.

5 Officer Advice

5.1Officer’s advice is to use the powers under the Land Drainage Act 1991and the 
FWMA 2010 to access the land required to construct the flood alleviation scheme 
shown on the attached plan. The owners will be compensated if it can be shown 

Page 340



that injury is sustained by reason of the exercise of the Council exercising their 
powers to enter the land for the purposes of carrying out the work..

5.2 It is acknowledged that the landowner will not be able to use part of his land 
during the 6 month period when work is being carried out and possibly for short 
and infrequent periods when the ground has been affected by the temporary 
storage of flood water. Following rainfall events of greater than 1 in 100 year 
probability the basins should drain within 24 hours. For lesser events occurring 
once per year on average the basins should drain in 4 to 6 hours.
 

5.3The civil engineering work is estimated to cost around £1.5 million. The works will 
be procured through the Environment Agency WEM Framework Lot 4. This 
framework delivers projects for Flood and Coastal Risk Management including a 
specific Lot for construction works and expires in July 2019. The contractors in Lot 
4 of the framework have been subject to rigorous selection processes and 
scrutiny by the Agency for their level of competence across a range of criteria, all 
consistent with GCC policies. The contract award will not be made until after the 
scheme has been granted planning permission.

5.4The site supervision and attendance to the Construction Design and Management 
Regulations will be addressed by the appointment of a consulting engineer using 
the ESPO framework under a separate procurement.

5.5Once the asset has been constructed it is proposed for the Commissioning 
Director for Communities and Infrastructure to consider the statutory powers to 
designate the asset under the FWMA 2010 to ensure the protection of the asset 
and provide right of access to undertake maintenance. This will comprise an 
annual inspection and cleaning of inlets and outlets, typically 3 days of work per 
year, this would not interfere with the use of the land to any significant extent.

5.6  The compensation of landowners will be a matter for negotiation between the 
Council’s land agent and the representatives of the land owners. The estimated 
value and scale of risk is described in more detail in the exempt annex to this 
report. If these negotiations fail to meet an amicable conclusion it will be referred 
to the Land Tribunal for a decision.

Equalities considerations

5.7 A “Due Regard” statement is not considered to be required for the purpose of this 
report as key decision. 

Consultation feedback

5.8 Consultation has been undertaken with the local Parish Council and local 
members. All of these stakeholders are supportive of the scheme.

5.9One of the two landowners has expressed opposition to this scheme.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

Page 341



5.10Financial performance will be monitored through the capital programme reporting      
system.

5.11The Environment Agency monitor the scheme on a monthly basis and report 
progress to DEFRA.

Page 342



Report Title Priors and Oakley Flood Alleviation Scheme

Statutory Authority Land Drainage Act 1991, Flood and Water Management Act 
2010

Relevant County Council 
policy

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Resource Implications
DEFRA has earmarked £1.693 million flood grant in aid and a 
contribution of £50k from the Regional Flood and Coastal 
Committee Local Levy, this was approved by DEFRA’s Project 
Approval Board in October 2016.

GCC has allocated a £243k contribution from the Flood 
Alleviation Capital budget as partnership funding.

Total funding identified; £1.986 million

The procurement of the civil engineering work, associated 
design costs, site supervision and compensation payments to 
landowners (if required) is estimated to be within the overall 
budget available.

There is sufficient in house officer resource to oversee the 
preparation and implementation of this contract.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships This scheme is being undertaken in partnership with 
Cheltenham BC and the Environment Agency

Decision Making and 
Involvement

The implementation of this scheme is dependent upon planning 
approval from Tewkesbury BC and Cheltenham BC. Local 
consultation has been undertaken with the local Parish Council 
and local members. All of these stakeholders are supportive of 
the scheme. One of the two landowners has expressed 
opposition to the scheme.

Economy and Employment The scheme will create temporary employment opportunities 
for the duration of the contract. It is likely that materials and 
plant hire will be purchased from local suppliers.

Caring for people The scheme will reduce flood risk to 213 residential properties

Social Value The scheme will reduce flood risk to 213 residential properties

Built Environment The flood alleviation scheme will provide benefits for the 
owners/occupiers of 213 homes in Priors and Oakley.

Page 343



Natural Environment 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

The design of the scheme has taken full account of all relevant 
ecological issues as part of the planning application submission 
and is subject to scrutiny as part of the approval process. 

Education and Information

Tackling Climate Change The approved contractors on the Environment Agency WEM 
Framework Lot have been subject to scrutiny of their climate 
change management policies as part of the evaluation process 
to be accepted on the framework. The flood alleviation scheme 
is designed to cope with a 1% annual event probability and 
includes allowance for increases in rainfall intensity arising 
from climate change. 
Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No, because the design has 
built in allowance for increases in annual rainfall for the next 
100 years.

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?  A “Due 
Regards” statement is not considered to be required for the 
purpose of this report as key decision.

Human rights Implications Human Rights issues have been considered. Article 6 (1), and 
the 2nd of Article 1 of the 1st Protocol provides that every 
person is entitled to a fair and public hearing; and, secondly, 
that every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions. However, the serving of a 
Section 64 notice is an administrative act dependent on 
matters of judgement and discretion and, on this basis, the 
decision would not be sufficient to engage rights under article 
6. With regard to Article 1 we consider there is no deprivation 
of property, it is proposed that it is a matter of control of use. In 
any event, assuming that it should be regarded as a 
deprivation of property, this will be dealt with by the ability of 
the landowner to claim proper compensation and the owner’s 
ability to continue to use the land.

Consultation 
Arrangements

It is proposed that the local community will be invited to attend 
a public meeting to receive notification of the details of the 
scheme during the weeks leading up to the commencement 
date.

Page 344



Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



CONTRACT AWARD FASTERSHIRE BROADBAND STRATEGY
STAGE 3 LOTS 3C, 3D, 3E AND 4

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Leader of the 
Council Cllr Mark Hawthorne

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2015-18
Stage 3 Lots 3 and 4 Tender Evaluation Report (Exempt)

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://www.fastershire.com/about-fastershire/strategy

Main Consultees  Herefordshire Council – who are in agreement with the approach;

 Broadband Delivery UK (“BDUK”), (part of Department of Culture, 
Media and Sport) as funder and partner

Planned Dates March 2017 to October 2019

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Nigel Riglar
01452 328470
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 347

Agenda Item 13



Purpose of Report Stage 3 (Phase 2) of the Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2015-18 proposed 
the division of Herefordshire and Gloucestershire into 8 Lot areas as shown 
below.

With Lot areas 1 and 2 already agreed, the procurement exercises connected 
to Lots 3 (a-e) and 4 have concluded.  This report seeks approval from 
Cabinet to authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to:

(a) award contracts to the supplier identified in the recommendations for 
lots 3c, 3d, 3e and 4 of an ITT that was the subject of a competitive 
procurement process carried out between September and November 
2016 for the deployment of superfast broadband in Gloucestershire 
(and Herefordshire).  The said contracts form stage 3 of the 
Fastershire Broadband Strategy; and
 

(b) award contracts to the supplier identified in the recommendations for 
lots 3a and 3b of the ITT identified above, following the conclusion of,  
BDUK’s (Funding Partner) own due diligence process.

Such awards are likely to result in Gloucestershire reaching 97% coverage of 
Superfast Broadband.

Recommendations
THAT Cabinet authorises the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Director of 
Strategic Finance to: 

Page 348



(a)  award a contract to the highest scoring supplier (namely “Gigaclear”) that 
was identified in a competitive procurement process carried out by 
Herefordshire Council (in its role on the joint Gloucestershire County Council 
and Herefordshire Council Fastershire project) for the deployment of 
superfast broadband in Gloucestershire (and Herefordshire).  Such contract 
shall require Gigaclear to (i) deliver fibre broadband infrastructure within the 
areas described in Lot 3c (South Herefordshire & West Gloucestershire), Lot 
3d (North Gloucestershire), Lot 3e (South Gloucestershire) and Lot 4 (North 
Herefordshire) and (ii) provide gap funding in respect thereof. The maximum 
value of such a contract (for Lots 3c, 3d, 3e and 4), shall be £12.7m (made 
up of £5.14m to be contributed by Gloucestershire County Council  and 
£7.56m to be contributed by Herefordshire Council).  Such contract shall 
include an option to increase Herefordshire Council’s Lot 3c subsidy 
contribution by no more than £1.4m in accordance with the original published 
subsidy limit set out in the ITT.  Such option may be exercised only if a 
delivery plan has been agreed by Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Commissioning Director.  The term of such contract shall expire seven years 
after the final infrastructure payment is made, (anticipated to be December 
2019).  The said contract  shall not be entered into with Gigaclear until 
Herefordshire Council has provided its approval therefor; 

(b) subject to the positive conclusion of BDUKs due diligence, to award a 
contract to the highest scoring supplier that was identified in a competitive 
procurement process carried out between September and November 2016 
for the deployment of superfast broadband in Gloucestershire (and 
Herefordshire).  Such contract shall require the highest scoring supplier to i) 
deliver fibre broadband infrastructure within the areas described in Lot 3a 
(Cheltenham and Gloucester) and Lot 3b (Hereford).  The value of such 
contract shall be £910k (made up of £0.691m to be contributed by 
Gloucestershire County Council and £0.219m to be contributed by 
Herefordshire Council).  The term of such contract shall expire seven years 
after the final infrastructure payment (anticipated to be December 2019).   
The said contract shall not be entered into with the highest scoring supplier 
until Herefordshire Council has provided its approval therefor. 

(c) take all operational decisions in relation to (i) the approved £0.58m of 
uncommitted funds detailed as  “Future Procurements and Contract 
Extensions” in the table below, (ii) further ERDF and EAFRD European 
Funding (subject to approval); and (iii) the possible reinvestment of any 
underspend from previous stages of the approved Fastershire Broadband 
Strategy. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

On 16 December 2015, cabinet adopted the revised Fastershire Broadband 
Strategy 2015-18, which outlined the rationale and process for subsidising 
additional broadband delivery across Gloucestershire and Herefordshire.  

The recommendations of this report relates to Stage 3 (Lots 3 & 4) of the said 
Strategy, and are based on the outcome of a robust competitive procurement 
process for the award of contracts for the deployment of superfast broadband 

Page 349



in Gloucestershire (and Herefordshire) carried out between September and 
November 2016, under which bids were evaluated and selected on the basis 
of best value for money measured by cost verses coverage.  

The winning bids thereunder are compliant with procurement legislation and 
the ITT, and awardable in accordance with the provisions of the 2016 
National Broadband Scheme (NBS), in relation to state aid.

Resource 
Implications

The total public subsidy required to deliver the contract for the final elements 
of Stage 3 and 4 (that is, the value of the contracts for Lots 3c, 3d, 3e and 4) 
is broken down and shaded grey in the following tables:

Gloucestershire County Council (total £5.14)

 Bu
dg

et

Lo
t 

3a

Lo
t 

3b

Lo
t 

3c

Lo
t 

3d

Lo
t 

3e

Lo
t 

4

Lo
t 

5

G
ra

nt
s

Future 
Procurements 
and Contract 
Extensions

Gloucestershire 
County Council 
contribution

     
2,700 

     
346 

         
-         549 

      
936       619 

          
-             -   

       
250                          -   

BDUK Phase 2
     

3,960 
     

346 
         

-         549 
      

936    1,554 
          

-             -   
          

-                        575 

ERDF
         

250 
         

-   
         

-             -             -             -   
          

-             -   
       

250                          -   

EAFRD
     

1,293 
         

-   
         

-             -             -             -   
          

-      1,293 
          

-                            -   

Total (Rounded)
 

8,203k 
 

691k 
 

0k  1,099k 
 

1,873k  2,173k  0k  1,293k 
 

500k  575k 
NB EAFRD not yet approved

Herefordshire Council (total £7.56m)

  B
ud

ge
t 

 L
ot

 3
a 

 L
ot

 3
b 

 L
ot

 3
c 

 L
ot

 3
d 

 L
ot

 3
e 

 L
ot

 4
 

 L
ot

 5
 

 G
ra

nt
s  Future 

Procurements 
and Contract 
Extensions 

Herefordshire Council 
contribution

     
2,966          -   

      
109       943 

          
-   

          
-         915 

          
-          673                      325 

BDUK Phase 2
     
5,520          -   

      
109    1,322 

          
-   

          
-      2,705 

          
-             -                     1,384 

Marches LEP
     
1,674          -            -         837 

          
-   

          
-         837 

          
-             -                            -   

ERDF
         
672          -            -             -   

          
-   

          
-             -   

          
-          673                          -   

EAFRD
         
840          -            -             -   

          
-   

          
-             -   

      
840           -                            -   

Total (Rounded)
 

11,673k  0k  219k  3,102k  0k  0k  4,457k  840k  1,345k  1,709k 

NB EAFRD not yet approved

The spend profiles of the Council’s broadband contracts have traditionally 
been difficult to manage.  They are triggered by delivery milestones which are 
themselves unpredictable due to the challenges of deployment and the lag 
between delivery, financial defrayal and claiming.  As penalties are legally 
unenforceable, payment release is the only control available to manage 
delivery and therefore, the knock on impact on the Council’s own financial 

Page 350



management needs to be accepted.

Whilst each external fund includes overall match funding requirements, we 
would seek to frontload the external funding as far as possible and in 
particular the BDUK funding. These values are consistent with the Approved 
Strategy.

The uncommitted funding will be used to extend existing contracts and where 
appropriate undertake new mini tenders.  It is not anticipated that any 
underspend will remain uncommitted following Stage 4 but, should any 
underspend arise, it should also be noted that it may be subject to an 
apportionment with BDUK.

Page 351



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background 

1 Gloucestershire County Council has worked in partnership with Herefordshire Council 
for five years to improve broadband availability across the two counties in order to 
enable businesses, communities and individual households to become more 
productive, competitive and sustainable. In that time superfast broadband coverage has 
increased from around 63% to the current position where c90% of premises in the 
County have access to superfast broadband. The contract awards outlined in this report 
should result in Gloucestershire reaching 97% coverage.

2 Known as the Fastershire project, the emphasis of the programme has been wherever 
possible to extend the reach of high speed broadband deep into rural areas.  The 
revised Broadband Strategy sets out the overall approach to achieving access for all 
those who want it.

3 Fastershire acts as a conduit for public subsidy to provide gap funding to private sector 
suppliers to deliver broadband infrastructure to areas that have proved to be 
commercially unviable.

4 The first contract to extend superfast broadband beyond the commercially viable areas 
was awarded to BT in 2012, and was worth up to £35.42m.  This funding covered both 
Gloucestershire and Herefordshire counties. The deployment phase of that contract is 
coming to an end having reached its target delivery in Gloucestershire and predicting 
the achievement of the contractual target in Herefordshire.  In total, it will have reached 
c. 110,000 premises with Broadband speeds over 30Mbps.

5 The second contract to be awarded for Lot 1 in the Cotswolds, was agreed in 2015 with 
Gigaclear committing to deliver 6,500 premises for £3m subsidy.

6 The third contract, to be awarded for Lot 2, also with Gigaclear was signed in December 
2016, focusing on the Forest of Dean and the Golden Valley, for a value of £2.88m and 
the scope to increase to £4.54m.

7 Applying BT’s delivery under the first contract and Gigaclear’s Lot 1 and 2 commitments 
to the commercial footprint of all providers, the superfast availability stands at c. 90% in 
Gloucestershire and c. 87% in Herefordshire.

8 The remaining premises to be reached were subject to a second round of procurements 
that followed the following timescales:

 April to May 2016 - Open market review (OMR)
 13 June 2016 - Industry Day
 June to July 2016 - State Aid Consultation
 September 2016 - ITT Launch
 25 November 2016 - ITT Deadline
 16 December 2016 - Preferred Bidder Notice Issued
 January 2017- Standstill Deadline

Page 352



Area Consideration
The £12.7m combined Gloucestershire & Herefordshire Gigaclear contract maximum budget 
as shown in section a) of the recommendations section of this report is split in to the following 
areas.  A table is provided for each Lot area to explain the headline details of each bid and 
the outcome of the procurement evaluation. 

9 Lot 3c Area – covers 11,000 premises in south Herefordshire and Gloucestershire (west 
of the river Severn).

Bidder Subsidy 
Required 
from 
Herefordshire 
Council

Subsidy Required 
from 
Gloucestershire 
County Council

Private 
Investment

Coverage % Procurement 
Process 
Evaluation 
Score 

Gigaclear £3.1m £1.1m £7.5m 63% 58.2%
Bidder B £4.5mm £1.1m £1.3m 42% 42.08%

10 Lot 3d Area– covers 7,000 premises in north Gloucestershire.

Bidder
Subsidy 
Required from 
Gloucestershire 
County Council

Private 
Investment

Coverage 
%

Procurement 
Process 
Evaluation 
Score

Gigaclear £1.9m £5.7m 83% 68.8%

Bidder B £1.9m £1.1m 51% 46.83%

11 Lot 3e Area – covers 13,000 premises in south Gloucestershire.

Bidder
Subsidy 
Required from 
Gloucestershire 
County Council

Private 
Investment

Coverage 
%

Procurement 
Process 
Evaluation 
Score

Gigaclear £2.2m £11.6m 82% 68.81%

Bidder B £2.2m £2.2m 54% 49.15%

12 Lot 4 Area – covers 6,800 premises in north Herefordshire.  Whilst the coverage offered 
by both bidders is similar, the private sector leverage is significantly different and the 
scores achieved from the holistic evaluation clearly identify Gigaclear’s as the optimum 
solution.

Bidder

Subsidy 
Required 
from 
Herefordshire 
Council

Private 
Investment Coverage %

Procurement 
Process 
Evaluation 
Score

Gigaclear £4.5m £4.4m 75% 65.57%

Bidder B £4.5m £831k 80% 45.86%

Page 353



13 Area’s 3a and 3b cover the remaining areas of Cheltenham, Gloucester and Hereford.  
Bids have been received for the maximum available subsidy of £910k and the Council 
has undertaken its assessment in each case identifying a provisional preferred bidder.  
However, at the time of writing, BDUK had yet to complete their own assurance and the 
authorities have therefore agreed to pause whilst this is completed.  In the interests of 
expediency and as same evaluation process has been employed, it is requested that 
delegated authority be afforded to the commissioning director: communities and 
infrastructure to agree the award of these contracts once BDUKs assurance is complete 
and assuming that assurance is positive.

14 The award of contracts as outlined above, along with previous stages of deployment will 
result in 97% of premises in Gloucestershire being served by either superfast or ultrafast 
broadband of at least 30Mbps.  There will remain premises that need to be reached to 
meet the ambitions of the Broadband Strategy.  This will be achieved through further 
small scale procurement activity subject to future decision reports and the extension of 
existing contracts to target specific areas.  Additionally mechanisms will be maintained 
and expanded to create “demand led” solutions through bespoke grants. ERDF 
(European Regional Development Fund) funding of £925k has been awarded to 
Fastershire (both Gloucestershire and Herefordshire) in partnership with the other 
authorities covered by the Marches Local Enterprise Partnership to provide grants to 
businesses remaining outside of coverage.  Such grants are not anticipated to exceed 
£25,000 and will be awarded via a formal application and evaluation process.

15 Additionally EAFRD (European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development) worth c. £2m is 
being sought by the Fastershire partnership to fund broadband solutions for clusters of 
homes and businesses that also remain unserved.  It is estimated that contracts valued 
up to £200,000 would be let per individual locality using this funding with localities 
selected based on an assessment of the demand and economic potential to comply with 
the terms of the external funding.

Alternative Options

16 Not to award contracts and to cease investment in broadband.  This option is not 
recommended as broadband remains a key priority for the council and underpins many of 
the council’s wider aspirations for the development of the Gloucestershire economy and 
access to services.

17 To revisit the contractual terms and re-run the procurement to create better terms for 
providers. This is not recommended as it would be unlikely to lead to significantly different 
outcome.  It would incur significant time delay which might jeopardise the successful 
implementation of Fastershire’s mission to reach as many premises as possible by the 
end of 2018.  Furthermore, the delay itself could risk the existing offer as a revised 
invitation to tender (ITT) would appear in the market alongside opportunities from other 
potentially more commercially attractive areas and there remain limitations on the 
capacity of the supplier side of the market to satisfy the level of demand across the UK.

Page 354



Risk Assessment  

18 Most of the risks to the council for instance, premise level transparency, coverage 
decreases and cost increases are mitigated through the contract.  However, a number of 
additional risks are outlined below:

R
is

k 
re

f

R
is

k Detail

R
A

G
 R

at
in

g

Mitigation

1

C
ov

er
ag

e 
O

ffe
re

d 
is

 
no

t 1
00

%

A number of premises that were 
contained in the ITT have not been 
bid back and therefore could 
remain unconnected.

An element of the Fastershire Broadband Strategy budget has 
been retained in order to run a series of secondary mini tenders.  
Additionally, the Project is seeking EAFRD and ERDF funding and 
BT underspend to bridge the remaining gaps and / or offer 
bespoke connection grants.

2

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

da
te

The predicted completion date is 
December 2018.  Any slippage 
would take delivery beyond the 
Strategy’s vision end date.

While there would be no material impact in outcome, it could be 
viewed that Fastershire had failed to deliver within its prescribed 
time frame.
It will be imperative that all parts of the local authorities’ 
organisations pull together including Highways.  Given the 
experience to date, there is no reason to believe that this will not 
be the case.
There are also various external dependencies which could affect 
the delivery date including obtaining private land owner 
permissions and the cooperation of the power companies.

3

Lo
w

 T
ak

e 
U

p The Project Financial Model 
depends on a relatively ambitious 
take up requirement.

There is no risk to the authorities in regard to the financial 
contribution.  However, lower take up would restrict the degree of 
clawback and reinvestment into further unserved areas.  The 
Faster Business and Community programmes as well as 
Fastershire’s marketing function should be retained and extended 
to avoid this risk.

4

S
up

pl
ie

r C
ap

ac
ity

Gigaclear appear to have 
significant aspirations to expand 
their coverage.  They also appear 
to have designs on a range of 
other BDUK contracts that are 
further back in the pipeline.  
Although it is difficult to assess the 
risk, they could conceivably 
overstretch their capabilities.

Gigaclear are growing at an accelerated pace and have become 
more sophisticated since the first contract was signed.  There is no 
indication as yet that they are becoming stretched.  Being the first 
authority to award under the latest NBS should assist the priority 
given to Fastershire by Gigaclear.

5

P
ot

en
tia

l 
C

ha
lle

ng
e Other supplier(s) could if so 

inclined to challenge the decision 
to award contract to derail the 
delivery.

A legally compliant procurement process has been followed 
throughout.  Any challenge will be addressed immediately to 
reduce any impact on time.

6

S
ta

te
 

A
id

Need to be compliant with State 
Aid requirements.

Due process has been followed to meet the requirements of State 
Aid.

Officer Advice

19 The recommendations are based on the outcome of a fair, open and robust procurement 
process with bids selected on the basis of best value for money measured by cost verses 

Page 355



coverage.  In light of all the considerations the officer advice is to award the contracts.

20 The winning bids are compliant with the ITT and awardable within the provisions of the 
2016 National Broadband Scheme (NBS) in relation to state aid.

Equalities considerations

21 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. 

Consultation feedback

The Leader of the Council and Director of Strategic Finance are fully supportive of the 
Contract Award.  Satisfied that a fair and open procurement and subsequent robust 
evaluation process has been followed. This is also consistent and aligns with Stage 3 of the 
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2014-18, previously approved by Cabinet.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

Ongoing performance and delivery of the deployment targets/outputs will be monitored through a 
series of regular strategic operational/monitoring meetings with the suppliers. Progress reports and any 
key issues arising will be escalated to the Project Board, which has senior officer representation as 
well as project officer support.

Page 356



Report Title
Contract award Fastershire Broadband Strategy 
Stage 3 Lots 3c, 3d, 3e and 4

Statutory Authority The County Council is pursuing the next phase of the Fastershire 
Broadband Infrastructure Project, in line with the General Power of 
Competence (GPC) as prescribed under the Localism Act 2011 – for 
the benefit of the Authority, its areas or persons required or present 
in its area.

Relevant County 
Council policy

The Council Strategy 2011 – 2015 Meeting the Challenge:-

Providing the infrastructure and services that keep the county
moving and working
Being as efficient as possible and a saving money by joining up
with our partners
Finding the best, most efficient way of delivering services which
satisfy customers
Making decisions that promote long-term sustainability
Also part of the Grow Gloucestershire Campaign where GCC has
invested £12 million to bring an estimated £120 million of investment into 
the county, to help grow Gloucestershire. Key
investment priorities are:

 Giving young people the right skills to get jobs
 Helping first time buyers get on the housing ladder so keeping talent in 
Gloucestershire.
 Connecting the county through improved infrastructure, from roads to 
broadband

Resource 
Implications

The Cabinet had previously approved funding:

Stage 2: Fastershire contract with BT - £7.5m match funding
Stage 3: Superfast Broadband Programme for future network deployment – 
up to £4m capital as partial match funding for £5.46 m allocated to 
Gloucestershire by BDUK.
The amount of resources available to deliver Stage 3 (Lot 2) is £2m, which 
was awarded to Gloucestershire County Council, through the South West 
ultrafast deployment scheme. The scheme required £2m of match funding 
from this Council, which was approved by Cabinet. This further investment 
will enable further delivery of ultrafast broadband infrastructure, with a 
particular focus on the Forest of Dean. In addition, Herefordshire Council 
will be able to combine the£0.54m of funds previously allocated to it 
through the Rural Community Broadband fund. As a consequence 
additional public funds anticipated to be available for Lot 2 of £4.54m.

The total public subsidy required to deliver the contract is £12.7m (£5.14m 
for Gloucestershire)
This will be drawn from

Page 357



BDUK (Gloucestershire) £5,460,000
Gloucestershire County Council £4,200,000

These values are consistent with the approved Strategy, and within 
existing budget authority

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships There are a number of formal and information relationships concerning the 
provision of the infrastructure. These include: commissioned deployment 
provider (BT); partnering adjacent local authority; government agencies 
and departments responsible for infrastructure services, local district and 
parish councils; utility providers; and businesses and resident communities 
who are the key consumers of local infrastructure.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Engagement with Legal Services and Strategic Procurement, although 
Procurement being led by Herefordshire Council (through the Partnership 
Agreement) and external legal support for procurement and contract 
documentation.

Economy and 
Employment

The provision of enhanced broadband infrastructure should positively 
influence economic and employment related issues.
Facilitating and deploying the right level of improved infrastructure will 
increase the likelihood of new development and activity, contributing 
towards sustained local economic growth and improved employment 
opportunities.

Caring for people The enhanced broadband infrastructure provision should positively support 
those services involving caring for people, and contribute towards 
improving good accessibility and seek to avoid community exclusion.

Social Value Gloucestershire County Council’s Strategy 2011 – 2015 and the Grow 
Gloucestershire Campaign includes the priority of creating and maintaining 
a successful local economy that supports economic growth, investment in 
infrastructure and connectivity. In addition the improved broadband 
network will have a positive impact in meeting other corporate plan 
objectives including:
 Growing businesses, jobs and wage levels
 Accessible Services
 Sustainable education provision
 More people retaining their independence through greater
choice and control
 Reduced child poverty
 Families and communities that are able to support all children and young 
people effectively

Page 358



 Increased equality of opportunity
The delivery of the Strategy will have a significant impact on
residents and businesses in the most deeply rural areas of the county. 
Digital access has a role to play in addressing issues of
isolation and access to services for citizens, specifically in rural areas, and 
is increasingly being used as a tool to address health and preventive health. 

Built Environment This infrastructure should positively influence the continued success of the 
built environment and positively supports the three strands of sustainability 
– environmental, social and economic. It will also successfully contribute 
towards ongoing aspirations to achieve accessibility for all, reducing the 
realities and perceptions of social exclusion and increasing the sense of 
community cohesion and civic pride.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Through the provision of early and consistent advice on local
matters relating the deployment of the infrastructure, this should positively 
influence the protection and enhancement of the natural environment. 
Facilitating the right level of infrastructure that meets the environmental 
standards and necessary protections, will increase the likelihood of new 
developments and opportunities being successfully accommodated without 
adversely impacting the natural
environment.

Education and 
Information

Comprehensive information about the Fastershire Broadband
Project and regular updates on the roll out of infrastructure can be accessed 
on the project website – www.fastershire.com

Tackling Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.asox?ID=301

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo Moore, 
Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights None

Page 359

http://www.fastershire.com/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.asox?ID=301
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Implications

Consultation 
Arrangements See above

Page 360



SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS

Cabinet Date 1 February 2017

Finance and 
Change Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents   Cabinet decision on Schedule of Disposals September 2016

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Through the above link to the County Council’s website

Main Consultees Shadow Members, Officers from across Gloucestershire County Council, 
partner organisations where appropriate and GCC Property Board

Planned Dates Ongoing

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Neil Corbett, Head of Property Services
Email: neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328813

Purpose of Report To approve the Schedule of Disposals proposed to meet the three year 
Meeting the Challenge 2 capital receipt target of £60 million covering the 
period 2015/16 to 2017/18.  

Recommendations In line with the Policy for the Disposal of Property:

1. That Cabinet confirm that those sites described at Appendix A 
(Exempt) which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in 
September 2016 and not yet disposed of, continue to be declared 
surplus to requirements

2. That Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and 
property requirements

and in relation to both these schedules delegates authority to the Head of 
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change. 

Page 361

Agenda Item 14

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=14678
mailto:neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Reasons for 
recommendations

Through the approval of the Schedule of Disposals, and the declaration of 
these sites as surplus to requirements, Officers will be well placed to achieve 
best value for the Council in the disposal of these sites, thus contributing 
towards Meeting the Challenge 2 target.

Resource 
Implications

The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy will generate capital 
receipts for the Council.
Asset Management and Property Services are working towards a capital 
receipt target of £60m towards Meeting the Challenge 2 savings.

The revenue costs associated with disposals will be funded through existing 
budgets. 

Page 362



1. Background:  

As part of Meeting the Challenge 2, Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS) are 
undertaking a challenging disposal programme by seeking to achieve £60m in capital receipts 
over a three year period.  From April 2015 to date the team have achieved £32m in completed 
sales.  

The programme has been developed across the organisation, led by AMPS in consultation 
with the Property Board who challenges the use of property across the council, in order to 
ensure the council’s property portfolio is being effectively used to meet the future needs of the 
business.  Property and land are recommended to Cabinet to be declared surplus prior to 
disposal to contribute towards the Meeting the Challenge programme.  

A schedule of properties and sites was declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2016 and it 
was agreed that an update on these sales and any further sites which Property Board 
recommend should be declared surplus would be submitted to Cabinet in early 2017.  In line 
with Policy for the Disposal of Property the approval given by Cabinet is valid for 6 months 
therefore a new decision confirming approval to dispose must be given in order to progress 
activity in achieving these capital receipts.    

2. Schedule of Disposals:

The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix A (Exempt) was approved by Cabinet in 
September 2016.  In accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of Property, AMPS are now 
seeking confirmation of the decision to dispose of previously approved properties that have 
not yet been sold.  The schedule has been updated to show properties sold, sales agreed and 
any changes to previously agreed disposal strategies.  

The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix B (Exempt) outlines new proposed disposals 
for 2017 onwards.  The properties and sites listed have been recommended as surplus by 
service areas and AMPS to Property Board, and Officers from the Development and Disposals 
team within AMPS have recommended the most appropriate disposal strategy to deliver best 
value for the Council.  Property Board have approved the recommended disposal strategies.

Officers will provide an updated schedule to Cabinet in late 2017, delivering an update on 
sales to date and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be declared 
surplus by Cabinet. 

Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2016/17 currently totals £19 million.  
The Disposals team in AMPS are on target with this years sales and approval of the appended 
Schedules of Disposals will enable new properties to be programmed for disposal to help 
achieve the MTC2 target.

3. Options: 

Cabinet are asked to confirm that the sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2016 and not yet disposed of, 
continue to be surplus to requirements.

Cabinet are asked to declare all property and land sites on the Schedule of Disposals 
Appendix B (Exempt) as surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.

Page 363



Should Cabinet choose to identify any specific sites which they do not wish to declare surplus 
at this point, Officers will remove them from the Schedule and return them to Cabinet for 
decision at a future date.

4. Risk Assessment:  

Should Cabinet elect to remove any specific site from the Schedule of Disposals, this could 
cause a delay in the disposal process for these specific sites – which could have an overall 
impact on the delivery of the capital receipts target of £60m. The Council is best able to 
respond to the market and opportunities if sites are already declared surplus to requirements 
by Cabinet – enabling the achievement of best value. There is a significant risk that short 
delays in decision making can lead to long delays in the disposal. 

5. Officer Advice:

Officers recommend that Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, and delegates authority to 
the Head of Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change.

6. Equalities Considerations:

In recommending sites as surplus to Council requirements, and in compiling the Schedule of 
Disposals Officers across the Council have sought to pay due regard to the impact on 
protected groups. Some sites on the Schedule are surplus to requirements due to changing 
plans for office accommodation used by the Council, and where these buildings are currently 
occupied by our employees, or those of our partners, the impact of the closure of the building 
and the relocation of their place of work will be taken into consideration. Information on the 
impact will be gathered through the collection of data concerning the individual members of 
staff who will need to be relocated. Where required, due regard will be paid to the needs of 
staff to ensure that any issues relating to the new workplace are considered (eg specific chair 
requirements, disabled parking spaces etc) in order to mitigate any negative impact.  Where 
buildings have been providing a service those users have been catered for in other buildings. 

7. Consultation Feedback:  

Consultation has taken place with the Shadow Members, Property Board, service areas and 
other organisations where appropriate in the development of this Schedule of Disposals.

As each site is disposed of, the Development and Disposals team will do so in accordance 
with the Council’s ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ which contains clear consultation 
requirements.

8. Performance Management/Follow-up:  

In accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’, Officers will provide an update to 
Cabinet late 2017 on the progress against the Schedule of Disposals and developing plans for 
future disposals.  This will be monitored by the Property Board at regular meetings and by the 
Senior Management Team in AMPS.

Page 364



Report Title Schedule of Proposed Disposals

Statutory Authority S.123 of the Local Government Act 1972

Relevant County Council 
policy

Policy for the Disposal of Property (2012) 

Resource Implications The disposal of these sites will generate capital receipts for the 
Council which will help achieve the Councils Meeting the 
Challenge 2 targets. 
Asset Management and Property Services are working towards a 
capital receipt target of £60m towards Meeting the Challenge 
savings. 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Partnerships such as One Gloucestershire will be consulted with 
in accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ 2012

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Where appropriate there will be local consultation on the disposal 
of sites.

Economy and Employment The disposal of sites may enable the development of 
employment opportunities through the potential future use of 
some sites.

Caring for people There may be some disposals which arise from changing 
practices in delivering care; these are managed by the service 
area who will also manage any impact.

Built Environment There may be some sites which are appropriate for development, 
which will follow all associated planning rules and processes, 
including consultation

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information N/A

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral

Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Considerations included in main body of report

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation Arrangements Ongoing in relation to each disposal. 

Page 365

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=320


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Financial Monitoring Report: 2016/17
	6 Recommendations to Council: Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 - 2019/20
	Item 6 - MTFS Document Feb Cabinet - Final
	Item 6 - Council Strategy Document 2017 to 2018
	Item 6 - Budget Consultation Report
	Item 6 - Budget Scrutiny Report (January 2017)

	7 Proposed Award of a South-West sub-regional framework agreement for the provision of leaving care/independent living settings
	8 Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) – Llanthony Road Improvements
	Item 8 - Appendix A  (Land Interest Plan)

	9 A40 Over Roundabout Improvement Scheme
	Item 9 - Over Roundabout Business Case

	10 Investing in Support for Homeless Vulnerable People - Interim Arrangements
	Item 10 - Appendix A

	11 Proposal to develop an intensive intervention service for children and young people
	12 Priors and Oakley Flood Alleviation Scheme
	Item 12 - Location Plan

	13 Contract Award: Fastershire Broadband Strategy Stage 3 - Lots 3C, 3D, 3E and 4
	14 Schedule of Proposed Disposals

